Higgs bundles, Lagrangians and mirror symmetry

Author:

Lucas Castello Branco

Supervisors: Nigel Hitchin Frances Kirwan



A thesis submitted for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Jesus College

2017

To Klébia, José and Levi

Abstract

Higgs bundles, Lagrangians and mirror symmetry

by Lucas Castello Branco

Jesus College

A thesis submitted for the degree of *Doctor of Philosophy*

Trinity term 2017

This thesis is dedicated to the study of certain loci of the Higgs bundle moduli space on a compact Riemann surface. After recalling basic facts about G-Higgs bundles for a reductive group G, we begin the first part of the work, which deals with Higgs bundles for the real forms $G_0 = SU^*(2m), SO^*(4m), \text{ and } Sp(m,m)$ of $G = SL(2m, \mathbb{C}), SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$, respectively. The second part of the thesis deals with Gaiotto Lagrangian subvarieties.

Motivated by mirror symmetry, we give a detailed description of the fibres of the G-Hitchin fibration containing G_0 -Higgs bundles for the real groups $G_0 = SU^*(2m)$, $SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m,m). The spectral curves associated to these fibres are examples of ribbons and our description is done in two different ways, one in term of objects on the reduced scheme associated to the spectral curve, while the other in terms of the (non-reduced) spectral curve. A link is also provided between the two approaches. We use this description to give a proposal for the support of the dual BBB-brane inside the moduli space of Higgs bundles for the Langlands dual group of G, corroborating the conjectural picture.

In the second part of the thesis we discuss Gaiotto Lagrangian subvarieties inside the moduli spaces of G-Higgs bundles, where G is a complex reductive group. These Lagrangians are obtained from a symplectic representation of G and we discuss some of its general properties. We then focus our attention to the Gaiotto Lagrangian for the standard representation of the symplectic group. This is an irreducible component of the nilpotent cone for the symplectic Hitchin fibration. We describe this component by using the usual Morse function on the Higgs bundle moduli space, which is the norm squared of the Higgs field restricted to the Lagrangian in question. Lastly, we discuss natural questions and applications of the ideas developed in this thesis. In particular, we say a few words about the hyperholomorphic bundle, how to generalize the Gaiotto Lagrangian to vector bundles which admit many sections and give an analogue of the Gaiotto Lagrangian for the orthogonal group.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I wish to thank my supervisor Nigel Hitchin for his inspiration, encouragement, time and patience and for introducing me to some beautiful mathematics. I am deeply grateful and honoured for the opportunity to work with him and it has been a remarkable experience, one which I will always treasure.

The Mathematical Institute has been my home for the last four years and I warmly thank all its members for creating such a pleasant and stimulating environment. A special thanks to my College advisor Andrew Dancer and my second supervisor Frances Kirwan.

I am very grateful to my Master's supervisor Marcos Jardim, who has been particularly important in my formation as a mathematician, for all the support through the years. Also, a warm thanks to Laura Schaposnik for all the encouragement and willingness to help during the course of my postgraduate studies.

I am indebted to all mathematicians who have generously shared their expertise with me. In particular, Sergei Gukov, Steven Bradlow, David Baraglia and Oscar García-Prada. I am also very thankful to my colleagues and friends Brent Pym and Jakob Blaavand for the many illuminating discussions.

A big thanks is due to Marcelo de Martino, for proofreading this thesis, for the many interesting conversations over coffee, for helping me with my various questions on representation theory, and for being such a good friend. Also, a warm thanks to my officemates Matthias Wink and Renee Hoekzema.

A special thanks goes to Alex Duarte, Sérgio Kogikoski and Carolina Matté Gregory for their friendship and for being part of so many amazing moments which made these four years in Oxford so dear to me.

My sincere thanks for the generous financial support I received from CNPq.

Last but not least, the greatest thanks of all to my parents José and Klébia and to my brother Levi. I owe them everything I am, everything I have and everything I will ever achieve in life. This thesis is dedicated to you.

Contents

Ac	cknov	wledgements	viii
Co	onter	ıts	x
In	trod	uction	1
1	Gen	eral background	11
	1.1	Higgs bundles	11
	1.2	Hitchin Equations	16
	1.3	Simpson compactified Jacobian	18
	1.4	Hitchin fibration	22
		1.4.1 The BNR correspondence	25
Ι	Hig	gs bundles and non-reduced spectral curves	29
2	Exte	ensions of Higgs bundles	31
	2.1	Classical Higgs bundles	31
	2.2	The orthogonal and symplectic cases	39
3	The	group $SU^*(2m)$	43
4	Oth	er cases	63
	4.1	The group $SO^*(4m)$	67
	4.2	The group $Sp(m,m)$	78
5	Alte	ernative description	83
	5.1	Ribbons	84
	5.2	Generalized line bundles	85
	5.3	Stability	89
	5.4	The singular fibre	91
	5.5	The case $SU^*(2m)$ revisited	94
		5.5.1 Norm map \ldots	94
		5.5.2 The fibre \ldots	98
	5.6	The other cases	100
6	Mir	ror symmetry	105
	6.1	Mirror symmetry for Higgs bundles	106

			100
	6.3	The Nadler group	109
	6.4	Proposal for the mirror	112
		6.4.1 The $SU^*(2m)$ case \ldots	112
		6.4.2 The other cases	115
II	Ga	aiotto's Lagrangian	119
7	Syn	nplectic Representations	121
	7.1	General setup	121
	7.2	The moduli space of $K^{1/2}$ -twisted symplectic pairs	126
		7.2.1 The map between the moduli spaces	129
	7.3	Hitchin-type map	130
	7.4	The isotropy condition	132
	7.5	Gaiotto's Lagrangian	136
8	The	e standard representation	141
	8.1	Spinor moduli space	141
		8.1.1 The symplectic vortex equation	144
	8.2	Morse theory	147
		8.2.1 Critical points	150
	8.3	The component of the nilpotent cone	154
II	ΙF	Further questions	163
II. 9	I F Fur	Further questions	163 165
11: 9 No	I F Fur	Further questions ther questions ional conventions	163 165 173
11. 9 No	I F Fur otati	Further questions other questions conal conventions	163 165 173
II 9 No A	I F Fur otatio	Further questions ther questions conal conventions theory	 163 165 173 177
11: 9 No A	Fur Fur Dtation Lie A.1	Further questions Ther questions The Nadler group	 163 165 173 177 180
II: 9 N(A	I F Fur otation Lie A.1 Spe	Further questions ther questions conal conventions theory The Nadler group	 163 165 173 177 180 189
II 9 No A	I F Fur otation Lie A.1 Spe B.1	Further questions ther questions conal conventions theory The Nadler group	 163 165 173 177 180 189 189
II: 9 N(A B	Fur Fur otation Lie A.1 Spe B.1 B.2	Further questions ther questions conal conventions theory The Nadler group	 163 165 173 177 180 189 192
II 9 N A B	Fur Fur Dtation Lie A.1 Spe B.1 B.2 Qua	Further questions ther questions conal conventions theory The Nadler group	 163 165 173 177 180 189 192 197
II 9 N A B C D	I F Fur otation Lie A.1 Spe B.1 B.2 Qua Prin	Further questions ther questions ional conventions theory The Nadler group	 163 165 173 177 180 189 192 197 199
II 9 A B C	Fur Fur Dtation Lie A.1 Spe B.1 B.2 Qua Prin D.1	Further questions ther questions ional conventions theory The Nadler group	 163 165 173 177 180 189 192 197 199 199
II 9 A B C D	 Fur Fur tation Lie A.1 Spee B.1 B.2 Quation Prin D.1 D.2 	Further questions ther questions ional conventions theory The Nadler group The Nadler group Preliminary notions Hypercohomology Preliminary notions Aternionic vector spaces ncipal bundles General notions and conventions Principal bundles on a curve	 163 165 173 177 180 189 192 197 199 202
II 9 A B C	 Fur Fur tatic Lie A.1 Spe B.1 B.2 Qua Prin D.1 D.2 	Further questions ther questions ional conventions theory The Nadler group The Nadler group ectral sequences and hypercohomology Preliminary notions Hypercohomology netrainonic vector spaces ncipal bundles General notions and conventions Principal bundles on a curve D.2.1	 163 165 173 177 180 189 192 197 199 202 203
II 9 N A B C D	Fur fur otation Lie A.1 Spe B.1 B.2 Qua Prin D.1 D.2	Further questions ther questions conal conventions theory The Nadler group ctral sequences and hypercohomology Preliminary notions Hypercohomology Preliminary notions aternionic vector spaces ncipal bundles General notions and conventions Principal bundles on a curve D.2.1 The moduli space of principal G-bundles D.2.2 The symplectic group	 163 165 173 177 180 189 192 197 199 202 203 206

Bibliography

213

Introduction

Classically, a Higgs bundle over a compact Riemann surface is a pair consisting of a holomorphic vector bundle V and a holomorphic section of the endomorphism bundle End(V) twisted by the canonical bundle of the curve, the so-called Higgs field. These objects emerged in the late 1980's in Hitchin's study of dimensionally reduced self-duality equations of Yang-Mills gauge theory [Hit87a] and in Simpson's work on nonabelian Hodge theory [Sim92]. Since then, Higgs bundles have become central objects of study in Kähler and hyperkähler geometry, nonabelian Hodge theory, representation theory, integrable systems and, most recently, mirror symmetry and Langlands duality.

When G is a complex reductive group, it is well known that the smooth locus of the moduli space $\mathcal{M}(G)$ of G-Higgs bundles on a compact Riemann surface Σ of genus $g \geq 2$ has the structure of a hyperkähler manifold. Furthermore, it comes equipped with an algebraically completely integrable Hamiltonian system through the Hitchin map; a proper map to a vector space of half dimension of the moduli space, whose generic fibre is an abelian variety ([Hit87b, Fal93, Don93]). As pointed out by Kapustin and Witten [KW07], $\mathcal{M}(G)$ and $\mathcal{M}(^{L}G)$ are a mirror pair (in the sense of Strominger, Yau, and Zaslow), with the fibrations being the Hitchin fibrations. This manifests itself, for example, in the statement that the non-singular fibres of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ and $\mathcal{M}(^{L}G)$ are dual abelian varieties. This was first proven for the special linear group by Hausel and Thaddeus [HT03], who also showed, by calculating Hodge theoretical invariants, that topological mirror symmetry holds for these pairs (see also [BD12, GO17] for an extension of these results for parabolic Higgs bundles). The case of G_2 was treated in [Hit07a] and, in greater generality, Donagi and Pantev [DP12] extended the picture for semisimple groups. Since the moduli space of Higgs bundles for a complex group has a hyperkähler structure, one can speak of branes of type A or B with respect to any of the structures. Typical examples of BAA-branes are moduli spaces of flat connections on a Riemann surface with holonomy in a real form G_0 of a complex group G, whereas hyperholomorphic bundles supported on a hyperkähler subvariety provide examples of BBB-branes. A hyperholomorphic bundle is a bundle with connection whose curvature is of type (1, 1) with respect to all complex structures. These are generalizations of instantons in four dimensions and are very interesting mathematical objects.

This thesis is essentially divided into two parts. In the first part, motivated by mirror symmetry, we describe certain singular fibres of the Hitchin map associated to the semisimple non-compact connected (real) Lie groups $G_0 = SU^*(2m)$, $SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m,m). Higgs bundles for $G_0 = SU^*(2m)$, $SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m,m) viewed inside the Higgs bundle moduli space for $G = SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$, $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$, respectively, provide examples of BAAbranes which lie entirely over the discriminant locus of the base of the Hitchin fibration. After describing the whole fibre of the integrable system for the complex group containing Higgs bundles for the real form, we give a proposal for the support of the dual BBB-brane. In particular, our proposal is in accordance with the conjectural picture (see, e.g., [BS16]) that the dual brane is supported on the moduli space of Higgs bundles for a complex group ${}^{L}G_{0}$ associated to the real form. This group is a complex subgroup of the Langlands dual group ${}^{L}G$ and was obtained by Nadler [Nad05] in the study of perverse sheaves on real loop Grassmannians. In the second part of the thesis we discuss how to construct BAA-branes from symplectic representations of a complex group G. This construction has recently appeared in the work of Gaiotto [Gai16] and Hitchin [Hit17]. Also, these so-called Gaiotto Lagrangians have appeared in the literature in the context of derived geometry [GR17] and loop groups [Li17]. We finish the second part by describing concretely the Gaiotto Lagrangian for the standard representation of the symplectic group. The following is a more detailed description of each chapter.

We begin Chapter 1 by recalling some basic facts about G-Higgs bundles for a reductive group G. After giving examples of these objects and recalling the main properties of the Higgs bundle moduli space, we discuss Simpson's compactified Jacobian. We then explain the isomorphism between fibres of the Hitchin fibration and the Simpson moduli space of semi-stable sheaves of rank 1 on the associated spectral curve (which, in ascending order of generality, is due to [Hit87b, BNR89, Sch98, Sim94b]).

In Chapter 2, we introduce extensions of Higgs bundles as short exact sequences in the abelian category of Higgs bundles and show how these are related to the first hypercohomology group of a certain complex of sheaves. Generalizing the result for vector bundles in [Hit07b, Criterion 2.1] we obtain the following (which corresponds to Proposition 2.5).

Proposition 0.1. An extension (V, Φ) of $(W^*, -{}^t\phi)$ by (W, ϕ) has an orthogonal (respectively, symplectic) structure turning it into an orthogonal (respectively, symplectic) Higgs bundle and with respect to which W is a maximally isotropic subbundle if and only if it is strongly equivalent to an extension of Higgs bundles whose hypercohomology class belongs to $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \Lambda^2 \mathbb{W})$ (respectively, $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \mathrm{Sym}^2 \mathbb{W})$).

In Chapter 3 we give a concrete description of the fibre of the $SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration containing $SU^*(2m)$ -Higgs bundles. In particular, these fibres have associated non-reduced spectral covers. Our description, which can be found in Theorem 3.11, is given in terms of objects on the reduced spectral curve¹.

Theorem 0.2. Let $p(\lambda) = \lambda^m + \pi^* a_2 \lambda^{m-2} + \ldots + \pi^* a_m$ be a section of the line bundle $\pi^* K^m$ on the total space of the cotangent bundle of Σ whose divisor is a smooth curve S. The fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the $SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration is a disjoint union

$$h^{-1}(p^2) \cong N \cup \bigcup_{d=1}^{g_S^{-1}} A_d$$

where

- N consists of semi-stable rank 2 vector bundles on S with the property that the determinant bundle of π_{*}E is trivial.
- A_d is an affine bundle on

$$Z_d = \{ (D, L) \in S^{(\bar{d})} \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(S) \mid L^2(D) \pi^* K^{1-2m} \in \operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma) \}$$

¹The reader is referred to Chapter 3 for a more detailed description of the objects contained in the theorem.

modeled on the vector bundle $E_d \to Z_d$, whose fibre at $(D, L) \in Z_d$ is isomorphic to $H^1(S, K_S^{-1}(D))$. Here, $\bar{d} = -2d + 2(g_S - 1)$.

- The natural map Z_d → S^(d̄) is a fibration, whose fibres are modeled on 2^{2g} copies of the Prym variety P(S, Σ).
- Each stratum has dimension $(4m^2-1)(g-1)$ and the irreducible components of $h^{-1}(p^2)$ are precisely the Zariski closures of A_d , $1 \leq d \leq g_s - 1$, and N.

Chapter 4 deals with the description of the fibres of the *G*-Hitchin fibration containing G_0 -Higgs bundles, for the real forms $G_0 = SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m,m) of $G = SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$, respectively. In particular, both these real forms are subgroups of $SU^*(4m)$ and now we have an involution σ on the reduced spectral curve. Denote by ρ the ramified 2fold covering from the reduced spectral curve S to the quotient curve $\bar{S} = S/\sigma$. We adapt the ideas from the last chapter to obtain the following characterizations (corresponding to Theorems 4.7 and 4.10).

Theorem 0.3. Let $p(\lambda) = \lambda^{2m} + \pi^* b_2 \lambda^{2m-2} + \ldots + \pi^* b_{2m}$ be a section of the line bundle $\pi^* K^{2m}$ on the total space of the cotangent bundle of Σ whose divisor is a smooth curve S. The fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration is a disjoint union

$$h^{-1}(p^2) \cong N \cup \bigcup_{d=1}^{2(g_{\bar{S}}-1)} A_d$$

where

- N has 2 connected components and it corresponds to the locus of rank 2 vector bundles on S (of degree 4m(2m − 1)(g − 1)) which admit an isomorphism ψ : σ*E → E* ⊗ π*K^{2m−1} satisfying ^t(σ*ψ) = −ψ.
- A_d is an affine bundle on

$$Z_{d} = \{ (\bar{D}, L) \in \bar{S}^{(\bar{d})} \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d'}(S) \mid L\sigma^{*}L \cong \rho^{*}(K_{\bar{S}}^{2}(-\bar{D})) \}$$

modeled on the vector bundle $E_d \to Z_d$, whose fibre at (\bar{D}, L) is isomorphic to $H^1(\bar{S}, K_{\bar{S}}(-\bar{D}))$. Here, $d' = d + 2(g_{\bar{S}} - 1)$ and $\bar{d} = -d + 2(g_{\bar{S}} - 1)$.

- The natural map $Z_d \to S^{(\bar{d})}$ is a fibration, whose fibres are modeled on the Prym variety $P(S,\bar{S})$.
- Each stratum has dimension dim $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})(g-1)$ and the irreducible components of $h^{-1}(p^2)$ are precisely the Zariski closures of A_d , $1 \leq d \leq 2(g_{\bar{S}} 1)$, and N.

Theorem 0.4. Let $p(\lambda) = \lambda^{2m} + \pi^* b_2 \lambda^{2m-2} + \ldots + \pi^* b_{2m}$ be a section of the line bundle $\pi^* K^{2m}$ on the total space of the cotangent bundle of Σ whose divisor is a smooth curve S. The fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration is a disjoint union

$$h^{-1}(p^2) \cong N \cup \bigcup_{d=1}^{g_S - 1} A_d$$

where

- N is connected and it corresponds to the locus of rank 2 semi-stable vector bundles on S (of degree 4m(2m-1)(g-1)) which admit an isomorphism ψ : σ*E → E* ⊗ π*K^{2m-1} satisfying ^t(σ*ψ) = ψ.
- A_d is an affine bundle on

$$Z_d = \{ (\bar{D}, L) \in \bar{S}^{(d)} \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d'}(S) \mid L\sigma^* L\rho^* \mathcal{O}_{\bar{S}}(\bar{D}) \cong \pi^* K^{4m-1} \}$$

modeled on the vector bundle $E_d \to Z_d$, whose fibre at (\bar{D}, L) is isomorphic to $H^1(\bar{S}, K_{\bar{S}}(-\bar{D}))$. Here, $d' = d + 2(g_{\bar{S}} - 1)$ and $\bar{d} = -d + 4m^2(g - 1)$.

- The natural map $Z_d \to S^{(\bar{d})}$ is a fibration, whose fibres are modeled on the Prym variety $P(S, \bar{S})$.
- Each stratum has dimension dim $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})(g-1)$ and the irreducible components of $h^{-1}(p^2)$ are precisely the Zariski closures of A_d , $1 \leq d \leq g_s 1$, and N.

In Chapter 5 we look at these fibres as sub-loci of semi-stable sheaves of rank 1 on a ribbon. After providing a dictionary between the two points-of-view, we obtain the following alternative characterizations in terms of Prym varieties of non-reduced curves. For the $SU^*(2m)$ case we obtain²:

²Proposition 0.5 is a combination of Propositions 5.7, 5.10, 5.11 and 5.12

Proposition 0.5. Let $1 \leq d \leq g_s - 1$ and consider the locus \mathcal{A}_d inside the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the $SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration consisting of (stable) generalized line bundles of index $\overline{d} = -2d + 2(g_s - 1)$. The locus \mathcal{A}_d is isomorphic to the total space of the affine bundle A_d and the natural map

$$v: \mathcal{A}_d \to v(\mathcal{A}_d) \subset \operatorname{Pic}(S) \times S^{(\bar{d})}$$

 $\mathcal{E} \mapsto (D_{\mathcal{E}}, \bar{\mathcal{E}})$

sending a generalized line bundle \mathcal{E} to its associated effective divisor $D_{\mathcal{E}}$ together with the line bundle $\overline{\mathcal{E}} = \mathcal{E}|_S/$ torsion on S corresponds precisely to the affine bundle $A_d \to Z_d$. Moreover, the fibre of the projection $\mathcal{A}_d \to S^{(\bar{d})}$ at an effective divisor D is a torsor for the Prym variety $P(X', \Sigma)$, where X is the (non-reduced) spectral curve and X' is the blow-up of X at D (where the Cartier divisor D is considered as a closed subscheme of X). In particular, the Prym variety $P(X, \Sigma)$ is isomorphic to \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} and it has 2^{2g} connected components.

For the other two cases we have the following (which can be found in Propositions 5.14 and 5.15):

Proposition 0.6. Let $1 \leq d \leq g_s - 1$ and consider the locus \mathcal{A}_d inside the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration consisting of (stable) generalized line bundles of index $\overline{d} = -d + 4m^2(g-1)$. The locus \mathcal{A}_d is isomorphic to A_d (as defined in Section 4.2) and the natural projection

$$\mathcal{A}_d \to \bar{S}^{(\bar{d})}$$

is a fibration, whose fibre at a divisor \overline{D} is modeled on the Prym variety $P(X', \overline{X}')$, where X is the (non-reduced) spectral curve, $X' = Bl_D X$ and \overline{X}' is a ribbon on the quotient (nonsingular) curve \overline{S} . In particular, choosing a square root of the canonical bundle of Σ , the locus \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} can be identified with $P(X, \overline{X}) \subset P(X, \Sigma)$, where \overline{X} is the ribbon \overline{X}' corresponding to $\overline{D} = 0$.

Proposition 0.7. Let $1 \leq d \leq 2(g_{\bar{s}} - 1)$ and consider the locus \mathcal{A}_d inside the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration consisting of (stable) generalized line bundles of index $\bar{d} = -d + 2(g_{\bar{s}} - 1)$. The locus \mathcal{A}_d is isomorphic to A_d (as defined in Section 4.1) and the natural projection

 $\mathcal{A}_d \to \bar{S}^{(\bar{d})}$

is a fibration, whose fibre at a divisor \overline{D} is modeled on the Prym variety $P(X', \overline{X}')$, where again X, X' and \overline{X}' are defined as in Proposition 0.6.

In the last chapter of the first part we observe the following³:

Proposition 0.8. Let $G = SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$, $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ or $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$. Consider the fibre $h_G^{-1}(p^2)$ of the G-Hitchin fibration, where $p(x) = x^m + a_2 x^{m-2} + \ldots + a_m$, $a_i \in H^0(\Sigma, K^i)$, if $G = SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$, and $p(x) = x^{2m} + b_2 x^{2m-2} + \ldots + b_{2m}$, $b_{2i} \in H^0(\Sigma, K^{2i})$, in the other two cases. Also, assume that the reduced curve S inside the total space of the canonical bundle of Σ given by $\operatorname{Zeros}(p(\lambda))$ is non-singular. There exists a natural surjective map from the singular fibre to an abelian variety $Ab(G_0)$, such that the inverse image of \mathcal{O}_S intersects the irreducible component of $h_G^{-1}(p^2)$ consisting of rank 2 semi-stable vector bundles on S in $N_0(G)$. When $G = SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ the abelian variety $Ab(SU^*(2m))$ is the Prym variety $P(S, \Sigma)$. For the groups $G = SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$ the abelian varieties $Ab(SO^*(4m))$ and Ab(Sp(m,m)) are the same and isomorphic to $P(S, \overline{S}) / \rho^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(\overline{S})[2]$, where $\rho : S \to \overline{S}$ is the ramified 2-covering from S to the quotient curve \overline{S} .

Then, we argue that the dual brane is supported on the distinguished subvariety of the dual fibre $h_{LG}^{-1}(p^2)$ corresponding to the abelian varieties dual to $Ab(G_0)$. These are precisely the spectral data associated to Higgs bundles for the Nadler group ${}^{L}G_0$ and our proposal is in accordance with the conjectural picture.

In the second part of the thesis, we introduce an isotropic locus $X = X_{(\rho, K^{1/2})}$ inside $\mathcal{M}(G)$ associated to any symplectic representation ρ of a complex semisimple Lie group G and a choice of theta-charactreistic $K^{1/2}$. To study these loci we introduce an auxiliary moduli space of $(\rho, K^{1/2})$ -pairs (whose construction follows from Schmitt [Sch08]; see also [GPGMiR09]). In particular, we have the following (which is the content of Proposition 7.9).

Proposition 0.9. Let P be a holomorphic principal G-bundle on Σ and ψ a global section of $P(\mathbb{V}) \otimes K^{1/2}$. If $(P, \mu(\psi))$ is a (semi-)stable Higgs bundle, the pair (P, ψ) is (semi-)stable.

 $^{^{3}}$ This is contained in the text, but it is not explicitly stated as a proposition. For further details the reader is referred to Chapter 6.

The moduli space of $(\rho, K^{1/2})$ -pairs $\mathcal{S}^d(\rho, K^{1/2})$ (of type $d \in \pi_1(G)$) is a quasi-projective varity and it comes equipped with a Hitchin-type map. This map is a projective morphism and from this property we give one example where $\mathcal{S}^d(\rho, K^{1/2})$ is projective and another where it is not. Then, we reprove, by using a Čech version of the proof given by Hitchin in [Hit17], the following (which is the content of Proposition 7.13):

Proposition 0.10. The subvariety X of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is isotropic. Moreover, the 1-form θ , whose differential corresponds to the natural holomorphic symplectic form on $\mathcal{M}(G)$, vanishes on X.

We finish the chapter (Proposition 7.17) by giving conditions for a certain class of symplectic representations, which we call almost-saturated, to give a Lagrangian subvariety of the Higgs bundle moduli space.

Proposition 0.11. Assume ρ is almost-saturated. If the Higgs bundle $(P, \mu(\psi))$ is stable and simple, then $(P, \mu(\psi))$ is a smooth point of $\mathcal{M}^d(G)$ and (P, ψ) is a smooth point of $\mathcal{S}^d(\rho, K^{1/2})$. Furthermore, if the Petri-type map

$$d\mu_{\psi}: H^0(\Sigma, P(\mathbb{V}) \otimes K^{1/2}) \to H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{Ad}(P) \otimes K)$$

is injective for all points in the smooth locus of the moduli space of pairs, the subvariety $X \subseteq \mathcal{M}^d(G)$ is Lagrangian.

In Chapter 8 we restrict our attention to the case of the standard representation of $Sp(2m, \mathbb{C})$. In this case we denote the moduli space of $K^{1/2}$ -twisted symplectic pairs simply by S and call it the spinor moduli space. The theorem below is the content of Theorem 8.1.

Theorem 0.12. Let (V, ψ) be a pair, consisting of a symplectic vector bundle on Σ and a spinor $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$.

 The pair (V, ψ) is (semi-)stable if and only if its associated Sp(2n, C)-Higgs bundle (V, ψ ⊗ ψ) is (semi-)stable. Also, the pair is polystable if and only if the associated Higgs bundle is polystable.

- 2. The pair (V, ψ) is (semi-)stable if and only if for all isotropic subbundles $0 \neq U \subset V$ such that $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, U^{\perp} \otimes K^{1/2})$ we have $\deg(U) < (\leq) 0$. Also, $(V, \psi) \in S$ is polystable if it is semi-stable and satisfies the following property. If $0 \neq U \subset V$ is an isotropic (respectively, proper coisotropic) subbundle of degree zero such that $\psi \in$ $H^0(\Sigma, U^{\perp} \otimes K^{1/2})$ (respectively, $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, U \otimes K^{1/2})$), then there exists a coisotropic (respectively, proper isotropic) subbundle U' of V such that $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, U' \otimes K^{1/2})$ (respectively, $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, (U')^{\perp} \otimes K^{1/2})$) and $V = U \oplus U'$.
- The spinor moduli space S is a projective variety which embeds in M(Sp(2n, C)) and the variety X, defined as the Zariski closure of

$$\{(V, \Phi) \in \mathcal{M}^s(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})) \mid \Phi = \psi \otimes \psi \text{ for some } 0 \neq \psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})\}$$

inside the Higgs bundle moduli space $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2n\mathbb{C}))$, has the property that the canonical 1-form θ (see Section 7.4 for more details) vanishes when restricted to X. Moreover, the embedded image of S in $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is the union of X and the moduli space $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C}))$ of symplectic vector bundles on Σ , and $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C}))$ intersects X in the generalized theta-divisor $\Theta \subset \mathcal{U}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C}))$.

In this case, the Gaiotto Lagrangian is a component of the nilpotent cone of the $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration. By studying the Morse function restricted to this Lagrangian we obtain its characterization (see Theorem 8.15) as follows.

Theorem 0.13. The Gaiotto Lagrangian X corresponds to the irreducible component of the nilpotent cone $Nilp(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ labelled by the chain

$$K^{1/2} \xrightarrow{1} K^{-1/2} \xrightarrow{0} U,$$

where $U \in \mathcal{U}(Sp(2n-2,\mathbb{C}))$.

In the last chapter of the thesis, we mention some interesting questions and points that emerge from the results and ideas in this thesis. For the convenience of the reader, we have also included a list of selected notation and notational conventions frequently used throughout the thesis. Moreover, we provide Appendices with some notations and basic results used throughout the text. In Appendix A.1 we give a detailed description on how to obtain the Nadler group associated to $SU^*(2m)$ and we comment on the Nadler group for the real forms $SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m,m).

Chapter 1

General background

1.1 Higgs bundles

Let G be reductive Lie group. Fix a maximal compact subgroup $H \subseteq G$ and let $H^{\mathbb{C}}$ be its complexification. This choice, together with a non-degenerate $\operatorname{Ad}(G)$ -invariant bilinear form B on \mathfrak{g} gives rise to a Cartan decomposition

$$\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{m},$$

where \mathfrak{h} is the Lie algebra of H and \mathfrak{m} its orthogonal complement with respect to B. The Cartan decomposition complexifies to

$$\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}=\mathfrak{h}^{\mathbb{C}}\oplus\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}}$$

and we have

$$[\mathfrak{h}^{\mathbb{C}},\mathfrak{h}^{\mathbb{C}}]\subseteq\mathfrak{h}^{\mathbb{C}},\quad \ [\mathfrak{h}^{\mathbb{C}},\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}}]\subseteq\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}},\quad \ [\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}},\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}}]\subseteq\mathfrak{h}^{\mathbb{C}}$$

The adjoint representation induces an action of $H^{\mathbb{C}}$ on $\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}}$, the so-called **isotropy repre**sentation

$$\iota: H^{\mathbb{C}} \to GL(\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}}).$$

Let Σ be a compact Riemann surface and K its canonical bundle. Given a principal $H^{\mathbb{C}}$ bundle P on Σ , we denote by $P(\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}}) = P \times_{\iota} \mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}}$ the vector bundle with fibre $\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}}$ associated to P via the isotropy representation.

Definition 1.1. A *G*-Higgs bundle on a Riemann surface Σ is a pair (P, Φ) , where *P* is a principal holomorphic $H^{\mathbb{C}}$ -bundle on Σ and $\Phi \in H^0(\Sigma, P(\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}}) \otimes K)$. The holomorphic section Φ is called the Higgs field.

Remarks 1.1:

1. When G is compact, a G-Higgs bundle is simply a holomorphic $G^{\mathbb{C}}$ -bundle.

2. When G is complex, $H^{\mathbb{C}} = G$ and $\mathfrak{m} = i\mathfrak{h}$, so $\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}} = \mathfrak{g}$ and the isotropy representation is just the adjoint representation of G. Thus, a G-Higgs bundle is a pair (P, Φ) , where P is a principal G-bundle and $\Phi \in H^0(\Sigma, \mathrm{Ad}(P) \otimes K)$. Here, $\mathrm{Ad}(P) = P \times_{\mathrm{Ad}} \mathfrak{g}$ is the adjoint bundle of P.

For a complex Lie group $G \subseteq GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ it is convenient to work with the holomorphic vector bundle associated to the principal *G*-bundle (via the standard representation). Thus, in this case, it is common to consider *G*-Higgs bundles as classical Higgs bundles¹ with extra structure reflecting the group in question.

Example 1.1. Let $G = SL(n, \mathbb{C})$. Then an $SL(n, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundle consists of a pair (V, Φ) , where V is a rank n holomorphic vector bundle on Σ with trivial determinant bundle and Φ is a holomorphic section of $End_0(V)$, the bundle of traceless endomorphisms of V, twisted by K.

Example 1.2. Let $G = SO(n, \mathbb{C})$. A principal holomorphic $SO(n, \mathbb{C})$ -bundle on Σ corresponds to a rank n orthogonal vector bundle V, i.e., a holomorphic vector bundle V together with a (fibrewise) non-degenerate symmetric bilinear form $q \in H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{Sym}^2 V^*)$. The adjoint bundle can be identified with the subbundle of $\operatorname{End}(V)$ consisting of endomorphisms which are skew-symmetric with respect to q. Thus, the corresponding Higgs bundle has the form (V, Φ) , where (V, q) is an orthogonal vector bundle and the Higgs field $\Phi \in H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{End}_0(V) \otimes K)$ satisfies $q(\Phi \cdot, \cdot) + q(\cdot, \Phi \cdot) = 0$.

¹A classical Higgs bundle is a pair (V, Φ) where V is a holomorphic vector bundle on Σ and $\Phi \in H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{End} V \otimes K)$.

Example 1.3. Let $G = Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ be the complex symplectic group. A principal $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ bundle on Σ corresponds to a rank 2n symplectic vector bundle (V, ω) , i.e., a holomorphic vector bundle V together with a (fibrewise) non-degenerate skew-symmetric form $\omega \in$ $H^0(\Sigma, \wedge^2 V^*)$. The adjoint bundle can be identified with the subbundle of End(V) consisting of endomorphisms which are skew-symmetric with respect to ω . Thus, an $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundle is a pair (V, Φ) , where (V, ω) is a symplectic vector bundle of rank 2n and the Higgs field $\Phi \in H^0(\Sigma, \text{End}_0(V) \otimes K)$ satisfies $\omega(\Phi \cdot, \cdot) + \omega(\cdot, \Phi \cdot) = 0$.

Next, we discuss Higgs bundles for the real Lie groups $G_0 = SU^*(2m)$, $SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m, m). These are connected, semi-simple, non-compact real forms² of $G = SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$, $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$, respectively.

Example 1.4. The group $SU^*(2m)$ is the fixed point set of the anti-holomorphic involution

$$SL(2m, \mathbb{C}) \to SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$$

 $q \mapsto J_m \bar{q} J_m^{-1},$

where $J_m = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1_m \\ -1_m & 0 \end{pmatrix}$; here, 1_m is the $m \times m$ identity matrix. This group is also denoted by $SL(m, \mathbb{H})$, where \mathbb{H} stands for the quaternions, and sometimes called the non-compact dual of $SU(2m)^3$. Its maximal compact subgroup is H = Sp(m), which complexifies to $H^{\mathbb{C}} = Sp(2m, \mathbb{C})$. Thus,

$$\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}} = \{ x \in \mathfrak{sl}(2m, \mathbb{C}) \mid {}^{t}\!xJ = Jx \}$$

and an $SU^*(2m)$ -Higgs bundle is a pair (V, Φ) consisting of a symplectic vector bundle (V, ω) on Σ of rank 2m and a section $\Phi \in H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{End}_0(V) \otimes K)$ which is symmetric with respect to the symplectic form of V (i.e., $\omega(\Phi \cdot, \cdot) = \omega(\cdot, \Phi \cdot)$).

Example 1.5. The group $SO^*(2m)$ is the fixed point set of the anti-holomorphic involution

$$SO(2m, \mathbb{C}) \to SO(2m, \mathbb{C})$$

 $g \mapsto J_m \bar{g} J_m^{-1}.$

²Recall that a real Lie group G_0 is a real form of a complex Lie group G if G_0 is a subgroup of the underlying real Lie group of G which is given as the fixed point set of an anti-holomorphic involution of G.

³In the sense that, in Cartan's classification of symmetric spaces, the non-compact symmetric space $SU^*(2m)/Sp(2m)$ is the dual of the compact symmetric space SU(2m)/Sp(2m).

Its maximal compact is H = U(m), so $H^{\mathbb{C}} = GL(m, \mathbb{C})$. This group is the non-compact dual of the real form $SO(2m) \subseteq SO(2m, \mathbb{C})$ and sometimes denoted by $SO(m, \mathbb{H})$. As remarked in [BGPG15, Section 3], let T be the complex automorphism of \mathbb{C}^{2m} defined by

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} 1_m & i1_m \\ \\ 1_m & -i1_m \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then,

$$\mathfrak{so}(2m,\mathbb{C})=\mathfrak{gl}(m,\mathbb{C})\oplus\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}},$$

where, after conjugating by T on has

$$\mathfrak{gl}(m,\mathbb{C}) \cong \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & -t \end{pmatrix} \mid x \in Mat_m(\mathbb{C}) \right\}$$
(1.1)

and

$$\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}} \cong \{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \beta \\ \gamma & 0 \end{pmatrix} \mid \beta, \gamma \in \mathfrak{so}(m, \mathbb{C}) \}.$$

A principal $GL(m, \mathbb{C})$ -bundle gives a rank m vector bundle and the isotropy representation acts on $\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}}$ via conjugation by $\iota(g) = \begin{pmatrix} g & 0 \\ 0 & {}^{t}g^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$, for $g \in GL(m, \mathbb{C})$. Thus, a Higgs bundle for $SO^{*}(2m)$ is given by the data (W, β, γ) , where W is a rank m vector bundle, $\beta \in H^{0}(\Sigma, \Lambda^{2}W \otimes K)$ K) and $\gamma \in H^{0}(\Sigma, \Lambda^{2}W^{*} \otimes K)$. It will be convenient to us to consider such Higgs bundles as $SO(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundles. Explicitly, given an $SO^{*}(2m)$ -Higgs bundle $(W, \Phi = (\beta, \gamma))$, take $V = W \oplus W^{*}$ with its natural orthogonal form $q((w_{1}, \xi_{1}), (w_{2}, \xi_{2})) = \xi_{2}(w_{1}) + \xi_{1}(w_{2})$. Then, $(V, \Phi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \beta \\ \gamma & 0 \end{pmatrix})$ is an $SO(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundle.

Example 1.6. The group Sp(m,m) is the fixed point set of the anti-holomorphic involution

$$Sp(4m, \mathbb{C}) \to Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$$

 $g \mapsto K_m \bar{g} K_m^{-1}$

where
$$K_m = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1_m & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1_m \\ 1_m & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1_m & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
. Its maximal compact subgroup is $H = Sp(m) \times$

Sp(m), so $H^{\mathbb{C}} = Sp(2m, \mathbb{C}) \times Sp(2m, \mathbb{C})$. Similarly to the example above, $\mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}}$ can be expressed as a subset of certain off-diagonal matrices and a Higgs bundle for Sp(m,m) is of the form $(W_1 \oplus W_2, \Phi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \beta \\ -\beta^T & 0 \end{pmatrix})$, where (W_i, ω_i) , i = 1, 2, are symplectic vector bundles of rank 2m and $\beta^T : W_1 \to W_2 \otimes K$ is the symplectic transpose⁴ of $\beta : W_2 \to W_1 \otimes K$. Note that, by considering the symplectic form $\omega = (\omega_1, \omega_2)$ on $V = W_1 \oplus W_2$, the pair $(V, \Phi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \beta \\ -\beta^T & 0 \end{pmatrix})$ is naturally an $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundle. Now, by considering the symplectic form $\omega' = (\omega_1, -\omega_2)$ on V, the pair (V, Φ) is naturally an $SU^*(4m)$ -Higgs bundle, reflecting the fact that Sp(m, m) is a subgroup of $SU^*(4m)$.

The construction of the moduli space of semi-stable⁵ *G*-Higgs bundles when *G* is a complex reductive Lie group goes back to Hitchin [Hit87a, Hit87b] and Simpson [Sim92, Sim94b]. In the general case where *G* is a reductive Lie group (real or complex), the existence of a moduli space of Higgs bundles $\mathcal{M}^d(G)$ parametrizing isomorphism classes of polystable *G*-Higgs bundles (of topological type⁶ $d \in \pi_1(G)$) is guaranteed by Schmitt's GIT general construction (see [Sch08]) or Kuranishi slice method (see, e.g., [Kob14]). In particular, $\mathcal{M}^d(G)$ is a complex analytic variety, which is algebraic when *G* is algebraic. When *G* is a complex reductive Lie group, for each topological type $d \in \pi_1(G)$, the moduli space $\mathcal{M}^d(G)$ is non-empty and connected (see [Li93, GPO14]).

⁴By definition, $\omega_1(\beta \cdot, \cdot) = \omega_2(\cdot, \beta^T \cdot).$

 $^{^{5}}$ As usual, the moduli space parametrizes S-equivalence classes of semi-stable Higgs bundles or equivalently isomorphism classes of polystable Higgs bundles (for appropriate notions of semi-stability and polystability generalizing the usual one for principal bundles.

 $^{^{6}}$ The topological type of a Higgs bundle is defined as the topological type of the underlying principal bundle (see Appendix D for more details).

1.2 Hitchin Equations

Let G be a complex semisimple⁷ Lie group and $K \subset G$ a maximal compact subgroup defined by an anti-holomorphic involution τ . Also, let P be a smooth principal G-bundle on Σ (of topological type $d \in \pi_1(G)$) and fix a reduction P_K of P to the maximal compact subgroup K (for notation and basic definitions concerning principal bundles the reader is referred to Appendix D). We also denote by τ the isomorphism

$$\tau: \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \mathrm{Ad}(P)) \to \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, \mathrm{Ad}(P))$$

given by the combination of complex conjugation on forms and τ .

Now, let \mathcal{A} be the set of K-connections on P_K . This is an affine space modeled on $\Omega^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Ad}(P_K))$ and, by the Chern correspondence, is in bijection with the set \mathcal{C} of holomorphic structures on P, which in turn is an affine space modeled on $\Omega^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Ad}(P))$ (see e.g. [Ati57]). Thus, $T^*\mathcal{A} \cong \mathcal{A} \times \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Ad}(P))$ is naturally an infinite-dimensional flat hyperkähler space. Following Hitchin [Hit87a], given a tangent vector $(\beta, \varphi) \in \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Ad}(P)) \oplus \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Ad}(P))$ of $T^*\mathcal{A}$, we define the complex structures

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{I}(\beta,\varphi) &= (i\beta,i\varphi)\\ \mathsf{J}(\beta,\varphi) &= (-i\tau(\varphi),i\tau(\beta))\\ \mathsf{K}(\beta,\varphi) &= (\tau(\varphi),-\tau(\beta)), \end{split}$$

where K = IJ, and a Riemannian metric

$$g((\beta,\varphi),(\beta,\varphi)) = 2i \int_{\Sigma} B(\tau(\varphi),\varphi) - B(\tau(\beta),\beta),$$

which is a hyperkähler metric.

The gauge group \mathcal{G}_K (i.e., the group of automorphisms of P_K) acts naturally on $T^*\mathcal{A}$ preserving the hyperkähler structure defined above and the associated hyperkähler moment map

⁷We restrict to semisimple groups as, apart from the general linear group, all groups considered in this thesis are of this type. Generalizations to the reductive case (and when the group is real) can be found in the given references.

 $\mu = (\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_3)$ is given by

The equations

$$\begin{cases} F_A - [\Phi, \tau(\Phi)] = 0\\ \bar{\partial}_A \Phi = 0 \end{cases}$$

are usually called **Hitchin equations** (or Higgs bundle equations). Let $\mathcal{M}_{gauge}^d(G) = \mu^{-1}(0)/\mathcal{G}_K$ be the moduli space of solutions to Hitchin equations. Thus we have the following Hitchin-Kobayashi theorem⁸.

Theorem 1.2 ([Hit87a, Sim92]). A G-Higgs bundle (P, Φ) (of topological type $d \in \pi_1(G)$) admits a reduction h of structure group to the maximal compact subgroup K (i.e., a metric) whose curvature F_h of the associated Chern connection satisfies the equation

$$F_h - [\Phi, \tau(\Phi)] = 0$$

if and only if it is a polystable Higgs bundle. Moreover, there is a homeomorphism

$$\mathcal{M}^d(G) \cong \mathcal{M}^d_{gauge}(G)$$

taking irreducible solutions in $\mathcal{M}^d_{aauae}(G)$ to stable and simple Higgs bundles in $\mathcal{M}^d(G)$.

In particular, $\mathcal{M}_{gauge}^d(G)$ is hyperkähler and we identify it in complex structure I (which is complex structure coming from Σ) with the moduli space of Higgs bundles⁹. Given a solution (A, Φ) to Hitchin equations, the connection

$$\nabla \coloneqq \nabla_A + \phi - \tau(\phi)$$

⁸When G is a reductive group, a *Hitchin-Kobayashi correspondence* for G-Higgs bundles was obtained in [GPGMiR09].

⁹Note that $\mathcal{M}^d(G)$ can be seen as the quotient by the gauge group \mathcal{G} of polystable elements $(\bar{\partial}_A, \Phi) \in T^*\mathcal{A}$ satisfying $\bar{\partial}_A \Phi$, where we have implicitly used the bijection between \mathcal{C} and \mathcal{A} . Thus, the isomorphism stated in Theorem 1.2 takes (A, Φ) in complex structure I to $(\bar{\partial}_A, \Phi)$ in the natural complex structure on the Higgs bundle moduli space coming from the curve.

is a flat G-connection¹⁰, so we obtain a map from $\mathcal{M}_{gauge}^d(G)$ to the moduli space $\mathcal{M}_{dR}^d(G)$ of flat G-connections (which is sometimes called the **de Rham moduli space**). This gives a homeomorphism between the moduli space of Higgs bundles and the moduli space of flat connections, which is usually referred to as the **non-abelian Hodge correspondence**¹¹ (the proof relies heavily on two existence theorems for gauge-theoretic equations due to Donaldson [Don87] and Corlette [Cor88]). Moreover, the map

$$(A, \Phi) \mapsto \nabla_A + \phi - \tau(\phi)$$

sends $\mathcal{M}_{gauge}^d(G)$ in complex structure J to $\mathcal{M}_{dR}^d(G)$ in the natural complex structure induced from G.

1.3 Simpson compactified Jacobian

Recall that for a non-singular projective curve over \mathbb{C} of genus g, the Jacobian variety is a gdimensional abelian variety that can be described as the moduli space of degree 0 line bundles on the curve. More generally, let X be any projective pure-dimensional \mathbb{C} -scheme of finite type and dimension 1, hereinafter simply called a projective curve. The Picard group Pic(X) is the set of isomorphism classes of invertible sheaves on X, i.e., the moduli space of line bundles on X, and it is naturally an abelian group isomorphic to $H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X^{\times})$. We denote by Pic⁰(X) the connected component of the identity of the Picard scheme and call it the **Jacobian of** X (see e.g. [Kle05]). Clearly, in this generality, Pic⁰(X) is not a proper \mathbb{C} -scheme (see e.g. [BLR90] for a very good overview on the subject). The problem of compactifying the Jacobian of a singular curve has been addressed by many authors using different methods and in various levels of generality. Some references include [AK80, OS79, Ses82, Est01]. In this section we focus on Simpson moduli space of semi-stable sheaves, which generalizes many of the past constructions, and is intimately connected, as we will see, to the fibres of the Hitchin fibration.

¹⁰Since ∇_A is compatible with K and $\tau(\Phi - \tau(\phi)) = -(\Phi - \tau(\phi))$ (i.e., $\Phi - \tau(\Phi)$ is a 1-form taking value in $i\mathfrak{k}$). Moreover, from the equations, we see that ∇ is flat.

¹¹For the non-abelian Hodge correspondence when G is a real reductive Lie group see [GPGMiR09, BGPMiR03].

Let us recall some basic definitions about sheaves. If \mathcal{E} is any coherent sheaf on a (Noetherian) scheme, one defines its **dimension** $d(\mathcal{E})$ as the dimension of the closed set $\text{Supp}(\mathcal{E}) = \{x \in X \mid \mathcal{E}_x \neq 0\}$. Moreover, \mathcal{E} is said to be **pure of dimension** d if for all non-trivial subsheaves $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{E}, d(\mathcal{F}) = d$. Let us return to the case where X is a projective curve. Generalizing the usual notion for integral curves, a coherent sheaf \mathcal{E} on X will be called **torsion-free** if it is pure of dimension one.

Example 1.7. If X is a projective smooth curve, a coherent sheaf \mathcal{E} is torsion-free if and only if it is locally-free. Thus, any coherent sheaf on X splits as a direct sum of a torsion sheaf (a finite collection of points, and so a sheaf of dimension 0) and a locally free-sheaf (a sheaf of dimension 1).

Let $\mathcal{O}_X(1)$ be an ample invertible sheaf on X and δ the degree of the associated polarization. Then, for every coherent sheaf \mathcal{E} on X there exists a polynomial, called the **Hilbert polynomial of** \mathcal{E} , with rational coefficients and degree $d(\mathcal{E})$ defined by

$$P(\mathcal{E}, t) = \chi(X, \mathcal{E}(t)), \quad \text{for } t >> 0,$$

where $\mathcal{E}(t) = \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{O}_X(1)^t$. Let \mathcal{E} be a coherent sheaf on X of dimension $d(\mathcal{E}) = 1$. Then, the associated Hilbert polynomial is of the form

$$P(\mathcal{E}, t) = \delta \operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{E})t + \deg_P(\mathcal{E}) + \operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{E})\chi(\mathcal{O}_X),$$

for some rational numbers $\operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{E})$ and $\deg_P(\mathcal{E})$, called the **(polarized) rank** and **degree** of \mathcal{E} , resp., with respect to $\mathcal{O}_X(1)$. We also denote define the **(polarized) slope** of \mathcal{E} by $\mu_P(\mathcal{E}) = \deg_P(\mathcal{E})/\operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{E})$. Note in particular that considering some positive power of $\mathcal{O}_X(1)$ as the ample line bundle, does not alter the polarized slope.

Remark 1.3: If X is integral, the usual notions of degree and rank coincide with the ones given above (for any polarization). In particular, if \mathcal{E} is a 1-dimensional coherent sheaf on X, there exists an open dense subset $U \subset X$, such that $\mathcal{E}|_U$ is locally free and the rank of \mathcal{E} is the rank of the locally free sheaf $\mathcal{E}|_U$. In general, however, the polarized rank and degree of a torsion-free sheaf need not be integers and might depend on the polarization. **Example 1.8.** Let $X = \Sigma_1 \cup \Sigma_2$ be a nodal curve, where Σ_1 and Σ_2 are smooth curves (of genus g_1 and g_2 , respectively) meeting transversely at $x_0 \in X$. A polarization on X can be seen as a collection of rational numbers, one for each irreducible component, whose sum is an integer. Let $\mathcal{O}_X(1)$ be an ample line bundle whose corresponding polarization is given by $\{1/2, 1/2\}$. Also, let E be a locally-free sheaf of rank r and degree d on Σ_1 , and consider the coherent sheaf $\mathcal{E} = j_*E$ on X, where $j : \Sigma_1 \to X$ is the natural inclusion. The sheaf \mathcal{E} is torsion-free and its polarized rank and degree are given by

$$P(\mathcal{E}, t) = \chi(X, \mathcal{E}(t))$$

= $\operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{E})t + \operatorname{deg}_P(\mathcal{E}) + \operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{E})\chi(\mathcal{O}_X)$
= $\operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{E})t + \operatorname{deg}_P(\mathcal{E}) + \operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{E})(1 - g_1 - g_2)$

But,

$$\chi(X, \mathcal{E}(t)) = \chi(\Sigma_1, E \otimes j^* \mathcal{O}_X(t))$$
$$= \frac{r}{2}t + d + r(1 - g_1),$$

by Riemann-Roch. Thus $\operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{E}) = r/2$. This example illustrates two points. Taking E to be an invertible sheaf on Σ_1 , we obtain that the polarized rank of j_*E is not integral. Also, note that if a torsion-free sheaf has rank 1 on each irreducible component, it will also have rank 1 on X. The converse, however, does not hold. Take the rank of E to be 2. Then, $\operatorname{rk}_P(j_*E) = 1$, but j_*E restricted to Σ_2 is a torsion-sheaf supported at x_0 .

Recall that any semi-stable sheaf \mathcal{E} admits a (non-unique) **Jordan-Hölder** filtration, i.e., a filtration

$$0 = \mathcal{E}_0 \subset \mathcal{E}_1 \subset \ldots \subset \mathcal{E}_l = \mathcal{E},$$

where the factors $\mathcal{E}_i/\mathcal{E}_{i-1}$ are stable and have polarized slope $\mu_P(\mathcal{E})$, for $i = 1, \ldots, l$. Moreover, the graded object

$$Gr(\mathcal{E}) \coloneqq \bigoplus_{i=1}^{l} \mathcal{E}_i / \mathcal{E}_{i-1},$$

up to isomorphism, does not depend on the choice of the Jordan-Hölder filtration (see e.g. [HL10, Proposition 1.5.2]).

Definition 1.4. A coherent sheaf \mathcal{E} on X is **semi-stable** (resp. **stable**) if it is torsion-free and for any proper subsheaf $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{E}$, one has $\mu_P(\mathcal{F}) \leq \mu_P(\mathcal{E})$ (resp. <). Also, two semi-stable sheaves \mathcal{E}_1 and \mathcal{E}_2 are called **S-equivalent** if $Gr(\mathcal{E}_1) \cong Gr(\mathcal{E}_2)$.

Remark 1.5: The stability condition defined above is equivalent to Simpson's definition [Sim94a], where a torsion-free sheaf \mathcal{E} is called μ -(semi-)stable if for all proper subsheaves $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{E}$ one has

$$\frac{\deg_P(\mathcal{F}) + \operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{F})\chi(\mathcal{O}_X)}{\delta\operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{F})} \underset{(\leq)}{\leq} \frac{\deg_P(\mathcal{E}) + \operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{E})\chi(\mathcal{O}_X)}{\delta\operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{E})}.$$

Also, for stable sheaves, S-equivalence is the same as isomorphism.

Simpson constructed in *loc. cit.* a coarse moduli space $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{O}_X(1), P)$, hereinafter called **Simpson moduli space**, for semi-stable sheaves on a polarized curve¹² $(X, \mathcal{O}_X(1))$ with Hilbert polynomial

$$P(t) = \delta t + k + \chi(\mathcal{O}_X),$$

where δ , as before, is the degree of the polarization. He shows in [Sim94a, Theorem 1.21] that $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{O}_X(1), P)$ is a projective scheme whose points correspond to S-equivalence classes of semi-stable (polarized) rank 1 and (polarized) degree k torsion-free sheaves on X. Moreover, the locus $\mathcal{M}^s(\mathcal{O}_X(1), P)$ corresponding to stable sheaves is the fine moduli space of stable sheaves, an open dense set in $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{O}_X(1), P)$.

Remark 1.6: As pointed out in the beginning of this section, the Simpson moduli space is a compactification of $\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$ which generalizes prior constructions. In particular, if X is integral (i.e., reduced and irreducible), every rank 1 torsion-free sheaf is stable and $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{O}_{X}(1), P)$ coincides with the compactification constructed by Altman and Kleiman [AK80]. Also, when X is reduced but reducible, the (semi-)stability condition introduced by Seshadri in [Ses82] is known to be equivalent to the notion introduced in this section. Moreover, Seshadri's compactification corresponds to the connected component of Simpson moduli space consisting of sheaves which are rank 1 on every irreducible component of the curve (for more details and a good guide to the literature see [LM05]).

 $^{^{12}}$ In *loc. cit.*, Simpson actually constructs a moduli space of semi-stable sheaves on any polarized projective \mathbb{C} -scheme.

1.4 Hitchin fibration

Let G be an (affine) reductive group over \mathbb{C} with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and fix a topological type $d \in \pi_1(G)$. Consider a homogeneous basis $\{p_1, \ldots, p_r\}$ for the algebra $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{g}]^G$ of polynomials invariant under the adjoint action of G. Here, r is the rank of \mathfrak{g} and let d_i be the degree of the invariant polynomial p_i , for $i = 1, \ldots, r$. The G-Hitchin fibration, or simply Hitchin map, is given by

$$h_G: \mathcal{M}^d(G) \to \mathcal{A}(G) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^r H^0(\Sigma, K^{d_i})$$
$$(P, \Phi) \mapsto (p_1(\Phi), \dots, p_r(\Phi)),$$

where $\mathcal{A}(G)$ is a vector space of half of the dimension of $\mathcal{M}^d(G)$ called **Hitchin base**. If no confusion is possible, we will drop the subscript and denote the morphism above simply by h. The Hitchin map is a surjective proper morphism for any choice of basis, with complex Lagrangian fibres. Moreover it turns the moduli space of G-Higgs bundles into an algebraically completely integrable Hamiltonian system¹³ [Hit87b]. To describe the fibres of h for classical groups, Hitchin introduced the notion of spectral curve¹⁴ [Hit87a, Hit87b], which we will recall in this section.

Note that given a linear representation $\rho : G \to GL(\mathbb{V})$, one can associate to any semistable G-Higgs bundle (P, Φ) a semi-stable Higgs bundle $(P(\mathbb{V}), \rho(\Phi))$ and then consider a particularly convenient basis of homogeneous polynomials given by the coefficients of the characteristic polynomial (see e.g. [Don95]). As our main concern will be when the complex group G is a classical group, we start by introducing the spectral curve for the group $GL(n, \mathbb{C})$. In this case, we use the more conventional notation $\mathcal{M}(n, d)$ for the moduli space $\mathcal{M}^d(GL(n, \mathbb{C}))$ of Higgs bundles of rank n and degree d on Σ . Choose the basis of invariant polynomials to be given by the coefficients of the characteristic polynomial and denote the

¹³Recall that an algebraically completely integrable Hamiltonian system consists of a 2*N*-dimensional symplectic complex algebraic variety *Y* with a map $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_N) : Y \to \mathbb{C}^N$ such that $df_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge f_N$ is generically non-zero; the Poisson bracket of f_i and f_j vanish for all $i, j = 1, \ldots, N$; for generic $z \in \mathbb{C}^N$, $f^{-1}(c)$ is an open set in an abelian variety (of dimension *N*); the Hamiltonian vector fields X_{f_i} , $i = 1, \ldots, N$, are linear on $f^{-1}(c)$.

¹⁴For more general groups, the notion of a cameral cover was introduced by Donagi (see e.g. [Don95]).
Hitchin fibration, which is a projective fibration, by

$$h: \mathcal{M}(n,d) \to \mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} H^{0}(\Sigma, K^{i})$$
$$(V,\Phi) \mapsto (p_{1}(\Phi), \dots, p_{n}(\Phi)),$$

where $p_i(\Phi) = (-1)^i \operatorname{tr}(\Lambda^i \Phi)$, for $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Compactify $\pi : K \to \Sigma$ to the ruled surface

$$\bar{\pi}: Y \to \Sigma$$

where $Y = \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma} \oplus K)$, i.e., the total space of $\operatorname{Proj}(\operatorname{Sym}^{\bullet}(\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma} \oplus K^{-1}))$, and let $\mathcal{O}(1)$ be the relatively ample invertible sheaf on Y, so that $\bar{\pi}_*\mathcal{O}(1) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma} \oplus K^{-1}$. Let $\sigma \in H^0(Y, \mathcal{O}(1)) =$ $H^0(\Sigma, \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma} \oplus K^{-1})$ be the canonical section of $\mathcal{O}(1)$, called the "infinity section", and let $\lambda \in H^0(\Sigma, \bar{\pi}^*K(1)) = H^0(\Sigma, K \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma})$ be the canonical section of $\bar{\pi}^*K \otimes \mathcal{O}(1)$, called the "zero section" (both corresponding to the respective associated summand \mathcal{O}_{Σ}).

Remark 1.7: Note that the zero section and the infinity section are disjoint on Y. Also, when restricted to the total space $|K| \subset Y$ of the canonical bundle, $\lambda \in H^0(|K|, \bar{\pi}^*K)$ is the tautological section.

Let $a = (a_1, \ldots, a_n) \in \mathcal{A}$ and consider the section

$$s_a = \lambda^n + (\bar{\pi}^* a_1) \lambda^{n-1} \sigma + \ldots + (\bar{\pi}^* a_n) \sigma^n \in H^0(Y, \bar{\pi}^*(K)^n \otimes \mathcal{O}(n)).$$

We denote by X_a the zeros of the section s_a with the natural scheme structure and call it the **spectral curve** associated to $a \in \mathcal{A}$. In particular we denote by

$$\pi_a: X_a \to \Sigma,$$

the restriction of $\pi: K \to \Sigma$ to X_a , and call it the **spectral cover** associated to X_a .

Remarks 1.7:

1. Note that σ restricted to X_a is everywhere non-zero and so trivializes $\mathcal{O}(1)|_{X_a}$. Thus, λ restricted to the spectral curve is a section of

$$(\bar{\pi}^*(K) \otimes \mathcal{O}(1))|_{X_a} \cong \pi^*_a(K).$$

In particular, the spectral curve X_a can be seen as the zero scheme corresponding to the section

$$\lambda^{n} + \pi^{*} a_{1} \lambda^{n-1} + \ldots + \pi^{*} a_{n} \in H^{0}(|K|, \pi^{*} K^{n}).$$

2. It follows from the remark above that the spectral curve X_a is an element of the linear system $\mathbb{P}(H^0(Y, \bar{\pi}^*(K)^n \otimes \mathcal{O}(n)))$ which is contained in $|K| \subset Y$. As explained in [Hit87b], this linear system is base-point free. This follows from the fact that λ^n is a point of $\mathbb{P}(H^0(Y, \bar{\pi}^*(K)^n \otimes \mathcal{O}(n)))$, but the linear system $\mathbb{P}H^0(\Sigma, K^n)$ is base-point free for $n \geq 2$, which we may assume as the case n = 1 is trivial. In particular, it follows from Bertini's theorem that the generic spectral curve is a non-singular projective curve.

Since we will be dealing with non-reduced spectral curves, it is instructive to get a clearer picture of the scheme structure of X_a . For this, set $a_0 = 1 \in H^0(\Sigma, \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma})$. We may see the sections $a_i \in H^0(\Sigma, K^i)$ as embeddings

$$a_i: K^{-n} \to K^{-n+i},$$

for each $i = 0, \ldots, n$. Consider the ideal sheaf

$$\mathcal{I}_a = \left(\bigoplus_{i=0}^n a_i(K^{-n})\right) \subset \operatorname{Sym}^{\bullet} K^{-1}$$

generated by the images of a_i . Then,

$$X_a = \operatorname{Spec}(\operatorname{Sym}^{\bullet} K^{-1}/\mathcal{I}_a) \subset |K| = \operatorname{Spec}(\operatorname{Sym}^{\bullet} K^{-1}).$$

In particular, the spectral cover

$$\pi_a: X_a \to \Sigma$$

is a finite morphism of degree n.

Note that 15

$$\pi_{a,*}(\mathcal{O}_{X_a}) = \operatorname{Sym}^{\bullet} K^{-1}/\mathcal{I}_a = \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma} \oplus K^{-1} \oplus \ldots \oplus K^{-(n-1)}$$

and from this we can calculate the arithmetic genus $g_{X_a} = p_a(X_a)$ of X_a by using the fact that the Euler characteristic is invariant under direct images by finite morphisms. So,

$$\chi(X_a, \mathcal{O}_{X_a}) = \chi(\Sigma, \pi_{a,*}\mathcal{O}_{X_a})$$

gives

$$g_{\chi_a} = 1 + n^2 (g - 1). \tag{1.2}$$

A finite morphism is in particular affine. Let us make this explicit. Let U be an open affine of Σ and consider a nowhere vanishing section $u \in H^0(U, K^{-1})$, so that $|K|_U| =$ $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)[u])$. Denote by

$$\bar{a}_i = \langle a_i, u^i \rangle \in \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)$$

the local function on U obtained by the natural pairing between K^i and K^{-i} , for i = 1, ..., n. Then, we obtain the affine open set

$$\pi_a^{-1}(U) = \operatorname{Spec}\left(\frac{\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)[u]}{(u^n + \bar{a}_1 u^{n-1} + \ldots + \bar{a}_n)}\right),$$

on X_a and the map π_a restricted to this affine is simply the natural projection of $\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)[u]$ onto its quotient by the ideal $(u^n + \bar{a}_1 u^{n-1} + \ldots + \bar{a}_n) \subset \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)[u]$.

1.4.1 The BNR correspondence

Let $\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(1)$ be an ample line bundle on Σ of degree δ . Given a point $a \in \mathcal{A}$ of the Hitchin base for the Hitchin fibration

$$h: \mathcal{M}(n,d) \to \mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} H^{0}(\Sigma, K^{i}),$$

let $\pi_a : X_a \to \Sigma$ be the spectral cover associated to the spectral curve X_a , as in the last section. We denote by $\mathcal{M}(a;k)$ the Simpson moduli space $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{O}_{X_a}(1), P)$, given by the

¹⁵This is standard (see e.g. [Har77, Ex. 5.17]).

polarization $\mathcal{O}_{X_a}(1)$, obtained by the pullback $\pi_a^* \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(1)$ of the ample line bundle $\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(1)$ by the spectral cover, and Hilbert polynomial

$$P(t) = n\delta t + k + \chi(\mathcal{O}_{X_a}).$$

In other words, $\mathcal{M}(a;k)$ is the Simpson moduli space for semi-stable rank 1 sheaves on X_a (of polarized degree k).

Denote by \mathcal{B} the \mathcal{O}_{Σ} -algebra $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_{X_a}$. Since π_a is an affine morphism, the direct image $\pi_{a,*}$ induces an equivalence of categories between the category of quasi-coherent \mathcal{O}_{X_a} -modules and the category of \mathcal{B} -modules (i.e., quasi-coherent \mathcal{O}_{Σ} -modules with a \mathcal{B} -module structure), which preserves the subcategories of torsion-free sheaves. If \mathcal{E} is a torsion-free sheaf on X_a of (polarized) rank 1 and degree k, then $V = \pi_{a,*}(\mathcal{E})$ is a vector bundle¹⁶. Since the Euler characteristic is invariant under direct image by a finite map, by the projection formula we have $\chi(X_a, \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{X_a}(t)) = \chi(\Sigma, \pi_{a,*}(\mathcal{E}) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(t))$ and thus we obtain, as pointed out in [HP12, Remark 3.8], the relations

$$n \operatorname{rk}_{P}(\mathcal{E}) = \operatorname{rk}(\pi_{a,*}(\mathcal{E}))$$
$$\deg_{P}(\mathcal{E}) + \operatorname{rk}_{P}(\mathcal{E})\chi(\mathcal{O}_{X_{a}}) = \deg(\pi_{a,*}(\mathcal{E})) + \operatorname{rk}(\pi_{a,*}(\mathcal{E}))\chi(\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}).$$

Thus, by the above and (1.2), V is a vector bundle of rank n and degree k + n(n-1)(1-g). A \mathcal{B} -module structure on V corresponds to an algebra homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Sym}^{\bullet} K^{-1}/\mathcal{I}_a \to \operatorname{End} V,$$

which is equivalent to an \mathcal{O}_{Σ} -module $K^{-1} \to \operatorname{End} V$, i.e., a Higgs field Φ . Equivalently, we may see Φ as the twisted endomorphism of V obtained from multiplication by the tautological section

$$\lambda: \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \pi_a^* K.$$

¹⁶We will avoid differentiating a vector bundle from its associated locally-free sheaf whenever notation becomes too cumbersome.

In particular, we denote the Higgs bundle obtained from \mathcal{E} through this construction by

$$\pi_{a,*}(\mathcal{E},\lambda) = (V,\Phi),$$

and sometimes say that (V, Φ) was obtained by the direct image construction of \mathcal{E} . It follows from [Sim94b, Corollary 6.9] that \mathcal{E} is (semi-)stable (resp. polystable) if and only if $\pi_{a,*}(\mathcal{E}, \lambda)$ is (semi-)stable (resp. polystable). Thus, since $h(V, \Phi) = a$ by [HP12, Lemma 6.2], the fibre $h^{-1}(a)$ can be characterized in the following way.

Theorem 1.8. Let $a \in \mathcal{A}$ be any point of the Hitchin base. Then, the fibre $h^{-1}(a)$ of the $GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration is isomorphic to the Simpson moduli space $\mathcal{M}(a; k)$, where k = d + n(n-1)(g-1).

We will refer to the correspondence above as the **BNR correspondence**, or spectral correspondence. The name is justified by the fact that when the spectral curve is an integral scheme, the characterization above is a theorem by Beauville, Narasimhan and Ramanan [BNR89, Proposition 3.6] (in this case, Simpson moduli space simply parametrizes isomorphism classes of rank 1 torsion-free sheaves on the spectral curve). Explicitly, given a Higgs bundle $(V, \Phi) \in h^{-1}(a)$, the cokernel of

$$\pi_a^* \Phi - \lambda \operatorname{Id} : \pi_a^* V \to \pi_a^* (V \otimes K)$$

defines a torsion-free sheaf $\mathcal{E} \otimes \pi_a^* K$ and one recovers the Higgs bundle as $\pi_{a,*}(\mathcal{E}, \lambda) = (V, \Phi)$. In particular, the torsion-free sheaf fits into the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \pi_a^* K^{n-1} \to \pi_a^* V \xrightarrow{\pi_a^* \Phi - \lambda \operatorname{Id}} \pi_a^* (V \otimes K) \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \pi_a^* K \to 0.$$

For general spectral curves, the characterization of the fibres is due to Schaub [Sch98], with minor corrections, as pointed out in [CL16, dC16, HP12].

Remarks 1.8:

1. As noted, the generic spectral curve X_a is non-singular (by Bertini's theorem) and the Simpson moduli space $\mathcal{M}(a;k)$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Pic}^k(\Sigma)$. In particular, these fibres are torsors for the abelian variety $\operatorname{Pic}^0(\Sigma)$.

2. Note that, given a Higgs bundle (V, Φ) , any proper Φ -invariant subbundle W defines a Higgs bundle $(W, \Phi|_W)$ and the characteristic polynomial of Φ_W must divide the characteristic polynomial of Φ . In other words, the spectral curve of $(W, \Phi|_W)$ is a component of the spectral curve of (V, Φ) . In particular, if X_a is integral, all Higgs bundles in the fibre $h^{-1}(a)$ must be stable.

3. The spectral correspondence for classical groups was achieved by Hitchin in [Hit87b] (see also [Sch13] for spectral data for Higgs bundles for real groups). In particular, these can be seen as special loci of the Simpson moduli space.

Part I

Higgs bundles and non-reduced spectral curves

Chapter 2

Extensions of Higgs bundles

In this chapter we introduce extensions of Higgs bundles as short exact sequences in the abelian category of Higgs bundles and show how these are related to the first hypercohomology group of a certain complex of sheaves, which can be seen as a Higgs bundle in its own right. After recalling the long exact sequences which will be used in subsequent chapters to obtain information about the hypercohomology groups of the Higgs bundles governing the extensions, we give a parametrization of certain symplectic and orthogonal Higgs bundles which appear as special extensions by maximally isotropic Higgs subbundles. The results will be used in chapters 3 and 4 when describing the singular fibres related to the real groups $SU^*(2m)$, $SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m, m).

2.1 Classical Higgs bundles

A Higgs bundle on Σ can be viewed as a complex of locally-free sheaves concentrated in degrees 0 and 1. Then, a homomorphism between two Higgs bundles $\mathsf{E} = (E \xrightarrow{\varphi} E \otimes K)$ and $\mathsf{F} = (F \xrightarrow{\psi} F \otimes K)$ is a homomorphism of complexes of the form

$$\begin{array}{ccc} E & \stackrel{\varphi}{\longrightarrow} & E \otimes K \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ F & \stackrel{\psi}{\longrightarrow} & F \otimes K, \end{array}$$

for some homomorphism $\alpha: E \to F$ of vector bundles.

Let $W_i = (W_i \xrightarrow{\Phi_i} W_i \otimes K)$, i = 1, 2, be Higgs bundles on Σ . An **extension** of W_2 by W_1 is a short exact sequence (of complexes)

$$0 \to \mathsf{W}_1 \to \mathsf{V} \to \mathsf{W}_2 \to 0, \tag{2.1}$$

where $\mathsf{V} = (V \xrightarrow{\Phi} V \otimes K)$ is a Higgs bundle and the maps are homomorphisms of Higgs bundles. In particular, these can be seen as short exact sequences in the abelian category $\mathsf{Higgs}(\Sigma)$ of Higgs sheaves. We will sometimes denote such an extension by

$$0 \to (W_1, \Phi_1) \to (V, \Phi) \to (W_2, \Phi_2) \to 0 \tag{2.2}$$

and say that (V, Φ) is an extension of (W_2, Φ_2) by (W_1, Φ_1) . This means, of course, that the vector bundle V is an extension of W_2 by W_1 and Φ is a Higgs field on V which projects to Φ_2 and satisfies $\Phi|_{W_1} = \Phi_1$. In particular, (W_1, Φ_1) is a Φ -invariant subbundle of (V, Φ) . The split extension $W_1 \oplus W_2 = (W_1 \oplus W_2 \xrightarrow{\Phi_1 \oplus \Phi_2} (W_1 \oplus W_2) \otimes K)$ will be called the **trivial extension**.

Definition 2.1. Two extensions of W_2 by W_1 are **strongly equivalent** if we have an isomorphism of exact sequences

where the vertical map in the middle is an isomorphism of Higgs bundles. If we allow Id_{W_i} , i = 1, 2, to be more general automorphisms of Higgs bundles, we say that the extensions are **weakly equivalent** (i.e., two extensions are weakly equivalent if they are isomorphic short exact sequences in $Higgs(\Sigma)$).

Extensions of Higgs bundles, modulo equivalence, are parametrized by the first hypercohomology group of a certain complex of sheaves. To see this, recall that given two Higgs bundles $V_1 = (V_1 \xrightarrow{\Phi_1} V_1 \otimes K)$ and $V_2 = (V_2 \xrightarrow{\Phi_2} V_2 \otimes K)$, their tensor product $V_1 \otimes V_2$ is defined as the Higgs bundle whose underlying vector bundle is $V_1 \otimes V_2$ and Higgs field is $\Phi_1 \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \Phi_2$. We denote by $\mathsf{O} = (\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma} \xrightarrow{0} K)$ the neutral Higgs bundle. The dual of a Higgs bundle $\mathsf{V} = (V \xrightarrow{\Phi} V \otimes K)$ is defined as the Higgs bundle V^* whose Higgs field is $- {}^{\mathrm{t}}\Phi : V^* \to V^* \otimes K$, so that the natural morphisms $\mathsf{O} \to \mathsf{V}^* \otimes \mathsf{V} \to \mathsf{O}$ are Higgs bundle morphisms. Note also that the set of homomorphisms between two Higgs bundles V_1 and V_2 corresponds precisely to the zeroth hypercohomology group of $\mathsf{V}_1^* \otimes \mathsf{V}_2$ (seen as a complex of sheaves).

Tensoring (2.1) by W_2^* we obtain the short exact sequence (since W_2 is locally-free)

$$0 \to \mathsf{W}_2^* \otimes \mathsf{W}_1 \to \mathsf{W}_2^* \otimes \mathsf{V} \to \mathsf{W}_2^* \otimes \mathsf{W}_2 \to 0.$$

The exact sequence above is in particular a short exact sequence of two-term complex of sheaves. Considering the corresponding long exact sequence in hypercohomology (for more details, see Appendix B) we get the connecting homomorphism

$$\mathbb{H}^{0}(\Sigma, \mathsf{W}_{2}^{*} \otimes \mathsf{W}_{2}) \to \mathbb{H}^{1}(\Sigma, \mathsf{W}_{2}^{*} \otimes \mathsf{W}_{1}).$$

$$(2.3)$$

Note that

$$\mathrm{Id}_{W_2} \in \mathbb{H}^0(\Sigma, \mathsf{W}_2^* \otimes \mathsf{W}_2) \cong \ker(H^0(\Sigma, \mathrm{End}(W_2)) \to H^0(\Sigma, \mathrm{End}(W_2) \otimes K)).$$

Then, we define $\delta(V, \Phi)$, or $\delta(V)$, as the element in $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1)$ given by the image of the identity endomorphism of W_2 via the map (2.3).

Adapting Atiyah's argument [Ati57] we can give a more precise description of $\delta(V, \Phi)$. One can always find an open covering $\mathcal{U} = \{U_i\}$ of Σ such that the restriction to U_i of the underlying extension of vector bundles $0 \to W_1 \to V \xrightarrow{p} W_2 \to 0$ splits. Let $h_i : W_{2,i} \to V_i$ be the local splittings, where the subscript *i* denotes restriction to U_i . Thus, $\{h_i\}$ is a 0cochain of $\mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Hom}(W_2, V))$ which lifts the 0-cocycle Id_{W_2} of $\mathcal{O}(\operatorname{End}(W_2))$ and $\{h_j - h_i\}$ is a representative for the image of Id_{W_2} under the map

$$H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{End}(W_2)) \to H^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1)),$$

which corresponds to the extension class of V. Applying the Higgs field of the Higgs bundle $W_2^* \otimes V$ to h_i gives

$$\psi_i = \Phi_i \circ h_i - h_i \circ \Phi_{2,i}$$

and this projects to zero under p_i . Thus, $\{\psi_i\} \in C^0(\mathcal{U}, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \otimes K)$ (since $p_i \circ \Phi_i \circ h_i = \Phi_{2,i}$) and

$$(\{h_j - h_i\}, \{\psi_i\}) \in C^1(\mathcal{U}, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1)) \oplus C^0(\mathcal{U}, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \otimes K)$$

is a representative for $\delta(V, \Phi) \in \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1)$. Indeed, the hypercohomology groups of the complex $W_2^* \otimes W_1$ are calculated by the cohomology of the complex (C^{\bullet}, d)

$$C^{0} = C^{0,0} = C^{0}(\mathcal{U}, \operatorname{Hom}(W_{2}, W_{1}))$$

$$C^{1} = C^{1,0} \oplus C^{0,1} = C^{1}(\mathcal{U}, \operatorname{Hom}(W_{2}, W_{1})) \oplus C^{0}(\mathcal{U}, \operatorname{Hom}(W_{2}, W_{1}) \otimes K)$$

$$C^{2} = C^{1,1} = C^{1}(\mathcal{U}, \operatorname{Hom}(W_{2}, W_{1}) \otimes K)$$

whose differential is a combination between the Čech differential δ and the Higgs field ϕ_{21} of $W_2^* \otimes W_1$:

$$d^n \coloneqq \sum_{p+q=n} \delta + (-1)^q \phi_{21} : C^n \to C^{n+1}.$$

Remark 2.2: If we had considered local splittings $h_i : W_{2,i} \to V_i$ of the Higgs bundles, i.e., local splittings $h_i : W_{2,i} \to V_i$ such that the diagram

$$W_{2,i} \xrightarrow{h_i} V_i$$

$$\downarrow \Phi_{2,i} \qquad \qquad \downarrow \Phi_i$$

$$(W_2 \otimes K)_i \xrightarrow{h_i \otimes 1} (V \otimes K)_i$$

$$(2.4)$$

commutes, then $(\{h_j - h_i\}, 0)$ would be a representative for $\delta(V, \Phi)$. In particular, the trivial extension corresponds to $0 \in \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1)$.

Let $\mathsf{V} = (V \xrightarrow{\Phi} V \otimes K)$ and $\mathsf{V}' = (V' \xrightarrow{\Phi'} V' \otimes K)$ be two weakly equivalent extensions of W_2 by W_1 . In our applications, W_1 and W_2 are always stable Higgs bundles. In particular, their

only automorphisms are non-zero scalars (see e.g. [Hau01, Thm 5.1.2]). In this case, we have



for some scalars $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. Thus, $\lambda_2 \delta(V', \Phi') = \lambda_1 \delta(V, \Phi)$. In particular, two strongly equivalent extensions define the same element in $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \mathsf{W}_2^* \otimes \mathsf{W}_1)$, whereas weakly equivalent extensions define only the same class in $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \mathsf{W}_2^* \otimes \mathsf{W}_1))$.

Conversely, given an element $\delta \in \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1)$, its image under the map $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1) \rightarrow H^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1)$ (for more details, see (2.6) in the end of the section) defines an extension

$$0 \to W_1 \to V \xrightarrow{p} W_2 \to 0$$

of W_2 by W_1 . We may take an open covering $\mathcal{U} = \{U_i\}$ of Σ such that $W_{1,i} \oplus W_{2,i}$ is isomorphic to V_i via $(w_1, w_2) \mapsto w_1 + h_i(w_2)$, for holomorphic maps $h_i : W_{2,i} \to V_i$, so that $\{h_j - h_i\}$ is a representative for V in $H^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1)$. Then δ is represented by the cocycle $(\{h_j - h_i\}, \{\psi_i\})$, for some $\{\psi_i\} \in C^0(\mathcal{U}, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \otimes K)$. We may then define

$$\Phi_i = \Phi_{1,i} \circ \operatorname{Id} - h_i \circ p_i + \psi_i \circ p_i + h_i \circ \Phi_{2,i} \circ p_i$$

and this is a Higgs field on V, which gives the extension of Higgs bundles. It is straightforward to check that by choosing another representative of δ we obtain a weakly equivalent extension. Thus we have proven the well-known¹ result below.

Proposition 2.3. The set of extensions of a Higgs bundle (W_1, Φ_1) by a Higgs bundle (W_2, Φ_2) , modulo strong equivalence, is in bijection with $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1)$. Moreover, if (W_1, Φ_1) and (W_2, Φ_2) are stable Higgs bundles, weak equivalence classes of such extensions are parametrized by $\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1))$.

It is convenient to also understand this correspondence from the Dolbeault point of view. Denote by $\bar{\partial}_V$, $\bar{\partial}_1$, $\bar{\partial}_2$ and $\bar{\partial}_{\text{Hom}(W_2,W_1)}$ (or simply $\bar{\partial}_{\text{Hom}}$ if no confusion is possible) the Dolbeault

¹See e.g. [Tha02, Section 3].

operator that gives the holomorphic structure on V, W_1 , W_2 and $Hom(W_2, W_1)$, respectively. By the Dolbeault lemma the following resolutions are acyclic

$$\mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1)) \to \Omega^0(\operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1)) \xrightarrow{\partial_{\operatorname{Hom}}} \Omega^{0,1}(\operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1)) \to 0,$$

$$\mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \otimes K) \to \Omega^{1,0}(\operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1)) \xrightarrow{\bar{\partial}_{\operatorname{Hom}}} \Omega^{1,1}(\operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1)) \to 0.$$

Moreover we can define the commutative diagram

where we extend ϕ_{21} in the natural way to a (0,1)-form α with value in Hom (W_2, W_1) .

The hypercohomology groups of the complex $W_2^* \otimes W_1$ can be computed via the cohomology of the associated simple complex (C^{\bullet}, d)

$$C^{n}(X) := \bigoplus_{p+q=n} C^{p,q}$$
$$d^{n} := \sum_{p+q=n} \bar{\partial}_{\mathrm{Hom}} + (-1)^{q} \phi_{21}$$

where $C^{p,q} \coloneqq \Omega^{p,q}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$. In particular, given $\beta \in \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$ and $\psi \in \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$ satisfying

$$\bar{\partial}_{\text{Hom}}(\psi) + \phi_{21}(\beta) = 0,$$

the pair (β, ψ) is a representative for a class in the first hypercohomology group of $W_2^* \otimes W_1$. Moreover, any other representative in the class of (β, ψ) is of the form $(\beta, \psi) = (\beta + \bar{\partial}_{\text{Hom}}\theta, \psi + \Phi_{21}(\theta)) \in \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1)$, where $\theta \in \Omega^0(\Sigma, \text{Hom}(W_1, W_1))$.

In the smooth category, every short exact sequence splits (due to the existence of a partition of unity) and so choose a smooth splitting

$$V \cong W_1 \oplus W_2.$$

Note that this is only an isomorphism between the underlying smooth vector bundles and with respect to this C^{∞} -splitting we can write

$$\bar{\partial}_V = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\partial}_1 & \beta \\ 0 & \bar{\partial}_2 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_1 & \psi \\ 0 & \Phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

where $\beta \in \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$ (second fundamental form) and $\psi \in \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$.

Remark 2.4: Any other smooth splitting differs from this one by a smooth section of $Hom(W_2, W_1)$. Indeed, the short exact sequence

$$0 \to W_1 \xrightarrow{i} V \xrightarrow{p} W_2 \to 0$$

splits if and only if there exists a map $V \to W_1$, such that composition with *i* equals Id_{W_1} . Let $f_k : V \to W_1$, k = 1, 2, be the maps corresponding to two different splittings. Given $w_2 \in W_2$, define $f(w_2) \coloneqq (f_1 - f_2)(v)$, for some $v \in V$ such that $p(v) = w_2$ (*p* is surjective). This is clearly well-defined because any other $v' \in V$ such that $p(v') = w_2$ satisfies $v - v' \in$ ker $p = \operatorname{Im} i$, but $(f_1 - f_2) \circ i = 0$.

Now, the fact that Φ is holomorphic is translated into the following compatibility condition

$$\bar{\partial}_{\text{Hom}}(\psi) + \phi_{21}(\beta) = 0. \tag{2.5}$$

Note that we chose a C^{∞} -splitting $V = W_1 \oplus W_2$, associated to some $f_1 : V \to W_1$. Consider now another splitting $V' = W_1 \oplus W_2$ given by $f_2 : V \to W_1$ and let $f \coloneqq f_1 - f_2 \in \Omega^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$. Here, we use V' to distinguish the second identification $V = W_1 \oplus W_2$ via f_2 with the first one given by f_1 . With respect to this new splitting we write $\bar{\partial}_{V'} = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\partial}_1 & \beta' \\ 0 & \bar{\partial}_2 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\Phi' = \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_1 & \psi' \\ 0 & \Phi_2 \end{pmatrix}$. An isomorphism $F : V \to V'$ is given by $(a, b) \mapsto (a - f(a), b)$

and we must have $(F \otimes \mathrm{Id}_K) \circ \Phi = \Phi' \circ F$, which gives $\psi' = \psi + \phi_{21}(f)$. Similarly, from the Dolbeault operators, we obtain $\beta' = \beta + \bar{\partial}_{\mathrm{Hom}}(f)$. This means that $(\beta, \psi) \in \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \mathbb{W}_2^* \otimes \mathbb{W}_1)$.

Conversely, given $(\beta, \psi) \in \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1)$, the element $\beta \in \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1)) \cong H^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$ gives an extension of bundles

$$0 \to W_1 \to V \to W_2 \to 0.$$

Choose a smooth splitting $V = W_1 \oplus W_2$ with

$$\bar{\partial}_V = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\partial}_1 & \beta \\ 0 & \bar{\partial}_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

and define

$$\Phi \coloneqq \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_1 & \psi \\ 0 & \Phi_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

We finish this section with the following remarks. Both spectral sequences associated to the double complex that calculates hypercohomology of the complex of sheaves $W_2^* \otimes W_1$ satisfy $E_2^{p,q} = 0$, unless $p, q \in \{0, 1\}$. Therefore, as discussed in Appendix B, we have the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to E_2^{1,0} \to \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \mathsf{W}_2^* \otimes \mathsf{W}_1) \to E_2^{0,1} \to 0.$$

The first spectral sequence gives

$$0 \to \operatorname{coker}(H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \to H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \otimes K))) \to \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \mathsf{W}_2^* \otimes \mathsf{W}_1)$$
$$\to \operatorname{ker}(H^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \to H^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \otimes K))) \to 0.$$

This can be written as

$$0 \to \mathbb{H}^{0}(\Sigma, \mathbb{W}_{2}^{*} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{1}) \to H^{0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_{2}, W_{1}) \to H^{0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_{2}, W_{1}) \otimes K))$$

$$\to \mathbb{H}^{1}(\Sigma, \mathbb{W}_{2}^{*} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{1}) \to H^{1}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_{2}, W_{1}) \to H^{1}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_{2}, W_{1}) \otimes K))$$

$$\to \mathbb{H}^{2}(\Sigma, \mathbb{W}_{2}^{*} \otimes \mathbb{W}_{1}) \to 0.$$
(2.6)

Now, the second spectral sequence, which will be important for us further on, gives

$$0 \to H^1(\Sigma, \ker \phi_{21}) \to \mathbb{H}^1 \to H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{coker} \phi_{21}) \to 0.$$
(2.7)

2.2 The orthogonal and symplectic cases

Let (V, Φ) be a Higgs bundle of rank 2n on Σ and α a bilinear non-degenerate form on Vwith respect to which the Higgs field Φ is skew-symmetric. Of course, when α is symmetric (respectively, skew-symmetric), $((V, \alpha), \Phi)$ is an orthogonal (respectively, symplectic) Higgs bundle.

For any subbundle $W \subset V$, the orthogonal complement $W^{\perp_{\alpha}}$ of W with respect to α is defined as the kernel of the map

$$V \to W^*$$
$$v \mapsto \alpha(v, \cdot)|_W,$$

so we have a short exact sequence

$$0 \to W^{\perp_{\alpha}} \to V \to W^* \to 0.$$

If W is a Φ -invariant maximally isotropic (i.e., $W^{\perp_{\alpha}} = W$) subbundle, we obtain an exact sequence of Higgs bundles of the form²

$$0 \to (W, \phi) \to (V, \Phi) \to (W^*, -{}^{\mathrm{t}}\phi) \to 0,$$

where $\phi \coloneqq \Phi|_W$. Choose a smooth splitting $V \cong W \oplus W^*$ so that α becomes

$$q = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

²Note that the Higgs field of W^* , say ϕ' for now, is obtained via the map $V \to W^*$. More precisely, given $\delta \in W^*$, $\delta = \alpha(v, \cdot)$, for some (non-unique) $v \in V$, we obtain $\phi'(\delta) = \alpha(\Phi v, \cdot) = -\alpha(v, \phi \cdot) = -\delta(\phi \cdot) = -t\phi(\delta)$. So, as explained in the last section, this is the natural Higgs field in W^* associated to the Higgs bundle (W, ϕ) .

if the Higgs bundle is orthogonal and

$$\omega = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

if the Higgs bundle is symplectic. Thus, with respect to this smooth splitting,

$$\bar{\partial}_V = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\partial}_W & \beta \\ 0 & -{}^{\mathrm{t}}\bar{\partial}_W \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad \Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \phi & \psi \\ 0 & -{}^{\mathrm{t}}\phi \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since Φ is skew-symmetric with respect to α we have ${}^{t}\Phi\alpha + \alpha\Phi = 0$. Thus, $\psi \in \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, W \otimes W)$ is an element of $\Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \Lambda^2 W)$ in the orthogonal case and of $\Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Sym}^2 W)$ in the symplectic case. The form α can be seen as a global holomorphic section of $\operatorname{Hom}(V, V^*)$, so

$$0 = (\bar{\partial}_{\operatorname{Hom}(V,V^*)}\alpha)v = -{}^{\mathrm{t}}\bar{\partial}_V(\alpha(v)) - \alpha(\bar{\partial}_V(v)), \qquad (2.8)$$

for any smooth section $v = (w, \xi)$ of $V \cong W \oplus W^*$. The condition (2.8) is equivalent to $\beta \in \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, W \otimes W)$ being skew-symmetric (respectively, symmetric) when α is symmetric (respectively, skew-symmetric). This means that (ψ, β) is a representative for a class in the first hypercohomology group of a subcomplex of the complex of sheaves $W \otimes W$. In the orthogonal case the two-term complex of sheaves is the Higgs bundle $\Lambda^2 W$, which corresponds to the complex

$$\hat{\phi} : \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 W) \to \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 W \otimes K)$$
$$w_1 \wedge w_2 \mapsto \phi(w_1) \wedge w_2 + w_1 \wedge \phi(w_2)$$

while in the symplectic case the complex is

$$\hat{\phi} : \mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Sym}^2 W) \to \mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Sym}^2 W \otimes K)$$
$$w_1 \odot w_2 \mapsto \phi(w_1) \odot w_2 + w_1 \odot \phi(w_2)$$

corresponding to the Higgs bundle $\text{Sym}^2 W$.

The class $\delta(V, \Phi)$ is thus an element of $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \Lambda^2 W)$ in the orthogonal case and of $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Sym}^2 W)$ in the symplectic case.

Proposition 2.5. An extension (V, Φ) of $(W^*, -{}^t\phi)$ by (W, ϕ) has an orthogonal (resp., symplectic) structure turning it into an orthogonal (resp., symplectic) Higgs bundle and with respect to which W is a maximally isotropic subbundle if and only if it is strongly equivalent to an extension of Higgs bundles whose hypercohomology class belongs to $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \Lambda^2 W)$ (resp., $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Sym}^2 W)$).

Proof. It remains only to prove the converse, but this follows directly from the considerations of Section 2.1 and [Hit07b, Criterion 2.1], where the case when there is no Higgs fields is dealt with by Hitching. \Box

Chapter 3

The group $SU^*(2m)$

Let U be a complex vector space of dimension 2m endowed with a non-degenerate skewform ω and $A \in \text{End}(U)$ symmetric with respect to ω . Given eigenvectors u_i, u_j of A with corresponding eigenvalues c_i, c_j , respectively, one has

$$c_i \omega(u_i, u_j) = \omega(Au_i, u_j)$$
$$= \omega(u_i, Au_j)$$
$$= c_j \omega(u_i, u_j).$$

By the non-degeneracy of ω it follows that the eigenspaces must be even-dimensional and the characteristic polynomial of A is of the form $\det(x \operatorname{Id} - A) = p(x)^2$. In particular, as explained in Hitchin-Schaposnik [HS14], the polynomial p(x) may be seen as the Pfaffian polynomial of $x \operatorname{Id} - A$ (i.e., p(x) is the polynomial defined by $p(x)\omega^m = (x\omega - \alpha)^m$, where $\alpha \in \Lambda^2 U^*$ is the element corresponding to A via the isomorphism $\operatorname{End}(U) \cong U^* \otimes U^*$ given by ω).

Let (V, Φ) be an $SU^*(2m)$ -Higgs bundle (see Example 1.4). The Higgs field Φ is symmetric with respect to the symplectic form ω of V, so the image of (V, Φ) under the $SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration

$$h: \mathcal{M}(SL(2m,\mathbb{C})) \to \mathcal{A}(SL(2m,\mathbb{C})) = \bigoplus_{i=2}^{2m} H^0(\Sigma, K^i)$$

is given by the coefficients of a polynomial of the form $p(x)^2$, where $p(x) = x^m + a_2 x^{m-2} + \dots + a_m$, $a_i \in H^0(\Sigma, K^i)$. By abuse of notation, we will refer to such a fibre as $h^{-1}(p^2)$.

Denote the projection of the canonical bundle by $\pi : K \to \Sigma$, its total space by |K| and let $\lambda \in H^0(|K|, \pi^*K)$ be the tautological section. Note that the spectral curve corresponding to (V, Φ) is non-reduced. However, by Bertini's theorem, the reduced curve $S = \operatorname{Zeros}(p(\lambda)) \subseteq |K|$ is generically non-singular and we assume that is the case. In particular, restricting π to S gives a ramified *m*-fold covering

$$\pi: S \to \Sigma.$$

Also, by the adjunction formula, $K_S \cong \pi^* K^m$, which tells us that the genus of S is

$$g_s = m^2(g-1) + 1.$$

Note that from our definition of the polynomial p(x), any $SU^*(2m)$ -Higgs bundle (V, Φ) satisfies $p(\Phi) = 0$ and so the cokernel of the map

$$\tilde{\pi}^* \Phi - \lambda \operatorname{Id} : \tilde{\pi}^* V \to \tilde{\pi}^* (V \otimes K)$$

is a torsion-free sheaf supported on the reduced curve S, where $\tilde{\pi} : X \to \Sigma$ is the spectral cover associated to the spectral curve $X = \text{Zeros}(p(\lambda)^2)$. Since S is non-singular and it has miltiplicity 2 in X, this sheaf is a vector bundle of rank 2 on S. One then recovers the $SU^*(2m)$ -Higgs bundle as $(V, \Phi) = \pi_*(E, \lambda)$, i.e., the Higgs bundle obtained by the direct image construction of E. According to [HS14] we have the following.

Proposition 3.1. [HS14] Let $p(\lambda) = \lambda^m + \pi^* a_2 \lambda^{m-2} + \cdots + \pi^* a_m$ be a section of the line bundle $\pi^* K^m$ on the cotangent bundle of Σ whose divisor is a smooth curve S, and let E be a rank 2 vector bundle on S. Then the direct image of $\lambda : E \to E \otimes \pi^* K$ defines a semi-stable Higgs bundle on Σ (with underlying vector bundle $\pi_* E$) for the group $SU^*(2m)$ if and only if E is semi-stable with determinant line bundle $\Lambda^2 E \cong \pi^* K^{m-1}$. From the proposition above, we can identify the locus $N_0 = N_0(SL(2m, \mathbb{C}))$ in $h^{-1}(p^2)$ corresponding to $SU^*(2m)$ -Higgs bundles with

$$N_0 = \mathcal{U}_S(2, \pi^* K^{m-1}).$$

Our goal is to describe the rest of the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ using data from the reduced non-singular curve S. Let $(V, \Phi) \in h^{-1}(p^2)$. We have two cases depending on the vanishing of $p(\Phi) : V \to V \otimes K^m$.

Proposition 3.2. The locus

$$\{(V,\Phi) \in h^{-1}(p^2) \mid p(\Phi) = 0\}$$

is isomorphic to

$$N = \{ E \in \mathcal{U}_S(2, e) \mid \det(\pi_* E) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma} \},\$$

where $\mathcal{U}_S(2, e)$ is the moduli space of semi-stable rank 2 bundles on S of degree e = 2m(m - 1)(g - 1).

Proof. Since S is smooth and λ is a well-defined eigenvalue of Φ on S, the cokernel of $\pi^* \Phi - \lambda$ defines a rank 2 vector bundle E on S

$$0 \to E \otimes \mathcal{O}_S(-R_\pi) \to \pi^* V \xrightarrow{\pi^* \Phi - \lambda \operatorname{Id}} \pi^*(V \otimes K) \to E \otimes \pi^* K \to 0,$$

where R_{π} is the ramification divisor of π (in particular, $\mathcal{O}_S(R_{\pi}) \cong \pi^* K^{m-1}$ since we see $d\pi$ as a holomorphic section from K_S^{-1} to $\pi^* K^{-1}$). We recover (V, Φ) by the direct image construction. That is, we take $V = \pi_* E$ and push-forward the map multiplication by the tautological section $\lambda : E \to E \otimes \pi^* K$, obtaining $\Phi = \pi_* \lambda : \pi_* E \to \pi_* (E \otimes \pi^* K) = \pi_* E \otimes K$. Since the Euler characteristic is invariant under direct images by finite maps, we must have $\deg(E) = 2m(m-1)(g-1)$. Suppose L is a line subbundle of E with $\deg(L) > e/2$. Then, $W \coloneqq \pi_* L$ is a Φ -variant subbundle of (V, Φ) of rank m and degree $\deg(L) - m(m-1)(g-1)$, so $\deg(W) > 0$, contradicting the stability of (V, Φ) . Thus, the rank 2 bundle E must be semi-stable.

Start now with $E \in N$ and let $(V, \Phi) = \pi_*(E, \lambda)$ be the Higgs bundle obtained by the direct image construction of E. The constraint on the determinant makes (V, Φ) into a $SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundle. Note that $p(\lambda) = 0$ holds on S and if we push-forward this equation to Σ we obtain $p(\Phi) = 0$. Now, by the Cayley-Hamilton theorem, the characteristic polynomial of Φ must divide p, which is irreducible, therefore $\det(x - \Phi) = p(x)$. Let us check that $(V, \Phi) = \pi_*(E, \lambda)$ is semi-stable. Let W be a proper Φ -invariant subbundle of V. Then, its characteristic polynomial $p_1(x) = \det(x \operatorname{Id} - \Phi|_W)$ properly divides $p(x)^2$ and, since S is smooth, and in particular irreducible, it must be p(x). Semi-stability of E implies $\deg(W) \leq 0$ and (V, Φ) is semi-stable.

Before we proceed we recall the definition of the **norm map**

$$\operatorname{Nm}_{\pi} : \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(S) \to \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(\Sigma)$$

$$\mathcal{O}(\Sigma n_{i} p_{i}) \mapsto \mathcal{O}(\Sigma n_{i} \pi(p_{i}))$$

$$(3.1)$$

associated to the covering $\pi : S \to \Sigma$. Here, $n_i \in \mathbb{Z}$, $p_i \in S$ and the map is well-defined as it only depends on the linear equivalence class of the divisor $\sum n_i p_i$. We will sometimes omit the subscript and denote the norm map simply by Nm if the covering to which it is related is clear. This is clearly a group homomorphism. Also, it satisfies (and can be characterized by - see e.g. [ACGH85])

$$\operatorname{Nm}(L) = \det(\pi_*(L)) \otimes (\det(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_S))^{-1}$$

$$= \det(\pi_*(L)) \otimes K^{m(m-1)/2}$$
(3.2)

for any line bundle L on S. If the pullback $\pi^* : \operatorname{Pic}^0(\Sigma) \to \operatorname{Pic}^0(S)$ is injective, then the norm map homomorphism can also be identified with the transpose of π^* (and hence its kernel is connected). The **Prym variety** $\operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)$ associated to the covering $\pi : S \to \Sigma$ is defined as the kernel of $\operatorname{Nm}_{\pi} : \operatorname{Pic}^0(S) \to \operatorname{Pic}^0(\Sigma)$. It is an abelian variety, which, in our case, is connected as the pullback map $\pi^* : \operatorname{Pic}^0(\Sigma) \to \operatorname{Pic}^0(S)$ is injective. We state a technical lemma which will be needed later on in the text.

Lemma 3.3. Let M, E be vector bundles on S of rank r and 2, respectively, and L a line bundle on S. We have

- a) $\det(\pi_*(M \otimes L)) \cong \det(\pi_*M) \otimes \operatorname{Nm}(L)^r$.
- b) $\det(\pi_*(\det E)) \cong \det(\pi_*E) \otimes K^{m(m-1)/2}$ (or, equivalently, $\operatorname{Nm}(\det E) \cong \det(\pi_*E) \otimes K^{m(m-1)}$).

Proof. a) The statement follows from induction on the rank r. Indeed, for r = 1 this follows directly from the characterization of the direct image (3.2) and the fact that the norm map is a group homomorphism. Assume this is true for rank r - 1 and let M and L be as in the lemma. The locally-free sheaf $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{O}(M)$ fits into a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{L}' \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}' \to 0,$$

where \mathcal{L}' is an invertible sheaf and \mathcal{E}' a locally free sheaf of rank k-1. Note that if M has a section, the statement is clear. Otherwise, choose an effective divisor on S of degree d such that $rd > h^1(M)$. Part of the exact sequence in cohomology associated to the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}(D) \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{O}_D \to 0$$

is

$$H^0(S, \mathcal{E}(D)) \to H^0(S, \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{O}_D) \to H^1(S, \mathcal{E}).$$

As $rd > h^1(M)$, the map $H^0(S, \mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{O}_D) \to H^1(S, \mathcal{E})$ cannot be injective, thus we can find a non-zero section of $\mathcal{E}(D)$, or, in other words, a map $\mathcal{O}(-D) \to \mathcal{E}$ whose image is an invertible sheaf. The degree of an invertible subsheaf of \mathcal{E} is bounded above by Riemann-Roch formula, so we take a maximal degree invertible subsheaf. This guarantees that the cokernel is also locally-free. Let \mathcal{L} be the invertible sheaf corresponding to the line bundle L. As $R^i \pi_* = 0$, i > 0, we obtain

$$0 \to \pi_*(\mathcal{LL}') \to \pi_*(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{L}) \to \pi_*(\mathcal{E}' \otimes \mathcal{L}) \to 0.$$

Thus, $\det(\pi_*(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{L})) \cong \det(\pi_*(\mathcal{LL}')) \det(\pi_*(\mathcal{E}' \otimes \mathcal{L}))$, but $\det(\pi_*(\mathcal{LL}')) \cong \det(\pi_*\mathcal{L}') \operatorname{Nm}(\mathcal{L})$ and $\det(\pi_*(\mathcal{E}' \otimes \mathcal{L})) \cong \det(\pi_*\mathcal{E}') \operatorname{Nm}(\mathcal{L})^{r-1}$ (by the induction hypothesis). Since

$$\det(\pi_*\mathcal{L}')\det(\pi_*\mathcal{E}')\cong\det(\pi_*\mathcal{E})$$

the result follows.

b) Every rank 2 vector bundle E on a curve fits into a short exact sequence

$$0 \to L_1 \to E \to L_2 \to 0,$$

for some line bundles L_1 and L_2 . Thus, $det(E) \cong L_1L_2$ and

$$\det(\pi_*(\det E)) \cong \det(\pi_*(L_1L_2))$$

$$\cong \operatorname{Nm}(L_1L_2)K^{-m(m-1)/2}$$

$$\cong \det(\pi_*L_1)K^{m(m-1)/2}\det(\pi_*L_2)K^{m(m-1)/2}K^{-m(m-1)/2}$$

$$\cong \det(\pi_*L_1)\det(\pi_*L_2)K^{m(m-1)/2}.$$

But $det(\pi_* E) \cong det(\pi_* L_1) det(\pi_* L_2)$ since $R^i \pi_* = 0$, i > 0, proving the statement.

Note that since elements of N_0 are rank 2 vector bundles on S and they define $SU^*(2m)$ -Higgs bundles in the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$, from Proposition 3.2, N_0 must be inside N. More directly, one may use the lemma above to see this. Indeed, let $E \in N_0$. Then,

$$\det(\pi_*(\det E)) = \det(\pi_*(\pi^*K^{m-1}))$$
$$= \det((\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma} \oplus K^{-1} \oplus \ldots \oplus K^{-(m-1)}) \otimes K^{m-1})$$
$$= \det(\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma} \oplus K^1 \oplus \ldots \oplus K^{(m-1)})$$
$$= K^{m(m-1)/2}.$$

From item b) of Lemma 3.3, it follows that $det(\pi_* E) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$, which shows that $N_0 \subset N$.

Consider now $(V, \Phi) \in h^{-1}(p^2)$ such that $p(\Phi) \in H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{End} V \otimes K^m)$ is not identically zero. The kernel of the map

$$p(\Phi): \mathcal{O}(V) \to \mathcal{O}(V \otimes K^m)$$

is a locally free sheaf which corresponds to a proper Φ -invariant subbundle¹ $W_1 \subseteq V$. Now,

¹More precisely, the kernel of $p(\phi)$ is a locally free sheaf of the form $\mathcal{O}(W)$, where W is a vector bundle on Σ . Denote by \mathcal{G} the quotient of $\mathcal{O}(V)$ by $\mathcal{O}(W)$ and let \mathcal{T} be its torsion. Then, the kernel of the natural map $\mathcal{O}(V) \to \mathcal{G}/\mathcal{T}$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{O}(W_1)$, where W_1 is a subbundle of V of same rank as W (and possibly higher degree). This is usually called the vector bundle generically generated by ker $p(\Phi)$.

the characteristic polynomial of $\Phi_1 = \Phi|_{W_1}$ divides the characteristic polynomial of Φ , which is $p(x)^2$. The smoothness of S implies again that the characteristic polynomial of Φ_1 must be p(x) (by assumption, it cannot be $p(x)^2$). In particular, W_1 has rank m and by stability $\deg(W_1) = -d \leq 0$. Thus, we have the following extension of Higgs bundles

$$0 \to (W_1, \Phi_1) \to (V, \Phi) \to (W_2, \Phi_2) \to 0,$$

where W_2 is the quotient bundle V/W_1 and Φ projects to W_2 giving the Higgs field Φ_2 (this projection being well-defined thanks to the Φ -invariance of W_1). Notice that the characteristic polynomial of Φ_2 is also p(x). In particular, since S is smooth, (W_1, Φ_1) and (W_2, Φ_2) are stable Higgs bundles (see the second item of Remark 1.4.1).

Thus, to analyze points $\mathsf{V} = (V, \Phi) \in h^{-1}(p^2) \setminus N$ we consider extensions of Higgs bundles

$$0 \to \mathsf{W}_1 \to \mathsf{V} \to \mathsf{W}_2 \to 0, \tag{3.3}$$

where

- 1. $W_1 = (W_1, \Phi_1)$ and $W_2 = (W_2, \Phi_2)$ are stable Higgs bundles having the same spectral curve S, with $\deg(W_2) = -\deg(W_1) = d \ge 0$ and
- 2. $\det(W_1) \otimes \det(W_2) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$.

Let us rephrase these conditions in terms of S. The first condition is equivalent, by the BNR correspondence, to the existence of line bundles $L_i \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d_i}(S)$, i = 1, 2, on S of degree

$$d_1 = -d + m(m-1)(g-1)$$
$$d_2 = d + m(m-1)(g-1)$$

such that $W_i = \pi_*(L_i, \lambda)$. The degrees can be computed by the Riemann-Roch theorem using that the Euler characteristic is preserved by direct image of finite maps.

Using the norm map, the condition $det(W_1) \otimes det(W_2) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$ becomes

$$\operatorname{Nm}(L_1L_2) = K^{m(m-1)},$$

or equivalently

$$L_1 L_2 \pi^* K^{1-m} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{S}, \Sigma)$$
.

Remark 3.4: If d = 0, (V, Φ) is strictly semi-stable and we can replace it by the corresponding polystable object, which in this case is isomorphic to $(W_1, \Phi_2) \oplus (W_2, \Phi_2)$. But $(W_1, \Phi_2) \oplus (W_2, \Phi_2) \cong \pi_*(L_1 \oplus L_2, \lambda)$ and we are back to the first case. Note also that, by stability, the extension never splits if d > 0.

So, Higgs bundles (V, Φ) in this fibre lying outside the locus N are non-trivial extensions of $(W_2, \Phi_2) = \pi_*(L_2, \lambda)$ by $(W_1, \Phi_1) = \pi_*(L_1, \lambda)$, for some line bundles $L_i \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d_i}(S)$, i = 1, 2, with $2d_2 > e$ and $L_1L_2\pi^*K^{1-m} \in \operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)$. Note that the condition $2d_2 > e$ is equivalent to d > 0 (the integer e, as defined in Proposition 3.2, is equal to 2m(m-1)(g-1)).

As discussed in the previous chapter, the space of extensions of the form (3.3) is parametrized by the first hypercohomology group of the induced Higgs sheaf $W_2^* \otimes W_1$. In other words, we look at the first hypercohomology group of the two-term complex of sheaves

$$\phi_{21}: \mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1)) \to \mathcal{O}(\operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \otimes K)$$
$$s \mapsto -(s \otimes 1) \circ \Phi_2 + \Phi_1 \circ s,$$

where s is a local section of $\text{Hom}(W_2, W_1)$. To simplify notation, if no confusion arises, we will denote $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, W_2^* \otimes W_1)$ by \mathbb{H}^1 . One of the spectral sequences associated to the double complex that calculates hypercohomology give us the following short exact sequence (see Section 2.1 for more details)

$$0 \to H^1(\Sigma, \ker \phi_{21}) \to \mathbb{H}^1 \to H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{coker} \phi_{21}) \to 0.$$
(3.4)

From the smoothness of the curve S, ker ϕ_{21} and coker ϕ_{21} turn out to be vector bundles on Σ and we can characterize them as the direct image of some line bundles on S as the next lemma shows.

Lemma 3.5. The \mathcal{O}_{Σ} -modules ker ϕ_{21} and coker ϕ_{21} are locally-free sheaves of rank m. Moreover,

- a) ker $\phi_{21} \cong \pi_*(L_2^*L_1)$.
- b) coker $\phi_{21} \cong \pi_*(L_2^*L_1K_S)$.

Proof. a) We can cover Σ by open sets $U \subset \Sigma$ which trivialize both W_1 and W_2 . Denote the trivial bundle of rank m on U by $W \cong W_1|_U \cong W_2|_U$ and note that L_1 and L_2 will be isomorphic on U, so $\phi := \Phi_1|_U = \Phi_2|_U$. Then,

$$\phi_{21}|_U = [\phi, -] : \operatorname{End}(W) \to \operatorname{End}(W) \otimes K|_U.$$

Now, S smooth implies that (W_i, Φ_i) , i = 1, 2, are everywhere regular². So, kernel and cokernel of ϕ are locally free of rank m. Concretely, the kernel is the sheaf of sections of $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_S \cong \mathcal{O}_\Sigma \oplus K^{-1} \oplus \ldots \oplus K^{-(m-1)}$ restricted to U. Thus,

$$\phi_{21}$$
: Hom $(W_2, W_1) \rightarrow$ Hom $(W_2, W_1) \otimes K$

has kernel and cokernel vector bundles of rank m. The global picture corresponds to our claim that the kernel subbundle is $\pi_*(L_2^*L_1)$.

Consider the natural map $t : \pi_*(L_2^*L_1) \to \mathcal{O}(\text{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$ given by multiplication³. So, for local sections $s \in H^0(U, \pi_*(L_2^*L_1)) = H^0(\pi^{-1}(U), L_2^*L_1)$ and $s_2 \in H^0(U, \pi_*(L_2)) = H^0(\pi^{-1}(U), L_2), t(s)(s_2) = ss_2$. The map t is clearly injective. Moreover, we have the

²A classical Higgs bundle (V, Φ) of rank n is said to be **everywhere regular** if, for every $x \in \Sigma$, the dimension of the centralizer of Φ_x is equal to n. The *BNR* correspondence gives a bijection between (isomorphism classes of) rank 1 torsion-free sheaves on an integral spectral curve X and (isomorphism classes of) Higgs bundles with spectral curve X. Under this correspondence, line bundles on X give everywhere regular Higgs bundles [Bea90] (see also Remark 2.4 in [Mar94]). In our case S is assumed to be smooth, so every torsion-free sheaf of rank 1 is a line bundle and the Higgs bundles obtained under this correspondence are all stable and everywhere regular.

³We use the same symbol for the vector bundle π_*L , where L is a line bundle on a smooth spectral curve S, and its locally-free sheaf of sections.

following diagram

which commutes since we are at the level of line bundles. Therefore we have the following commutative diagram

$$H^{0}(U, W_{2}) \xrightarrow{t(s)} H^{0}(U, W_{1})$$

$$\downarrow^{\Phi_{2}} \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{\Phi_{1}}$$

$$H^{0}(U, W_{2} \otimes K) \xrightarrow{t(s) \otimes id} H^{0}(U, W_{1} \otimes K).$$

So, $t: \pi_*(L_2^*L_1) \to \ker \phi_{21}$. Since this is not only an injective morphism of sheaves, but also an injective morphism of vector bundles of same the rank, it follows that $\ker \phi_{21} \cong \pi_*(L_2^*L_1)$.

b) Take the dual of the exact sequence

$$0 \to \ker \phi_{21} \to \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \to \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \otimes K \to \operatorname{coker} \phi_{21} \to 0$$

and tensor it by K. This yields the exact sequence

$$0 \to (\operatorname{coker} \phi_{21})^* \otimes K \to \operatorname{Hom}(W_1, W_2) \to \operatorname{Hom}(W_1, W_2) \otimes K \to (\ker \phi_{21})^* \otimes K \to 0.$$

Since we are interchanging the roles of W_1 and W_2 in this sequence, by (a), we obtain (coker ϕ_{21})* $\otimes K \cong \pi_*(L_1^*L_2)$. Now, the relative duality theorem gives $(\pi_*(M))^* \cong \pi_*(M^* \otimes K_S) \otimes K^{-1}$ for a vector bundle M on S. In our case,

$$(\pi_*(L_1^* \otimes L_2))^* \cong \pi_*(L_2^* L_1 \pi^* K^m) \otimes K^{-1} \cong \pi_*(L_2^* L_1) \otimes K^{m-1}$$

where we use that $K_S \cong \pi^* K^m$. Thus, it follows that coker $\phi_{21} \cong \pi_*(L_2^* L_1 K_S)$.

Since the fibres of π consist of a finite number of points, by the Leray spectral sequence, the short exact sequence (3.4) can be rewritten as

$$0 \to H^1(S, L_2^*L_1) \to \mathbb{H}^1 \xrightarrow{\zeta} H^0(S, L_2^*L_1K_S) \to 0.$$

$$(3.5)$$

Definition 3.6. Let d > 0. We denote by A_d the space of Higgs bundles (V, Φ) given by (non-split) extensions of Higgs bundles of the form

$$0 \to \pi_*(L_1, \lambda) \to (V, \Phi) \to \pi_*(L_2, \lambda) \to 0,$$

for some $L_i \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d_i}(S)$, i = 1, 2, such that $L_1 L_2 \pi^* K^{1-m} \in \operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)$ and $\zeta(\delta) \neq 0 \in H^0(S, L_2^* L_1 K_S)$, where $\delta = \delta(V, \Phi)$ is the element in \mathbb{H}^1 corresponding to (V, Φ) .

As discussed, starting with $(V, \Phi) \in h^{-1}(p^2) \setminus N$ we get an element of A_d for some d > 0. Conversely, given an element $(V, \Phi) \in A_d$, clearly $\det(x - \Phi) = p(x)^2$. As we will show in the next lemma, $p(\Phi) \neq 0$ for any element $(V, \Phi) \in A_d$.

Lemma 3.7. Let (V, Φ) be an extension of $(W_2, \Phi_2) = \pi_*(L_2, \lambda)$ by $(W_2, \Phi_2) = \pi_*(L_1, \lambda)$ represented by $\delta \in \mathbb{H}^1$, where L_1 and L_2 are line bundles on S. Then, $p(\Phi) = 0$ if and only if $\zeta(\delta) = 0$.

Proof. Choose a C^{∞} -splitting $V = W_1 \oplus W_2$ and write

$$\bar{\partial}_V = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\partial}_1 & \beta \\ 0 & \bar{\partial}_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_1 & \psi \\ 0 & \Phi_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\beta \in \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$ and $\psi \in \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$. As we saw in Chapter 2, δ is represented by the pair (β, ψ) and $\zeta(\delta)$ is simply the class of ψ inside coker ϕ_{21} (this makes sense since $\overline{\partial}\psi + \phi_{21}\beta = 0$). If $\zeta(\delta) = 0$, the element $\psi \in \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$ is of the form $\phi_{21}(\theta)$ for some smooth section θ of $\operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1)$. This means we can find another representative in the same class of (β, ψ) of the form $(\beta', 0)$ (corresponding to another smooth splitting $V = W_1 \oplus W_2$). The condition $(\beta', 0) \in \mathbb{H}^1$ implies $\beta' \circ \Phi_2 = \Phi_1 \circ \beta'$. Thus, since the spectral curve is the same for (W_1, Φ_1) and (W_2, Φ_2) , an eigenvalue of Φ_1 is also an eigenvalue of Φ_2 , which means that the generic eigenspace is two dimensional. It follows that $(V, \Phi) \cong \pi_*(E, \lambda)$, for some rank 2 vector bundle E on S, so $p(\Phi) = 0$. This, of course, can also be seen by a simple direct computation. With respect to the splitting $V = W_1 \oplus W_2$ we have

$$\Phi^k = \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_1^{k-1} & q_k(\Phi) \\ 0 & \Phi_2^{k-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

for every integer k > 0, where

$$q_k(\Phi) = \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \Phi_1^{k-1-i} \psi \Phi_2^i.$$

If $\psi = \Phi_1 \theta - \theta \Phi_2$ for some $\theta \in \Omega^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$,

$$\begin{aligned} q_k(\Phi) &= \sum_{i=0}^{k-1} \Phi_1^{k-1-i} (\Phi_1 \theta - \theta \Phi_2) \Phi_2^i \\ &= \Phi_1^k \theta - \Phi_1^{k-1} \theta \Phi_2 + \Phi_1 \theta \Phi_2^{k-1} - \theta \Phi_2^k + \sum_{i=1}^{k-2} \Phi_1^{k-i} \theta \Phi_2^i - \Phi_1^{k-1-i} \theta \Phi_2^{i+1} \\ &= \Phi_1^k \theta - \theta \Phi_2^k + \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} \Phi_1^{k-i} \theta \Phi_2^i - \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} \Phi_1^{k-j} \theta \Phi_2^j \qquad (j=i+1) \\ &= \Phi_1^k \theta - \theta \Phi_2^k. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$p(\Phi) = \begin{pmatrix} p(\Phi_1) & q(\Phi) \\ 0 & p(\Phi_2) \end{pmatrix},$$

where

$$q(\Phi) = q_m(\Phi) + a_2 q_{m-2}(\Phi) + \ldots + a_{m-1} q_1(\Phi) + a_m \theta - a_m \theta$$
$$= p(\Phi_1)\theta - \theta p(\Phi_2).$$

Since the spectral curve of (W_1, Φ_1) and (W_2, Φ_2) is $S, p(\Phi_1) = 0 = p(\Phi_2)$ and $p(\Phi) = 0$.

Conversely, suppose $p(\Phi) = 0$. Then, the cokernel of $\pi^* \Phi - \lambda$ Id is a holomorphic vector bundle of rank 2 on S. Equivalently stated, the rank 1 torsion-free sheaf on the spectral curve whose direct image construction corresponds to (V, Φ) is supported on the reduced scheme S, thus it must be a locally-free sheaf on S of rank 2. Thus, (V, Φ) fits into the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \pi_*(L_1, \lambda) \to \pi_*(E, \lambda) \to \pi_*(L_2, \lambda) \to 0, \tag{3.6}$$

where E is a rank 2 holomorphic vector bundle on S. Since π is an affine morphism, we have an equivalence of categories between vector bundles on S and vector bundles on Σ with a $\pi_*\mathcal{O}_S$ -module structure. This structure of a sheaf of algebras amounts to the data of a Higgs bundle as we saw in the previous chapter. Thus, (3.6) comes from a short exact sequence

$$0 \to L_1 \to E \to L_2 \to 0$$

on S. Now, choose a smooth splitting $E = L_1 \oplus L_2$. Since the Higgs field Φ is obtained by taking the direct image of multiplication by the tautological section λ , it is block diagonal with respect to the splitting $V = W_1 \oplus W_2$ induced by the smooth splitting $E = L_1 \oplus L_2$. Thus, $\psi = 0 \in \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$. This means that δ is represented by the class $(\beta, 0) =$ $(\beta + \bar{\partial}\theta, \phi_{21}\theta)$, where $\theta \in \operatorname{Hom}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$. This shows that $\zeta(\delta) = 0$.

From the lemma above we conclude that points in A_d cannot also be in N. Moreover they are stable Higgs bundles as the next lemma shows.

Lemma 3.8. Let (V, Φ) be an extension of $(W_2, \Phi_2) = \pi_*(L_2, \lambda)$ by $(W_1, \Phi_1) = \pi_*(L_1, \lambda)$, where L_1 and L_2 are line bundles on S, satisfying $p(\Phi) \neq 0$. Then, (V, Φ) is a stable Higgs bundle if and only if d > 0.

Proof. If $d \leq 0$, (V, Φ) is either strictly-semistable (when d = 0) or unstable (when d < 0). Conversely, choose a C^{∞} -splitting $V = W_1 \oplus W_2$ and write

$$\bar{\partial}_V = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\partial}_1 & \beta \\ 0 & \bar{\partial}_2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Phi = \begin{pmatrix} \Phi_1 & \psi \\ 0 & \Phi_2 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\beta \in \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$ and $\psi \in \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1))$. With respect to this splitting, $p(\Phi)$ can be written as

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc} p(\Phi_1) & q(\Phi) \\ 0 & p(\Phi_2) \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & q(\Phi) \\ 0 & 0 \end{array}\right),$$

for some non-zero holomorphic section $q(\Phi)$ of $\operatorname{Hom}(W_2, W_1) \otimes K^m$ and we have

Now, any Φ -invariant subbundle W of V is also invariant under $p(\Phi)$, but the image of $p(\Phi)$ is contained in $W_1 \otimes K^m$. Since S is irreducible, W_1 must be, up to isomorphism, the only non-trivial Φ -invariant subbundle of V. Thus, (V, Φ) is stable if and only if $\deg(W_1) < 0$, i.e., d > 0.

In particular, the lemma above shows that each A_d is contained in $h^{-1}(p^2) \setminus N$ for d > 0. Let

$$\bar{d} = \deg(L_2^*L_1K_S) = -2d + 2m^2(g-1)$$

From any non-zero element in $H^0(S, L_2^*L_1K_S)$ we get an effective divisor $D \in S^{(\bar{d})}$, where $S^{(\bar{d})}$ is the \bar{d} -th symmetric product⁴ of the curve S. From (3.5) we get a natural map

$$A_d \to Z_d$$

where

$$Z_{d} = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} (D, L_{1}, L_{2}) \in S^{(\bar{d})} \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d_{1}}(S) \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d_{2}}(S) \middle| & i. \quad \mathcal{O}(D) = L_{2}^{*}L_{1}K_{S}, \\ & ii. \quad \operatorname{Nm}(L_{1}L_{2}) = K^{m(m-1)}. \end{array} \right\}.$$

Note that $(V, \Phi) \in A_d$ defines a non-zero section of $L_2^*L_1K_S$ only up to a non-zero scalar, so we get a well-defined map only to the corresponding effective divisor. Of course, we can also write

$$Z_{d} \cong \{ (D,L) \in S^{(\bar{d})} \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d_{2}}(S) \mid L^{2}(D)\pi^{*}K^{1-2m} \in \operatorname{P}(\mathbf{S},\Sigma) \}.$$

Moreover, the fact that $\zeta(\delta) \neq 0 \in H^0(S, L_2^*L_1K_S)$ for any δ representing an element of A_d gives a constraint on d. Namely, $L_2^*L_1K_S$ has at least one global section, which means that

⁴Given an irreducible smooth complex projective curve C and an integer k > 1, the group of permutations of $\{1, \ldots, k\}$ acts on C^k . The quotient, denoted by $C^{(k)}$, is an irreducible smooth complex projective variety of dimension k, called the *k*-th symmetric product of C. Moreover, $C^{(k)}$ can be naturally identified with the set of effective divisors of degree k on C.

we must have $\bar{d} = \deg(L_2^*L_1K_S) \ge 0$. From this we obtain

$$1\leqslant d\leqslant g_{\scriptscriptstyle S}-1$$

Consider the natural projection $\varphi : Z_d \to S^{(\bar{d})}$. Given two elements in the fibre of a divisor $D \in S^{(\bar{d})}$ they must differ by an element $L \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(S)$ such that $L^2 \in \operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)$. The connectedness of the Prym variety⁵ implies that the map

$$U \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{S}, \Sigma) \mapsto U^2 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{S}, \Sigma)$$

is surjective and there exists $U \in P(S, \Sigma)$ such that $L^2 = U^2$. If $U' \in P(S, \Sigma)$ is another element satisfying $L^2 = (U')^2$, then $U'U^{-1} \in P(S, \Sigma)[2]$ is a 2-torsion point of the Prym variety. Therefore we have a well-defined map

$$F := \{ M \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(S) \mid M^2 \in \operatorname{P}(\mathbf{S}, \Sigma) \} \to \frac{\operatorname{Pic}^0(S)[2]}{\operatorname{P}(\mathbf{S}, \Sigma)[2]}$$

given by $M \mapsto [MU^{-1}]$, where $U \in P(S, \Sigma)$ satisfies $M^2 = U^2$. Note that the fibre of the map defined above at $[L'] \in \operatorname{Pic}^0(S)[2]/\operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)[2] \cong (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^{2g}$ is

$$\{L'U_0 \mid U_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{S}, \Sigma)\} \cong \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{S}, \Sigma).$$

Since the index of $P(S, \Sigma)[2]$ in $Pic^{0}(S)[2]$ is 2^{2g} , the fibre $\varphi^{-1}(D)$ is modeled on the disjoint union of 2^{2g} copies of the Prym variety. As the divisor D moves, however, the base Z_d becomes connected.

Lemma 3.9. The space Z_d is connected for $1 \leq d < g_S - 1$ and Z_{g_S-1} has 2^{2g} connected components.

Proof. First assume that $1 \leq d < g_s - 1$. Consider the map

$$n : \operatorname{Pic}^{d}(S) \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d_{2}}(S) \to \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(\Sigma)$$
$$(\mathcal{L}_{1}, \mathcal{L}_{2}) \mapsto \operatorname{Nm}(\mathcal{L}_{2}^{2}\mathcal{L}_{1}\pi^{*}K^{1-2m})$$

⁵The multiplication map $[r] : A \to A$ for a (connected) complex abelian variety A is always surjective (with kernel A[r] isomorphic to $(\mathbb{Z}/r\mathbb{Z})^{2 \dim A}$).

and the natural projections $p_1 : \ker(n) \to \operatorname{Pic}^{\overline{d}}(S)$ and $p_2 : \ker(n) \to \operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(S)$. The fibre $p_2^{-1}(L_2)$ is given by $\mathcal{L}_1 \in \operatorname{Pic}^{\overline{d}}(S)$ such that $L_2^2 \mathcal{L}_1 \pi^* K^{1-2m} \in \operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)$. If \mathcal{L}'_1 is another element of this fibre, $\mathcal{L}'_1 \mathcal{L}_1^{-1} \in \operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)$ and the fibres of p_2 are modeled on $\operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)$, which is connected. Since $\operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(S)$ is also connected, $\ker(n)$ is connected. Note that the fibres of p_1 are modeled on F and they are acted transitively by $\pi_1(\operatorname{Pic}^0(S)) = H_1(S, \mathbb{Z})$. Consider the commutative diagram



Clearly Z_d is the pullback of ker(n) by the natural map which send the effective divisor to the correspond line bundle. Since $d < g_s - 1$ gives $\bar{d} > 0$, there is a natural surjective map $H_1(S^{(\bar{d})}, \mathbb{Z}) \to H_1(S, \mathbb{Z})$ and composing this with the surjective map $\pi_1(S^{(\bar{d})}) \to H_1(S^{(\bar{d})}, \mathbb{Z})$ we obtain a surjection $\pi_1(S^{(\bar{d})}) \to \pi_1(\operatorname{Pic}^{\bar{d}}(S)) = H_1(S, \mathbb{Z})$. Since $H_1(S, \mathbb{Z})$ acts transitively on the fibres, so does $\pi_1(S^{(\bar{d})})$ and we conclude that Z_d is connected. When $d = g_s - 1$, $\bar{d} = 0$ and by fixing an element $L_0 \in Z_{g_s-1}$, we obtain an isomorphism between Z_{g_s-1} and F and we are done.

Lemma 3.10. Let $1 \leq d \leq g_S - 1$. There exists a unique vector bundle F_d on $S^{(\bar{d})}$ whose fibre at a divisor D is canonically isomorphic to $H^1(S, K_S^{-1}(D))$. The rank of F_d is $2d + g_S - 1$.

Proof. The vector bundle is clearly unique up to canonical isomorphism, so let us prove existence. Consider the universal effective divisor $\triangle \subseteq S^{(\bar{d})} \times S$ of degree \bar{d} . Explicitly,

$$\triangle = \{ (D, x) \in S^{(\bar{d})} \times S \mid x \in D \}.$$

Let $pr_1: S^{(\bar{d})} \times S \to S^{(\bar{d})}$ and $pr_2: S^{(\bar{d})} \times S \to S$ be the natural projections and consider the sheaf $F_d = R^1 pr_{1,*}(\mathcal{O}(\triangle) pr_2^* K_S^{-1})$. The projection pr_1 is a proper holomorphic map whose fibre at $D \in S^{(\bar{d})}$ is $pr_1^{-1}(D) \cong S$. The line bundle $\mathcal{O}(\triangle) pr_2^* K_S^{-1}$ restricted to this fibre is simply $K_S^{-1}(D)$, whose degree is -2d, so by Riemann-Roch, $h^1(S, K_S^{-1}(D))$ is equal to $2d + m^2(g - 1)$, regardless of the effective divisor $D \in S^{(\bar{d})}$ taken. Thus, by Grauert's
theorem, F_d is a vector bundle whose fibre at D is isomorphic to $H^1(S, K_S^{-1}(D))$. Note that when $d = g_S - 1$ we have $\bar{d} = 0$. In this case, F_d is simply the vector space $H^1(S, K_S^{-1})$. \Box

Also, let E_d be the total space of the vector bundle given by the pullback of F_d by φ



In particular, this vector bundle has fibre at (L_2, D) isomorphic to $H^1(S, K_S^{-1}(D)) = H^1(S, L_2^*L_1)$. Note that the dimension of E_d is

$$\dim E_d = \dim Z_d + H^1(S, K_S^{-1}(D))$$
$$= (\bar{d} + g_S - g) + (3(g_S - 1) - \bar{d})$$
$$= (4m^2 - 1)(g - 1),$$

where the dimension of $H^1(S, L_2^*L_1)$ is calculated by the Riemann-Roch theorem (noticing that $\deg(L_2^*L_1) = -2d < 0$).

Given two elements $e, e' \in A_d$ mapping to the same effective divisor, from the exactness of the sequence (3.5), their difference defines a unique element in $H^1(S, L_2^*L_1)$. Thus, $A_d \to Z_d$ is an affine bundle modeled on the vector bundle $E_d \to Z_d$. In particular, A_d corresponds to a certain class in $H^1(Z_d, E_d)$, as this cohomology group classifies the set of isomorphism classes of affine bundles on Z_d with underlying linear structure E_d .

Theorem 3.11. Let $p(\lambda) = \lambda^m + \pi^* a_2 \lambda^{m-2} + \ldots + \pi^* a_m$ be a section of the line bundle $\pi^* K^m$ on the total space of the cotangent bundle of Σ whose divisor is a smooth curve S. The fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the $SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration is a disjoint union

$$h^{-1}(p^2) \cong N \cup \bigcup_{d=1}^{g_S^{-1}} A_d,$$

where

- N consists of semi-stable rank 2 vector bundles on S with the property that the determinant bundle of π_{*}E is trivial.
- A_d → Z_d is an affine bundle (of certain class in H¹(Z_d, E_d)) modeled on the vector bundle E_d → Z_d, whose fibre at (L, D) ∈ Z_d is isomorphic to H¹(S, K_S⁻¹(D)).
- Z_d is connected for $1 \leq d < g_s 1$ and Z_{g_s-1} has 2^{2g} connected components. Also, the natural map $Z_d \rightarrow S^{(\bar{d})}$ is a fibration, whose fibres are modeled on 2^{2g} copies of the Prym variety.
- Each stratum has dimension $(4m^2-1)(g-1)$ and the irreducible components of $h^{-1}(p^2)$ are precisely the Zariski closures of A_d , $1 \leq d \leq g_s - 1$, and N.

Proof. The only thing that remains to be proven is the last assertion. For this, consider the map

$$f: N \to \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{S}, \Sigma)$$
$$E \mapsto \det(E) \pi^* K^{1-m}$$

It follows from item b) of Lemma 3.3 that this map of projective varieties is well defined (in particular, all vector bundles in an S-equivalence class have isomorphic determinant line bundles). Also, f is a surjective map. Indeed, let $L \in P(S, \Sigma)$. Since $P(S, \Sigma)$ is a complex abelian variety, the squaring map is surjective and we can choose $L_0 \in P(S, \Sigma)$ such that $L \cong L_0^2$. Then, for any $E \in N_0 = f^{-1}(\mathcal{O}_S)$, a straightforward computation using Lemma 3.3 shows that $E' = E \otimes L_0 \in N$, and f(E') = L. Note that, given $L \in P(S, \Sigma)$, the moduli space $\mathcal{U}_S(2, L\pi^*K^{m-1})$ of rank 2 bundles on S with fixed determinant $L\pi^*K^{m-1}$ is contained in N. This follows directly from Lemma 3.3. Therefore, every fibre $f^{-1}(L) \cong \mathcal{U}_S(2, L\pi^*K^{m-1})$ is irreducible of dimension $3(g_S - 1)$. Since $P(S, \Sigma)$ is irreducible, N must also be. Moreover we have

dim
$$N = \dim N_0 + P(S, \Sigma)$$

= $3(g_S - 1) + (g_S - g)$
= $(4m^2 - 1)(g - 1).$

As the $SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin map is flat, its fibres are equidimensional of dimension $(4m^2 - 1)(g - 1)$. Thus, N is an irreducible component and since A_d , $d = 1, \ldots, g_s - 1$, are open disjoint sets of dimension $(4m^2 - 1)(g - 1)$, their Zariski closures give the other irreducible components of the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$.

Example 3.1. For m = 1, $SU^*(2) = SU(2)$ and by taking p(x) = x, $h^{-1}(p^2)$ is the nilpotent cone Nilp $(2, \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma})$ associated to the $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration. In this case, $N_0 = N = \mathcal{U}(2, \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma})$ is the irreducible component where the Higgs field is zero. Moreover, A_d parametrizes extensions of Higgs bundles of the form

$$0 \to (L_1, 0) \to (V, \Phi) \to (L_2, 0) \to 0,$$

where $L_2 = L_1^*$. Such extensions are parametrized by the two term complex of sheaves

$$\phi_{21}: \mathcal{O}(L^{-2}) \to \mathcal{O}(L^{-2}K) \to 0,$$

where $L = L_2$. This induces the short exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1(\Sigma, L^{-2}) \to \mathbb{H}^1 \to H^0(\Sigma, L^{-2}K) \to 0$$
(3.7)

with $0 < d = \deg(L) \leq g - 1$. We can always split the vector bundle $V = L^* \oplus L$ smoothly and with respect to this splitting we can write

$$\bar{\partial}_V = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\partial}_L & \beta \\ 0 & \bar{\partial}_{L^*} \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$\Phi = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \psi \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\beta \in \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, L^{-2})$, $\psi \in \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, L^{-2})$. As discussed in the last section, the holomorphicity of Φ implies

$$\bar{\partial}\psi + \phi_{21}(\beta) = 0,$$

so that $(\beta, \psi) \in \mathbb{H}^1$. But $\phi_{21} = 0$, so the short exact sequence (3.7) splits. Thus, A_d is actually a vector bundle on $Z_d = \{(L, D) \in \operatorname{Pic}^d(\Sigma) \times \Sigma^{(\overline{d})} \mid \mathcal{O}(D) = L^{-2}K\}$, where $\overline{d} = 2g - 2 - 2d$. The map $Z_d \to \Sigma^{(\overline{d})}$ is a 2^{2g} -fold covering corresponding to choosing a square root of the canonical bundle. In particular, Z_{g-1} corresponds precisely to the 2^{2g} square roots of the canonical bundle. This is precisely Hitchin's description of the nilpotent cone [Hit87a].

Remark 3.12: Note that, by dropping the constraints on the determinant we have a description of the fibre at $p(x)^2$ for the Hitchin fibration for classical Higgs bundles of rank 2m and zero degree. Also, we could have worked with *L*-twisted Higgs bundles (V, Φ) (for a line bundle *L* of degree deg $(L) \ge 2(g-1)$) and considered the fibre of the corresponding Hitchin fibration associated to the moduli space of *L*-twisted Higgs bundles with traceless Higgs field $\Phi: V \to V \otimes L$ and fixed determinant bundle det $(V) \cong \Lambda$ (not necessarily the trivial bundle). The construction would carry out precisely in the same way.

Chapter 4

Other cases

We now consider the connected semisimple non-compact groups $G_0 = SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m, m), real forms of $G = SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$, respectively. Being both subgroups of $SU^*(4m)$, the Higgs field of such a G_0 -Higgs bundle (V, Φ) (see Examples 1.5 and 1.6 for the description of these objects) has characteristic polynomial of the form $p(x)^2$, for some polynomial p(x). In both cases, the generic eigenspaces are two-dimensional and for each eigenvector $(w, w') \in V$ of Φ with eigenvalue μ , $(w, -w') \in V$ is an eigenvector of Φ with eigenvalue $-\mu$. Thus, the reduced curve $S = \operatorname{Zeros}(p(\lambda)) \subset |K|$ admits an involution

$$\sigma: S \to S$$
$$\lambda \mapsto -\lambda$$

and the polynomial p(x) is of the form $p(x) = x^{2m} + b_2 x^{2m-2} + ... + b_{2m-2} x^2 + b_{2m}$, for some $b_{2i} \in H^0(\Sigma, K^{2i})$.

Throughout this chapter we assume that the divisor S corresponding to the section $p(\lambda)$ of $\pi^* K^{2m}$ is non-singular (again by Bertini's theorem, this is true for generic b_i). Also, consider the quotient curve $\bar{S} = S/\sigma$, which is clearly non-singular, and denote by $\rho : S \to \bar{S}$ the natural projection. Let $\bar{\pi} : K^2 \to \Sigma$ be the square of the canonical bundle of Σ . Setting $\eta = \lambda^2$ embeds $\bar{S} \subset |K^2|$ with equation $p(\eta) = 0$. Also, η is the tautological section of $\bar{\pi}^* K^2$ and the ramified coverings fit into the following commutative diagram.



In particular, by the adjunction formula, $K_S \cong \pi^* K^{2m}$ and $K_{\bar{S}} \cong \bar{\pi}^* K^{2m-1}$ (the canonical bundle of K^2 is $\bar{\pi}^* K^{-1}$), so that

$$g_s = 4m^2(g-1) + 1, (4.1)$$

$$g_{\bar{s}} = m(2m-1)(g-1) + 1. \tag{4.2}$$

The difference between the two cases manifests itself on how the involution acts on the determinant bundle of the rank 2 bundle E on S. The spectral data for these two groups was described by Hitchin and Schaposnik.

Proposition 4.1. [HS14] Let $p(\lambda) = \lambda^{2m} + \pi^* b_2 \lambda^{2m-2} + \dots + \pi^* b_{2m}$ be a section of the line bundle $\pi^* K^{2m}$ on the cotangent bundle of Σ whose divisor is a non-singular curve S and let σ be the involution $\sigma(\lambda) = -\lambda$ on S. If E is a rank 2 vector bundle on S, then the direct image of $\lambda : E \to E \otimes \pi^* K$ defines a semi-stable Higgs bundle on Σ for the group $SO^*(4m)$ if and only if

• E is semi-stable, with $\Lambda^2 E \cong \pi^* K^{2m-1}$ and $\sigma^* E \cong E$ where the induced action on $\Lambda^2 E = \pi^* K^{2m-1}$ is trivial

and for the group Sp(m,m) if and only if

• E is semi-stable, with $\Lambda^2 E \cong \pi^* K^{2m-1}$ and $\sigma^* E \cong E$ where the induced action on $\Lambda^2 E = \pi^* K^{2m-1}$ is -1.

Let us say a few words about these loci of the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$, where

$$h: \mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{A}(G)$$

is the G-Hitchin fibration (for $G = SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$). First, note that σ induces a natural (algebraic) involution τ on $\mathcal{U}_S(2,0)$ defined by

$$\tau \cdot E = \sigma^* E^*.$$

This is clearly true in the stable locus of $\mathcal{U}_S(2,0)$. Now, if E_1 and E_2 are in the same S-equivalence class

$$Gr(\tau \cdot E_1) \cong \sigma^* Gr(E_1)^* \cong \sigma^* Gr(E_2)^* \cong Gr(\tau \cdot E_2).$$

The fixed point set $\mathcal{U}_S(2,0)^{\tau}$ is then a closed subvariety of $\mathcal{U}_S(2,0)$ whose smooth points correspond precisely to the locus where the bundles are stable (for more details see [AG06]). Recall that for a generic point of the Hitchin base, the Hitchin fibre is a torsor for an abelian variety. By choosing a square root $K^{1/2}$ of the canonical bundle of Σ , one then has a natural identification of the fibre with the abelian variety. Choosing $K^{1/2}$ in our case will allow us to identify $h^{-1}(p^2)$ with some locus inside the Simpson moduli space of semi-stable sheaves of rank 1 and degree 0. Thus, fix a square root $K^{1/2}$ and denote the loci consisting of G_0 -Higgs bundles in the fibre $h_G^{-1}(p^2)$ by $N_0(G)$ (where $G_0 = SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m,m)). Since any rank 2 bundle E on S satisfies det $(E) \otimes E^* \cong E$, by tensoring the elements in $N_0(G)$ by $\pi^* K^{(1-2m)/2}$ we obtain that

$$N_0(G) \subset \mathcal{U}_S(2,0)^{\tau}$$

for both $G_0 = SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m, m). Note also that the action τ restricts naturally to an involution on $\mathcal{U}_S(2, \mathcal{O}_S)$, which coincides in this case with the action

$$\sigma \cdot E = \sigma^* E,$$

and by [AG06], $N_0(SO(4m, \mathbb{C}))$ and $N_0(Sp(4m, \mathbb{C}))$ account for all such fixed points. More precisely, the determinant map gives an equivariant morphism

$$\det: \mathcal{U}_S(2,0)^{\sigma} \to \operatorname{Pic}(S)^{\sigma}.$$

An equivariant structure on a line bundle $L \in \operatorname{Pic}(S)^{\sigma}$ is a lifted action of σ to L. In other

words, an isomorphism $\varphi : \sigma^*L \to L$ such that $\varphi \circ \sigma^*\varphi = \text{Id.}$ There are two possible lifts, and they differ by a sign. One can see this by looking at a fixed point $p \in S$ of σ . In this case, φ gives a linear action on L_p and $\varphi^2 = 1$, which means that $\varphi_p = \pm 1$. In cit. loc. the authors also show that each point in $\mathcal{U}_S(2,0)^{\sigma}$ may be represented by a semi-stable bundle E together with a lift $\varphi : \sigma^*E \to E$ (i.e., an isomorphism φ such that $\varphi \circ \sigma^*\varphi = \text{Id}$). Again, at a fixed point $p \in S$ of σ there is a linear action $\varphi_p : E_p \xrightarrow{\cong} E_p$ and one either has that φ_p is of type \pm Id or, in the case we have distinct +1 and -1 eigenspaces, $\varphi_p = \begin{pmatrix} \pm 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \mp 1 \end{pmatrix}$. The former case coincides with the trivial action on the determinant line bundle (i.e., $N_0(SO(4m, \mathbb{C})))$), whereas the latter corresponds to the -1 action on the determinant (i.e., $N_0(Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})))$). Note that we could have considered the map

$$\psi: \sigma^* E \xrightarrow{\varphi} E \to E^*,$$

where the last map is given by the natural symplectic structure on an $SL(2, \mathbb{C}) = Sp(2, \mathbb{C})$ bundle. More precisely,

$$E \xrightarrow{\cong} E^*$$
$$e \mapsto (e' \mapsto e \land e')$$

The condition of the induced action on the determinant being ± 1 is then equivalent to $t(\sigma^*\psi) = \mp \psi.$

Remark 4.2: As remarked in [HS14], $N_0(SO(4m, \mathbb{C}))$ has $2^{4m(g-1)-1}$ connected components in the fibre. One can tell the components apart by the action on the fixed points of σ , which are the images of the 4m(g-1) zeros of $b_{2m} \in H^0(\Sigma, K^{2m})$. More precisely, the action is +1 at M fixed points (and -1 at the remaining 4m(g-1) - M fixed points). When the bundle is stable there are only two possible lifts, which differ by the sign (and interchanges M by 4m(g-1) - M). The locus $N_0(Sp(4m, \mathbb{C}))$ on the other hand is connected.

4.1 The group $SO^*(4m)$

Let us highlight the differences from the $SU^*(4m)$ case described in the last chapter. Recall that an $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundle is a pair (V, Φ) consisting of an orthogonal vector bundle (V,q) of rank 4m and a Higgs field Φ which is skew-symmetric with respect to the orthogonal structure q of V. In the $SU^*(4m)$ case, one of the irreducible components of the fibre $h_{SL(4m,\mathbb{C})}^{-1}(p^2)$ consisted of rank 2 semi-stable vector bundles E on the non-singular curve $S = \operatorname{Zeros}(p(\lambda))$ satisfying $\det(\pi_*E) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$. As we want to compare our construction to the one described in the last chapter, let us denote this component by $N(SL(4m,\mathbb{C}))$ for now. Inside it, we have the locus

$$N = N(SO(4m, \mathbb{C})) \subset N(SL(4m, \mathbb{C}))$$

consisting of rank 2 bundles E on S whose direct image construction yields $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundles.

Proposition 4.3. The locus

$$\{(V,\Phi) \in h^{-1}(p^2) \mid p(\Phi) = 0\} \subset \mathcal{M}(SO(4m,\mathbb{C}))$$

is isomorphic to

$$N = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} & There \ exists \ an \ isomorphism \\ E \in \mathcal{U}_S(2, e) \middle| & \psi : \sigma^* E \to E^* \otimes \pi^* K^{2m-1} \\ & satisfying \ {}^t\!(\sigma^*\psi) = -\psi. \end{array} \right\}$$

where e = 4m(2m - 1)(g - 1).

Proof. Suppose $E \in N$ and $\psi : \sigma^* E \to E^* \otimes \pi^* K^{2m-1}$ is an isomorphism satisfying ${}^t\!(\sigma^*\psi) = -\psi$. We want to construct an orthogonal form q on $V = \pi_* E$ with respect to which the Higgs field Φ is skew-symmetric, where Φ is obtained from the map $\lambda : E \to E \otimes \pi^* K$, which is multiplication by the tautological section λ . Let $x \in \Sigma$ be a regular value of π with

 $\pi^{-1}(x) = \{y_1, \sigma(y_1), \dots, y_m, \sigma(y_m)\}$. Then, at this point, the fibre of V decomposes as

$$V_x = E_{y_1} \oplus E_{\sigma(y_1)} \oplus \ldots \oplus E_{y_m} \oplus E_{\sigma(y_m)}.$$

Taking $s, t \in V_x$, we define the non-degenerate pairing

$$q(s,t) = \sum_{y \in \pi^{-1}(x)} \frac{\langle \psi(\sigma^*s), t \rangle_y}{d\pi_y} = \sum_{y \in \pi^{-1}(x)} \frac{\langle \psi_y(s_{\sigma(y)}), t_y \rangle}{d\pi_y},$$
(4.3)

where the brackets $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ denote the natural pairing between E and its dual E^* . In the expression above we see $d\pi$ as a holomorphic section of $K_S \pi^* K^{-1}$, which we identify with $\pi^* K^{2m-1}$ via the canonical symplectic form on the cotangent bundle of Σ . From the condition $t(\sigma^*\psi) = -\psi$ we obtain the relation

$$\langle s_{\sigma(y)}, \psi_{\sigma(y)}(t_y) \rangle = -\langle \psi_y(s_{\sigma(y)}), t_y \rangle \tag{4.4}$$

for all $y \in \pi^{-1}(x)$. The summands of q(s,t) and q(t,s) containing elements of E_y and $E_{\sigma(y)}$ for some $y \in \pi^{-1}(x)$ are

$$\frac{\langle \psi_y(s_{\sigma(y)}), t_y \rangle}{d\pi_y} + \frac{\langle \psi_{\sigma(y)}(s_y), t_{\sigma(y)} \rangle}{d\pi_{\sigma(y)}}$$

and

$$\frac{\langle \psi_y(t_{\sigma(y)}), s_y \rangle}{d\pi_y} + \frac{\langle \psi_{\sigma(y)}(t_y), s_{\sigma(y)} \rangle}{d\pi_{\sigma(y)}}$$

respectively. Now, using (4.4) and the fact that the denominator $d\pi$ is anti-invariant, we obtain that the pairing (4.3) is symmetric. Note that if

$$s = (s_{y_1}, s_{\sigma(y_1)}, \ldots, s_{y_m}, s_{\sigma(y_m)}),$$

multiplying by the tautological section we obtain

$$\lambda(s) = (s_{y_1} \otimes y_1, -s_{\sigma(y_1)} \otimes y_1, \dots, s_{y_m} \otimes y_m, -s_{\sigma(y_m)} \otimes y_m).$$

Thus, using (4.4) again we find

$$q(\lambda(s), t) = -q(s, \lambda(t)),$$

which shows that the associated Higgs field is skew-symmetric with respect to q. Using precisely the same argument as in [Hit16, Section 4] we see that q can be extended to the branch points of π and thus, $\pi_*(E, \lambda)$ is a semi-stable¹ $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundle.

Conversely, let (V, Φ) be a semi-stable $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundle such that $p(\Phi) = 0$. Analogously to the $SU^*(4m)$ case, this defines a semi-stable rank 2 vector bundle E on S, which fits into the exact sequence

$$0 \to E \otimes \mathcal{O}_S(-R_\pi) \to \pi^* V \xrightarrow{\pi^* \Phi - \lambda \operatorname{Id}} \pi^* (V \otimes K) \to E \otimes \pi^* K \to 0,$$
(4.5)

and we identify, as before, $\mathcal{O}_S(R_\pi) \cong \pi^* K^{2m-1}$. Taking σ^* of (4.5) we obtain

$$0 \to \sigma^*(E) \otimes \pi^* K^{1-2m} \to \pi^* V \xrightarrow{\pi^* \Phi + \lambda \operatorname{Id}} \pi^*(V \otimes K) \to E \otimes \pi^* K \to 0,$$

as $\sigma^*(\lambda) = -\lambda$. Since the Higgs field Φ is skew-symmetric with respect to the orthogonal form $q: V \to V^*$, i.e., $q \circ \Phi = -{}^t \Phi \circ q$, and the kernel and cokernel of the map

$$-\pi^*({}^t\Phi) + \lambda \operatorname{Id} : \pi^*(V^*) \to \pi^*(V^* \otimes K)$$

can be obtained by taking the dual of the exact sequence (4.5), we have

In particular, we obtain an isomorphism $\psi : \sigma^* E \to E^* \otimes \pi^* K^{2m-1}$. Note that the exact sequences above are really exact sequences of sheaves and the injective map taking $\sigma^*(E) \otimes \pi^* K^{1-2m}$ into $\pi^*(V)$ is given by multiplication by the section $d\pi$, whereas the injective map $E^* \to \pi^*(V^*)$ corresponds to the transpose of the natural evaluation map $ev : \pi^*(\pi_* E) \to E$. Since the section $d\pi$ is anti-invariant under σ , it follows that ${}^t\!(\sigma^*\psi) = -\psi$.

¹Semi-stability can be seen in many ways. One, as we will explain better in Chapter 5, comes from the fact that these rank 2 bundles on S are part of the locus of Simpson moduli space of semi-stable rank 1 sheaves on the non-reduced curve which gives the spectral data for the fibre in question. Another way is by noticing that the corresponding Higgs bundle is in particular a semi-stable $SL(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundles by Proposition 3.2, and thus must also be a semi-stable $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundle.

Fix a square root $K^{1/2}$ and let E be a stable rank 2 vector bundle on S of degree e = 4m(2m-1)(g-1). Also, denote by E_0 the degree 0 stable bundle $E \otimes \pi^* K^{(1-2m)/2}$. If there exists an isomorphism $\sigma^* E \to E^* \otimes \pi^* K^{2m-1}$, then E_0 is anti-invariant, i.e., $\sigma^* E_0 \cong E_0^*$. Denote this latter isomorphism by ψ . Since E_0 is stable, it is simple and $t(\sigma^*\psi) = \lambda\psi$, for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. But σ is an involution, so applying σ^* and taking the transpose map gives $\psi = \lambda^2 \psi$ and we must have $\lambda = \pm 1$.

Proposition 4.4. The closed subvariety $N \subset U_S(2, e)$ has dimension

$$\dim N = \dim SO(4m, \mathbb{C})(g-1).$$

Moreover, it has 2 connected components.

Proof. Choose a square root $K^{1/2}$ of the canonical bundle of Σ and denote by N^s the locus of N consisting of stable vector bundles. Then,

$$N^{s} \cong \{ E_{0} \in \mathcal{U}_{S}^{s}(2, e) \mid \exists \psi : \sigma^{*}E_{0} \xrightarrow{\cong} E_{0}^{*} \text{ s.t. } {}^{t}(\sigma^{*}\psi) = -\psi \}.$$

In particular, N^s sits inside the fixed point set $\mathcal{U}_S^s(2,0)^{\tau}$ of the involution τ on the moduli space $\mathcal{U}_S^s(2,0)$ of stable rank 2 bundles on S, where $\tau \cdot E_0 = \sigma^* E_0^*$. The fixed point set $\mathcal{U}_S^s(2,0)^{\tau}$ is non-singular and so is the locus N^s (see e.g. [Edi92]). By [Zel16, Theorem 3.12.(b)], the dimension of N^s equals $2m(4m-1)(g-1) = \dim SO(4m, \mathbb{C})(g-1)$, thus the dimension of N is dim $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})(g-1)$. To show that N has two connected components it is enough to consider the smooth locus. Note that $N_0^s = N^s \cap \mathcal{U}_S(2, \mathcal{O}_S)$ is, after choosing $K^{1/2}$, naturally isomorphic to the smooth locus corresponding to $SO^*(4m)$ -Higgs bundles in the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ (see Proposition 4.1). Moreover, the tensor product gives a well-defined map

$$N_0^s \times \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{S}, \bar{\mathcal{S}}) \to N^s.$$
(4.6)

Note that the determinant line bundle of an element $E \in N^s$ satisfies

$$\sigma^* \det(E) = \det(E)^*$$

and thus $det(E) \in P(S, \overline{S})$. The Prym variety $P(S, \overline{S})$ is connected, so the squaring map

$$[2]: P(S, \overline{S}) \to P(S, \overline{S})$$

is surjective. This means that for any $E \in N^s$ we can find $L \in P(S, \overline{S})$ such that $L^2 \cong \det(E)$. We may write

$$E = (E \otimes L^*) \otimes L,$$

and $E \otimes L^*$ has trivial determinant. Thus, (4.6) is surjective. As noted in [Zel16], the 2torsion points $P(S, \bar{S})[2]$ of the Prym variety $P(S, \bar{S})$ act on the connected components of N_0^s . The action can be understood in terms of the fixed points of σ . More precisely, if p_i , $i \in \{1, \ldots, 4m(g-1)\}$ are the fixed points of σ , $E \in N_0^s$ we can tell the connected component of E by looking at $\{\varphi_{p_i}\}$, where $\varphi : \sigma^* E \xrightarrow{\cong} E$ is the isomorphism explained in the last section. Then, given $L \in P(S, \bar{S})[2]$ (i.e., $\sigma^* L \cong L^* \cong L$) acts by multiplication by ± 1 at each p_i . Note that the action is free modulo the trivial action, i.e., when the action is +1 at every fixed point. This can only happen if the bundle comes from \bar{S} , so that $P(S, \bar{S})[2]/\rho^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(\bar{S})[2]$ gives a free action on the set of connected components of N_0^s . Since there are $2^{2(g_S - 2g_{\bar{S}})} = 2^{4m-2}$ points in $P(S, \bar{S})[2]/\rho^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(\bar{S})[2]$, we find, from the surjectivity of (4.6), that N_s must have two connected components.

The next step is to consider extensions of Higgs bundles. Let (V, Φ) be an element of the fibre which is not in N (i.e., $p(\Phi) \neq 0$). From the last chapter, we know that these points are given by certain extensions of Higgs bundles. To understand which extensions can appear note the following. If W is a Φ -invariant subbundle of V so is its orthogonal complement W^{\perp_q} . Indeed, if $v \in W^{\perp_q}$, for any $w \in W$, $\Phi w \in W$ and $q(\Phi v, w) = -q(v, \Phi w) = 0$. This means that $W \cong W^{\perp_q}$ and W is a maximally isotropic subbundle. Thus, V is an extension

$$0 \to W \to V \to W^* \to 0,$$

where the projection to W^* is given by q. As W is Φ -invariant, the Higgs bundle (V, Φ) is an extension

$$0 \to (W,\phi) \to (V,\Phi) \to (W^*,-{}^t\!\phi) \to 0,$$

where $\phi \coloneqq \Phi|_W$. From Theorem 2.5, such extensions of Higgs bundles are in correspondence with the first hypercohomology group $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \Lambda^2 \mathsf{W})$ of the two-term complex of sheaves

$$\begin{split} \hat{\phi} : \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 W) &\to \mathcal{O}(\Lambda^2 W \otimes K) \\ w_1 \wedge w_2 &\mapsto \phi(w_1) \wedge w_2 + w_1 \wedge \phi(w_2). \end{split}$$

For simplicity, we denote $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \Lambda^2 W)$ simply by \mathbb{H}^1 . The Higgs bundles (W, ϕ) and $(W^*, -t\phi)$ have the same spectral curve S and we may assume that $\deg(W) = -d < 0$ (see Remark 3.4). Also, by the *BNR* correspondence, $\pi_*(L, \lambda) \cong (W, \phi)$ and $\pi_*(L', \lambda) \cong (W^*, -t\phi)$ for some line bundles L and L' on S. In particular, since the Euler characteristic is invariant under direct images we have

$$\deg(L) = -d + 2m(2m - 1)(g - 1).$$
(4.7)

Let us show how L' is related to L. Note that relative duality gives

$$\pi_*(L^*K_S\pi^*K^{-1}) \cong W^*.$$

However, multiplication by the tautological section

$$\lambda: L^*K_S\pi^*K^{-1} \to L^*K_S$$

induces the Higgs field ${}^{t}\!\phi: W^* \to W^* \otimes K$. This is clear from the natural pairing, which is the isomorphism in the relative duality theorem. Indeed, given a regular value $x \in \Sigma$ of π , $s \in (\pi_*L)_x$ and $t \in \pi_*(L^*K_S\pi^*K^{-1})_x$,

$$\langle s,t\rangle = \sum_{y\in\pi^{-1}(x)} \frac{t(s)_y}{d\pi_y}$$

and

$$\langle \lambda s, t \rangle = \langle s, \lambda t \rangle.$$

Lemma 4.5. Under the BNR correspondence we have $\pi_*(L', \lambda) \cong (W^*, -t\phi)$, where $L' = \sigma^*(L^*K_S\pi^*K^{-1})$.

Proof. There is an isomorphism

$$\pi_*(\sigma^*(L^*K_S\pi^*K^{-1})) \cong \pi_*(L^*K_S\pi^*K^{-1}),$$

which comes from pulling back sections by the involution. Also, given an open set $U \subseteq \Sigma$,

Thus $\pi_*(L', \lambda) = (W^*, -t\phi)$, where $L' = \sigma^*(L^*K_S\pi^*K^{-1})$.

Before we proceed, let us introduce some notation. Let M be a vector bundle of rank r on S. Given an open set $U \subseteq \Sigma$, $\rho^{-1}(U) \subseteq S$ is invariant under σ and the ± 1 eigenspaces of the action on $H^0(\rho^{-1}(U), M)$ decompose the direct image on \bar{S} as

$$\rho_*(M) = \rho_*(M)_+ \oplus \rho_*(M)_-.$$

In particular, $\overline{M}_+ \coloneqq \rho_*(M)_+$ and $\overline{M}_- \coloneqq \rho_*(M)_-$ are rank r bundles on \overline{S} and their direct image under $\overline{\pi}$

$$M_{+} := \bar{\pi}_{*}(\bar{M}_{+}) = (\pi_{*}M)_{+}$$

 $M_{-} := \bar{\pi}_{*}(\bar{M}_{-}) = (\pi_{*}M)_{-}$

are rank mr vector bundles on Σ . From now on we denote by M the line bundle² $L\sigma^*L\pi^*K^{1-2m}$.

Lemma 4.6. From the smoothness of the spectral curve it follows that $\ker \hat{\phi}$ and $\operatorname{coker} \hat{\phi}$ are rank m vector bundles. Denote by M the line bundle $L\sigma^*L\pi^*K^{1-2m}$. We have:

- a) $\ker \hat{\phi} \cong \pi_*(L\sigma^*L\pi^*K^{1-2m})_+$ (i.e., M_+) and
- $b) \ {\rm coker} \, \hat{\phi} \cong \pi_*(L\sigma^*L\pi^*K^{1-2m})_- \otimes K^{2m} \ (i.e., \ M_- \otimes K^{2m}).$

²Making a parallel to last chapter, this corresponds to the line bundle $L_2^*L_1$.

Proof. a) We have the following commutative diagram

where $s \in H^0(\pi^{-1}(U), L\sigma^*(LK_S^*\pi^*K))$. This tells us that the kernel of $\hat{\phi}$ viewed in Hom (W^*, W) is $\pi_*(L\sigma^*(LK_S^*\pi^*K))$. Since we want the kernel in $\Lambda^2 W$ we take the anti-invariant part of the direct image. We now use the canonical symplectic form of the cotangent bundle of Σ to identify K_S with π^*K^{2m} . Since the symplectic form on the cotangent bundle is anti-invariant under σ , which is scalar multiplication by -1 in the fibres,

$$\pi_*(L\sigma^*(LK_S^*\pi^*K))_- \cong \pi_*(L\sigma^*L\pi^*K^{1-2m})_+$$

b) Dualizing the sequence

$$0 \to \ker \hat{\phi} \to \Lambda^2 W \to \Lambda^2 W \otimes K \to \operatorname{coker} \hat{\phi} \to 0$$

we obtain

$$0 \to (\operatorname{coker} \hat{\phi})^* \otimes K \to \Lambda^2 W^* \to \Lambda^2 W^* \otimes K \to (\ker \hat{\phi})^* \otimes K \to 0.$$

Since we are exchanging the roles between (W, ϕ) and $(W^*, -t\phi)$, we get

$$\pi_*(L^*\sigma^*L^*\pi^*K^{2m-1})_+ \cong (\operatorname{coker} \hat{\phi})^* \otimes K.$$

By relative duality,

$$\pi_*(L^*\sigma^*L^*\pi^*K^{2m-1})^* \cong \pi_*(L\sigma^*L\pi^*K^{1-2m}K_S) \otimes K^{-1}$$
$$\cong M_+K^{2m-1} \oplus M_-K^{2m-1}.$$

To identify $K_S \otimes \pi^* K^{-1}$ with $\pi^* K^{2m-1}$ we use the canonical symplectic form of the cotangent bundle of Σ , which is anti-invariant under σ . This gives

$$\pi_*(L^*\sigma^*L^*\pi^*K^{2m-1})_+ \cong M^*_-K^{1-2m}.$$

Thus we obtain coker $\hat{\phi} \cong M_{-} \otimes K^{2m}$.

Remarks 4.6:

1. We can write $L\sigma^*L = \rho^*\bar{L}$, for some line bundle \bar{L} on \bar{S} . Indeed, if we denote $L\sigma^*L$ by $\mathcal{L}, \sigma^*\mathcal{L} \cong \mathcal{L}$ and at any fixed point $x \in S$ of the involution, the fibre \mathcal{L}_x is of the form L_x^2 and the action is always trivial, which means that \mathcal{L} is pulled-back from a line bundle on \bar{S} . Also, \bar{L} is unique as the map $\rho^* : \operatorname{Pic}^0(\bar{S}) \to \operatorname{Pic}^0(S)$ is injective.

2. The direct image $\rho_*\mathcal{O}_S$ is naturally isomorphic to $\mathcal{O}_{\bar{S}} \oplus \bar{\pi}^*K^{-1}$. Given $s_0 \in H^0(U, \mathcal{O}_{\bar{S}})$, $s_1 \in H^0(U, \bar{\pi}^*K^{-1})$ we associate

$$(s_0, s_1) \mapsto \rho^* s_0 + \lambda \rho^* s_1 \in H^0(\rho^{-1}(U), \mathcal{O}_S) = H^0(U, \rho_* \mathcal{O}_S).$$

By the remark above

$$\rho_*(L\sigma^*L\pi^*K^{1-2m}) = \rho_*(\rho^*(\bar{L}\bar{\pi}^*K^{1-2m}))$$
$$= (\mathcal{O}_{\bar{S}} \oplus \bar{\pi}^*K^{-1}) \otimes \bar{L}\bar{\pi}^*K^{1-2m}$$

Since the term $\bar{\pi}^* K^{-1}$ comes from multiplication by λ , we must have

$$\begin{cases} \bar{M}_{+} = \bar{L}\bar{\pi}^{*}K^{1-2m} \\ \bar{M}_{-} = \bar{L}\bar{\pi}^{*}K^{-2m}, \end{cases}$$

where, as before, $\rho_*(L\sigma^*L\pi^*K^{1-2m}) = \bar{M}_+ \oplus \bar{M}_-$.

The first hypercohomology group $\mathbb{H}^1 = \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \Lambda^2 \mathsf{W})$ fits into the short exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1(\bar{S}, \bar{M}_+) \to \mathbb{H}^1 \to H^0(\bar{S}, \bar{M}_- \otimes \bar{\pi}^* K^{2m}) \to 0.$$

Equivalently,

$$0 \to H^1(\bar{S}, \bar{L}K_{\bar{S}}^{-1}) \to \mathbb{H}^1 \to H^0(\bar{S}, \bar{L}) \to 0.$$

Since $\deg(\sigma^*L) = \deg(L)$, we must have $\deg(\bar{L}) = \deg(L)$, whose value was given in (4.7). Let

$$\begin{split} \bar{d} &= \deg(\bar{L}) = -d + 2(g_{\bar{S}} - 1), \\ d' &= \deg(L') = d + 2(g_{\bar{S}} - 1). \end{split}$$

From a non-zero element $u \in H^0(S, \overline{L})$ we get a divisor $\overline{D} \in \overline{S}^{(\overline{d})}$. Thus, we define³

$$Z_d = \{ (\bar{D}, A) \in \bar{S}^{(\bar{d})} \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d'}(S) \mid A\sigma^* A \cong \rho^*(K^2_{\bar{S}}(-\bar{D})) \}.$$

To obtain non-zero global holomorphic sections of \overline{L} we must impose the constraint $\overline{d} \ge 0$. Together with the assumption that d is positive, we have the constraint $0 < d \le 2(g_{\overline{s}} - 1)$.

Remarks 4.6:

1. Considering the natural map $\varphi: Z_d \to \overline{S}^{(\overline{d})}$, its fibres are modeled on the Prym variety

$$P(S,\bar{S}) = \{ M \in Pic^{0}(S) \mid \sigma^{*}M \cong M^{*} \}$$

corresponding to the ramified covering $\rho : S \to \overline{S}$. In particular, Z_d is connected for all $0 < d \le 2(g_{\overline{S}} - 1)$.

2. Since $SO(4m, \mathbb{C}) \subseteq SL(4m, \mathbb{C})$, our fibre is a subscheme of the fibre described in the previous chapter. Let us temporarily denote Z_d for $SL(4m, \mathbb{C})$ by $Z_d(SL(4m, \mathbb{C}))$. Then,

$$Z_d(SL(4m,\mathbb{C})) = \{ (D,A) \in S^{(d')} \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(S) \mid A^2(D)\pi^* K^{1-4m} \in \operatorname{P}(S,\Sigma) \},\$$

³Note that we could also have defined Z_d in terms of the line bundle L, i.e.,

$$Z_d = \{ (\bar{D}, L) \in \bar{S}^{(\bar{d})} \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d_1}(S) \mid \rho^* \mathcal{O}_{\bar{S}}(\bar{D}) \cong L\sigma^* L \}$$

Even though this is more concise, we consider L' as this is compatible with our construction in the $SL(4m, \mathbb{C})$ case.

where $\bar{d}' = \deg((L')^* LK_S) = -2d + 8m^2(g-1)$. Then,

$$Z_d \hookrightarrow Z_d(SL(4m, \mathbb{C})).$$

To define the map note that we have a distinguished divisor on S whose corresponding line bundle is isomorphic to π^*K . This is the ramification divisor R_ρ of the covering $\rho: S \to \bar{S}$, which is simply the intersection of the zero section of K with S. We can define the map above by assigning $(\bar{D}, A) \in Z_d$ to $(D, A) \in Z_d(SL(4m, \mathbb{C}))$, where $D = R_\rho + \rho^*\bar{D}$ (and this is clearly injective). To see that this is indeed well-defined, note that $\mathcal{O}_S(D) = \pi^*K\rho^*\mathcal{O}_{\bar{S}}(\bar{D})$. Thus, $A^2(D)\pi^*K^{1-4m} = A\sigma^*A^{-1}$, which is clearly in $P(S, \bar{S}) \subseteq P(S, \Sigma)$.

The constructions from Chapter 3 for $SL(4m, \mathbb{C})$ can be restricted to our case. For example, $E_d \to Z_d$ is a vector bundle, whose fibres are isomorphic to $H^1(\bar{S}, \bar{L}K_{\bar{S}}^{-1})$. We thus obtain the following.

Theorem 4.7. Let $p(\lambda) = \lambda^{2m} + \pi^* b_2 \lambda^{2m-2} + \ldots + \pi^* b_{2m}$ be a section of the line bundle $\pi^* K^{2m}$ on the total space of the cotangent bundle of Σ whose divisor is a smooth curve S. The fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration is a disjoint union

$$h^{-1}(p^2) \cong N \cup \bigcup_{d=1}^{2(g_{\bar{S}}-1)} A_d$$

where

- N has 2 connected components and it corresponds to the locus of rank 2 vector bundles on S (of degree 4m(2m − 1)(g − 1)) which admit an isomorphism ψ : σ*E → E* ⊗ π*K^{2m−1} satisfying ^t(σ*ψ) = -ψ.
- $A_d \to Z_d$ is an affine bundle modeled on the vector bundle $E_d \to Z_d$, whose fibre at (\bar{D}, L) is isomorphic to $H^1(\bar{S}, K_{\bar{S}}(-\bar{D}))$.
- The natural map $Z_d \to S^{(\bar{d})}$ is a fibration, whose fibres are modeled on the Prym variety $P(S, \bar{S})$.
- Each stratum has dimension dim $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})(g-1)$ and the irreducible components of $h^{-1}(p^2)$ are precisely the Zariski closures of A_d , $1 \leq d \leq 2(g_{\bar{S}} 1)$, and N.

Proof. The only thing left to be checked is that the dimension of each A_d equals dim $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})(g-1)$. Note that

$$\dim A_d = \deg(\bar{L}) + \dim H^1(\bar{S}, \bar{L}K_{\bar{S}}^{-1}) + \dim P(S, \bar{S})$$

The dimension of the Prym variety is $g_s - g_{\bar{s}}$, so, by (4.1) and (4.2), the dimension of the Prym is m(2m+1)(g-1). Now, the degree of $\bar{L}K_{\bar{S}}^{-1}$ is -d < 0. So, by Riemann-Roch

$$\begin{split} h^1(\bar{S}, \bar{L}K_{\bar{S}}^{-1}) &= d + g_{\bar{S}} - 1 \\ &= d + m(2m-1)(g-1). \end{split}$$

The degree of \overline{L} was given in (4.7) and so we obtain a total of

$$\begin{split} \bar{d} + h^1(\bar{S}, \bar{L}K_{\bar{S}}^{-1}) + \dim \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{S}, \bar{\mathcal{S}}) &= \\ &= (-d + 2m(2m-1)(g-1)) + (d + m(2m-1)(g-1)) + (m(2m+1)(g-1))) \\ &= (8m^2 - 2m)(g-1) \\ &= \dim SO(4m, \mathbb{C})(g-1), \end{split}$$

finishing the proof.

4.2 The group Sp(m,m)

This is very similar to the $SO^*(4m)$ case. First we consider the rank 1 sheaves supported on the reduced curve S.

Proposition 4.8. The locus

$$\{(V,\Phi) \in h^{-1}(p^2) \mid p(\Phi) = 0\} \subset \mathcal{M}(Sp(4m,\mathbb{C}))$$

is isomorphic to

$$N = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc|c} & There \ exists \ an \ isomorphism \\ E \in \mathcal{U}_S(2,e) & \psi : \sigma^*E \to E^* \otimes \pi^*K^{2m-1} \\ & satisfying \ {}^t\!(\sigma^*\psi) = \psi. \end{array} \right\},$$

where e = 4m(2m-1)(g-1). Moreover, N is connected and of dimension dim $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})(g-1)$.

Proof. The proof for the first assertion follows exactly as in Proposition 4.3. The only difference is that the pairing (4.3) is now skew-symmetric, which is clear from the condition $t(\sigma^*\psi) = \psi$. Note that starting with a symplectic Higgs bundle (V, Φ) we use the symplectic form to identify the bundle V with its dual and obtain an isomorphism $\psi : \sigma^*E \to E^*$. Since $d\pi$ is anti-invariant under σ and the symplectic form is skew-symmetric, we obtain that $t(\sigma^*\psi) = \psi$. The dimension follows from e.g. [Zel16, Theorem 3.12.(a)]. Now, choosing a square root $K^{1/2}$ of the canonical bundle of Σ we may identify the stable locus of N as

$$N^{s} \cong \{ E_{0} \in \mathcal{U}_{S}^{s}(2, e) \mid \exists \psi : \sigma^{*}E_{0} \xrightarrow{\cong} E_{0}^{*} \text{ s.t. } {}^{t}\!(\sigma^{*}\psi) = \psi \}.$$

By fixing the determinant we obtain the stable locus N_0^s of Higgs bundles for the real form Sp(m,m). Note that, since the induced action on the determinant bundle is -1, at any fixed point $p \in S$ of σ we have distinct +1 and -1 eigenspaces and N_0^s is irreducible (see [HS14] for more details). Moreover, as argued for map (4.6) in the $SO^*(4m)$ case, the tensor product gives a surjective map

$$N_0^s \times \mathbf{P}(\mathbf{S}, \bar{\mathbf{S}}) \to N^s$$

and thus N^s is irreducible.

If W is an Φ -invariant subbundle of $(V, \Phi) \in \mathcal{M}(Sp(4m, \mathbb{C}))$, then so is its symplectic complement $W^{\perp_{\omega}}$ since Φ is skew-symmetric. Suppose $(V, \Phi) \in h^{-1}(p^2)$ is such that $p(\Phi) \neq 0$, then, as we saw, (V, Φ) is stable and given by a unique non-split extension. Thus, $W \cong W^{\perp_{\omega}}$ which means it is a maximally isotropic subbundle of (V, ω) . Thus, we consider extensions of Higgs bundles of the form

$$0 \to (W,\phi) \to (V,\Phi) \to (W^*,-{}^t\!\phi) \to 0$$

where (V, Φ) is a symplectic Higgs bundle and W a maximally isotropic subbundle of V. It follows from Proposition 2.5 that such extensions are governed by the complex

$$\hat{\phi} : \operatorname{Sym}^2 W \to \operatorname{Sym}^2 W \otimes K$$

$$w_1 \odot w_2 \mapsto (\phi w_1) \odot w_2 + w_1 \odot \phi w_2$$
(4.8)

and we have 4

- 1. ker $\hat{\phi} \cong \pi_* (L\sigma^* L\pi^* K^{1-2m})_-,$
- 2. coker $\hat{\phi} \cong \pi_*(L\sigma^*L\pi^*K^{1-2m})_+ \otimes K^{2m}$,

where once again $\pi_*(L,\lambda) \cong (W,\phi)$ and $\pi_*(L',\lambda) \cong (W^*,-\phi^t)$, for $L' \cong \sigma^* L^{-1} \pi^* K^{2m-1}$.

Then, denoting the first hypercohomology group $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Sym}^2 W)$ of the complex (4.8), the short exact sequence in question is

$$0 \to H^1(\bar{S}, \bar{M}_-) \to \mathbb{H}^1 \to H^0(\bar{S}, \bar{M}_+ \otimes \bar{\pi}^* K^{2m}) \to 0.$$

Or, equivalently,

$$0 \to H^1(\bar{S}, \bar{L}\bar{\pi}^*K^{-2m}) \to \mathbb{H}^1 \to H^0(\bar{S}, \bar{L}\bar{\pi}^*K) \to 0,$$

where again \overline{L} is the line bundle on \overline{S} defined by $L\sigma^*L = \rho^*\overline{L}$.

 Set

$$\bar{d} = \deg(\bar{L}\bar{\pi}^*K) = -d + 4m^2(g-1).$$

Then,

$$Z_d = \{ (\bar{D}, A) \in \bar{S}^{(\bar{d})} \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d'}(S) \mid A\sigma^* A\rho^* \mathcal{O}_{\bar{S}}(\bar{D}) \cong \pi^* K^{4m-1} \}.$$

Remark 4.9: The injective map

 $Z_d \hookrightarrow Z_d(SL(4m, \mathbb{C}))$

⁴The proof is completely analogous to the $SO^*(4m)$ case.

is now given by assigning $(A, \overline{D}) \in Z_d$ to $(A, D) \in Z_d(SL(4m, \mathbb{C}))$, where D is the effective divisor $\rho^*\overline{D}$. Note that this is well defined because

$$A^2(D)\pi^*K^{1-4m} = A\sigma^*A^*$$

and $A\sigma^*A^* \in P(S, \overline{S}) \subseteq P(S, \Sigma)$.

The fibres of $\varphi: Z_d \to \overline{S}^{(\overline{d})}$ are again modeled on $P(S, \overline{S}) = \{M \in Pic^0(S) \mid \sigma^*M \cong M^*\}$, so Z_d is connected and the dimension of the affine bundle A_d is

$$deg(\bar{L}\bar{\pi}^*K) + \dim H^1(\bar{S}, \bar{L}\bar{\pi}^*K^{-2m}) + \dim P(S,\bar{S}) =$$

= $(-d + 4m^2(g-1)) + (d + m(2m+1)(g-1)) + (m(2m+1)(g-1))$
= $(8m^2 + 2m)(g-1)$
= $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})(g-1).$

Note that, since $(\bar{D}, L) \in Z_d$ we have $\bar{L}\bar{\pi}^*K^{-2m} = K_{\bar{S}}(-\bar{D})$. Thus, we obtain the following:

Theorem 4.10. Let $p(\lambda) = \lambda^{2m} + \pi^* b_2 \lambda^{2m-2} + \ldots + \pi^* b_{2m}$ be a section of the line bundle $\pi^* K^{2m}$ on the total space of the cotangent bundle of Σ whose divisor is a smooth curve S. The fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration is a disjoint union

$$h^{-1}(p^2) \cong N \cup \bigcup_{d=1}^{g_S^{-1}} A_d$$

where

- N corresponds to the locus of rank 2 semi-stable vector bundles on S (of degree 4m(2m-1)(g-1)) which admit an isomorphism $\psi : \sigma^*E \to E^* \otimes \pi^*K^{2m-1}$ satisfying ${}^t\!(\sigma^*\psi) = \psi$.
- $A_d \to Z_d$ is an affine bundle modeled on the vector bundle $E_d \to Z_d$, whose fibre at (\bar{D}, L) is isomorphic to $H^1(\bar{S}, K_{\bar{S}}(-\bar{D}))$.
- The natural map $Z_d \to S^{(\bar{d})}$ is a fibration, whose fibres are modeled on the Prym variety $P(S,\bar{S})$.

Each stratum has dimension dim Sp(4m, C)(g − 1) and the irreducible components of h⁻¹(p²) are precisely the Zariski closures of A_d, 1 ≤ d ≤ g_S − 1, and N.

Chapter 5

Alternative description

Consider the Hitchin fibration for $GL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundles (of topological type d = 0)

$$h: \mathcal{M}(2m, d) \to \mathcal{A} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{2m} H^0(\Sigma, K^i).$$

Let $p(x) = x^{2m} + a_1 x^{2m-1} + \ldots + a_{2m}$ be a polynomial with $a_i \in H^0(\Sigma, K^i)$. In particular, $p(x)^2$ defines a point in the Hitchin base, which we denote simply by $p^2 \in \mathcal{A}$, and by the *BNR* correspondence (see Theorem 1.8), the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ is isomorphic to Simpson moduli space $\mathcal{M}(p^2; k)$ of semi-stable sheaves of rank 1 and degree k = 2m(2m-1)(g-1) on the spectral curve

$$X \coloneqq \operatorname{Zeros}(p(\lambda)^2) \subset |K|. \tag{5.1}$$

We denote by $\pi: X \to \Sigma$ the natural finite morphism of degree 2m. Moreover, we will denote the reduced scheme X_{red} by S and assume that

$$S = \operatorname{Zeros}(p(\lambda)) \subset |K|$$

is a non-singular curve. We also denote the restriction of π to S by

$$\pi^{\mathrm{red}}: S \to \Sigma,$$

which is a ramified *m*-fold covering of Σ . As we will see, X is an example of a ribbon and, motivated by the existing literature (e.g., [DEL95, CK16]) we give an alternative description of the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the G-Hitchin fibration (where $G = SL(2m, \mathbb{C}), SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$).

5.1 Ribbons

Ribbons can be defined on any reduced connected scheme S of finite type over a fixed field k (see, e.g., [BE95]). For us, however, it will be enough to consider ribbons on a non-singular irreducible projective curve S over the complex numbers. From now on, S will always be a compact Riemann surface.

Definition 5.1. A ribbon X on S is a curve (i.e., an irreducible projective \mathbb{C} -scheme of dimension 1) such that:

- 1. $X_{\text{red}} \cong S$,
- 2. The ideal sheaf \mathcal{I} of S in X satisfies

$$\mathcal{I}^2 = 0,$$

3. \mathcal{I} is an invertible sheaf on S.

Remarks 5.1:

1. Recall that the reduced scheme X_{red} has the same underlying topological space of X and its structure sheaf $\mathcal{O}_{X_{\text{red}}}$ is given by

$$0 \to \mathcal{N}_X \to \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{O}_{X_{\mathrm{red}}} \to 0,$$

where \mathcal{N}_X is the nilradical of X. Since $X_{\text{red}} \cong S$, the ideal sheaf \mathcal{I} is the nilradical of X.

2. The condition $\mathcal{I}^2 = 0$ implies that:

• \mathcal{I} is isomorphic to the conormal sheaf of S in X. In particular, we have a short exact sequence of \mathcal{O}_S -modules (namely, the restricted cotangent sequence):

$$0 \to \mathcal{I} \to \Omega_X |_S \to \Omega_S \to 0.$$

• \mathcal{I} may be regarded as a sheaf on S, so that condition β in the definition of a ribbon makes sense.

The restricted cotangent sequence not only gives an element in $\operatorname{Ext}_{S}^{1}(\Omega_{S}, \mathcal{I})$, but it actually classifies ribbons on S. More precisely, given a line bundle \mathcal{I} on S and a class $e \in \operatorname{Ext}_{S}^{1}(\Omega_{S}, \mathcal{I})$, there is a unique ribbon X on S whose class is e ([BE95], Theorem 1.2). This works for any ribbon on a connected reduced k-scheme. For us, this tells us that ribbons on S are classified by $H^{1}(S, K_{S}^{-1}\mathcal{I})$.

The non-reduced curve X defined in (5.1) is an example of a ribbon, where the ideal sheaf is isomorphic to $\mathcal{O}_{|K|}(-S)|_S \cong K_S^{-1}$. Thus, these are classified by $H^1(S, K_S^{-2})$ (or more precisely by zero and $\mathbb{P}(H^1(S, K_S^{-2})))$. In particular, the ribbon corresponding to $0 \in H^1(S, H_S^{-2})$ is just the first infinitesimal neighborhood of the zero section $\Sigma \subset |K|$ (e.g., m = 1, where p(x) = x, using our previous notation).

5.2 Generalized line bundles

Let X be a ribbon on S with generic point η .

Definition 5.2. Let \mathcal{E} be a coherent sheaf on X.

- *ε* is a generalized line bundle on X if it is torsion-free and generically free of rank
 1. The last condition means that *ε_η* ≅ *O*_{X,η} (equivalently, *ε*|_U is an invertible sheaf for some open set *U* ⊆ *X*).
- The sheaf $\overline{\mathcal{E}}$ associated to a generalized line bundle \mathcal{E} is defined to be the maximal torsion-free quotient of $\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{O}_S$ (i.e., $\overline{\mathcal{E}} = \mathcal{E}|_S / \text{torsion}$).
- The genus g_X of X is $g_X = 1 \chi(\mathcal{O}_X)$.

Remark 5.3: Clearly, a generalized line bundle has polarized rank equal to 1.

Let us restrict now to our case, where $X = \operatorname{Zeros}(p(\lambda)^2) \subset |K|$ (and we assume that the reduced scheme $S = \operatorname{Zeros}(p(\lambda))$ of X is non-singular). As remarked, this means that the ideal sheaf of $S \subset X$ is K_S^{-1} . Given a generalized line bundle \mathcal{E} , we can canonically associate an effective divisor D supported on the set where \mathcal{E} fails to be locally isomorphic to \mathcal{O}_X . One way to see this is by considering the sheaf \mathcal{G} defined as the kernel of the natural map from a generalized line bundle to its maximal torsion-free quotient. We have a short exact sequence of \mathcal{O}_X -modules

$$0 \to \mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{E} \to \bar{\mathcal{E}} \to 0.$$

Note that \mathcal{G} is torsion-free, since it is a subsheaf of the torsion-free sheaf \mathcal{E} . Furthermore, since \mathcal{E} is generically free of rank 1, \mathcal{G} can be seen as an invertible sheaf on S. The natural map $\mathcal{I} \otimes \overline{\mathcal{E}} \to \mathcal{G}$ is injective (recall that $\mathcal{I} = K_S^{-1}$ is the ideal sheaf), thus \mathcal{G} is naturally an invertible sheaf on S isomorphic to $K_S^{-1}(D) \otimes \overline{\mathcal{E}}$, for the effective divisor D on S. We shall denote by $b(\mathcal{E})$ the degree of the corresponding effective divisor, and call it the **index** of \mathcal{E} . Note that the index of \mathcal{E} is zero if and only if \mathcal{E} is an invertible \mathcal{O}_X -module.

Theorem 5.4. ([EG95], Thm 1.1) Let \mathcal{E} be a generalized line bundle on a ribbon X. There is a unique effective Cartier divisor D on S and a unique line bundle \mathcal{L}' on the blow-up¹ $f: X' \coloneqq \operatorname{Bl}_D(X) \to X$ such that $f_*\mathcal{L}' \cong \mathcal{E}$.

Remark 5.5: X' is clearly also a ribbon on S and the ideal sheaf of S is $K_S^{-1}(D)$. In particular, using the short exact sequence of $\mathcal{O}_{X'}$ -modules

$$0 \to K_S^{-1}(D) \to \mathcal{O}_{X'} \to \mathcal{O}_S \to 0,$$

we find that the genus $g_{X'}$ of X' is $g_X - b = 4g_S - 3 - b$, where $b = \deg(D)$.

Let us see how this works through an example (the reader is referred to the paper [CK16] for more details). Let $p \in X$ and denote by $\hat{\mathcal{O}}_{X,p}$ the completion of the local ring $\mathcal{O}_{X,p}$ of X at the point $p \in X$. Thus,

$$\hat{\mathcal{O}}_{X,p} \cong \mathcal{O}_0 \coloneqq \frac{\mathbb{C}\llbracket x, y \rrbracket}{(y^2)},$$

¹Here, the Cartier divisor D is considered as a closed subscheme of X.

where $\mathbb{C}[\![x, y]\!]$ is the ring of formal power series over \mathbb{C} .

Consider the ideal sheaf \mathcal{E} of the unique closed subscheme Z of length n > 0 supported at p and contained in S. This is a generalized line bundle, which locally is the ideal (x^n, y) , and its associated divisor is D = np (on S). Denote by

$$f: X' \to X$$

the natural morphism associated to the blow-up $X' = \operatorname{Bl}_D(X)$ of X along D. The finite morphism $f: X' \to X$ is a set-theoretical bijection (for any effective Cartier divisor on S). Let $q \in X'$ be the point mapping to $p \in X$ via this map. Then,

$$\hat{\mathcal{O}}_{X',q} \cong \mathcal{O}_n \coloneqq \frac{\mathbb{C}\llbracket X, Y \rrbracket}{(Y^2)},$$

where \mathcal{O}_n is the \mathcal{O}_0 -algebra via

$$\mathcal{O}_0 \to \mathcal{O}_n \tag{5.2}$$
$$x \mapsto X,$$
$$y \mapsto Y X^n.$$

Then, the line bundle $\mathcal{L}' \in \operatorname{Pic}(X')$ is locally \mathcal{O}_n (seen as an algebra), and its direct image \mathcal{E} is locally \mathcal{O}_n seen as an \mathcal{O}_0 -module via the map (5.2), which is exactly the map associated to fat the level of stalks (the blow-up of $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_0)$ along the ideal (x^n, y) is $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_n) \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_0)$ by Lemma 2.12 from [CK16]).

Now let D be any effective Cartier divisor on S. Since the ideal sheaf of S in X' is $K_S^{-1}(D)$ and

$$0 \to K_S^{-1} \to K_S^{-1}(D) \to K_S^{-1}(D) \otimes \mathcal{O}_D \to 0, \tag{5.3}$$

we have

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_X \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{X'} \to K_S^{-1}(D) \otimes \mathcal{O}_D \to 0.$$

Notice that, restricting to the invertible elements², we obtain

$$0 \to \mathcal{O}_X^{\times} \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{X'}^{\times} \to K_S^{-1}(D) \otimes \mathcal{O}_D \to 0.$$

Now, the associated exact sequence in cohomology gives

$$0 \to H^0(D, K_S^{-1}(D)|_D) \to \operatorname{Pic}(X) \to \operatorname{Pic}(X') \to 0,$$
(5.4)

since $H^0(X, \mathcal{O}_X^{\times}) \cong H^0(X', \mathcal{O}_{X'}^{\times}) \cong \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, $H^1(X, f_*\mathcal{O}_{X'}^{\times}) \cong H^1(X', \mathcal{O}_{X'}^{\times})$ and the first cohomology of sheaves supported on points vanishes. Here, $\operatorname{Pic}(X) = H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X^{\times})$ is the Picard group of the curve X. Note that we have the following commutative diagram

The top horizontal sequence in the diagram comes from (5.3) by noting that deg $K_S^{-1}(D) < 0$ and the middle horizontal one, for example, comes from the exact sequence

$$0 \to K_S^{-1} \to \mathcal{O}_X^{\times} \to \mathcal{O}_S^{\times} \to 0.$$

Remark 5.6: Let \mathcal{E}_1 and \mathcal{E}_2 be generalized line bundles on X with the same associated effective divisor $D = n_1 p_1 + \ldots + n_k p_k$ on S. Then, $\mathcal{E}_i \cong f_* \mathcal{L}'_i$, i = 1, 2, for line bundles \mathcal{L}'_i on the blow-up $X' = \operatorname{Bl}_D(X)$. Since the map $f^* : \operatorname{Pic}(X) \to \operatorname{Pic}(X')$ is surjective, we can find

²Note that we can always write $P \in \mathcal{O}_0$ as $P = p_1(x) + yp_2(x) + (y^2)$, where $p_1, p_2 \in \mathbb{C}[x]$. Clearly, P is not a zero divisor of \mathcal{O}_0 if and only if $p_1 \neq 0$. Also, $P \in \mathcal{O}_0^{\times}$ is an invertible element of \mathcal{O}_0 if and only if $p_1 \in \mathbb{C}[x]^{\times} = \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ is an invertible polynomial in x (i.e., a non-zero scalar).

 $\mathcal{L} \in \operatorname{Pic}(X)$ such that $f^*(\mathcal{L}) = \mathcal{L}'_1(\mathcal{L}'_2)^{-1}$, which, by the projection formula, implies

$$\mathcal{E}_2 \otimes \mathcal{L} \cong \mathcal{E}_1$$

Note also that any two line bundles with this property differ by an element of $H^0(D, K_S^{-1}(D))$. In particular, denoting by Z the unique closed subscheme on S supported at the points p_i , $i = 1, \ldots, k$, and with lengths n_i at p_i , the ideal sheaf \mathcal{I}_Z is a generalized line bundle and all the other generalized line bundles with corresponding divisor D are given by $\mathcal{I}_Z \otimes \mathcal{L}$, where $\mathcal{L} \in \operatorname{Pic}(X)$ (for more details see [CK16, Lemma 2.9]).

5.3 Stability

Let us give some examples of rank 1 torsion-free sheaves on X and discuss stability for these sheaves (as points in Simpson moduli space $\mathcal{M}(p^2; k)$, where k = 2m(2m-1)(g-1)). In particular, note that (polarized) slope stability as defined in section 1.3 is independent of the polarization taken.

Examples 5.6:

1. Let *E* be a rank 2 vector bundle on *S* of degree e = 2m(m-1)(g-1). Consider it as an \mathcal{O}_X -module (i.e., j_*E , where $j: S \hookrightarrow X$) and let us calculate its Hilbert polynomial.

$$P(j_*E,t) = \chi(X, j_*E \otimes \pi^*\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(t))$$

= $\chi(X, j_*(E \otimes j^*\pi^*\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(t)))$
= $\chi(S, E \otimes \pi^{\text{red}}\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(t))$
= $2m\delta t + e + 2m^2(1-g).$ (by Riemann-Roch)

Therefore, j_*E has (polarized) rank 1 and (polarized) degree k. Clearly, j_*E is torsion-free, but not generically free (so it is not a generalized line bundle on the ribbon X). Moreover, semi-stability for j_*E is the statement that every subsheaf \mathcal{F} satisfies

$$\frac{\deg_P(\mathcal{F})}{\operatorname{rk}_P(\mathcal{F})} \le \frac{\deg_P(j_*E)}{\operatorname{rk}_P(j_*E)} = k.$$

It is enough to restrict to the case where \mathcal{F} is of the form j_*L , for a line subbundle L of E. Calculating the Hilbert polynomial of j_*L , we find that its (polarized) rank is $\operatorname{rk}(j_*L) = 1/2$ and its (polarized) degree is $\deg_P(j_*L) = \deg(L) + m^2(g-1)$. Thus, semi-stability for j_*L is equivalent to

$$\frac{\deg(L) + m^2(g-1)}{1/2} \le k$$

for every line subbundle $L \subset E$, i.e.,

$$\deg(L) \le e/2.$$

This proves that (semi-)stability of a rank 2 bundle E on S is equivalent to (semi-)stability of the corresponding rank 1 torsion-free sheaf j_*E on X.

2. Let \mathcal{E} be a semi-stable generalized line bundle and b the degree of its corresponding effective divisor D on S. Calculating degrees via the short exact sequence of \mathcal{O}_X -modules

$$0 \to j_*(\bar{\mathcal{E}}(D) \otimes K_S^{-1}) \to \mathcal{E} \to j_*(\bar{\mathcal{E}}) \to 0$$

we obtain

$$\deg(\bar{\mathcal{E}}) = \frac{\deg_P(\mathcal{E}) - b}{2}.$$

Moreover, $\mathcal{F} = j_*(\bar{\mathcal{E}}(D) \otimes K_S^{-1})$ is a subsheaf of \mathcal{E} and by stability, $\deg(\mathcal{F})/\operatorname{rk}(\mathcal{F}) = \deg(\bar{\mathcal{E}}) + b - m^2(g-1)/(1/2) = \deg(\mathcal{E}) + b - 2m^2(g-1) \leq \deg(\mathcal{E})$. Thus we have the constraint

$$b \le 2m^2(g-1).$$

The Simpson moduli space $\mathcal{M}(p^2; k)$ parametrizes semi-stable sheaves on X of (polarized) rank 1 and (polarized) degree k. By [CK16, Theorem 3.5] (see also [DEL95, Theorem 3.2]) the ones described above comprise all such sheaves. More precisely, a semi-stable rank 1 sheaf \mathcal{E} on X is either

- a generalized line bundle whose index satisfies $b(\mathcal{E}) \leq 2m^2(g-1)$, or
- a direct image $i_*(E)$ of some semi-stable rank 2 vector bundles E on S of degree e = 2m(m-1)(g-1).

Similarly, a generalized line bundle is stable if and only if the inequality above is strict. In particular, this means that a generalized line bundle \mathcal{E} is strictly semi-stable if and only if $b(\mathcal{E}) = 2m^2(g-1)$. Moreover, (semi-)stability of $E \in \mathcal{U}_S(2, e)$ is equivalent to (semi-)stability of $j_*E \in \mathcal{M}(p^2; k)$ as we have checked.

5.4 The singular fibre

Note that if we disregard the constraint imposed by the determinant, Theorem 3.11 describes the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ for the Hitchin fibration

$$h: \mathcal{M}(2m, 0) \to \mathcal{A}.$$

In particular, from the BNR correspondence,

$$h^{-1}(p^2) \cong \mathcal{M}(p^2;k) \cong \mathcal{U}_S(2,e) \cup \bigcup_{d=1}^{g_S^{-1}} A_d.$$

Let $\bar{d} = -2d + 2(g_s - 1), d > 0$, and consider

$$\mathcal{A}_d := \{ \mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{M}^s(p^2; k) \mid b(\mathcal{E}) = \bar{d} \},\$$

where k = 2m(2m - 1)(g - 1).

There is a natural map

$$\mathcal{A}_d \to \operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(S) \times S^{(d)}$$

 $\mathcal{E} \mapsto (\bar{\mathcal{E}}, D_{\mathcal{E}}),$

where $d_2 = (k - \bar{d})/2$. Let $(L, D) \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(S) \times S^{(\bar{d})}$. As discussed, every generalized line bundle \mathcal{E} is characterized by its effective divisor $D_{\mathcal{E}}$ and a line bundle \mathcal{L}' in $X' = \operatorname{Bl}_{D_{\mathcal{E}}} X$. Thus, the fibre at (L, D) of the map above is given by the line bundles $\mathcal{L}' \in \operatorname{Pic}(X')$ such that the restriction $\overline{\mathcal{L}}'$ to S is isomorphic to L. But

$$0 \to H^1(S, K_S^{-1}(D)) \to \operatorname{Pic}(X') \to \operatorname{Pic}(S) \to 0,$$

so that the fibre at (L, D) is an affine space modeled on $H^1(S, K_S^{-1}(D))$. This makes $\mathcal{A}_d \to \operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(S) \times S^{(\bar{d})}$ into an affine bundle modeled on the vector bundle E_d on $\operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(S) \times S^{(\bar{d})}$ (see Chapter 3 for the definition and construction of E_d).

Proposition 5.7. The locus \mathcal{A}_d is isomorphic to the total space of the affine bundle A_d (see Definition ??) for $1 \le d \le g_S - 1$.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{A}_{\overline{d}}$. Then, the direct image $\pi_*\mathcal{E}$ is a rank 2m vector bundle on Σ , as \mathcal{E} is torsion-free and generically free of rank 1, and pushing forward multiplication by the tautological section $\lambda : \mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E} \otimes \pi^* K$ we get a Higgs field $\Phi : V \to V \otimes K$. As \mathcal{E} is a sheaf on $X, p(\Phi)^2 = 0$ and $(V, \Phi) \in h^{-1}(p^2)$. Note that $p(\Phi)$ cannot be zero, as that would correspond to a rank 2 vector bundle on S. Thus, (V, Φ) is an extension of the form

$$0 \to (W_1, \Phi_1) \to (V, \Phi) \to (W_2, \Phi_2) \to 0,$$

where $(W_1, \Phi_1) \cong \pi_*(L_i, \lambda), i = 1, 2$, and

$$0 \to L_1 \to \mathcal{E} \to L_2 \to 0.$$

In other words, $L_2 = \overline{\mathcal{E}}$ and $L_1 = \overline{\mathcal{E}} K_S^{-1}(D_{\mathcal{E}})$.

Let now $(V, \Phi) \in A_d$ which projects to $(L, D) \in \operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(S) \times S^{(\overline{d})}$. Consider the blow-up $f : X' \coloneqq \operatorname{Bl}_{D_{\mathcal{E}}} \to X$ and denote by π' the composition $\pi \circ f : X' \to \Sigma$. Then, (see, e.g., [Sim92, BNR89]) the cokernel of the map

$$\pi^* \Phi - \lambda : \pi^* V \to \pi^* (V \otimes K)$$

is a torsion-free sheaf $\mathcal{E} \otimes \pi^* K$ of rank 1 (which must then be a generalized line bundle on X) such that $\pi_* \mathcal{E} \cong V$ and the Higgs field Φ is obtained by pushing forward multiplication by the tautological section. Alternatively, we could consider the cokernel of the map pulled

back to the ribbon X'

$$(\pi')^* \Phi - \lambda : (\pi')^* V \to (\pi')^* (V \otimes K).$$

This gives a line bundle $\mathcal{L}' \otimes (\pi')^* K \in \operatorname{Pic}(X')$. Thus, $f_*\mathcal{L}' = \mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{A}_d$ is the generalized line bundle.

The proposition above gives a dictionary between our description of the fibre

$$h^{-1}(p^2) \cong \mathcal{U}_S(2,e) \cup \bigcup_{d=1}^{g_S^{-1}} A_d$$

in terms of the reduced curve, and the description

$$h^{-1}(p^2) \cong \mathcal{M}^k(X) \cong \mathcal{U}_S(2,e) \cup \bigcup_{d=1}^{g_S^{-1}} \mathcal{A}_d,$$

of the Simpson moduli space in terms of rank 2 bundles on S and generalized line bundles (see [CK16] and [DEL95] for more on the second description). Note also that the number \bar{d} which appeared in Chapter 3, by considering the divisor obtained from the projection in (3.5) of the extension class of the Higgs bundle in the fibre, has now a simple interpretation. It is the degree of the effective divisor corresponding to the singularities of the generalized line bundle.

Alternatively, \mathcal{A}_d can be understood by looking directly at the projection to the corresponding divisor

$$\mathcal{A}_d \to S^{(d)}.$$

The fibre of this map at a divisor D is $\operatorname{Pic}^{k-\bar{d}}(X')$, where again $X' = \operatorname{Bl}_D X$. The degrees are found using the fact that $f_*\mathcal{L}' \cong \mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{A}_d$, so that, $\chi(X', \mathcal{L}') = \chi(X, \mathcal{E})$. In other words, the fibres are torsors for $\operatorname{Pic}^0(X')$. Note also that for $d = g_S - 1$, the corresponding generalized line bundles have no singularities ($\bar{d} = 0$) and $\mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} = \operatorname{Pic}^k(X)$. In this case, \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} is an affine bundle on $\operatorname{Pic}^{k/2}(S)$, and the affine structure comes from

$$0 \to H^1(S, K_S^{-1}) \to \operatorname{Pic}(X) \to \operatorname{Pic}(S) \to 0.$$

5.5 The case $SU^*(2m)$ revisited

5.5.1 Norm map

We have already encountered the norm map associated to a covering between two Riemann surfaces (see (3.1) in Chapter 3). We may generalize the construction of the norm map for a finite morphism

$$\pi: X \to \Sigma$$

where X is a more general curve (e.g., an irreducible, projective \mathbb{C} -scheme of dimension 1) by setting

$$\operatorname{Nm}_{\pi} : \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X) \to \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(\Sigma)$$
$$\mathcal{L} \mapsto \det(\pi_{*}\mathcal{L}) \otimes \det(\pi_{*}\mathcal{O}_{X})^{-1}.$$

This is a group homomorphism (for more details see [Gro61, Section 6.5]) and clearly satisfies

$$Nm_{\pi}(\pi^*L) = L^{\deg(\pi)},$$

as $\det(\pi_*(\pi^*L)) = \det(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X \otimes L) = \det(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X) \otimes L^{\deg \pi}$ using the projection formula.

The **Prym variety** $P(X, \Sigma)$ is defined as the kernel of this map. Note that in this generality, $P(X, \Sigma)$ is neither a proper \mathbb{C} -scheme, nor is it connected. The problem of finding the number of connected components of the Prym variety was addressed in [HP12].

We will be particularly interested in the case where X is a ribbon as before. In this case, $\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X)$ has dimension $g_{X} = 1 - \chi(\mathcal{O}_{X}) = 4g_{S} - 3$, but it is not a proper \mathbb{C} -scheme, so, in particular, it is not projective (see, e.g., [BLR90, CK16]). Given an effective divisor D on S we have three natural finite morphisms, namely $\pi^{\operatorname{red}} : S \to \Sigma, \pi : X \to \Sigma$ and $\pi' = \pi \circ f : X' \to \Sigma$, where $X' = \operatorname{Bl}_{D}(X)$ and f is the blow-up map. The norms of these maps can be compared, by noting that

$$\det(\pi_*^{\mathrm{red}}\mathcal{O}_S) \cong K^{-m(m-1)/2} \tag{5.5}$$

$$\det(\pi_*\mathcal{O}_X) \cong K^{-m(2m-1)}.$$
(5.6)
This follows directly from the fact that X and S are subschemes of the total space of the canonical bundle of Σ determined by the zeros of a section of $p(\lambda)^2 \in H^0(|K|, \pi^*K^{2m})$ and $p(\lambda) \in H^0(|K|, \pi^*K^m)$ (for more details, see Section 1.4). The determinant of the direct image of the structure sheaf of X' by the morphism π' can also be computed by the simple lemma below.

Lemma 5.8. det $(\pi'_*\mathcal{O}_{X'}) = \operatorname{Nm}_{\pi^{red}}(\mathcal{O}_S(D)) \otimes K^{-m(2m-1)}$.

Proof. Consider the exact sequence of $\mathcal{O}_{X'}$ -modules

$$0 \to K_S^{-1}(D) \to \mathcal{O}_{X'} \to \mathcal{O}_S \to 0.$$

Then, we must have

$$\det(\pi'_*\mathcal{O}_{X'}) \cong \det(\pi^{\operatorname{red}}_*K_S^{-1}(D)) \otimes \det(\pi^{\operatorname{red}}_*\mathcal{O}_S),$$

and again by the projection formula

$$\det(\pi'_*\mathcal{O}_{X'}) \cong \det(\pi^{\mathrm{red}}_*\mathcal{O}_S(D)) \otimes K^{-m^2} K^{-m(m-1)/2} \cong \det(\pi^{\mathrm{red}}_*\mathcal{O}_S(D)) \otimes K^{(-3m^2+m)/2}.$$

But, by the definition of the norm map, we find

$$\det(\pi'_*\mathcal{O}_{X'}) \cong \operatorname{Nm}_{\pi^{\operatorname{red}}}(\mathcal{O}_S(D))K^{-m(m-1)/2}K^{(-3m^2+m)/2}$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Nm}_{\pi^{\operatorname{red}}}(\mathcal{O}_S(D))K^{-m(2m-1)},$$

a required.

By the comments above we can deduce³ the following.

Lemma 5.9. Let $j: S \hookrightarrow X$ and $j': S \hookrightarrow X'$ be the natural inclusion.

a) $\operatorname{Nm}_{\pi}(\mathcal{L}) = \operatorname{Nm}_{\pi^{red}}^2(j^*\mathcal{L}), \text{ for any } \mathcal{L} \in \operatorname{Pic}(X).$

b)
$$\operatorname{Nm}_{\pi'}(\mathcal{L}') = \operatorname{Nm}_{\pi^{red}}^2((j')^*(\mathcal{L}')), \text{ for any } \mathcal{L}' \in \operatorname{Pic}(X').$$

 $^{^{3}}$ A more general statement can be found in [HP12, Lemma 3.6]. For convenience, however we write down a proof for the cases of importance for us.

Proof. From the exact sequence

$$0 \to K_S^{-1}\bar{\mathcal{L}} \to \mathcal{L} \to \bar{\mathcal{L}} \to 0$$

we obtain

$$\det(\pi_*\mathcal{L}) \cong \det(\pi^{\mathrm{red}}_*(\bar{\mathcal{L}} \otimes K_S^{-1})) \otimes \det(\pi^{\mathrm{red}}_*(\bar{\mathcal{L}}))$$
$$\cong \det(\pi^{\mathrm{red}}_*(\bar{\mathcal{L}}) \otimes K^{-m})) \otimes \det(\pi^{\mathrm{red}}_*(\bar{\mathcal{L}}))$$
$$\cong (\det(\pi^{\mathrm{red}}_*(\bar{\mathcal{L}})))^2 \otimes K^{-m^2},$$

and a) follows from the definition of the norm map and (5.6). Alternatively, we could have used the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{L} \to j_* j^* \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{T} \to 0,$$

where \mathcal{T} is a torsion \mathcal{O}_X -module. Item b) is analogous and the result follows, for example, by using the short exact sequence

$$0 \to K_S^{-1}(D)\bar{\mathcal{L}}' \to \mathcal{L}' \to \bar{\mathcal{L}}' \to 0$$

together with the definition of the norm map and Lemma 5.8.

In particular, the Prym variety $P(X, \Sigma)$ is related to the Prym variety associated to the covering $\pi^{red}: S \to \Sigma$

The subvariety ${\cal F}$ was defined in Chapter 3 as

$$F = \{ M \in \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(S) \mid M^{2} \in \operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma) \}$$

and it also appears naturally when comparing the norm maps associated with $\pi^{\rm red}$ and π'

5.5.2 The fibre

By [HP12, Proposition 6.1],

$$h^{-1}(p^2) \cong \{ \mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{M}(p^2; k) \mid \det(\pi_* \mathcal{E}) = \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma} \},$$

where k = 2m(2m-1)(g-1). Thus, we define

$$\mathcal{A}_d \coloneqq \{ \mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{M}^s(p^2; k) \mid b(\mathcal{E}) = \overline{d} \text{ and } \det(\pi_* \mathcal{E}) = \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma} \},\$$

where $\bar{d} = -2d + 2(g_s - 1), d > 0$. Once again we have the natural map

$$\mathcal{A}_d \to \operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(S) \times S^{(d)},$$

 $\mathcal{E} \mapsto (\bar{\mathcal{E}}, D_{\mathcal{E}})$

where $d_2 = (k - \bar{d})/2$. This morphism maps \mathcal{A}_d onto a subvariety $\mathcal{Z}_d \subseteq \operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(X) \times S^{(\bar{d})}$. This, as we observe next, is isomorphic to

$$Z_d \cong \{ (D,L) \in S^{(\bar{d})} \times \operatorname{Pic}^{d_2}(S) \mid L^2(D)(\pi^{\operatorname{red}})^* K^{1-2m} \in \operatorname{P}(\mathrm{S},\Sigma) \}$$

which was defined in Chapter 3.

Proposition 5.10. The locus \mathcal{Z}_d is isomorphic to the base Z_d of the affine bundle A_d .

Proof. Let $\mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{A}_d$ and \mathcal{L}' be its corresponding invertible sheaf on the blow-up $X' = \operatorname{Bl}_{D_{\mathcal{E}}} X$. Then the condition $\det(\pi_*\mathcal{E}) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$ is equivalent to $\det(\pi'_*\mathcal{L}') \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$, since $f_*\mathcal{L}' \cong \mathcal{E}$ and $\pi' = \pi \circ f$. But, as noted, $f_*\mathcal{O}_{X'}/\mathcal{O}_X$ is supported on $D_{\mathcal{E}}$, so $\det(\pi_*f_*\mathcal{O}_{X'}) = \det(\pi'_*\mathcal{O}_{X'})$ is isomorphic to $\det(\mathcal{O}_X) \otimes \det(\pi^{\operatorname{red}}_*\mathcal{O}_D)$. Since $\det(\pi^{\operatorname{red}}_*\mathcal{O}_D) \cong \det(\pi^{\operatorname{red}}_*\mathcal{O}_S(D)) \otimes (\det(\pi^{\operatorname{red}}_*\mathcal{O}_S))^{-1}$, it follows from the formulas in Lemma 5.8 that

$$\det(\pi'_*\mathcal{O}_{X'}) \cong \operatorname{Nm}_{\pi^{\operatorname{red}}}(\mathcal{O}_S(D)) \otimes K^{m(1-2m)}.$$

Thus, $\det(\pi'_*\mathcal{L}') \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$ is equivalent to $\operatorname{Nm}_{\pi'}(\mathcal{L}') \otimes \det(\pi'_*\mathcal{O}_{X'}) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$. But, by Lemma 5.9 we have $\operatorname{Nm}_{\pi'}(\mathcal{L}') \cong \operatorname{Nm}_{\pi^{\mathrm{red}}}(\bar{\mathcal{E}}^2)$. Thus, the condition is equivalent to $\bar{\mathcal{E}}^2(D)(\pi^{\mathrm{red}})^*K^{1-2m}$ being an element in $\operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)$, which is exactly the definition of Z_d . An alternative way to understand $\mathcal{A}_d \cong \mathcal{A}_d$ is by looking at the natural projection to the effective divisor

$$\mathcal{A}_d \to S^{(\bar{d})}.$$

Proposition 5.11. Let $1 \le d \le g_S - 1$. The fibre of $\mathcal{A}_d \to S^{(\bar{d})}$ at an effective divisor D is a torsor for the Prym variety $P(X', \Sigma)$, where $X' = Bl_D X$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{E}_i , i = 1, 2, be two elements of the fibre at $D \in S^{(\bar{d})}$. Consider the corresponding invertible sheaves \mathcal{L}'_i in the blow-up $X' = \operatorname{Bl}_D X$. As we saw, $\det(\pi'_*\mathcal{L}'_i) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$. Denote by $\mathcal{U}' = (\mathcal{L}'_1)^{-1}\mathcal{L}'_2$. Then, since the norm map is a group homomorphism,

$$\det(\pi'_*\mathcal{L}'_2)\det(\pi'_*\mathcal{L}'_1)\operatorname{Nm}_{\pi'}(\mathcal{U}'),$$

which means that $\mathcal{U}' \in P(X', \Sigma)$.

Checking dimensions

$$\dim \mathcal{A}_d = \dim S^{(\bar{d})} + \dim P(\mathbf{X}', \Sigma)$$
$$= \bar{d} + (g_{X'} - g)$$
$$= g_X - g$$
$$= (4m^2 - 1)(g - 1),$$

as expected. In particular, we have the following:

Proposition 5.12. The Prym variety $P(X, \Sigma)$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} \cong \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1}$. In particular, it has 2^{2g} connected components.

Proof. An element of \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} is an invertible sheaf \mathcal{L} on X satisfying

$$L^2(\pi^{\mathrm{red}})^* K^{1-2m} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{S}, \Sigma),$$

where $L = \bar{\mathcal{L}}$. Thus, choosing a square root $K^{1/2}$ of the canonical bundle of Σ , tensoring by $\pi^* K^{(1-2m)/2}$ gives an isomorphism from \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} and $P(X, \Sigma)$. Indeed, this follows directly from

the fact that $\operatorname{Nm}_{\pi}(\mathcal{L}) = \operatorname{Nm}_{\pi^{\operatorname{red}}}(L^2)$. The number of connected components is a consequence of Lemma 3.9.

Remark 5.13: As observed in the proof above, by choosing a square root $K^{1/2}$, \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} can be identified with $P(X, \Sigma)$. Also, under this isomorphism, \mathcal{Z}_{g_S-1} gets identified with F. When m = 1, for example, the spectral curve equals the non-reduced curve with trivial nilpotent structure of order 2, F equals the 2-torsion points of $Pic(\Sigma)$ and the Prym variety $P(X, \Sigma)$ is a copy of 2^{2g} vector spaces. As proven by Hausel and Pauly [HP12, Theorem 1.1(3)], the group of connected components of $P(X, \Sigma)$ is, in this case, isomorphic to $Pic^0(\Sigma)[2]$, which is compatible with our description.

Note that taking the tensor product of elements of the fibre with $\pi^* K^{(1-2m)/2}$, identifies $h^{-1}(p^2)$ with $\widetilde{\operatorname{Nm}}_{\pi}^{-1}(\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma})$, where $\widetilde{\operatorname{Nm}}_{\pi}$ is defined as

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{Nm}}_{\pi} : \mathcal{M}(p^2; 0) \to \mathrm{Pic}^0(\Sigma)$$

 $\mathcal{E} \mapsto \det(\pi_* \mathcal{E}) \otimes \det(\pi_* \mathcal{O}_X)^{-1}.$

This is well-defined and our fibre can be seen as a compactification of the Prym variety $P(X, \Sigma)$ inside the Simpson moduli space.

5.6 The other cases

Let us give some indications on how to proceed in the other two cases. Consider the polynomial $p(x) = x^{2m} + b_2 x^{2m-2} + \ldots + b_{2m}$, where $b_{2i} \in H^0(\Sigma, K^{2i})$, and assume that $S = \text{Zeros}(p(\lambda)) \subset |K|$ is a non-singular curve. Once again we denote by $\overline{S} = S/\sigma$ the quotient curve, which is also non-singular, and think of it embedded in $|K^2|$ with equation $p(\eta) = 0$, where $\eta = \lambda^2$.

The non-reduced curve $X = \text{Zeros}(p(\lambda)^2) \subset |K|$ is a ribbon on S with ideal sheaf K_S^{-1} . In particular,

$$g_X - 1 = 16m^2(g - 1)$$

and the finite map $\pi : X \to \Sigma$ provides a good local picture of the spectral curve X. Indeed, let $U \subset \Sigma$ be an open affine set and $u : U \to K^*$ a nowhere vanishing section. Then, $\pi^{-1}(U)$ is the affine open set of X given by

$$\operatorname{Spec}\left(\frac{\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)[u]}{((u^{2m}+\bar{b}_{2}u^{2m-2}+\ldots+\bar{b}_{2m}))^{2}}\right),$$

where $\bar{a}_i = \langle b_i, u^i \rangle \in \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)$. Thus, it is clear that we can extend σ to an involution

$$\tilde{\sigma}: X \to X,$$

which locally is just the map $u \mapsto -u$. From the local description, it is also clear that the categorical quotient $X/\tilde{\sigma}$ is a geometric quotient and it can be identified with

$$\bar{X} \coloneqq \operatorname{Zeros}(p(\eta)^2) \subset |K^2|$$

which is a ribbon on \bar{S} with ideal sheaf $\bar{\pi}^* K^{-2m}$ and genus

$$g_{\bar{x}} - 1 = 2m(4m - 1)(g - 1).$$

Moreover, we have a finite morphism $\bar{\pi}: \bar{X} \to \Sigma$ of degree 2m and

$$\bar{\pi}^{-1}(U) = \operatorname{Spec}\left(\frac{\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)[v]}{((v^m + \bar{b}_2 v^{m-1} + \dots + \bar{b}_{2m}))^2}\right),\,$$

where $v = u^2$ is a local nowhere vanishing section of K^{-2} . We have

$$\begin{array}{cccc} S & & \stackrel{j}{\longrightarrow} & X \\ & & & & & \\ \downarrow^{\rho} & & & & & \\ \bar{S} & & \stackrel{\bar{j}}{\longleftarrow} & \bar{X} \end{array}$$

where $\tilde{\rho}: X \to \bar{X}$ is the finite morphism⁴ of degree 2 locally given by the ring homomorphism

$$\frac{\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)[v]}{((v^m + \bar{b}_2 v^{m-1} + \ldots + \bar{b}_{2m}))^2} \to \frac{\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)[u]}{((u^{2m} + \bar{b}_2 u^{2m-2} + \ldots + \bar{b}_{2m}))^2}$$

defined by sending v to u^2 . Moreover, just as in the non-singular case (see, e.g., [Hit87b]), the involution $\tilde{\sigma}$ acts on Pic⁰(X) and the Prym variety P(X, \bar{X}) may be defined as

$$P(X, \bar{X}) = \{ \mathcal{L} \in Pic^0(X) \mid \tilde{\sigma}^* \mathcal{L} \cong \mathcal{L}^{-1} \}.$$

Let us now focus on the symplectic case. Let \overline{D} be an effective divisor on \overline{S} of degree \overline{d} and consider the divisor $D = \rho^* \overline{D}$ on S, which, as explained in Section 4.2, is the natural way to embed $Z_d(Sp(4m, \mathbb{C}))$ into $Z_d(SL(4m, \mathbb{C}))$. Let $X' = \operatorname{Bl}_D X$ and $\overline{X}' = \operatorname{Bl}_{\overline{D}} \overline{X}$ be the corresponding blow-ups, which are, in particular, ribbons on S and \overline{S} , respectively. Note that $\operatorname{deg}(D) = 2\operatorname{deg}(\overline{D}) = 2\overline{d}$. For $1 \leq d \leq g_S - 1$ we obtain the fibration

$$\mathcal{A}_d \to \bar{S}^{(\bar{d})}$$

Proposition 5.14. Let $1 \le d \le g_s - 1$ and consider the locus A_d inside the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration (as defined in Section 4.2). Then,

$$\mathcal{A}_d \to \bar{S}^{(\bar{d})}$$

is a fibration, whose fibre at a divisor \overline{D} is modeled on the Prym variety $P(X', \overline{X}')$. In particular, choosing a square root of the canonical bundle of Σ , the locus \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} can be identified with $P(X, \overline{X}) \subset P(X, \Sigma)$.

Proof. Let us start with \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} , whose elements are invertible sheaves on X. So, given $\mathcal{L} \in \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1}$, it defines the $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundle $(V, \Phi) = \pi_*(\mathcal{L}, \lambda)$, where $\lambda \in H^0(|K|, \pi^*K)$ is the tautological section. These fit together in the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{L} \otimes \pi^* K^{1-4m} \to \pi^*(V) \xrightarrow{\pi^* \Phi - \lambda \operatorname{Id}} \pi^*(V \otimes K) \to \mathcal{L} \otimes \pi^* K \to 0.$$
(5.7)

⁴Denote $\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)[v]/((v^m + \bar{b}_2 v^{m-1} + \ldots + \bar{b}_{2m}))^2$ and $\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(U)[u]/((u^{2m} + \bar{b}_2 u^{2m-2} + \ldots + \bar{b}_{2m}))^2$ by A and B, respectively. Then, B is finitely generated as an A-algebra as $B \cong A \oplus A \cdot u$. Also, B is integral over A (the element $u \in B$ is the zero of the monic polynomial $T^2 - v \in A[T]$). This proves that $\tilde{\rho}$ is a finite morphism.

Now, applying $\tilde{\sigma}^*$ we obtain

$$0 \to \tilde{\sigma}^*(\mathcal{L}) \otimes \pi^* K^{1-4m} \to \pi^*(V) \xrightarrow{\pi^* \Phi + \lambda \operatorname{Id}} \pi^*(V \otimes K) \to \tilde{\sigma}^*(\mathcal{L}) \otimes \pi^* K \to 0$$

since $\tilde{\sigma}^*(\lambda) = -\lambda$. Since \mathcal{L} is an invertible sheaf, we can dualize the exact sequence (5.7) and identify V and its dual using the symplectic form, which comes from the pairing provided by the relative duality. The Higgs field is skew-symmetric with respect to the symplectic form on V, so we conclude that

$$\mathcal{L}^{-1} \cong \mathcal{L} \otimes \pi^* K^{1-4m}.$$

In particular, choosing a square root $K^{1/2}$ of K, $\mathcal{L} \otimes \pi^* K^{(1-4m)/2}$ is a point in $P(X, \bar{X})$, and this identifies \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} with $P(X, \bar{X})$. Note also that, under this identification, the map which takes the line bundle \mathcal{L} to its restriction $j^*\mathcal{L}$ to the reduced curve S has the same content as the natural projection

$$P(X, \overline{X}) \to P(S, \overline{S}),$$

which is well-defined since $j \circ \sigma = \tilde{\sigma} \circ j$. For the other cases, let \mathcal{E}_i , i = 1, 2, be two elements of the fibre at $\bar{D} \in \bar{S}^{(\bar{d})}$. Consider the corresponding invertible sheaves \mathcal{L}'_i in the blow-up $X' = \operatorname{Bl}_D X$. Then we may proceed exactly in the same way as before and we find that $\mathcal{L}'_1(\mathcal{L}'_2)^{-1}$ is in the Prym variety $P(X', \bar{X}')$.

In particular, checking dimensions we obtain:

$$\dim \bar{S}^{(d)} + \dim P(X', \bar{X}') = \bar{d} + g_{X'} - g_{\bar{X}'}$$
$$= \bar{d} + (g_X - 2\bar{d}) - (g_{\bar{X}} - \bar{d})$$
$$= g_X - g_{\bar{X}}$$
$$= (8m^2 + 2m)(g - 1)$$
$$= \dim Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})(g - 1).$$

The $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ case is almost identical. Let \overline{D} be an effective divisor on \overline{S} of degree \overline{d} and take the corresponding divisor $D = \rho^* \overline{D} + R_\rho$ on S (see Section 4.1 for more details). In particular, $\deg(D) = 2\overline{d} + 4m(g-1)$ and the genus of the ribbon $X' = \operatorname{Bl}_D X$ is $g_X - 2\overline{d} - 4m(g-1)$, so that

$$\dim \bar{S}^{(\bar{d})} + \dim \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{X}', \bar{\mathcal{X}}') = \dim SO(4m, \mathbb{C}).$$

Proposition 5.15. Let $1 \leq d \leq 2(g_{\bar{s}} - 1)$ and consider the locus A_d inside the fibre $h^{-1}(p^2)$ of the $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration (as defined in Section 4.1). Then,

$$\mathcal{A}_d \to \bar{S}^{(\bar{d})}$$

is a fibration, whose fibre at a divisor \overline{D} is modeled on the Prym variety $P(X', \overline{X}')$. In particular, choosing a square root of the canonical bundle of Σ , the locus \mathcal{A}_{g_S-1} can be identified with $P(X, \overline{X}) \subset P(X, \Sigma)$.

The proof of the proposition above is completely analogous to the proof of Proposition 5.14. Note that in this case the ramification divisor R_{ρ} of $\rho: S \to \overline{S}$ is incorporated into the picture. In particular, R_{ρ} prevents the fibre $h_{SO(4m,\mathbb{C})}^{-1}(p^2)$ from intersecting $\mathcal{A}_{g_S-1}(SL(4m,\mathbb{C})) \cong P(X,\Sigma)$.

Chapter 6

Mirror symmetry

One of the most remarkable mathematical predictions of string theory is the phenomenon of mirror symmetry which relates the symplectic geometry (A-model) of a Calabi-Yau manifold X to the complex geometry (B-model) of its mirror Calabi-Yau manifold \check{X} . Among the major mathematical approaches to mirror symmetry are those of Kontsevich [Kon95], known as homological mirror symmetry, and the proposal of Strominger, Yau and Zaslow [SYZ96], hereinafter referred to as SYZ mirror symmetry.

In string theory there are natural geometrical objects associated to Dirichlet boundary conditions, called D-*branes*. Kontsevich's formulation relates D-branes on the A-model (A-*branes*) of X to D-branes on the B-model of \check{X} (B-*branes*). Prototypical examples of A-branes are Lagrangian submanifolds equipped with a flat connection, whereas B-branes are holomorphic vector bundles on a complex submanifold (or more generally, coherent sheaves supported on complex subvarieties). The duality is then formulated as an equivalence (of triangulated categories) between the derived Fukaya category on X and the derived category of coherent sheaves on \check{X} .

SYZ mirror symmetry, on the other hand, based on physical reasonings, provides a more geometrical interpretation of mirror symmetry. Loosely stated, it states that if a Calabi-Yau *n*-fold X has a mirror, then there exists a fibration whose general fibres are special *n*-Lagrangian tori and the mirror is obtained by dualizing these tori. Thus, the so-called SYZ mirror pair (X, \check{X}) should admit dual special Lagrangian fibrations (over the same base) and the duality should be realized as a Fourier-type transformation. In [Hit01], Hitchin incorporated the notion of gerbes (known by physicists as B-fields) for describing important features of the SYZ conjecture.

6.1 Mirror symmetry for Higgs bundles

Let G be a complex reductive Lie group with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . The Higgs bundle moduli space $\mathcal{M}(G)$ can be constructed as a hyperkähler quotient, thus inheriting a hyperkähler structure, with complex structures I, J and K = IJ. For us, the complex structure I is the one obtained from Σ . In other words, it corresponds to G-Higgs bundles (P, Φ) (i.e., pairs consisting of a holomorphic principal G-bundle P on Σ and a holomorphic global section Φ of the adjoint bundle of P twisted by K). The complex structure J, on the other hand, refers to flat G-bundles. Also, $\mathcal{M}(G)$ comes equipped with an algebraically integrable system through the Hitchin fibration

$$h: \mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{A}(G).$$

By fixing the topological type of the underlying principal bundle (i.e., an element of $\pi_1(G)$), the generic fibres of h are connected complex Lagrangian submanifolds (with respect to $\Omega_I = \omega_J + i\omega_K$), torsors for an abelian variety. Moreover, applying a hyperkähler rotation (using complex structure J instead of I), the generic fibres become special Lagrangian submanifolds (for more detail see [Hit97]). The Hitchin base for G can be identified with the one for its Langlands dual group LG

The isomorphism Ξ takes discriminant locus to discriminant locus and the smooth fibres are dual abelian varieties, thus the moduli space of Higgs bundles for Langlands dual groups are examples of SYZ pairs. This was first proven for the special linear group by Hausel and Thaddeus [HT03], who also showed, by calculating Hodge theoretical invariants, that topological mirror symmetry holds for these pairs (see also [BD12, GO17] for an extension of these results for parabolic Higgs bundles). The case of G_2 was treated in [Hit07a] and, in greater generality, Donagi and Pantev [DP12] extended the picture for semisimple groups. In particular, the fundamental group $\pi_1({}^LG)$ can be identified with $Z(G)^{\vee} = \operatorname{Hom}(Z(G), \mathbb{C}^{\times})$. Under the SYZ duality, a choice of connected component of $\mathcal{M}({}^LG)$ corresponds to a \mathbb{C}^{\times} gerbe on $\mathcal{M}(G)$ (which is induced from the universal G/Z(G)-bundle on $\mathcal{M}(G)$ after a choice of element in $\pi_1({}^LG) \cong Z(G)^{\vee}$).

Since the moduli space of Higgs bundles for a complex group has a hyperkähler structure one can speak of branes of type A or B with respect to any of the structures. For example, a BAA-brane on a hyperkähler space \mathcal{M} (with complex structures I, J and K) is a pair consisting of a complex Lagrangian with respect to the first complex structure I and a flat bundle on it. A BBB-brane on \mathcal{M} , on the other hand, consists of a hyperkähler subvariety $Y \subset \mathcal{M}$ together with a hyperholomorphic bundle on it (i.e., principal bundle equipped with a connection whose curvature is of type (1,1) with respect to I, J and K¹. These objects generalize anti-self-dual connections in (real) dimension 4.

In [KW07], mirror symmetry for the Higgs bundle moduli space is derived by comparing $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory for the maximal compact subgroups $K \subseteq G$ and ${}^{L}K \subseteq {}^{L}G$ on a four-manifold M, which is a product of Σ with another Riemann surface C, together with electric-magnetic duality. The theory in $M = \Sigma \times C$ reduces to a two-dimensional sigma model on C with target space $\mathcal{M}(G)$ and geometric Langlands duality can be understood in terms of electric-magnetic duality in M. In two-dimensions this corresponds to mirror symmetry or S-duality between the B-model in $\mathcal{M}_{dR}({}^{L}G^{c})$ (i.e., in complex structure I, J and K) and the A-model in symplectic structure ω_{K} for the gauge group K. Moreover, mirror symmetry in complex structure I should be Fourier-Mukai transform [KW07, Guk11], so that a brane on $\mathcal{M}(G)$ corresponds to a brane of the same type in $\mathcal{M}({}^{L}G)$. Thus, according to the physics literature, mirror symmetry suggests that there is a correspondence between BAA-branes on $\mathcal{M}(G)$ and BBB-branes on $\mathcal{M}({}^{L}G)$ (this particular correspondence has been addressed by Hitchin in [Hit16] and more recently in [FJ17, FPN17]).

¹Recall that on a complex manifold, if the (0, 2) part of the curvature vanishes we can endow the bundle with a holomorphic structure. Thus, we are requiring that the principal bundle has holomorphic structures compatible with I, J and K.

A smooth fibre of the Hitchin fibration is a BAA-brane and its mirror is simply the skyscraper sheaf of a distinguished point of the corresponding fibre for the Langlands dual group [KW07, Guk11]. A natural way to obtain more general branes is by considering fixed point sets of involutions (see e.g. [BS14, BS16, HS16, BGP15, GPR16]). A particular case of this arises when one considers a real form G_0 of G. As we will see next, G_0 -Higgs bundles inside $\mathcal{M}(G)$ provide an example of a BAA-brane. It is natural to seek the mirror of such geometrical object. From the discussion above, the mirror should be a BBB-brane on $\mathcal{M}(^LG)$. Such branes are interesting in themselves as they are special mathematical objects. For the real groups treated here this is even more intriguing, since the complex Lagrangians never intersect smooth fibres of the Hitchin fibration and general Fourier-type transforms are not available.

6.2 Real forms and branes

Let G_0 be a non-compact real form of the complex semisimple Lie group G given by the fixed point set of an anti-holomorphic involution $\sigma : G \to G$. One can always find another anti-holomorphic involution τ , corresponding to a compact real form of G that commutes with σ (see e.g. [Car14, Oni04]). The composition of the two $\theta = \tau \circ \sigma$, is a holomorphic involution on G and it induces an involution, which we also denote by θ , on the moduli space of G-Higgs bundles

$$\theta: \mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{M}(G)$$

 $(P, \Phi) \mapsto (\theta(P), -\theta(\Phi))$

Note that the involution θ on the Lie algebra of G gives a decomposition into ± 1 eigenspaces

$$\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{h}^{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \mathfrak{m}^{\mathbb{C}},$$

where \mathfrak{h} is the Lie algebra of a maximal compact subgroup of G_0 . Thus the fixed point set $\mathcal{M}(G)^{\theta}$ corresponds to G_0 -Higgs bundles in $\mathcal{M}(G)$.

From the expressions for the hyperkähler metric and complex structures (see Section 1.2), it is clear that θ is an isometry with $\theta \circ I = I \circ \theta$ and $\theta \circ J = -J \circ \theta$. Now, let $(\beta_i, \varphi_i) \in$ $T_{(P,\Phi)}\mathcal{M}(G)^{\theta} = (T_{(P,\Phi)}\mathcal{M}(G))^{\theta}, i = 1, 2.$ Equivalently, $\theta(\beta_i) = \beta_i$ and $\theta(\varphi_i) = -\varphi_i, i = 1, 2.$ Then,

$$\begin{split} \omega_{\mathsf{J}}((\beta_1,\varphi_1),(\beta_2,\varphi_2)) &= g(J(\beta_1,\varphi_1),(\beta_2,\varphi_2)) \\ &= g((-i\tau(\varphi_1),i\tau(\beta_1)),(\beta_2,\varphi_2)) \\ &= g((-i\theta(\tau(\varphi_1)),-i\theta(\tau(\beta_1))),(\theta(\beta_2),-\theta(\varphi_2))) \\ &= -\omega_{\mathsf{J}}((\beta_1,\varphi_1),(\beta_2,\varphi_2)). \end{split}$$

This shows that $\mathcal{M}(G)^{\theta}$ is a complex subvariety with respect to complex structure I and a Lagrangian with respect to ω_{J} (as the dimension is clearly half the dimension of $\mathcal{M}(G)$). Thus, this is also a Lagrangian with respect to ω_{K} and it provides an example of a BAA-brane on $\mathcal{M}(G)$.

Remark 6.1: In general, this fixed point set need not be isomorphic to the moduli space of Higgs bundles for the real group. In terms of representations of the fundamental group of Σ , for example, $\mathcal{M}(G)^{\theta}$ is homeomorphic to the space of reductive² representations $\rho : \pi_1(\Sigma) \to$ G_0 modulo conjugation by elements of $g \in G$ such that $g\rho g^{-1} : \pi_1(\Sigma) \to G_0$. In other words, we quotient by the normalizer $N_G(G_0)$ of G_0 in G. As explained in [GPR16], the map

$$\mathcal{M}(G_0) \to \mathcal{M}(G)^{\theta} \subset \mathcal{M}(G)$$

is a well-defined n_{θ} -to-1 map, where n_{θ} is the order of the finite group $N_G(G_0)/G_0$. Also, if (P, Φ) is a semi-stable (respectively, polystable) *G*-Higgs which reduces to a Higgs bundle for G_0 , then the corresponding G_0 -Higgs bundle is (respectively, polystable). By abuse of notation, however, we will refer to the fixed point set $\mathcal{M}(G_0)^{\theta}$ as $\mathcal{M}(G_0) \subset \mathcal{M}(G)$.

6.3 The Nadler group

Given a connected reductive complex algebraic group G, a geometrical way to realize the Langlands dual group ${}^{L}G$ is by studying perverse sheaves on the loop Grassmannian Gr of

²We say that a representation ρ is **reductive** if Ad $\circ \rho$ is completely reducible

G. A certain category of perverse sheaves on Gr is equivalent to the category $Rep({}^{L}G)$ of finite-dimensional representations of ${}^{L}G$, and from this one can recover the Langlands dual group (see e.g. [MV07]). In [Nad05], Nadler extends these ideas for a real form G_0 of G. It turns out that the natural finite-dimensional stratification of the real loop Grassmannian Gr_0 is real even-codimensional and some of the results for perverse sheaves on complex spaces still hold on Gr_0 . Nadler introduces a certain subcategory of perverse sheaves on Gr_0 and shows that it is equivalent to $Rep({}^{L}G_0)$, for some complex subgroup ${}^{L}G_0$ of ${}^{L}G$, which we call the **Nadler group** associated to the real form $G_0 \subset G$. Note that the moduli space of ${}^{L}G_0$ -Higgs bundles sits inside the moduli space of Higgs bundles for the Langlands dual group ${}^{L}G$ as a hyperkähler subvariety. It is conjectured (see e.g. [BS16]) that the mirror brane to the moduli space of G_0 -Higgs bundles is supported on $\mathcal{M}({}^{L}G_0) \subseteq \mathcal{M}({}^{L}G)$.

Let us say a few words about why the conjecture is physically reasonable and expected. As explained in [GW09, Section 6], the construction of the Nadler group can be interpreted from a gauge-theoretical point of view, and thus be linked to mirror symmetry. If K is a maximal compact subgroup of G, one studies K gauge theory on a four-dimensional manifold with boundary, where the boundary condition is determined by the involution associated to the real form G_0 . It turns out that 't Hooft operators supported on the boundary are related to representations of a different compact group. The complexification of this group is the Nadler group. From the physics perspective, BAA-branes constructed from a real form form a special class of boundary conditions and the dual brane is the S-dual boundary condition. For real forms of the special linear group the S-dual branes are described in [GW09, Table 3] and are supported on the moduli space of Higgs bundles for the Nadler group. Some remarks about the relation of the Nadler group for other real forms and the S-dual brane associated the real form are made in Section 7.4 in loc. cit..

Beyond the support of the BBB-brane, Hitchin also described in [Hit16] the hyperholomorphic bundle on the dual brane associated to the real form $U(m,m) \subset GL(2m,\mathbb{C})$, which arose from the Dirac-Higgs bundle³. Hitchin's description also matches the predictions from physics, as remarked in [Gai16]. Let us now give some examples that provide a heuristic idea of

³For more details on the Dirac-Higgs operator and the Dirac-Higgs bundle see [Bla15].

what duality should give and compare this to the conjecture that the dual brane should be supported on the moduli space of Higgs bundles for the Nadler group.

Example 6.1. Take a generic (smooth) fibre A of the G-Hitchin fibration and suppose it intersects $\mathcal{M}(G_0)$ on an abelian variety B. This is the case, for example, when the real form G_0 is quasi-split (see [PN13]). The dual fibre in $\mathcal{M}(^LG)$ is the dual abelian variety $\hat{A} = \operatorname{Pic}^0(A)$ and duality should correspond to dualizing the inclusion. In other words, we have a short exact sequence of abelian varieties

$$0 \to B \to A \to C \to 0,$$

and dualizing it

$$0 \to \hat{C} \to \hat{A} \to \hat{B} \to 0$$

one obtains a distinguished abelian subvariety of the dual fibre which parametrizes line bundles of degree zero on A which are trivial on B.

Now, given any subvariety $B = \mathcal{M}(G_0) \cap A$ (not necessarily an abelian variety) of a smooth fibre A of \mathcal{M}_{G^c} , we still have a distinguished subvariety on the dual fibre \hat{A} , namely the annihilator B^0 consisting of line bundles on A of zero degree which are trivial on B.

Example 6.2. If G_0 is a split real form (e.g. $SL(n, \mathbb{R}) \subset SL(n, \mathbb{C})$), $\mathcal{M}(G_0)$ intersects a smooth fibre A of the G-Hitchin fibration in the 2-torsion points A[2] of A [Sch13]. Following the idea above we expect the dual brane to intersect the fibre \hat{A} on the whole \hat{A} , so this brane should be supported on $\mathcal{M}({}^LG)$. This is compatible with the conjecture as in this case ${}^LG_0 = {}^LG$. On the other extreme, take G_0 to be a compact real form of G. Higgs bundles for G_0 are simply holomorphic principal G-bundles, and their moduli space is an algebraic component of the nilpotent cone Nilp(G) (i.e., the zero section of the G-Hitchin fibration). The dual brane should intersect the corresponding nilpotent cone on a single point (in the irreducible component corresponding to principal LG -bundles) which is compatible with LG_0 being trivial.

6.4 Proposal for the mirror

We consider the real forms $G_0 = SU^*(2m)$, $SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m,m) of $G = SL(2m,\mathbb{C})$, $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$, respectively. For these cases, $\mathcal{M}(G_0)$ never intersects the smooth fibres of the Hitchin fibration $h: \mathcal{M}(G) \to \mathcal{A}(G)$. We will see, however, that although the singular fibres F of h which have non-empty intersection with $\mathcal{M}(G_0)$ are complicated and have many irreducible components, they basically depend only on the locus corresponding to G_0 -Higgs bundles and a certain abelian variety $A(G_0)$ inside the Jacobian of the reduced scheme of the spectral curve. The abelian variety in question appears naturally when considering what is morally the determinant line bundle of the rank 1 sheaves on the spectral curve, which is non-reduced. This determinant-type map gives a surjective morphism from the fibre (which restricts to a surjective map in each of its algebraic components) to $A(G_0)$. Moreover, just as in the generic case, the fibre of the surjective map at the trivial line bundle is isomorphic to the locus of G_0 -Higgs bundles inside F (or an affine version of that for the other components which do not contain Higgs bundles for G_0). Motivated by the heuristic idea of duality explained in the last section, we are led to consider the dual abelian variety of $A(G_0)$. It turns out that for the three cases considered, $A(G_0)$ corresponds precisely to the spectral data for ${}^{L}G_{0}$ -Higgs bundles, as predicted by the conjecture.

6.4.1 The $SU^*(2m)$ case

As described in Chapter 3, the locus of rank 1 torsion-free sheaves on the spectral curve $X = \operatorname{Zeros}(p(\lambda)^2) \subset |K|$ supported on the reduced curve $S = X_{\text{red}}$ (assumed to be nonsingular) is given by the rank 2 semi-stable vector bundles E on S satisfying $\det(\pi_* E) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$, where $\pi : S \to \Sigma$ is the ramified *m*-covering. We called this locus N and inside it we have the locus $N_0 = \mathcal{U}_S(2, \pi^* K^{m-1})$ corresponding to $SU^*(2m)$ -Higgs bundles in $h^{-1}(p^2)$. There is a natural map from the algebraic component N of $h^{-1}(p^2)$ to an abelian variety, namely the Prym variety $P(S, \Sigma)$. The map is given by

$$n: N \to \operatorname{Pic}^0(S)$$

 $E \mapsto \det(E)\pi^* K^{1-m}.$

Lemma 6.2. The map $n : N \to \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(S)$ is a surjection onto the Prym variety $\operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)$. Also, $n^{-1}(\mathcal{O}_{S}) = N_{0}.$

Proof. Firstly,

$$\det(\pi_*(\det(E) \otimes \pi^* K^{1-m})) = \det(\pi_*(\det(E)) \otimes K^{1-m}))$$
$$= \det(\pi_*(\det(E))) \otimes K^{m(1-m)}$$

Using Lemma 3.3 and the fact that $\det(\pi_*E)$ is trivial, $\det(\pi_*(\det(E))) \otimes K^{m(1-m)} = K^{m(1-m)/2}$, thus $n(E) \in P(S, \Sigma)$. Now, given an element $L \in P(S, \Sigma)$, since the Prym variety is connected, there exists $U \in P(S, \Sigma)$ such that $U^2 \cong L$. Then, $n(E_0 \otimes U) = L$, where E_0 is any element in N_0 . Indeed, $E_0 \otimes U \in N$ since, by Lemma 3.3, $\det(\pi_*(E_0 \otimes U)) = \det(\pi_*E_0) \otimes \operatorname{Nm}(L) = \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}$. Moreover, $\det(E_0 \otimes U) = \pi^*K^{m-1} \otimes L$. The last assertion is obvious.

Before we proceed we remark on the naturality of the map above for our purposes. Given $E \in N$, we can always write it as $E = E_0 \otimes L$, where $E_0 \in N_0$ and L is a line bundle satisfying $L^2 = \det(E)\pi^*K^{1-m} \in P(S, \Sigma)$. This is clearly not unique as we can always tensor L with a 2-torsion point of $\operatorname{Pic}^0(S)$. Thus, we have a natural map

$$N \to F/\operatorname{Pic}^0(S)[2]$$

sending $E = E_0 \otimes L$ to the equivalence class [L] of L in $F/\operatorname{Pic}^0(S)[2]$, where F is the locus of line bundles on S whose squares are in $\operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)$. This map is surjective as, given $[L] \in F/\operatorname{Pic}^0(S)[2]$, we can take any element $E_0 \in N_0$ and $E_0 \otimes L$ maps to [L] (note that $E_0 \otimes L \in N$ as a direct consequence of Lemma 3.3). Also, $\operatorname{Pic}^0(S)[2]$ acts on N_0 and the fibre of $N \to F/\operatorname{Pic}^0(S)[2]$ over $[\mathcal{O}_S]$ is precisely N_0 . Consider the map

$$F \to P(S, \Sigma)$$
. (6.1)
 $L \mapsto L^2$.

Connectedness of the Prym variety implies surjectivity of this map (as $P(S, \Sigma) \subseteq F$) and we have

$$F/\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(S)[2] \cong \operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma).$$
 (6.2)

Under this isomorphism, (6.1) is precisely our map n. Note also that choosing a square root $K^{1/2}$ of the canonical bundle of Σ we can twist the elements of N by $\pi^* K^{(1-m)/2}$ thus obtaining rank 2 bundles on S of degree 0. Under this identification,

$$N \cong \{ E_0 \in \mathcal{U}_S(2,0) \mid \det(E_0) \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{S},\Sigma) \}$$

and $N_0 \cong \mathcal{U}_S(2, \mathcal{O}_S)$. The map *n* in this case is precisely the determinant map.

Now, given $\delta \in A_d$, let (L, D) be its projection to Z_d . We then have a natural map

$$n: A_d \to \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{S}, \Sigma)$$
$$\delta \mapsto L^2(D) \pi^* K^{1-2m}.$$

This is clearly surjective. Moreover note that the fibres of $A_d \to Z_d$ are mapped to the same element. Since A_d is an affine bundle, the difference between two elements in the fibre of (L_2, D) will give a unique element in $H^1(S, L_2^*L_1)$, where $L_1 = L_2(D)K_S^{-1}$. In other words, it gives an extension of bundles

$$0 \to L_1 \to E \to L_2 \to 0$$

and det $E \cong L_1 L_2 = \pi^* K^{m-1}$, if this fibre is mapped to \mathcal{O}_S . This is the analogue of N_0 in A_d .

Now, we need to check that the map is well defined as a map

$$n: h^{-1}(p^2) \to \mathrm{P}(\mathrm{S}, \Sigma)$$
.

For this, note that we only need to check how the Zariski closure \bar{A}_d of A_d intersects N. This intersection consists of strictly semi-stable Higgs bundle. In other words, let $\delta \in \bar{A}_d$. There

is a natural projection

$$\delta \mapsto (L,D) \in \operatorname{Pic}^{m(m-1)(g-1)}(S) \times S^{(2m^2(g-1))}.$$

This element δ is *Gr*-equivalent to the object

$$L(D)K_S^{-1} \oplus L$$

in the strictly semi-stable locus of N. In both cases, the maps send the point in the intersection to $L^2(D)\pi^*K^{1-2m}$.

Note that the dual abelian variety of $P(S, \Sigma)$ is $P(S, \Sigma) / Pic^{0}(\Sigma)[m]$, which is the spectral data for $PGL(m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundles. In particular, this corresponds to the Nadler group $^{L}SU^{*}(2m)$.

The moduli space $\mathcal{M}(PGL(2m, \mathbb{C}))$ of $PGL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundles is an orbifold which can be seen as the quotient of $\mathcal{M}(SL(2m, \mathbb{C}))$ by the 2*m*-torsion points of the Jacobian of Σ (see, e.g., [Hau13] for more details). Thus, by Theorem 3.11, the corresponding fibre on the fibration for $\mathcal{M}(PGL(2m, \mathbb{C}))$ is just

$$h^{-1}(p^2) / \operatorname{Pic}^0(\Sigma)[2m] \cong N / \operatorname{Pic}^0(\Sigma)[2m] \cup \bigcup_{d=1}^{g_S - 1} A_d / \operatorname{Pic}^0(\Sigma)[2m]$$

where $\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(\Sigma)[2m]$ acts naturally (via pullback) in each stratum. Since the surjective map n to $\operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)$ involves the square of a line bundle on S and $\widehat{\operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)} = \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(\operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma)) \cong$ $\operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma) / \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(\Sigma)[m]$, it is natural to see the injection of $\operatorname{P}(S, \Sigma) / \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(\Sigma)[m]$ into the component $N / \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(\Sigma)[2m]$ as the map sending [L] to $[L\pi^{*}K^{\frac{m-1}{2}} \oplus L\pi^{*}K^{\frac{m-1}{2}}]$, which reflects the diagonal embedding of $PGL(m, \mathbb{C})$ into $PGL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ (for the computation of the Nadler group, see Appendix A.1).

6.4.2 The other cases

We now focus on the cases when $G_0 = SO^*(4m)$ or Sp(m, m). Again we start with the locus N(G) containing the locus $N_0(G)$ consisting of G_0 -Higgs bundles in the fibre $h_G^{-1}(p^2)$ (for

more details see Chapter 4). Then, if we denote by N_{\pm} the locus

$$N_{\pm} = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{there exists an isomorphism} \\ E \in \mathcal{U}_{S}(2, e) \mid & \psi : \sigma^{*}E \to E^{*} \otimes \pi^{*}K^{2m-1} \\ & \text{satisfying } {}^{t}\!(\sigma^{*}\psi) = \pm \psi. \end{array} \right\}$$

where e = 4m(2m-1)(g-1), then $N(SO(4m, \mathbb{C})) \cong N_-$ and $N(Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})) \cong N_+$. Also, $N_0(G) \subset N(G)$ is determined by the condition that the determinant of the rank 2 bundle on S is $\pi^* K^{2m-1}$ (in both cases). In particular, this means that the induced action on the determinant bundle $\pi^* K^{2m-1}$ is trivial when $G_0 = SO^*(4m)$ and -1 in the other case. If $E \in N(G)$, from the isomorphism $\sigma^* E \cong E^* \otimes \pi^* K^{2m-1}$ we obtain that

$$\det(E) \otimes \pi^* K^{1-2m} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{S}, \bar{\mathcal{S}}),$$

since the Prym variety $P(S, \bar{S})$ is characterized by those line bundles L on S which are isomorphic to $\sigma^*(L^{-1})$. Since $P(S, \bar{S})$ is connected, the squaring map on this abelian variety is surjective and we can always find $U \in P(S, \bar{S})$ such that $U^2 \cong \det(E) \otimes \pi^* K^{1-2m}$. Now, if we write $E = E_0 \otimes U$, the determinant of E_0 is isomorphic to $\pi^* K^{2m-1}$. This means that $E_0 \in N_0(G)$ since $U \in P(S, \bar{S})$ (and then we obtain an isomorphism $\sigma^* E_0 \cong E_0^* \otimes \pi^* K^{2m-1}$ of the same type as the one it is induced from). If we had chosen another $U' \in P(S, \bar{S})$ satisfying $(U')^2 \cong \det(E) \otimes \pi^* K^{1-2m}$, then $L = U'U^{-1} \in P(S, \bar{S})[2]$. But if z is a fixed point of σ , the linear action of σ on the fibres U_z and U'_z is always the same. This means that at a fixed point, the linear action of σ on L is always trivial and thus it must come from the quotient curve \bar{S} (i.e., $L \in \rho^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(\bar{S})[2]$). Thus we have a well-defined surjective map

$$h_G^{-1}(p^2) \to \mathrm{P}(\mathrm{S}, \bar{\mathrm{S}}) / \rho^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(\bar{S})[2]$$

whose fibre at zero is precisely $N_0(G)$. The map is analogous to the previous case. Explicitly,

$$N(G) \to \mathcal{P}(S, \bar{S}) / \rho^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(\bar{S})[2]$$

 $E \mapsto [\det(E)\pi^* K^{1-2m}].$

Now, given $\delta \in A_d(G)$, let (L, \overline{D}) be its projection to $Z_d(G)$, we then define

$$A_d \to \mathrm{P}(\mathrm{S}, \bar{\mathrm{S}}) / \rho^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(\bar{S})[2]$$

 $\delta \mapsto [L\sigma^* L^{-1}].$

Note that we see $Z_d(G) \subset Z_d(SL(4m, \mathbb{C}))$ by mapping (L, \bar{D}) to $(L, R_\rho + \rho^* \bar{D})$ (respectively, $(L, \rho^* \bar{D})$) when $G = SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ (res. $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$), where R_ρ is the ramification divisor of the ramified 2-covering $\rho : S \to \bar{S}$. Then, $L^2(D)\pi^* K^{1-4m} = L\sigma^* L^{-1}$ in both cases and this coincides with our map n defined previously.

The dual abelian variety of $P(S,\bar{S}) / \rho^* \operatorname{Pic}^0(\bar{S})[2]$ is $P(S,\bar{S})$, which is the spectral data for $Sp(2m,\mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundles (see [Hit87b]). In particular, this corresponds to the Nadler group ${}^LSO^*(4m) = {}^LSp(m,m)$.

Part II

Gaiotto's Lagrangian

Chapter 7

Symplectic Representations

7.1 General setup

Let G be a connected complex semi-simple Lie group, with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , acting linearly on a finite-dimensional complex vector space \mathbb{V} . Assume that \mathbb{V} is equipped with a G-invariant non-degenerate skew-symmetric bilinear form ω . Then, \mathbb{V} is called a **symplectic G-module** and the corresponding homomorphism from G to $Sp(\mathbb{V}, \omega)$ is a **symplectic representation** of G. Given a symplectic representation

$$\rho: G \to Sp(\mathbb{V}, \omega)$$

of G, the associated moment map $\mu_0: \mathbb{V} \to \mathfrak{g}^*$ is the function

$$\langle \mu_0(v), \xi \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \omega(\rho(\xi)v, v),$$

where $v \in \mathbb{V}, \xi \in \mathfrak{g}$. In the expression above, the brackets denote the natural pairing between \mathfrak{g} and \mathfrak{g}^* and, by abuse of notation, we also denote by $\rho : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{sp}(\mathbb{V}, \omega)$ the Lie algebra homomorphism given by the derivative of the representation. Using a non-degenerate Adinvariant bilinear form B on \mathfrak{g} to identify \mathfrak{g} and \mathfrak{g}^* (take for example the Killing form $B_{\mathfrak{g}}$), we obtain the quadratic equivariant map $\mu : \mathbb{V} \to \mathfrak{g}$. **Remark 7.1:** Using the non-degenerate form ω we can identify $\operatorname{End} \mathbb{V}$ with $\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{V}$, so that, given $u_1, u_2 \in \mathbb{V}$, $u_1 \otimes u_2$ corresponds to the endomorphism $\omega(u_1, \cdot) \otimes u_2$. Under this isomorphism we have $\mathfrak{sp}(\mathbb{V}, \omega) \cong \operatorname{Sym}^2(\mathbb{V})$.

Fix a symplectic representation $\rho : G \to Sp(\mathbb{V}, \omega)$, where \mathbb{V} has dimension 2*n*. Let *P* be a holomorphic principal *G*-bundle on Σ and denote by $V = P(\mathbb{V})$ the holomorphic vector bundle (of rank 2*n*) associated to *P* via the representation ρ . A choice of square root $K^{1/2}$ of the canonical bundle *K* is the same as a spin structure on Σ and the Dirac operator

$$\bar{\partial}: \Omega^0(\Sigma, K^{1/2}) \to \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, K^{1/2})$$

is the $\bar{\partial}$ -operator (see [Hit74]). Since V is a holomorphic vector bundle we can form the coupled Dirac operator $\bar{\partial}_A : \Omega^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) \to \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$. Note that, from the fact that μ is a quadratic equivariant function, it induces a map

$$\mu: V \otimes K^{1/2} \to \mathrm{Ad}(P) \otimes K.$$

In particular, its evaluation on any spinor field $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$ is a well-defined Higgs field. Note that by the Riemann-Roch theorem, $h^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) = h^1(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$ and for a generic symplectic vector bundle V there may not be any non-zero global holomorphic sections of $V \otimes K^{1/2}$, thus the existence of a non-zero spinor field gives a constraint on the vector bundle.

Definition 7.2. Choose a square root $K^{1/2}$ of the canonical bundle of Σ and let $\rho : G \to Sp(\mathbb{V}, \omega)$ be a symplectic representation. We define $X_{(\rho, K^{1/2})} \subset \mathcal{M}(G)$, or simply X, as the Zariski closure of the locus parametrizing

$$\{(P,\Phi)\in\mathcal{M}^s(G)\mid\Phi=\mu(\psi)\text{ for some }0\neq\psi\in H^0(\Sigma,V\otimes K^{1/2})\}.$$

Remark 7.3: The S-equivalence class of a stable G-Higgs bundle corresponds to its isomorphism class. Let (P, Φ) and (P', Φ') be stable G-Higgs bundles corresponding to the same point in $\mathcal{M}(G)$ and let $\eta : (P, \Phi) \to (P', \Phi')$ be an isomorphism between the two (i.e., η is an isomorphism between the underlying principal G-bundles whose induced isomorphism

 $\hat{\eta}$: Ad $(P) \otimes K \to \operatorname{Ad}(P') \otimes K$ sends Φ to Φ'). If $\Phi = \mu(\psi)$ for some spinor field ψ , its image under $\hat{\eta}$ is of the form $\mu(\psi')$, for some $\psi' \in H^0(\Sigma, V' \otimes K^{1/2})$. To see this, choose an open covering $\mathcal{U} = \{U_\alpha\}$ of Σ trivializing both P and P'. The isomorphism η corresponds to a 0-cocycle (η_α) , where $\eta_\alpha : U_\alpha \to G$ is holomorphic. Thus, the induced isomorphisms from $V \to V'$ and Ad $(P) \to \operatorname{Ad}(P')$ are given by the 0-cocycles $(\rho(\eta_\alpha))$ and $(\operatorname{Ad}(\eta_\alpha))$, respectively. If ψ is represented by the cocycle (ψ_α) , the section $\hat{\eta}(\Phi)$ is represented by $(\operatorname{Ad}(\eta_\alpha)\mu(\psi_\alpha))$, which, by the equivariance of the moment map is equal to $(\mu(\rho(\eta_\alpha)\psi_\alpha))$, where $(\rho(\eta_\alpha)\psi_\alpha)$ is a 0-cocycle representing ψ' .

Example 7.1. Take (\mathbb{V}, ω) to be the symplectic direct sum of the symplectic *G*-modules $(\mathbb{V}_i, \omega_i), i = 1, \ldots, u$, whose moment maps we denote by $\mu_i : \mathbb{V}_i \to \mathfrak{g}$. The moment map for \mathbb{V} is

$$\mu(v_1, \ldots, v_u) = \mu_1(v_1) + \ldots + \mu_u(v_u),$$

where $v_i \in \mathbb{V}_i$.

Example 7.2. Let ρ be the standard representation of $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}) = Sp(\mathbb{C}^{2n}, J)$, where $J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ is the standard skew-symmetric form on \mathbb{C}^{2n} . Taking the invariant form on $\mathfrak{sp}(2n, \mathbb{C})$ to be $B(\xi_1, \xi_2) = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(\xi_1 \xi_2)$, where $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \mathfrak{sp}(2n, \mathbb{C})$, we have $\mu(v) = v \otimes v \in \operatorname{Sym}^2(\mathbb{C}^{2n}) \cong \mathfrak{sp}(2n, \mathbb{C})$. This follows directly from the obvious identities $(u_1 \otimes u_2) \circ (v_1 \otimes v_2) = \omega(u_1, v_2)v_1 \otimes u_2$ and $\operatorname{tr}(v_1 \otimes v_2) = \omega(v_1, v_2)$. Note that the associated Higgs fields Φ are of the form $\psi \otimes \psi$, where $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$ for some symplectic vector bundle (V, ω) of rank 2n on Σ . Then, $\Phi(v) = \omega(\psi, v)\psi$ which shows that such Higgs fields have rank 1 and satisfy $\Phi^2 = 0$. In particular, the variety X is contained in the nilpotent cone of the Hitchin fibration for the complex symplectic group. We will discuss this further in the next chapter.

Example 7.3. Let $\tau : G \to GL(\mathbb{W})$ be any finite-dimensional representation of G. In particular, we may assume that $\tau : G \to SL(\mathbb{W})$ since the group G is connected semisimple (and thus does not have any non-trivial characters). We also denote by $\tau : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{sl}(\mathbb{W})$ the Lie algebra homomorphism, which is injective since \mathfrak{g} is semisimple. The vector space $\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{W} \oplus \mathbb{W}^*$ carries a natural symplectic form

$$\omega((u_1,\delta_1),(u_2,\delta_2)) = \langle \delta_2, u_1 \rangle - \langle \delta_1, u_2 \rangle$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the natural pairing between \mathbb{W}^* and \mathbb{W} . Then, the representation $\rho = \tau \oplus \tau^*$: $G \to GL(\mathbb{V})$ is symplectic with moment map satisfying

$$B(\mu(u,\delta), \cdot) = \delta(\tau(\cdot)u),$$

where $u \in \mathbb{W}$ and $\delta \in \mathbb{W}^*$.

In particular, if \mathbb{W} is the standard $SL(n, \mathbb{C})$ -module and W is a vector bundle on Σ of rank n with trivial determinant line bundle, a spinor is a pair $\psi = (u, \delta)$, where $u \in H^0(\Sigma, W \otimes K^{1/2})$ and $\delta \in H^0(\Sigma, W^* \otimes K^{1/2})$. Note that, since the degree of W is zero, it follows from Riemann-Roch theorem that $h^0(\Sigma, W^* \otimes K^{1/2}) = h^1(\Sigma, W^* \otimes K^{1/2})$ and Serre duality gives $h^0(\Sigma, W \otimes K^{1/2}) = h^1(\Sigma, W^* \otimes K^{1/2})$. Taking B to be the trace of the product between two elements of $\mathfrak{sl}(2n, \mathbb{C})$, we obtain

$$\mu(\psi) = \delta \otimes u - \frac{\langle \delta, u \rangle}{n} \operatorname{Id} \in H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{End}_0 W \otimes K).$$

This example (combined with Example 7.1) is closely related to the n = 2 case treated by Hitchin in [Hit09].

Example 7.4. One can blend the two previous examples by considering the representation $\rho = \tau \oplus \tau^*$ where $\tau : G \to Sp(\mathbb{V}, \omega)$ is itself a symplectic representation. Note that the map

$$\mathbb{V} \to \mathbb{V}^*$$
$$v \mapsto \omega(\cdot, v)$$

is an isomorphism between the G-module \mathbb{V} and its dual. The last example gives, for the representation $\rho = \tau \oplus \tau$, a moment map satisfying

$$B(\mu(v_1, v_2), \cdot) = \omega(\tau(\cdot)v_1, v_2),$$

where $v_1, v_2 \in \mathbb{V}$. A simple calculation shows that the moment map for τ , which we will also denote by μ , satisfies

$$B(\mu(v_1 + v_2) - \mu(v_1) - \mu(v_2), \cdot) = \omega(\tau(\cdot)v_1, v_2).$$

Thus, by the non-degeneracy of B, the moment map for ρ is the bilinear form associated to the quadratic moment map for the representation τ .

In particular, if $\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{C}^{2n}$ is the standard representation of $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ we may identify $\mu(v_1, v_2) = v_1 \odot v_2 \in \operatorname{Sym}^2(\mathbb{C}^{2n})$, where $v_1 \odot v_2 = v_1 \otimes v_2 + v_2 \otimes v_1$. Elements of X are symplectic Higgs bundles of the form $(V, \psi_1 \odot \psi_2)$, where V is a symplectic vector bundle of rank 2n and $\psi_1, \psi_2 \in H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$. This is closely related to higher-rank Brill-Noether theory¹, which has to do, for example, with understanding the geometry of the subvariety of the moduli space of vector bundles consisting of those bundles admitting at least k independent sections. Note also that if the vector bundle $V \otimes K^{1/2}$ has more than 1 global section, X intersects fibres of the Hitchin fibration other than the nilpotent cone. Take, for example, the locus $X_2 \subset X$ consisting of Higgs bundles whose underlying vector bundle V is such that $h^0(V \otimes K^{1/2}) = 2$. Fix a basis $\{\psi_1, \psi_2\}$ for $H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$. Then, $\det(x - \psi_1 \odot \psi_2) = x^{2n-2}(x - \omega(\psi_1, \psi_2))(x + \omega(\psi_1, \psi_2))$.

Example 7.5. Hitchin studied in [Hit17] the variety X associated to higher rank irreducible symplectic representations of $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$, with emphasis on the cases of genus 2 and 3. These are Lagrangians in $\mathcal{M}(SL(2, \mathbb{C}))$ and are quite interesting as they are related to the Brill-Noether problem for semi-stable rank 2 bundles on a curve and also intersect smooth fibres of the $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration in the m-torsion points of these Prym varieties.

Remark 7.4: As we will see later in the chapter, the locus X associated to a symplectic representation of G will, under certain conditions, define a Lagrangian subvariety of $\mathcal{M}(G)$. These complex Lagrangians are named after the physicist Gaiotto, who introduced many examples of these objects (BAA-branes) on the Higgs bundle moduli space and sketched in some cases physical arguments related to the dual BBB-brane on $\mathcal{M}(^LG)$ (see [Gai16]). Given a symplectic representation ρ of G, he called the associated Lagrangian a *boundary hyper-multiplet valued in* ρ . Some cases treated in *loc. cit.* include Example 7.3 (*full hypermultiplets*) and *matter interfaces*, i.e., Lagrangians of $\mathcal{M}(G) \times \mathcal{M}(G)$ defined as

$$X = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} ((V_1, \Phi_1), (V_2, \Phi_2)) \in \mathcal{M}(G) \times \mathcal{M}(G) \middle| & V_1 = V_2 = V \text{ and } \Phi_2 - \Phi_1 = \mu(\psi) \\ \text{ for some } \psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) \end{array} \right\},$$

¹See, e.g., [GTiB09] for an overview of the main results of Brill-Noether theory on a curve.

In both cases the analysis of the hyperholomorphic brane is related to the Dirac-Higgs bundle.

A symplectic representation is called **indecomposable** if it is not isomorphic to the sum of two non-trivial symplectic representations. It follows from [Kno06, Theorem 2.1] that if two symplectic representations are isomorphic as *G*-modules, then they are isomorphic as symplectic representations. Moreover, every symplectic representation is a direct sum of finitely many indecomposable symplectic representations, where the summands are unique up to permutation. Every indecomposable symplectic representation is either an irreducible *G*-module or of the form $\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{W} \oplus \mathbb{W}^*$ (see Example 7.3), where \mathbb{W} is an irreducible *G*module which does not admit a symplectic structure (and the symplectic form on \mathbb{V} is, up to a multiple, the natural one).

The subvariety X is always isotropic and under some conditions it is Lagrangian (see Section 7.4). To obtain information about X we introduce in the next section the moduli space of twisted pairs.

7.2 The moduli space of $K^{1/2}$ -twisted symplectic pairs

Let L be a holomorphic line bundle on Σ . The notion of an L-twisted pair on Σ was given in [GPGMiR09] and it fits into the more general framework of twisted affine ρ -bumps, introduced by Schmitt (see [Sch08]), where $\rho : G \to GL(\mathbb{V})$ is a finite-dimensional representation of G. Such an object consists of a pair (P, φ) , where P is a holomorphic principal G-bundle on Σ and φ is a global section of the vector bundle associated to P via ρ twisted by the line bundle L. In particular, by considering ρ to be the adjoint representation of G and L to be the canonical bundle of Σ , we recover the definition of a G-Higgs bundle on Σ . Fix a square-root $K^{1/2}$ of the canonical bundle K. We will mostly be interested in the case where G is a connected semisimple Lie group, $L = K^{1/2}$ and \mathbb{V} is a symplectic G-module.

Definition 7.5. Let $\rho: G \to Sp(\mathbb{V}, \omega)$ be a symplectic representation of G. A $K^{1/2}$ -twisted symplectic ρ -bump on Σ , or simply a $(\rho, K^{1/2})$ -pair, is a pair (P, ψ) consisting of a holomorphic principal G-bundle and a spinor $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, P(\mathbb{V}) \otimes K^{1/2})$, where $P(\mathbb{V})$ is the symplectic vector bundle associated to P via ρ . Two $(\rho, K^{1/2})$ -pairs (P_i, ψ_i) , i = 1, 2, are **isomorphic** if there is an isomorphism $f : P_1 \to P_2$ such that the induced isomorphism $P(\mathbb{V}_1) \otimes K^{1/2} \to P(\mathbb{V}_2) \otimes K^{1/2}$ sends ψ_1 to ψ_2 .

Since G is connected², there is a bijection between isomorphism classes of topological principal G-bundles on Σ and the fundamental group $\pi_1(G)$ of G (see, e.g., [Ram75]). Thus, fix the topological type $d \in \pi_1(G)$ of the underlying topological (or equivalently, C^{∞}) G-bundle. Let us now discuss the notion of stability for $(\rho, K^{1/2})$ -pairs.

Remark 7.6: If no confusion is possible, we will, for convenience, refer to a $(\rho, K^{1/2})$ -pair simply as a pair.

Given an anti-dominant character $\chi : Q \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ of a parabolic subgroup Q of G, with Lie algebra \mathfrak{q} , and a reduction $\sigma \in H^0(\Sigma, P/Q)$ of the structure group of the principal G-bundle P to Q (for details, see Appendix A), the degree $\deg(P)(\sigma, \chi)$ of P with respect to σ and χ is defined as the degree of the line bundle $P_{\sigma} \times_{\chi} \mathbb{C}$, where $P_{\sigma} = \sigma^* P$ is the Q-bundle on Σ corresponding to the restriction of structure group of P to Q. Let \mathfrak{l} be the Lie algebra of the Levi subgroup L corresponding to Q. Then, characters of \mathfrak{q} are in bijection with elements of the dual $\mathfrak{z}_{\mathfrak{l}}^*$ of the center of \mathfrak{l} which in turn may be identified with an element of $\mathfrak{z}_{\mathfrak{l}}$ via the Killing form. We denote by $s_{\chi} \in \mathfrak{z}_{\mathfrak{l}}$ the element corresponding to the derivative of the character χ through this identification. If \mathfrak{h} is the Lie algebra of a maximal compact subgroup H of G, one can check that $\mathfrak{z}_{\mathfrak{l}} \subset \mathfrak{i}_{\mathfrak{h}}$, so from an anti-dominant character χ of the parabolic Qwe obtain an element $s_{\chi} \in \mathfrak{i}_{\mathfrak{h}}$ (for more details see Section 2 of [MiR00]). Using this we can define the complex subspace

$$\mathbb{V}_{\chi}^{-} = \{ v \in \mathbb{V} \mid \rho(e^{ts_{\chi}})v \text{ is bounded as } t \to \infty \}$$

of \mathbb{V} which is invariant under Q. Note that, putting $V = P(\mathbb{V})$, the symplectic vector bundle V is naturally isomorphic to $P_{\sigma} \times_Q \mathbb{V}$ and $V_{\sigma,\chi}^- = P_{\sigma} \times_Q \mathbb{V}_{\chi}^-$ is a subbundle of V. Similarly, one can define the complex subspace

$$\mathbb{V}^0_{\chi} = \{ v \in \mathbb{V} \mid \rho(e^{ts_{\chi}})v = v \text{ for any } t \in \mathbb{R} \} \subset \mathbb{V}^-_{\chi}$$

²Recall that the category of complex semisimple algebraic groups is equivalent to the category of complex semisimple Lie groups by considering \mathbb{C} -points. Moreover, we usually refer to a *G*-bundle as either a holomorphic *G*-principal bundle on the compact Riemann surface or the corresponding object in the algebraic category.

of \mathbb{V} which is invariant under the action of L and thus gives rise to a vector subbundle $V^0_{\sigma_L,\chi} = P_{\sigma_L} \times_L \mathbb{V}^0_{\chi}$ of $V^-_{\sigma,\chi}$, where $\sigma_L \in H^0(\Sigma, P/L)$ is a further reduction of P to L.

Definition 7.7. A pair (P, ψ) on Σ is

• semi-stable if for all parabolic subgroups $Q \subset G$, all reductions $\sigma \in H^0(\Sigma, P/Q)$, and all non-trivial anti-dominant characters χ of Q such that ψ is a global holomorphic section of $V_{\sigma,\chi}^- \otimes K^{1/2}$, we have

$$\deg(P)(\sigma, \chi) \ge 0.$$

- stable if the inequality above is strict (for all non-trivial parabolic subgroups Q of G, all reductions σ and all non-trivial anti-dominant characters χ of Q).
- **polystable** if it is semi-stable and for any parabolic subgroup $Q \subset G$, any reduction σ and any non-trivial strictly anti-dominant character χ of Q, such that $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V_{\sigma,\chi}^- \otimes K^{1/2})$ and

$$\deg(P)(\sigma, \chi) = 0,$$

there is a further reduction $\sigma_L \in H^0(\Sigma, P/L)$ to the Levi $L \subset Q$ such that $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V^0_{\sigma_L, \chi} \otimes K^{1/2}) \subset H^0(\Sigma, V^-_{\sigma, \chi} \otimes K^{1/2}).$

Remarks 7.7:

1. The notions of stability above can be generalized in the obvious way to any *L*-twisted pair. Moreover, if one allows the group *G* to be a reductive Lie group, stability depends on a parameter α in the center of the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} (see [GPGMiR09]), or, as in [Sch08], on a rational character of the reductive algebraic linear group. When *G* is semisimple, there is only one such α as a semisimple Lie algebra is centreless (and a connected semisimple algebraic group does not have any non-trivial characters).

2. When the spinor is identically zero, stability for the pair coincides with the usual stability conditions for principal bundles on Σ due to Ramanathan [Ram75] (for the proof see [GLSS08] or [Sch08, Theorem 2.4.9.3]).

Using Geometric Invariant Theory, Schmitt [Sch08] constructed the moduli scheme $S^d(\rho, K^{1/2})$ whose closed points correspond to the *S*-equivalence classes of semi-stable $(\rho, K^{1/2})$ -pairs of type $d \in \pi_1(G)$.

Proposition 7.8. The moduli space $S^d(\rho, K^{1/2})$ is a quasi-projective variety.

Proof. This is a special case of [Sch08, Theorem 2.8.1.2]. Let $\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{V}_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathbb{V}_u$ be the decomposition of the *G*-module \mathbb{V} into its irreducible components. In Schmitt's notation, $S^d(\rho, K^{1/2})$ is denoted by $\mathcal{M}^{\chi-\mathrm{ss}}(\rho, d, \underline{L})$, where $\chi = 0$ and $\underline{L} = (L_1, \ldots, L_u)$, with $L_i = K^{1/2}$, for $i = 1, \ldots, u$.

In [GPGMiR09] a Hitchin-Kobayashi correspondence is established, where polystable pairs correspond to solutions of a certain gauge-theoretic equation. We will go back to this point of view in the next chapter, where we consider the standard representation of the complex symplectic group.

7.2.1 The map between the moduli spaces

A (K-)twisted affine Ad_G -bump is the same as a G-Higgs bundle and the usual notion of semi-stability (see, e.g., [DP05]) coincides with the one for bumps (see Remark 2.8.2.5 of [Sch08]), which in turn is equivalent to the one given in [GPGMiR09]. One has the following relation³ between stability of a pair and stability of the corresponding Higgs bundle.

Proposition 7.9. Let P be a holomorphic principal G-bundle on Σ and ψ a global section of $P(\mathbb{V}) \otimes K^{1/2}$. If $(P, \mu(\psi))$ is a (semi-)stable Higgs bundle, the pair (P, ψ) is (semi-)stable.

Proof. Let $Q \subset G$ be a parabolic subgroup, χ an anti-dominant character of Q and $\sigma \in H^0(\Sigma, P/Q)$ a reduction. If $\mu(\psi) \in H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{Ad}(P)^-_{\chi,\xi} \otimes K)$, where $\operatorname{Ad}(P)^-_{\chi,\xi}$ is the vector bundle associated to P_{σ} via the representation $\operatorname{Ad} : Q \to GL(\mathfrak{g}^-_{\chi,\xi})$, then $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, \mathbb{V}^-_{\chi,\xi} \otimes K^{1/2})$. We can see this by showing that if $v \in \mathbb{V}^-_{\chi,\xi}$, we have $\mu(v) \in \mathfrak{g}^-_{\chi,\xi}$. But this follows directly from the *G*-equivariance of the moment map. Indeed,

$$\operatorname{Ad}(e^{ts_{\chi}})\mu(v) = \mu(\rho(e^{ts_{\chi}})v)$$

³We thank Oscar García-Prada for pointing that out to us.

and $\lim_{t\to\infty} \operatorname{Ad}(e^{ts_{\chi}})\mu(v) = \mu(\lim_{t\to\infty} \rho(e^{ts_{\chi}})v)$, which is bounded. Now, by (semi-)stability of the Higgs bundle we have that $\operatorname{deg}(P)(\sigma,\chi) \geq 0$.

Note that the obstruction for the stability of the pair and the associated Higgs bundle to be equivalent comes from the fact that, given an element $s \in i\mathfrak{h}$ and $v \in \mathbb{V}$ such that $\mu(\rho(e^{ts})v)$ is bounded as t goes to infinity, it does not follow in general that $\rho(e^{ts})v$ is also bounded. An obvious example comes from considering any symplectic vector space with the trivial G-module structure. In this case the moment map is zero and the image of the moduli space of pairs inside $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is just the moduli space of principal G-bundles on Σ . As in the Higgs bundle case, the underlying bundle of a semi-stable pair (P, ψ) need not be semi-stable. Indeed, the pair $(K^{-1/2} \oplus K^{1/2}, 1)$, where $1 \in H^0(\Sigma, \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}) \subset H^0(\Sigma, (K^{-1/2} \oplus K^{1/2}) \otimes K^{1/2})$, is semi-stable but $K^{-1/2} \oplus K^{1/2}$ is not. Considering the standard representation of $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ however, $(e^{ts}v) \otimes (e^{ts}v)$ is bounded if and only if $e^{ts}v$ is bounded (as t goes to infinity). Thus we have shown the following.

Proposition 7.10. Let P be a holomorphic principal $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -bundle on Σ and ψ be a global section of $P(\mathbb{C}^{2n}) \otimes K^{1/2}$, where \mathbb{C}^{2n} is the standard $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -module. Then, the pair (P, ψ) is (semi-)stable if and only if $(P, \psi \otimes \psi)$ is a (semi-)stable symplectic Higgs bundle.

7.3 Hitchin-type map

Let \mathbb{V} be a symplectic *G*-module and $\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{V}_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus \mathbb{V}_u$ its decomposition into irreducible components. Just as in the case of Higgs bundles, one may consider a basis of the invariant ring $\mathbb{C}[\mathbb{V}]^G = \operatorname{Sym}(\mathbb{V}^*)^G$ and construct a map from the moduli space $\mathcal{S}^d(\rho, K^{1/2})$ of pairs onto a vector space. We have a splitting of *G*-modules

$$\operatorname{Sym}^{e}(\mathbb{V}^{*}) = \bigoplus_{e_{1}+\ldots+e_{u}=e} \operatorname{Sym}^{e_{1}}(\mathbb{V}_{1}^{*}) \otimes \ldots \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{e_{u}}(\mathbb{V}_{u}^{*}),$$

so we may write

$$\operatorname{Sym}^{e}(\mathbb{V}^{*})^{G} = \bigoplus_{e_{1}+\ldots+e_{u}=e} S(e_{1},\ldots,e_{u}),$$

where

$$S(e_1,\ldots,e_u) = (\operatorname{Sym}^{e_1}(\mathbb{V}_1^*) \otimes \ldots \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^{e_u}(\mathbb{V}_u^*))^G$$
Since $\mathbb{C}[\mathbb{V}]^G$ is a finitely generated \mathbb{C} -algebra for any reductive complex group G, we can find generators f_1, \ldots, f_q of the invariant ring such that $f_i \in S(e_{i,1}, \ldots, e_{i,u})$, for some $e_{i,j} \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, $i = 1, \ldots, q, j = 1, \ldots, u$. Evaluation of f_i on a spinor $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$ induces a **Hitchin-type map**

$$h: \mathcal{S}^{d}(\rho, K^{1/2}) \to \mathcal{A}_{pair} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{q} H^{0}(\Sigma, K^{(e_{i,1}+\ldots+e_{u,i})/2}).$$
(7.1)

Proposition 7.11. ([Sch08, Prop. 2.8.1.4]) The map (7.1) is a projective morphism.

Corollary 7.12. The moduli space of pairs $S^d(\rho, K^{1/2})$ for the standard representation of the complex symplectic group is a projective variety.

Proof. The standard representation $\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{C}^{2n}$ of $G = Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ is transitive on $\mathbb{C}^{2n} - \{0\}$ since, given two non-zero vectors, we can always complete them to two symplectic basis. Thus, $\mathbb{C}[\mathbb{V}]^G = \mathbb{C}$ and the result follows from the proposition above.

Note that since the moment map

$$\mu:\mathbb{V}\to\mathfrak{g}$$

is equivariant, every element $p \in \mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{g}]^G$ gives rise to an element $\mu^* p \in \mathbb{C}[\mathbb{V}]^G$.

Example 7.6. Consider the Example 7.3, where $\mathbb{V} = \mathbb{W} \oplus \mathbb{W}^*$ and \mathbb{W} is the standard representation of $SL(n, \mathbb{C})$. There is an obvious invariant function p on \mathbb{V} given by the pairing, i.e.,

$$p(u,\delta) = \langle \delta, u \rangle.$$

The function p is clearly invariant for any G-module \mathbb{W} , where G is a complex group. Thus, in particular, the moduli space of pairs for the representation \mathbb{V} is not projective. As we saw, the moment map is given by

$$\mu: \mathbb{V} \to \mathfrak{sl}(n, \mathbb{C})$$
$$(u, \delta) \mapsto \delta \otimes u - \frac{\langle \delta, u \rangle}{n} \operatorname{Id}$$

The functions $p_i(x) = \operatorname{tr}(x^i)$ form a basis for the ring $\mathbb{C}[\mathfrak{sl}(n,\mathbb{C})]^{SL(n,\mathbb{C})}$ and their pullback by μ is given by

$$\mu^* p_i(u, \delta) = \operatorname{tr} \left(\delta \otimes u - \frac{\langle \delta, u \rangle}{n} \operatorname{Id} \right)^i$$
$$= \operatorname{tr} \left(\sum_{j=0}^i (-1)^j {i \choose j} (\delta \otimes u)^{i-j} (\frac{\langle \delta, u \rangle}{n} \operatorname{Id})^j \right).$$

But $(\delta \otimes u)^{i-j} = \langle \delta, u \rangle^{i-j-1} \delta \otimes u$, for i-j > 0, so we obtain

$$\mu^* p_i(u, \delta) = \langle \delta, u \rangle^i \left(\sum_{j=0}^{i-1} (-1)^j \binom{i}{j} \frac{1}{n^j} + (-1)^i \frac{1}{n^{i-1}} \right)$$
$$= \langle \delta, u \rangle^i \left((1 - n^{-1})^i + (-1)^i (n-1)n^{-i} \right).$$

In particular, all these functions are contained in the ideal generated by $p \in \mathbb{C}[\mathbb{V}]^{SL(n,\mathbb{C})}$. It turns out that the ring of invariants of \mathbb{V} is generated by $\{1, p\}$ (see Tables 1 and 2 in [Kno06] for the dimension of $\mathbb{C}[\mathbb{V}]^G$ for a large class of symplectic G-modules \mathbb{V}).

7.4 The isotropy condition

Let (P, ψ) be a $(\rho, K^{1/2})$ -pair, where again $\rho : G \to Sp(\mathbb{V}, \omega)$. The **deformation complex** of (P, ψ) is the complex of sheaves $C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P, \psi)$ given by

$$\rho(\cdot)(\psi) : \mathcal{O}(\mathrm{Ad}(P))) \to \mathcal{O}(P(\mathbb{V}) \otimes K^{1/2}).$$

It follows from [BR94] that the space of infinitesimal deformations of a pair (P, ψ) is naturally isomorphic to the first hypercohomology group $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P, \psi))$.

Also, recall that the smooth locus $\mathcal{M}(G)^{smt}$ of the moduli space of G-Higgs bundles is a hyperkähler manifold. The tangent space at a smooth point (P, Φ) is isomorphic to the infinitesimal deformation space of (P, Φ) , which was shown in [BR94] to be canonically isomorphic to the first hypercohomology group $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}(P, \Phi))$, where $C^{\bullet}(P, \Phi)$ is the two-term complex of sheaves

$$[\cdot, \Phi] : \mathcal{O}(\mathrm{Ad}(P)) \to \mathcal{O}(\mathrm{Ad}(P) \otimes K).$$

Using an Ad-invariant form B on \mathfrak{g} to identify $\operatorname{Ad}(P)$ with its dual, the complex $C^{\bullet}(P, \Phi)$ becomes isomorphic to $C^{\bullet}(P, \Phi)^* \otimes K$ and by Serre duality for hypercohomology we obtain an isomorphism

$$\Omega_I: \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}(P, \Phi)) \to \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}(P, \Phi))^*,$$

which gives rise to the *I*-complex symplectic structure on $\mathcal{M}(G)$ (where *I* is the complex structure of the moduli space determined by the complex structure of Σ , see Section 1.2).

In [Hit17], Hitchin proves that X (see Definition 7.2) is an isotropic subvariety of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ using the infinite-dimensional approach to the construction of the Higgs bundle moduli space. Let us show this from the Čech point of view. To this end we recall an explicit description of Ω_I (see [BR94]).

Let (P, Φ) be a *G*-Higgs bundle and $C^{\bullet} = C^{\bullet}(P, \Phi)$ its deformation complex. The complex $C^{\bullet} \otimes C^{\bullet}$ is given by

$$\mathrm{Ad}(P) \otimes \mathrm{Ad}(P) \xrightarrow{\beta} \mathrm{Ad}(P) \otimes (\mathrm{Ad}(P) \otimes K) \oplus (\mathrm{Ad}(P) \otimes K) \otimes \mathrm{Ad}(P) \xrightarrow{\alpha} (\mathrm{Ad}(P) \otimes K) \otimes (\mathrm{Ad}(P) \otimes K),$$

where

$$\beta(x,y) = (x \otimes [y,\Phi], [x,\Phi] \otimes y),$$
$$\alpha(x \otimes y, y' \otimes x') = [x,\Phi] \otimes y - y' \otimes [x',\Phi].$$

Denote by K[-1] the complex whose degree 1 entry is K and all others are zero. There is a map of cochain complexes $f^{\bullet}: C^{\bullet} \otimes C^{\bullet} \to K[-1]$, where $f_i = 0$, for $i \neq 1$, and in degree 1 we have

$$f^1: (x \otimes y, y' \otimes x') \mapsto B(x, y') - B(y, x').$$

Also, there is a natural map $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}) \otimes \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{H}^2(\Sigma, C^{\bullet} \otimes C^{\bullet})$ and the composition

$$\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}) \otimes \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{H}^2(\Sigma, C^{\bullet} \otimes C^{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{H}^2(\Sigma, K[-1]) = H^1(\Sigma, K) \cong \mathbb{C}$$

is precisely the complex symplectic form Ω_I , where the isomorphism $H^1(\Sigma, K) \cong \mathbb{C}$ is given by the residue map. Fix an open cover $\mathcal{U} = \{U_i\}$ of Σ . Let $v, v' \in \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet})$ be infinitesimal deformations represented by the pairs $(\{s_{ij}\}, \{t_i\})$ and $(\{s'_{ij}\}, \{t'_i\})$, respectively. This means that $s_{ij} \in$ $H^0(U_{ij}, \operatorname{Ad}(P))$ and $t_i \in H^0(U_i, \operatorname{Ad}(P) \otimes K)$ satisfying

$$s_{ij} + s_{jk} = s_{ik}$$
 in U_{ijk} , (7.2)

$$t_i - t_j + [s_{ij}, \Phi] = 0 \text{ in } U_{ij}, \tag{7.3}$$

where $U_{ij} = U_i \cap U_j$ and $U_{ijk} = U_i \cap U_j \cap U_k$ (similarly for $(\{s'_{ij}\}, \{t'_i\})$). Let $\Phi = \mu(\psi)$, for some non-zero spinor $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$, and take v and v' to be infinitesimal deformations of X in $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet})$ as before. Let $(\{u_i\})$ and $(\{u'_i\})$, with $u_i, u'_i \in H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$, represent infinitesimal deformations of ψ (associated to the infinitesimal deformations v and v', respectively). Thus, we have the constraint

$$u_i - u_j + \rho(s_{ij})\psi = 0 \tag{7.4}$$

in U_{ij} . Also, since

$$B(\mu(\psi), \cdot) = \frac{1}{2}\omega(\rho(\cdot)\psi, \psi),$$

we have, using the skew-symmetry of ω and the fact that the representation is symplectic,

$$B(t_i, \cdot) = \frac{1}{2} (\omega(\rho(\cdot)u_i, \psi) + \omega(\rho(\cdot)\psi, u_i))$$
(7.5)

$$=\omega(\rho(\cdot)\psi, u_i) \tag{7.6}$$

in U_i . Analogous statements hold for $(\{u'_i\}, \{s'_{ij}\})$.

Thus, the class $\Omega_I(v, v') \in H^1(\Sigma, K)$ is represented by the following cocycle

$$\Omega_{I}((\{s_{ij}\}, \{\mu(u_{i})\}), (\{s_{ij}'\}, \{\mu(u_{i}')\})) = \{B(s_{ij}, t_{j}') - B(s_{ij}', t_{i})\}$$
$$= \{\omega(\rho(s_{ij})\psi, u_{j}') - \omega(\rho(s_{ij}')\psi, u_{i})\} \qquad by (7.5)$$
$$= \{\omega(u_{j}, u_{j}') - \omega(u_{i}, u_{i}')\} \qquad by (7.4).$$

But $\omega(u_i, u'_i) \in H^0(U_i, K)$, so $\Omega_I(v, v') = 0 \in H^1(\Sigma, K) \cong \mathbb{C}$.

The complex symplectic form Ω_I is exact. More precisely, consider the natural map

$$q: \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}) \to H^1(\Sigma, \mathrm{Ad}(P))$$

sending a cocycle $v = (\{s_{ij}\}, \{t_i\})$ to the infinitesimal deformation $\{s_{ij}\}$ of the bundle P. Let

$$\theta_{(P,\Phi)}(v) = \mathsf{SD}(q(v) \otimes \Phi),$$

where

$$\mathsf{SD}: H^1(\Sigma, \mathrm{Ad}(P)) \otimes H^0(\Sigma, \mathrm{Ad}(P) \otimes K) \to H^1(\Sigma, K) \cong \mathbb{C}$$

is the non-degenerate pairing given by Serre duality. Then, Biswas and Ramanan show [BR94, Section 4] that $\Omega_I = d\theta$ (see also [BGL15]) and θ restricted to the cotangent bundle to the moduli space of stable *G*-bundles corresponds to the tautological 1-form. If $\Phi = \mu(\psi)$ is the Higgs field of a smooth point of *X* and $v = (\{s_{ij}\}, \{\mu(u_i)\})$ a tangent vector of *X* in $\mathcal{M}^{smt}(G)$ as before, we have

$$\theta_{(P,\mu(\psi))}(v) = \{B(s_{ij},\mu(\psi))\}$$

$$= \{\frac{1}{2}\omega(\rho(s_{ij})\psi,\psi)\}$$

$$= \{\frac{1}{2}\omega(u_i,\psi) - \frac{1}{2}\omega(u_j,\psi)\}$$

$$= 0 \in H^1(\Sigma,K).$$
by (7.4)

Note that the spinor moduli space has a \mathbb{C}^{\times} -action and X is invariant under the \mathbb{C}^{\times} -action on the Higgs bundle moduli space. Denote by $\xi \in H^0(\mathcal{M}(G), T\mathcal{M}(G))$ the vector field defined by the \mathbb{C}^{\times} -action on $\mathcal{M}(G)$. Thus, ξ is tangential to X. Since X is isotropic, $i_{\xi}\Omega_I$ restricted to X is zero. But, by a simple calculation, one obtains $i_{\xi}d\theta = \theta$ (see, e.g., [BGL15, Lemma 2.1]). Thus, that is another way to see that the 1-form θ vanishes when restricted to X.

Proposition 7.13. The subvariety X of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is isotropic. Moreover, the 1-form θ defined above vanishes on X.

7.5 Gaiotto's Lagrangian

We now relate infinitesimal deformations (and smoothness) of pairs to the associated Higgs bundles and show that under certain conditions the isotropic subvariety X of $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is actually Lagrangian.

Lemma 7.14. $\operatorname{Aut}(P, \psi) \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(P, \mu(\psi)).$

Proof. An automorphism of (P, ψ) is given by a holomorphic map $f : P \to G$ satisfying $gf(p \cdot g) = f(p)g$, for all $p \in P$ and $g \in G$, and $\rho(f)(\psi) = \psi$. But, from a direct computation

$$B(\operatorname{Ad}(f)(\mu(\psi)), \cdot)) = B(\mu(\psi), \operatorname{Ad}(f^{-1} \cdot))$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}\omega(d\rho(\operatorname{Ad}(f^{-1} \cdot))\psi, \psi)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}\omega(\rho(f^{-1})d\rho(\cdot)\rho(f)\psi, \psi)$$
$$= B(\mu(\psi), \cdot).$$

From the non-degeneracy of the Killing form the result follows.

Definition 7.15. A pair (P, ψ) is simple if $\operatorname{Aut}(P, \psi) = Z(G) \cap \ker \rho$ and a *G*-Higgs bundle (P, Φ) is simple if $\operatorname{Aut}(P, \Phi) = Z(G)$, where Z(G) is the center of *G*.

From the lemma above we conclude that if $(P, \mu(\psi))$ is simple,

$$Z(G) \cap \ker \rho \subseteq \operatorname{Aut}(P,\psi) \subseteq Z(G).$$

To obtain simplicity of the pair from simplicity of the associated Higgs bundle we restrict to a certain class of symplectic representations. Let

$$\mathbb{V} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{u} \mathbb{V}_i$$

be the decomposition of the symplectic G-module \mathbb{V} into indecomposable symplectic modules. We say that \mathbb{V} is **almost-saturated**⁴ if \mathbb{V}_i are symplectic G-modules pairwise non-isomorphic and if whenever $\mathbb{V}_j = \mathbb{W} \oplus \mathbb{W}^*$ for some $j \in \{1, \ldots, u\}$, then $\mathbb{W} \ncong \mathbb{W}^*$.

Lemma 7.16. Assume ρ is almost-saturated. If $(P, \mu(\psi))$ is a simple Higgs bundle, the pair (P, ψ) is simple.

Proof. Since $(P, \mu(\psi))$ is simple, given an automorphism $f \in \operatorname{Aut}(P, \psi)$, we may see it as a map $f: P \to Z(G)$. Thus, using Schur's lemma in each component, $\rho(f): V \otimes K^{1/2} \to V \otimes K^{1/2}$ restricts to a non-zero multiple of the identity at each component $V_i \otimes K^{1/2} \to V_i \otimes K^{1/2}$, where $V_i = P(\mathbb{V}_i)$. The induced map $\rho(f)$ however sends ψ to itself and thus $\rho(f)$ is the identity map.

Equivariance of the moment map $\mu(\rho(g)\psi) = \operatorname{Ad}(g)(\mu(\psi))$, for all $g \in G$, gives the following commuting diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
d\rho(\cdot)(\psi) \\
\mathcal{O}(\mathrm{Ad}(P))) &\longrightarrow & \mathcal{O}(P(\mathbb{V})) \otimes K^{1/2}) \\
& & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ \mathcal{O}(\mathrm{Ad}(P)) & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{O}(\mathrm{Ad}(P) \otimes K). \end{array}$$

From the map $C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P,\psi) \to C^{\bullet}(P,\mu(\psi))$ above we obtain a map between the two associated long exact sequences

⁴The nomenclature almost-saturated is inspired by the notion of a saturated representation. In our context, saturated representations are almost-saturated representations which do not admit indecomposable summands of type $\mathbb{W} \oplus \mathbb{W}^*$ (see, e.g., [Kno06]).

Motivated by the Petri map, which plays an important role in classical Brill-Noether theory⁵, we will refer to the map

$$d\mu_{\psi}: H^0(\Sigma, P(\mathbb{V}) \otimes K^{1/2}) \to H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{Ad}(P) \otimes K)$$

as a **Petri-type map**. Assuming that the Petri-type map above is injective, by the five lemma, we get

$$j: \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P, \psi)) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}(P, \mu(\psi))).$$
(7.7)

One of the spectral sequences (see (2.6) for more details) gives the long exact sequence

$$\begin{split} 0 &\to \mathbb{H}^0(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P, \psi)) \to H^0(\Sigma, \mathrm{Ad}(P)) \to H^0(\Sigma, P(\mathbb{V}) \otimes K^{1/2}) \to \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P, \psi)) \to \\ &\to H^1(\Sigma, \mathrm{Ad}(P)) \to H^1(\Sigma, P(\mathbb{V}) \otimes K^{1/2}) \to \mathbb{H}^2(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P, \psi)) \to 0. \end{split}$$

So,

$$\chi(C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P,\psi)) - \chi(\mathrm{Ad}(P)) + \chi(P(\mathbb{V}) \otimes K^{1/2}) = 0$$

which implies that

$$-\chi(C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P,\psi)) = \dim G(g-1).$$

Proposition 7.17. Assume ρ is almost-saturated. If the Higgs bundle $(P, \mu(\psi))$ is stable and simple, then $(P, \mu(\psi))$ is a smooth point of $\mathcal{M}^d(G)$ and (P, ψ) is a smooth point of $\mathcal{S}^d(\rho, K^{1/2})$. Furthermore, if the Petri-type map is injective for all points⁶ in the smooth locus of the moduli space of pairs, the subvariety $X \subseteq \mathcal{M}^d(G)$ is Lagrangian.

⁵Classically, given a complex subspace \mathbb{W} of the space of global sections of a holomorphic vector bundle E on Σ , the Petri map $\mathbb{W} \otimes H^0(\Sigma, E^*) \to H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{End} E \otimes K)$ is given by the natural cup-product of sections. The smoothness of the Brill-Noether scheme (respectively, the moduli space of coherent systems) at a stable point E (respectively, (E, \mathbb{W})) is equivalent to injectivity of the Petri map (see, e.g., [BGPMnN03, GTiB09]). For the standard representation of $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ one could take $E = V \otimes K^{1/2}$, where V is a stable symplectic vector bundle, and take \mathbb{W} to be multiples of a given section of E or the whole space of global sections. The Petri map, for $\mathbb{W} = H^0(\Sigma, E)$, for example, is $\operatorname{Sym}^2 H^0(\Sigma, E) \to H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{Sym}^2 E)$. Note that $\mathfrak{sp}(2n, \mathbb{C}) \cong \operatorname{Sym}^2(\mathbb{C}^{2n})$ and $d\mu_{\psi}(\dot{\psi}) = \psi \otimes \dot{\psi} + \dot{\psi} \otimes \psi$. The analogy of the classical Petri map with the derivative of the moment map (acting on global sections) motivates calling it a Petri-type map.

⁶Injectivity is an open condition and in particular the points where the Petri map is injective will define a Lagrangian on the Higgs bundle moduli space.

Proof. First note that $(P, \mu(\psi))$ stable implies $\mathbb{H}^0(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P, \mu(\psi))) = 0$ (see, for example, [GPGMiR09, Proposition 3.11]). Serve duality for hypercohomology gives

$$\mathbb{H}^2(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}(P, \mu(\psi))) \cong \mathbb{H}^0(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}(P, \mu(\psi)))^*,$$

so, by [BR94, Theorem 3.1] (see also [GPGMiR09, Proposition 3.18]), $(P, \mu(\psi))$ is a smooth point of $\mathcal{M}^d(G)$. Now, $(P, \mu(\psi))$ is stable, simple and $\mathbb{H}^2(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}(P, \mu(\psi))) = 0$, so (P, ψ) is stable (7.9), simple (Lemma 7.16) and from the map between the two long exact sequences coming from the map between the two infinitesimal deformation complexes, we obtain $\mathbb{H}^2(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P, \psi)) = 0$. Note that, in this case, $\mathbb{H}^0(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P, \psi))$ is also zero as there are no non-trivial infinitesimal automorphisms of (P, ψ) (see [GPGMiR09, Proposition 2.14]) and $-\chi(C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P, \psi)) = \dim \mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, C^{\bullet}_{pair}(P, \psi)) = \dim G(g-1)$. The last assertion follows from (7.7).

Chapter 8

The standard representation

In this chapter we study the Gaiotto Lagrangian X, introduced in the last chapter, for the standard representation of the symplectic group. Our primary goal is to identify X with a particular irreducible component of the nilpotent cone of the Hitchin fibration for the symplectic group. It turns out that X behaves in a similar fashion to the moduli space of holomorphic triples on Σ [BGPG04]. A holomorphic triple consists of two holomorphic vector bundles and a map between them (e.g. $(V, K^{-1/2}, \psi)$, where $\psi : K^{-1/2} \to V$). The moduli space for these objects was constructed in [BGP96] (see also [Sch04] for an algebro-geometric construction) and depends on a real parameter α , which is bounded when the ranks of the two vector bundles are different. Take an α -polystable triple $(V, K^{-1/2}, \psi)$, for example. The authors show (*loc. cit.*) that for α near the lower bound, the vector bundle V is polystable, whereas near the upper bound, ψ is non-vanishing. As we shall see, the norm squared of the spinor, which is a Morse function on our auxiliary moduli space, will play a very similar role to the α -parameter.

8.1 Spinor moduli space

Fix a square-root $K^{1/2}$ of the canonical bundle of Σ . When ρ is the standard representation of $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ we denote the moduli space of $K^{1/2}$ -twisted symplectic pairs $\mathcal{S}(\rho, K^{1/2})$ (see Section 7.2) simply by \mathcal{S} and call it the **spinor moduli space**. We summarize in the theorem below the results obtained in Chapter 7 for the spinor moduli space. In particular, we give a precise characterization of stability for pairs $(V, \psi) \in S$.

Theorem 8.1. Let (V, ψ) be a pair, consisting of a symplectic vector bundle on Σ and a spinor $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$.

- The pair (V, ψ) is (semi-)stable if and only if its associated Sp(2n, C)-Higgs bundle (V, ψ ⊗ ψ) is (semi-)stable. Also, the pair is polystable if and only if the associated Higgs bundle is polystable.
- The pair (V, ψ) is (semi-)stable if and only if for all isotropic subbundles 0 ≠ U ⊂ V such that ψ ∈ H⁰(Σ, U[⊥]⊗K^{1/2}) we have deg(U) < (≤) 0. Also, (V, ψ) ∈ S is polystable if it is semi-stable and satisfies the following property. If 0 ≠ U ⊂ V is an isotropic (resp., proper coisotropic) subbundle of degree zero such that ψ ∈ H⁰(Σ, U[⊥]⊗K^{1/2}) (resp., ψ ∈ H⁰(Σ, U ⊗ K^{1/2})), then there exists a coisotropic (resp., proper isotropic) subbundle U' of V such that ψ ∈ H⁰(Σ, U' ⊗ K^{1/2}) (resp., ψ ∈ H⁰(Σ, (U')[⊥] ⊗ K^{1/2})) and V = U ⊕ U'.
- The spinor moduli space S is a projective variety which embeds in M(Sp(2n, C)) and the variety X, defined as the Zariski closure of

$$\{(V,\Phi) \in \mathcal{M}^s(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C})) \mid \Phi = \psi \otimes \psi \text{ for some } 0 \neq \psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})\}$$

inside the Higgs bundle moduli space $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2n\mathbb{C}))$, has the property that the canonical 1-form θ (see Section 7.4) vanishes when restricted to X. Moreover, the embedded image of S in $\mathcal{M}(G)$ is the union of X and the moduli space $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C}))$ of symplectic vector bundles on Σ , and $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C}))$ intersects X in the generalized theta-divisor $\Theta \subset \mathcal{U}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C})).$

Proof. The first assertion is precisely Proposition 7.10 (polystability is a direct consequence of the fact that the moment map $\mu(v) = v \otimes v$ is injective). Note that if U is an isotropic $(\psi \otimes \psi)$ -invariant subbundle of V, for all $u \in U$ we have

$$\psi \otimes \psi(u) = \omega(\psi, u) \psi \in U \otimes K,$$

so, at a point of the curve, $\psi \in U \otimes K^{1/2}$ or $\omega(\psi, u) = 0$. In both cases, $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, U^{\perp} \otimes K^{1/2})$. Thus, the second item follows from the characterization of stability for $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundles [GPGMiR09, Theorem 4.2]. In particular, an $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundle (V, Φ) is polystable if it is semi-stable and for all non-zero isotropic (resp., coisotropic) Φ -invariant subbundles $U \subset V$ of degree 0, there exists a Φ -invariant coisotropic (resp., isotropic) subbundle $U' \subset V$ such that $V = U \oplus U'$. Thus, when $\Phi = \psi \otimes \psi$, if U is an isotropic subbundle of V of degree zero with $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, U^{\perp} \otimes K^{1/2})$, there exists a coisotropic, $(\psi \otimes \psi)$ -invariance means that $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, U' \otimes K^{1/2})$. For the last item, S is a projective variety from Corollary 7.12. Also, for any non-zero spinor, the derivative of the (complex) moment map

$$d\mu_{\psi}(\dot{\psi}) = \psi \otimes \dot{\psi} + \dot{\psi} \otimes \psi$$

is injective, so, by Proposition 7.17, X is Lagrangian, and $\theta|_X$ vanishes by Proposition 7.13. Note in particular that if the symplectic Higgs bundles $(V_i, \psi_i \otimes \psi_i)$, for i = 1, 2, are isomorphic, there exists an isomorphism f between the symplectic vector bundles (V_1, ω_1) and (V_2, ω_2) satisfying $\omega_1(\psi_1, \cdot)f(\psi_1) = \omega_2(\psi_2, f(\cdot))\psi_2$. The non-degeneracy of the symplectic forms implies that f takes zeros of ψ_1 to zeros of ψ_2 and for all other points, ψ_1 equals to ψ_2 (up to a sign). In particular – Id is an automorphism of V which identifies the pairs $(V, \psi) = (V, -\psi)$ in S. The rest of the statement follows from the last item and from the fact that Θ corresponds to the locus of symplectic vector bundles V such that $H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) \neq 0$ (c.f. Appendix D.2.3), thus X intersects $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ in the generalized theta-divisor. In particular, if $(V, \psi \otimes \psi)$ is not a fixed point of the \mathbb{C}^{\times} -action on $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ and V is semi-stable, the pair at infinity over $(V, \psi \otimes \psi)$ (i.e., the point $(V, \lambda^{-1}\psi \otimes \psi)$ as $|\lambda|$ goes to infinity) is $(V, 0) \in \Theta$.

Note that when $\psi = 0$ the polystability condition above for a pair (V, 0) is precisely the polystability condition for the symplectic vector bundle V (see Appendix D.2.2). Now, given a pair (V, ψ) , one may see the spinor as a homomorphism $\psi : K^{-1/2} \to V$. We will denote by L_{ψ} the line bundle generated by the image of ψ . For any semi-stable pair (V, ψ) , stability gives a constraint on the degree of the line bundle L_{ψ} . More precisely,

$$1 - g \le \deg(L_{\psi}) \le 0. \tag{8.1}$$

Clearly, the degree of L_{ψ} is 1-g if and only if the spinor is non-vanishing (and so $L_{\psi} = K^{-1/2}$). For the other extreme, if the pair is polystable and $\deg(L_{\psi}) = 0$, there exists a coisotropic subbundle U' of V such that $\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, U' \otimes K^{1/2})$ and $V = L_{\psi} \oplus U'$. This can only happen when $\psi = 0$, since $L_{\psi} \subset U'$.

Example 8.1. Let $V = K^{-1/2} \oplus K^{1/2} \oplus U$, where U is a polystable symplectic vector bundle. Then the pair (V, 1), where $1 \in H^0(\Sigma, \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}) \subset H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$, is polystable. This follows directly from polystability of U and the fact that $L_{\psi} = K^{-1/2}$ and $L_{\psi}^{\perp} = K^{-1/2} \oplus U$. Note that if U is a stable symplectic vector bundle, so is the pair (V, 1).

The theorem above motivates the question we will address in this chapter. Recall that a **Bohr–Sommerfeld Lagrangian** on $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C}))$ is an irreducible compact complex analytic subset of the Higgs bundle moduli space on which the canonical algebraic 1-form θ of $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C}))$ vanishes identically. It is proven¹ in [BGL15] that Bohr–Sommerfeld Lagrangians on $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C}))$ are precisely the irreducible components of the zero fibre (nilpotent cone) of the Hitchin fibration for $Sp(2n,\mathbb{C})$. Thus, we ask which component(s) correspond to X.

8.1.1 The symplectic vortex equation

Let us recall a Hitchin-Kobayashi correspondence for pairs [GPGMiR09, MiR00, BGPMiR03, Ban00]. Let \mathbb{V} be a (finite-dimensional) complex vector space equipped with a Hermitian metric h. Then, we have a decomposition $h = g - \omega_{\mathbb{R}} i$, where g is a flat metric and $\omega_{\mathbb{R}}$ its associated Kähler form.

Let H be a compact Lie group and $\rho: H \to U(\mathbb{V}, h)$ be a unitary representation. We also denote by ρ the associated Lie algebra homomorphism $\mathfrak{h} \to \mathfrak{u}(\mathbb{V}, h)$. The action of H on \mathbb{V}

¹The statement actually holds for any reductive complex algebraic group [BGL15, Theorem 3.4].

clearly respects the Kähler structure and admits a moment map $\mu_0: \mathbb{V} \to \mathfrak{h}^*$ given by

$$\begin{split} \langle \mu_0(v), \xi \rangle &= \frac{1}{2} \omega_{\mathbb{R}}(\rho(\xi)v, v) \\ &= \frac{i}{2} h(\rho(\xi)v, v), \end{split}$$

where $v \in \mathbb{V}, \xi \in \mathfrak{h}$, and the brackets stand for the natural pairing between \mathfrak{h} and \mathfrak{h}^* .

Remark 8.2: Alternatively, we can write

$$\mu_0(v) = {}^t\!\rho(\frac{i}{2}v \otimes v^*).$$

In the equation above, ${}^{t}\rho : \mathfrak{u}(\mathbb{V},h)^{*} \to \mathfrak{h}^{*}$ is the transpose of the map $\rho : \mathfrak{h} \to \mathfrak{u}(\mathbb{V},h)$ and we denote by v^{*h} , or simply v^{*} , the element $h(\cdot,v) \in \mathbb{V}^{*}$. Note that \mathbb{V}^{*} has a natural induced Hermitian form $h^{*}(v_{1}^{*},v_{2}^{*}) \coloneqq h(v_{2},v_{1})$, where $v_{1},v_{2} \in \mathbb{V}$ and we can identify $\mathfrak{u}(\mathbb{V},h)^{*} = \mathfrak{u}(\mathbb{V}^{*},h^{*}) \subset V \otimes V^{*}$. It is straightforward to check that $iv \otimes v^{*} \in \mathfrak{u}(\mathbb{V}^{*},h^{*})$. Now, assume, without loss of generality, that $\rho(\xi) \in \mathfrak{u}(\mathbb{V},h)$ is of the form $u_{1}^{*} \otimes u_{2}$, for some $u_{1}, u_{2} \in \mathbb{V}$. We have

$$\langle {}^t\!\rho(\frac{i}{2}v\otimes v^*),\xi\rangle = \frac{i}{2}h(v,u_1)h(u_2,v)$$
$$= \frac{i}{2}h(u_1^*\otimes u_2(v),v)$$
$$= \frac{i}{2}h(\rho(\xi)v,v).$$

Choose an invariant non-degenerate form B on \mathfrak{h} and denote by $\mu : \mathbb{V} \to \mathfrak{h}$ the moment map (after identifying $\mathfrak{h}^* \cong \mathfrak{h}$ through B). In this chapter we will restrict to the case where ρ is the standard representation of the quaternionic unitary group. As in Example 7.2, assume that \mathbb{V} is equipped with a complex symplectic form ω . Then, we consider the quaternionic structure j on \mathbb{V} defined by

$$\omega(u, j(v)) = h(u, v), \tag{8.2}$$

where $u, v \in \mathbb{V}$ (for more details, see Appendix C). Thus, let H be the quaternionic unitary group $Sp(\mathbb{V}, j) = Sp(\mathbb{V}, \omega) \cap U(\mathbb{V}, h)$, and take the invariant form on its Lie algebra $\mathfrak{sp}(\mathbb{V}, j) = \mathfrak{sp}(\mathbb{V}, \omega) \cap \mathfrak{u}(\mathbb{V}, h)$ to be the inner product $B(\xi_1, \xi_2) = -\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(\xi_1 \xi_2)$, where $\xi_1, \xi_2 \in \mathfrak{sp}(\mathbb{V}, j)$.

Claim 1.
$$\mu(v) = \frac{i}{2}(v \otimes j(v) + j(v) \otimes v)$$

Proof. It follows from (8.2) that $\omega(j(u_1), j(u_2)) = \overline{\omega(u_1, u_2)}$, where $u_1, u_2 \in \mathbb{V}$. From this relation it is straightforward to check that $x \coloneqq \frac{i}{2}(v \otimes j(v) + j(v) \otimes v) \in \mathfrak{sp}(\mathbb{V}, j)$. Now, let $\xi \in \mathfrak{sp}(\mathbb{V}, j)$. So, $\xi = \sum_{l \in L} u_l' \otimes u_l$, for some finite set L. It follows that

$$\operatorname{tr}(x\xi) = \frac{i}{2} \left(\sum \omega(v, u_l') \omega(u_l, v) + \omega(j(v), u_l') \omega(u_l, v) \right),$$

but since $\xi \in \mathfrak{sp}(\mathbb{V}, \omega)$, we have $\sum \omega(v, u'_l)\omega(u_l, v) = \sum \omega(j(v), u'_l)\omega(u_l, v)$. Thus,

$$\operatorname{tr}(x\xi) = i \sum \omega(v, u_l') \omega(u_l, v).$$

On the other hand,

$$h(\xi(v), v) = \omega(\xi, j(v)) = \sum \omega(u_l, v) \omega(u'_l, jv).$$

From this, we find $-\frac{1}{2}\operatorname{tr}(x\xi) = \frac{i}{2}h(\xi(v), v)$, which concludes the proof as $x \in \mathfrak{sp}(\mathbb{V}, j)$. \Box

The Hitchin-Kobayashi correspondence enables us to describe the spinor moduli space S as a gauge-theoretic moduli space. For that, choose a Hermitian metric $h_{\Sigma} \in \Omega^0(\Sigma, K\bar{K})$ on Σ , let dvol be the associated Kähler form and denote by $h_0 = h_{\Sigma}^{-1/2}$ the induced Hermitian metric on $K^{1/2}$. Let (V, ψ) be a pair consisting of a symplectic vector bundle (V, ω) on Σ and a global holomorphic section ψ of $V \otimes K^{1/2}$. A reduction of structure group from $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ to the maximal compact subgroup Sp(n) means a quaternion structure $j: V \to V$ and the Hermitian form is $h(u_1, u_2) = \omega(u_1, j(u_2))$ (this is completely analogous to the pointwise notions given in Appendix C, which justifies also denoting by h and ω the Hermitian metric and the symplectic form on V, resp.). The moment map μ_0 applied to ψ is the restriction of $\frac{i}{2}\psi \otimes \psi^{*h,h_0}$ to $\mathfrak{sp}(n)$. Thus, it follows from Claim 1 that $\mu(\psi) = \frac{i}{2}(\psi \otimes j(\psi) + j(\psi) \otimes \psi)h_0$. The Hitchin-Kobayashi theorem relates stability for pairs (V, ψ) to solutions of the **symplectic vortex equation**

$$\Lambda(F_h) + \frac{i}{2}(\psi \otimes j(\psi) + j(\psi) \otimes \psi)h_0 = 0, \qquad (8.3)$$

where $F_h \in \Omega^{1,1}(\Sigma, \mathfrak{sp}(n)) \subset \Omega^2(\Sigma, \operatorname{End}(V))$ is the curvature of the Chern connection associated to h and $\Lambda : \Omega_{\Sigma}^2 \to \Omega_{\Sigma}^0$ is the contraction with the Kähler form dvol. The left hand side of the symplectic vortex equation can be interpreted as the moment map for the Hamiltonian natural action of the gauge group on the infinite dimension Kähler submanifold $\chi \subset \mathcal{A} \times \Omega^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$, which consists of pairs (\mathcal{A}, ψ) such that ψ is holomorphic with respect to the holomorphic structure induced by the Sp(n)-connection \mathcal{A} on V (for more details see [BGPMiR03, MiR00]). By the remarks above, the general result in [GPGMiR09, Theorem 2.24] applied to our cases gives the following.

Theorem 8.3. Let (V, ψ) be a polystable pair. There is a quaternionic structure j on V such that the Hermitian metric $h(\cdot, \cdot) = \omega(\cdot, j(\cdot))$ on V solves the symplectic vortex equation

$$\Lambda(F_h) + \frac{i}{2}(\psi \otimes j(\psi) + j(\psi) \otimes \psi)h_0 = 0$$

Furthermore, if (V, ψ) be stable, the quaternionic structure is unique. Conversely, if (V, ψ) admits a solution to the symplectic vortex equation, then (V, ψ) is polystable.

Remark 8.4: From now on we use the algebro-geometric and gauge-theoretic points of view interchangeably and denote both moduli spaces by S.

8.2 Morse theory

Morse theory has been used as an important tool in the study of the topology of gaugetheoretic moduli spaces, dating back to the work of Atiyah and Bott on the moduli space of holomorphic vector bundles [AB83] and Hitchin on the moduli space of Higgs bundles [Hit87a]. Even though our primary goal does not involve computing topological quantities, introducing a natural Morse function on S will help us describe the locus X inside the nilpotent cone for the $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration.

There is a natural \mathbb{C}^{\times} -action on S given by the map $\lambda \cdot (V, \psi) = (V, \lambda \psi)$. Interpreting the spinor moduli space S from the gauge point of view, the natural action is well-defined only when we restrict to complex number of norm 1, i.e., to $S^1 \cong U(1) \subset \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, thus we obtain a

circle action

$$e^{i\theta} \cdot (A,\psi) = (A,e^{i\theta}\psi), \tag{8.4}$$

where A is the Chern connection associated to a metric that solves the symplectic vortex equation (8.3) for a polystable pair (V, ψ) . Completely analogous to the Higgs bundles case [Hit87a, Section 6], the map

$$f: \mathcal{S} \to \mathbb{R}$$
$$(A, \psi) \mapsto \|\psi\|_2^2$$

is a (multiple of the) moment map for the S^1 -action (8.4) on the smooth locus of S, where $\|\psi\|_2^2 = \int_{\Sigma} |\psi|^2 d$ vol is the L^2 -norm of ψ . The spinor moduli space is a projective variety (see Theorem 8.1), thus the associated analytic space is compact and we have the following result.

Proposition 8.5. The map $f : S \to \mathbb{R}$ is closed and proper.

Let us give an upper bound for the map f. Take the Hermitian metric h_{Σ} on Σ to have constant constant sectional curvature -1 (by the Uniformization theorem such a metric exists) and denote the associated Hermitian metric $h_{\Sigma}^{-1/2}$ on $K^{1/2}$ by h_0 . Let h be a Hermitian metric solving the vortex equation for a pair (V, ψ) and denote by A the Chern connection on V. Also, let B be the connection on $V \otimes K^{1/2}$ obtained from A and the Chern connection on $K^{1/2}$ associated to h_0 . Then we have the decomposition $\nabla_B = \partial_B + \bar{\partial}_B$ into first order differential operators and using the metric $\tilde{h} = hh_0$ on $V \otimes K^{1/2}$ and the metric on Σ we define the formal adjoints

$$\partial_B^*: \Omega^{p,q}(V \otimes K^{1/2}) \to \Omega^{p-1,q}(V \otimes K^{1/2}),$$

$$\bar{\partial}_B^*: \Omega^{p,q}(V \otimes K^{1/2}) \to \Omega^{p,q-1}(V \otimes K^{1/2}).$$

The Dolbeault Laplacian $\Delta_{\bar{\partial}} = \bar{\partial}_B^* \bar{\partial}_B + \bar{\partial}_B \bar{\partial}_B^*$ is a second order differential operator on $\Omega^{\bullet}(V \otimes K^{1/2})$ and its restriction to $\Omega^0(V \otimes K^{1/2})$ is $\bar{\partial}_B^* \bar{\partial}_B$. Using the Kähler identities, one establishes the following Weitzenböck formula (see e.g. [DK90, Lemma 6.1.7])

$$\bar{\partial}_B^* \bar{\partial}_B = \frac{1}{2} \nabla_B^* \nabla_B - \frac{i}{2} F_B.$$

Note that

$$\begin{split} \Lambda F_A \psi &= (-\frac{i}{2} (\psi \otimes j(\psi) + j(\psi) \otimes \psi) h_0) \psi \\ &= -\frac{i}{2} \omega (j(\psi), \psi) h_0 \psi \\ &= \frac{i}{2} |\psi|^2 \psi, \end{split}$$

where we have used that $\omega(j(\psi), \psi) = -h(\psi, \psi)$. But $F_B \psi = F_A \psi - \frac{i}{2} \psi d$ vol, so

$$\tilde{h}(F_B\psi,\psi) = \frac{i}{2}(|\psi|^4 - |\psi|^2)d\text{vol.}$$

The Weitzenböck formula for the holomorphic section ψ gives $\nabla_B^* \nabla_B \psi = i F_B \psi$, from which we conclude that

$$\int_{\Sigma} |\nabla_B \psi|^2 = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Sigma} (|\psi|^4 - |\psi|^2) d\text{vol.}$$

The left hand side of the equation above is always non-negative. Thus, we have the following relation between the L^4 and the L^2 -norm of ψ :

$$\|\psi\|_4^4 \le \|\psi\|_2^2. \tag{8.5}$$

Using the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality we obtain $|\langle |\psi|^2, 1 \rangle_{L^2}|^2 \leq ||\psi||_4^4 ||1||_2^2$, i.e.,

$$\|\psi\|_{2}^{4} \le \operatorname{vol}(\Sigma)\|\psi\|_{4}^{4}.$$
(8.6)

Since h_{Σ} has constant sectional curvature -1, the curvature of the associated Chern connection on K^{-1} is $F_{\Sigma} = id$ vol. From this we have

$$\operatorname{vol}(\Sigma) = \int_{\Sigma} d\operatorname{vol} = 4\pi(g-1).$$

Proposition 8.6. Let h_{Σ} be a Hermitian metric on Σ with constant curvature -1 and $h_0 = h^{-1/2}$ the induced Hermitian metric on $K^{1/2}$. Then,

$$0 \le f(V,\psi) = \|\psi\|_2^2 \le 4\pi(g-1), \tag{8.7}$$

for all $(V, \psi) \in \mathcal{S}$.

Proof. The result follows directly from (8.6) and (8.5).

Using the symplectic vortex equation we obtain, from the bound above, a uniform L^2 bound on the curvature of the solutions to the symplectic vortex equation. Analogously to the Higgs bundle case [Hit87a], we can apply Uhlenbeck's weak compactness theorem [Uhl82]. This gives an analytic proof that S is compact.

8.2.1 Critical points

By a general result of Frankel [Fra59], a proper moment map for a Hamiltonian S^1 -action on a Kähler manifold is a perfect Morse function. Applying his ideas to the smooth locus S^{smt} of S, we have the following.

Proposition 8.7 ([GPGMn07, Proposition 3.3]). The critical points of $f : S^{smt} \to \mathbb{R}$ are precisely the fixed points of the circle action. Moreover, the eigenvalue *l* subspace of the Hessian of *f* is the same as the weight -l subspace for the infinitesimal circle action on the tangent space. In particular, the Morse index of *f* at a critical point equals the dimension of the positive weight space of the circle action on the tangent space.

Let us characterize the fixed points of the circle action on S. A pair with zero spinor is clearly a fixed point. Let $(V, \psi) \in S$, with $\psi \neq 0$, be a fixed point of S^1 -action on S and denote by A the Chern connection on V associated to a metric that solves the symplectic vortex equation, so that the class (A, ψ) represents the pair. Then, there exists a one-parameter family of Sp(n)-gauge transformations $\{g_{\theta}\}, \theta \in \mathbb{R}$, such that

$$g_{\theta} \cdot (A, \psi) = (A, e^{i\theta}\psi). \tag{8.8}$$

Let

$$\Upsilon = \frac{dg_{\theta}}{d\theta} \bigg|_{\theta = 0}$$

be the infinitesimal gauge transformation generating the family $\{g_{\theta}\}$. Since $g_{\theta} \cdot A = g_{\theta} \circ A \circ g_{\theta}^{-1}$, differentiating (8.8) we obtain

$$d_A \Upsilon = 0, \tag{8.9}$$

$$\Upsilon\psi = i\psi. \tag{8.10}$$

Proposition 8.8. A pair $(V, \psi) \in S$ is a fixed point of the circle action if and only if the vector bundle V can be decomposed as a direct sum

$$V = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{m} (V_k \oplus V_k^*) \oplus V_0,$$

where V_k are the eigenbundles for a covariantly constant infinitesimal gauge transformation Υ , with $\Upsilon|_{V_k} = ia_k$, for some $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover,

$$\psi \in H^0(\Sigma, V_1 \otimes K^{1/2})$$

and

$$V_{-k} \cong jV_k \cong V_k^*,$$

where j is the quaternionic structure on V coming from the metric that solves the symplectic vortex equation. Also, V_0 and $V_k \oplus V_k^*$, for k > 1, are polystable.

Proof. As discussed, being a fixed point of the circle action is equivalent to the existence of an infinitesimal gauge transformation Υ satisfying (8.9) and (8.10). Since Υ is covariantly constant, V must decompose globally into a direct sum of eigenbundles of the endomorphism Υ . An infinitesimal gauge transformation is locally in $\mathfrak{sp}(n)$, so its eigenvalues are of the form $\pm ia_k$, where $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus, $V = \bigoplus V_k$, where $\Upsilon|_{V_k} = ia_k$, for some $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$. If $v_r \in V_r$ and $v_s \in V_s$

$$ia_r\omega(v_r, v_s) = \omega(\Upsilon v_r, v_s) = -\omega(v_r, \Upsilon v_s) = -ia_s\omega(v_r, v_s)$$

so V_r and V_s are orthogonal unless r + s = 0. In that case, the symplectic form ω on V gives an isomorphism $V_r \cong V_{-r}^*$. Note also that Υ commutes with the quaternionic structure j on V, so that if $v \in V_r$, $jv \in V_{-r}$ (since j is anti-linear), which gives $jV_r \cong V_{-r} \cong V_r^*$. Thus, we can write

$$V = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{m} (V_k \oplus V_k^*) \oplus V_0$$

and $\psi \in V_1$, since (8.10) holds. From this we conclude that $\psi \otimes j\psi + j\psi \otimes \psi$ is an endomorphism of $V_1 \oplus V_1^*$. Thus, V_0 and $V_k \oplus V_k^*$, for k > 1, are flat and thus polystable.

Let \mathcal{F} be the fixed point set corresponding to the S^1 -action on \mathcal{S} . Note that any maximum of f is an element in \mathcal{F} . In particular, they form a component of \mathcal{F} which will play an important role in this chapter.

Proposition 8.9. The maximum locus of f is a connected component of the fixed point set \mathcal{F} of the circle action, which is singular, irreducible and can be identified with

$$\mathcal{Z} = \{ (K^{-1/2} \oplus K^{1/2} \oplus U, 1) \mid U \in \mathcal{U}(Sp(2n-2,\mathbb{C})) \},\$$

where we denote by 1 the spinor given by the canonical inclusion of $K^{-1/2}$ into $K^{-1/2} \oplus K^{1/2} \oplus U$.

Proof. First note that \mathcal{Z} is contained in \mathcal{S} , since U is a polystable symplectic vector bundle, and by the characterization of fixed points it must lie in \mathcal{F} . Existence of strictly polystable symplectic bundles and irreducibility of $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2n-2,\mathbb{C}))$ shows that \mathcal{Z} is a singular irreducible variety. It follows from [HT03, Lemma 9.2] that the ranks and degrees of the eigenbundles which appear in the decomposition of a fixed point are locally constant on the fixed point set. Thus, \mathcal{Z} is a connected component of \mathcal{F} . Moreover, note that the spinor 1 has L^2 -norm $4\pi(g-1)$ and thus, from (8.7), all pairs in \mathcal{Z} are maximums. We show that the converse also holds.

Let $(V, \psi) \in S$ be a maximum. The spinor $\psi : K^{-1/2} \to V$ defines a line bundle $L_{\psi} \subset V$ whose degree d_{ψ} , by (8.1), satisfies $1 - g \leq d_{\psi} \leq 0$. Let h be the Hermitian metric on V solving the symplectic vortex equation as before. From h we obtain a smooth splitting $V = L_{\psi} \oplus Q$, where Q is the quotient V/L_{ψ} . We denote by $\beta \in \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(Q, L_{\psi}))$ the second fundamental form associated to the smooth splitting of V and by π the orthogonal projection operator associated to L_{ψ} . The Hermitian metric h induces in a natural way Hermitian metrics on L_{ψ} and Q, and we can write the Chern connection A on V as

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} A_{\psi} & \beta \\ -\beta^* & A_Q \end{pmatrix},$$

where A_{ψ} and A_Q are the associated Chern connections on L_{ψ} and Q, resp., and $\beta^* \in \Omega^{1,0}(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(Q, L_{\psi}))$ is obtained from the metric and conjugation on the form part. From this we find that the curvature associated to A can be written as

$$F_A = \begin{pmatrix} F_{\psi} - \beta \wedge \beta^* & \partial_A \beta \\ -\bar{\partial}_A \beta^* & F_Q - \beta^* \wedge \beta \end{pmatrix},$$

where F_{ψ} and F_Q are the curvatures associated to the connections A_{ψ} and A_Q , respectively. Recall that given any holomorphic vector bundle E on Σ with a Hermitian metric, Chern-Weil theory enables one to calculate the degree of E as $\deg(E) = \frac{i}{2\pi} \int_{\Sigma} \operatorname{tr}(F)$, where F is the curvature of the associated Chern connection². In our context, this gives the formula

$$d_{\psi} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Sigma} \operatorname{tr}(\pi i \Lambda F_A) d\operatorname{vol} - \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Sigma} |\beta|^2 d\operatorname{vol}.$$

But $i\Lambda F_A = \frac{1}{2}(j\psi \otimes \psi + \psi \otimes j\psi)h_0$, thus projecting it onto L_{ψ} and taking the trace gives $\omega(j\psi,\psi)h_0/2 = -|\psi|^2/2$ and we obtain

$$d_{\psi} = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \|\psi\|_2^2 - b_{\xi}$$

where $b = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\Sigma} |\beta|^2 d\text{vol} \ge 0$. Now, the inequality $d_{\psi} \ge 1 - g$ gives

$$\|\psi\|_2^2 \le 4\pi(g-1) - 4\pi b.$$

Thus (V, ψ) is a maximum if and only if b = 0. In this case, $d_{\psi} = 1 - g$ and L_{ψ} must be isomorphic to $K^{-1/2}$. The vanishing of the second fundamental form means that the splitting $V = K^{-1/2} \oplus Q$ is holomorphic. Moreover, any maximum is a fixed point of the circle action, which proves that V splits (holomorphically) as a direct sum $K^{-1/2} \oplus K^{1/2} \oplus U$, where U is a polystable symplectic vector bundle, and thus the pair must be in \mathcal{Z} .

²This is standard and can be found in several textbooks, such as [Kob14] and [Wel08].

Remark 8.10: Given a fixed point (V, ψ) of the circle action on S, the vector bundle V decomposes as a direct sum of eigenbundles for an infinitesimal gauge transformation Υ satisfying (8.10) and (8.9). In particular,

$$\begin{split} [\Upsilon,\psi\otimes\psi]v&=\omega(\psi,v)\Upsilon\psi-\omega(\psi,\Upsilon v)\psi\ &=i\omega(\psi,v)\psi+\omega(\Upsilon\psi,v)\psi\ &=2i\psi\otimes\psi(v). \end{split}$$

Thus, the Higgs bundle $(V, \psi \otimes \psi)$ is fixed by the circle action on $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ and the covariantly constant infinitesimal gauge transformation $\frac{1}{2}\Upsilon$ induces the same decomposition as a direct sum of subbundles as before.

8.3 The component of the nilpotent cone

Let $(V, \psi \otimes \psi) \in \mathcal{M}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ be a Higgs bundle such that the norm of the spinor ψ is sufficiently large (see Remark 8.11 on the next page). Pairs in \mathcal{Z} are non-vanishing, which is an open condition. Since the pair (V, ψ) is near a maximum, its spinor must also be non-vanishing. In particular, the image of ψ defines a subbundle of V, rather than just a subsheaf. Dualizing the injection $\psi: K^{-1/2} \to V$ and using the symplectic form $\omega: V \to V^*$ to identify V with its dual, we obtain a short exact sequence

$$0 \to E \to V \to K^{1/2} \to 0. \tag{8.11}$$

Note that the projection $V \to K^{1/2}$ is given by the map ${}^t\!\psi \circ \omega$, so E is isomorphic to the symplectic orthogonal $(K^{-1/2})^{\perp}$ of $K^{-1/2}$. In particular, we have

$$0 \to K^{-1/2} \to E \to U \to 0 \tag{8.12}$$

and the skew-form $\omega|_{E\otimes E}$ induces a non-degenerate form on the quotient U, which is then a symplectic vector bundle of rank 2n - 2. Recall that a maximum of f has an underlying vector bundle of the form $K^{-1/2} \oplus K^{1/2} \oplus W$, where W is a polystable symplectic vector bundle of rank 2n - 2 (see Proposition 8.9). Since (V, ψ) is near a maximum, since stability is an open condition, U is also polystable. In particular, for a sufficiently small $\epsilon > 0$, the subset of Higgs bundles of the form $(V, \psi \otimes \psi)$ satisfying $f_{max} - \epsilon < \|\psi\|_2^2 \le f_{max}$ is contained in

$$\mathcal{Z}^{-} = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} i. & 0 \neq \psi \in H^{0}(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}), \\ (V, \psi \otimes \psi) \in \mathcal{M}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})) \middle| & ii. & \psi \text{ is non-vanishing}, \\ & iii. & (K^{-1/2})^{\perp}/K^{-1/2} \in \mathcal{U}(Sp(2n-2, \mathbb{C})). \end{array} \right\},$$

which is thus a non-empty open subset of $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C}))$. Here, f_{max} denotes the maximum value of the function $f: \mathcal{S} \to \mathbb{R}$. When we take the Hermitian connection on $K^{1/2}$ associated to a metric of constant negative curvature on Σ , $f_{max} = 4\pi(g-1)$ (c.f. (8.7)). Note that if $(V, \psi \otimes \psi) \in \mathbb{Z}^-$, the limit of $(V, z \cdot \psi \otimes \psi)$ as the norm of $z \in \mathbb{C}$ goes to infinity exists (as the nilpotent cone is compact) and is a Higgs bundle in the maximum³ \mathbb{Z} .

Remark 8.11: The Hitchin equation, differently from the symplectic vortex equation, does not depend on the choice of a Hermitian metric on Σ . By fixing a Hermitian metric h_{Σ} and denoting the induced metric $h_{\Sigma}^{-1/2}$ on $K^{1/2}$ by h_0 , the Hitchin equation

$$F_h + [\Phi, \Phi^*] = 0$$

can be written (using the identifications from Section 8.1.1) as

$$\Lambda(F_h) + \frac{i}{2} |\psi|^2 (\psi \otimes j(\psi) + j(\psi) \otimes \psi) h_0 = 0,$$

since $(\psi \otimes \psi)^*$ can be identified with $-j\psi \otimes j\psi$ and, for example, $(\psi \otimes \psi) \circ (j\psi \otimes j\psi) = |\psi|^2 j\psi \otimes \psi$. Thus, near a maximum of f, the metric solving the Hitchin equation for $(V, \psi \otimes \psi)$ is essentially the same as the one solving the symplectic vortex equation for the pair (V, ψ) , and so $|\psi|^4_{pair} \approx |\psi \otimes \psi|^2_{Higgs}$. The same phenomenon, of course, also happens in the other extreme. If (V, ψ) has a spinor whose norm is close to zero, the same is true for the norm of the associated Higgs field (in the Higgs bundle metric). This tells us that the underlying vector bundle is polystable.

³The locus \mathcal{Z} corresponds to the maximums of f. If seen in the Higgs bundles moduli space, it corresponds to the maximum of $\|\Phi\|^2$ on X (see Remark 8.11).

Example 8.2. The simplest example occurs when n = 1, i.e., for $SL(2, \mathbb{C}) = Sp(2, \mathbb{C})$, and this has been worked out by Hitchin in [Hit17, Section 4.3]. In particular, in this case \mathcal{Z} corresponds to a point, where the Higgs bundle has an underlying vector bundle of the form $K^{-1/2} \oplus K^{1/2}$ (i.e., the intersection of the Hitchin section with the nilpotent cone for our particular choice of theta-characteristic). Recall that the irreducible components of the nilpotent cone for the $SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration are the Zariski closures of the total spaces of some vector bundles E_m , $1 \le m \le g - 1$, over the (2g - 2 - 2m)-symmetric product of Σ (and $\mathcal{U}(2, \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma})$). Given $(V, \Phi) \in \mathcal{M}(SL(2, \mathbb{C}))$ with a nilpotent Higgs field $\Phi \ne 0$, let M be the subbundle of V generated by the kernel of Φ . Then we have an extension

$$0 \to M \to V \to M^* \to 0$$

defined by some extension class $\delta \in H^1(\Sigma, M^2)$. Consider $\phi \in H^0(\Sigma, M^2K)$ given by

Then, (V, Φ) , can be seen as a class $(M, \delta, \phi) = (M, \lambda \delta, \lambda \phi)$, $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$, and the vector bundle E_m consists of such classes where $m = \deg M^*$. In particular, our choice of thetacharacteristic identifies \mathcal{Z}^- with $H^1(\Sigma, K^*)$. In other words, we see a point in \mathcal{Z}^- as a class $(K^{-1/2}, \delta, 1)$, where $\delta \in H^1(\Sigma, K^*)$ is the extension class of the exact sequence determined by ψ , which in this case is non-vanishing. The closure of the submanifold \mathcal{Z}^- is the Gaiotto Lagrangian X.

To reconstruct this open set we start with a polystable symplectic vector bundle (U, θ) of rank 2n - 2, where $\theta : U \to U^*$ is the symplectic form⁴, and an extension class $\delta \in$ $H^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(U, K^{-1/2}))$. The extension class gives

$$0 \to K^{-1/2} \to E \to U \to 0 \tag{8.13}$$

⁴Recall that any two symplectic forms on a polystable symplectic vector bundle U are related by an automorphism of U.

and there exists trivializations of the vector bundle E over an open cover $\{U_i\}$ of Σ whose transition functions are of the form

$$e_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} l_{ij} & \delta_{ij} \\ & u_{ij} \end{pmatrix},$$

where l_{ij} and u_{ij} are transition functions for $K^{-1/2}$ and U, resp., and the extension class δ is determined by the Hom $(U, K^{-1/2})$ -valued 1-cocycle $\{l_{ij}^{-1}\delta_{ij}\}$. Also, the symplectic form θ on U is given by a cochain $\{\theta_i\}$ of skew-symmetric and non-degenerate $(2n-2) \times (2n-2)$ matrices which agree on the intersections U_{ij} , i.e.,

$$\theta_i = {}^t\! u_{ij} \theta_i u_{ij}.$$

Since $\text{Hom}(K^{1/2}, U)$ is a semi-stable vector bundle of negative degree, it does not have any non-trivial global section. Thus, applying the functor $\text{Hom}(K^{1/2}, -)$ to (8.13) and considering the corresponding long exact sequence in cohomology we obtain

$$0 \to H^1(\Sigma, K^{-1}) \to H^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(K^{1/2}, E)) \to H^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(K^{1/2}, U)) \to 0.$$

Then, from the exact sequence above, δ defines an extension V of $K^{1/2}$ by E, which is a rank 2n vector bundle. More precisely, to be consistent with (8.11) and (8.12), we choose an extension class $\tilde{\delta} \in H^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(K^{1/2}, E))$ lifting the dual extension class of δ , which, after using the identification $\theta : U \to U^*$, is represented by the $\operatorname{Hom}(K^{1/2}, U)$ -valued 1-cocycle $\{-\theta_j^{-1}t_{\delta_{ij}}l_{ij}^{-1}\}$. From such a choice of $\tilde{\delta}$ we obtain

$$0 \to E \to V \to K^{-1/2} \to 0$$

and the transition functions for \boldsymbol{V} have the form

$$v_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} e_{ij} & \tilde{\delta}_{ij} \\ & l_{ij}^{-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\tilde{\delta}$ is represented by the 1-cocycle $\{e_{ij}^{-1}\tilde{\delta}_{ij}\}$. We may think of $e_{ij}^{-1}\tilde{\delta}_{ij}$ as the $(2n-1)\times 1$ matrix representing the corresponding homomorphism $K^{1/2} \to E$ in the trivialization U_j .

Thus we may write

$$e_{ij}^{-1}\tilde{\delta}_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} a_{ij} \\ -\theta_j^{-1t}\delta_{ij}l_{ij}^{-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

where $\{a_{ij}\} \in H^1(\Sigma, K^{-1})$. Note that the symplectic form θ on U extends naturally to a degenerate skew-form $\tilde{\theta}$ on E. Indeed, dualizing (8.13) we obtain

$$0 \to U^* \to E^* \to K^{1/2} \to 0.$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$0 \to \Lambda^2 U^* \to \Lambda^2 E^* \to U^* \otimes K^{1/2} \to 0.$$

Now we need to further extend the form on E to a symplectic form on V.

Lemma 8.12. The skew-form $\tilde{\theta}$ extends uniquely to a symplectic form ω on V.

Proof. First note that we may represent $\tilde{\theta}$ by $\{\tilde{\theta}_i\}$, where

$$\tilde{\theta}_i = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \theta_i \end{pmatrix}. \tag{8.14}$$

Thus, to define a symplectic form on V extending $\tilde{\theta}$ we need to construct $2n \times 2n$ nondegenerate skew-symmetric matrices ω_i for each open set U_i such that on the overlaps U_{ij} , they are compatible, i.e.,

$$\omega_j = {}^t\! v_{ij} \omega_i v_{ij}. \tag{8.15}$$

Since ω must extend $\tilde{\theta}$ it must be of the form

$$\omega_i = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\theta}_i & \tilde{b}_i \\ -\tilde{\psi}_i & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and we may further decompose the $(2n-1) \times 1$ matrix \tilde{b}_i as

$$\tilde{b}_i = \begin{pmatrix} b_i^0 \\ b_i \end{pmatrix},\tag{8.16}$$

where b_i^0 represents a local function and b_i a homomorphism $K^{1/2} \to U^*$ on U_i . Condition (8.15) then becomes

$${}^{t}\!e_{ij}\tilde{\theta}_{i}\tilde{\delta}_{ij} + {}^{t}\!e_{ij}\tilde{b}_{i}l_{ij}^{-1} = \tilde{b}_{j}$$

or equivalently,

$$\tilde{\theta}_j^{t} e_{ij}^{-1} \tilde{\delta}_{ij} + {}^t\! e_{ij} \tilde{b}_i l_{ij}^{-1} = \tilde{b}_j.$$

$$(8.17)$$

This is simply the statement that the cup product $\tilde{\theta} \cdot \tilde{\delta} = 0 \in H^1(\Sigma, E^* \otimes K^{-1/2})$. Now, substituting (8.14) and (8.16) in the expression above gives $b_i^0 = b_j^0$ on U_{ij} and so, $\{b_i^0\} \in H^0(\Sigma, \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}) = \mathbb{C}$. Note that the determinant of ω_i equals $(b_i^0)^2 \det \theta_i$. Since we may assume that ω_i and θ_i have determinant 1, without loss of generality⁵ we take b_i^0 to be 1. The expression (8.17) also gives the relation

$${}^t\!u_{ij}b_il_{ij}^{-1} = b_j$$

on U_{ij} . But ${}^{t}u_{ij}b_{i}l_{ij}^{-1}$ is just the expression of b_i in the coordinate U_j , thus $\{b_i\}$ defines a global holomorphic section of $U \otimes K^{-1/2}$. The vector bundle $U \otimes K^{-1/2}$ is semi-stable of negative degree, so $b_i = 0$, and that is the only way to extend $\tilde{\theta}$ to a symplectic form on V.

Note that we have reconstructed \mathcal{Z}^- from a polystable symplectic vector bundle U of rank 2n-2, an extension class $\delta \in H^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Hom}(U, K^{-1/2}))$ and a choice of $\{a_k\} \in H^1(\Sigma, K^{-1})$. Thus, using Riemann-Roch, we have that the dimension of the open set is

$$\dim \mathcal{U}(Sp(2n-2,\mathbb{C}) + h^1(\operatorname{Hom}(U, K^{-1/2})) + h^1(K^{-1}))$$

= $(n-1)(2n-1)(g-1) + 4(n-1)(g-1) + 3(g-1)$
= $n(2n+1)(g-1)$
= $\dim Sp(2n,\mathbb{C})(g-1).$

This is half of the dimension of the moduli space of Higgs bundles, so the Zariski closure of this open set corresponds to Gaiotto's Lagrangian X. Let us show that this is irreducible

⁵Minus the identity is an automorphism of the symplectic bundle and it identifies any pair (V, ψ) with $(V, -\psi)$.

and thus identifies X with this particular algebraic component of the nilpotent cone for the $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration.

Lemma 8.13. The open set \mathcal{Z}^- intersects the conormal bundle of the generalized thetadivisor $D_{K^{1/2}}$ of $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C}))$.

Proof. Let $0 \neq s \in H^0(\Sigma, K)$ and write its divisor of zeros D as a sum of two divisors D_1 and D_2 of degree g - 1 without common zeros. The line bundles corresponding to these divisors are $\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(D_1) = LK^{1/2}$ and $\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(D_2) = L^*K^{1/2}$, for some line bundle L of degree 0. The line bundles $\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(D_1)$ and $\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma}(D_2)$ come with distinguished (up to a non-zero scalar) sections s_1 and s_2 vanishing precisely on D_1 and D_2 . From the fact that the supports of D_1 and D_2 have empty intersection, the map $s_1 + s_2 : K^{-1/2} \to L \oplus L^*$ is injective. Thus, we have an extension

$$0 \to K^{-1/2} \to L \oplus L^* \to K^{1/2} \to 0.$$

Note that $L \oplus L^*$ is a (strictly) semi-stable rank 2 vector bundle with trivial determinant, which is non-very-stable, i.e., $L \oplus L^*$ admits a non-zero nilpotent Higgs field Φ (take the Higgs field corresponding to $s_1^2 \in H^0(\Sigma, L^2K)$ for example). Now, if $K^{-1/2} \oplus K^{1/2} \oplus U$ is the underlying vector bundle of a Higgs bundle in \mathcal{Z} , then $(L \oplus L^* \oplus U, s_1^2)$ is in the conormal bundle of the generalized theta-divisor $D_{K^{1/2}}$ of $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ (since the underlying vector bundle is semi-stable). Also, $(K^{-1/2})^{\perp} \cong K^{-1/2} \oplus U$, where $U \in \mathcal{U}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$, thus $(L \oplus L^* \oplus U, s_1^2)$ is a Higgs bundle in the intersection of \mathcal{Z}^- and the conormal bundle of $D_{K^{1/2}}$.

In greater generality, Thaddeus [Tha90] has proven that the locus of Higgs bundles whose underlying vector bundle is stable is non-empty in every irreducible component of the nilpotent cone for Higgs bundles of rank 2 and fixed determinant. In any case, there are points in \mathcal{Z}^- flowing down directly to the generalized theta-divisor.

Lemma 8.14. The Zariski closure of \mathbb{Z}^- is an irreducible component of the nilpotent cone for the $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration.

Proof. Consider the locus Z_1^- of Z^- consisting of Higgs bundles $(V, \psi \otimes \psi)$ where the underlying vector bundle V is semi-stable and $H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$ has dimension 1. By Lemma 8.13, this is non-empty (as $H^0(\Sigma, U \otimes K^{1/2}) = 0$ for a generic polystable symplectic vector bundle

U) and it constitutes an open set of \mathbb{Z}^- . Moreover, there is a natural morphism from this open subset to the open set D_1 of the generalized theta-divisor $D_{K^{1/2}}$ consisting of those Vsuch that $h^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) = 1$. Note that \mathbb{Z}_1^- is pure-dimensional, as every component of the nilpotent cone has the same dimension, and D_1 is irreducible, since the generalized thetadivisor is irreducible (c.f. Appendix D.8). The fibres of the map $\mathbb{Z}_1^- \to D_1$ are isomorphic to \mathbb{C}^{\times} , which shows that the closure of \mathbb{Z}^- is irreducible.

Recall that, when $(n,d) \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0} \times \mathbb{Z}$ are coprime, the moduli space $\mathcal{M}(n,d)$ of Higgs bundles of rank n and degree d is smooth and the connected components of the fixed point set \mathcal{F} corresponding to the \mathbb{C}^{\times} -action on $\mathcal{M}(n,d)$ are in bijection with the irreducible components of the associated nilpotent cone. The connected components of \mathcal{F} have a modular interpretation, the so-called moduli space of chains (see e.g. [ACGPS06, Hei16]). For general (n,d), or other groups, it is not known if the chains parametrize the components of the nilpotent cone. As explained in [BGPGH17, Section 6], every connected component \mathcal{Z} of the fixed point set \mathcal{F} gives at least one irreducible component, which arises as the closure of the set of Higgs bundles (V, Φ) such that $\lim_{|\lambda| \to \infty} (V, \lambda \Phi) \in \mathcal{Z}$.

In our case, the locus \mathcal{Z} corresponding to maximums of f (c.f. Proposition 8.9), seen inside the Higgs bundle moduli space, is a connected component of the fixed point set of the circle action on $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2n,\mathbb{C}))$, which, in terms of chains can be written as

$$K^{1/2} \xrightarrow{1} K^{-1/2} \xrightarrow{0} U,$$

where $U \in \mathcal{U}(Sp(2n-2,\mathbb{C}))$. As discussed, this is the maximum of $\|\Phi\|_2^2$ on the Gaiotto Lagrangian.

Theorem 8.15. The Gaiotto Lagrangian X corresponds to the irreducible component of the nilpotent cone $Nilp(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ labeled by the chain

$$K^{1/2} \xrightarrow{1} K^{-1/2} \xrightarrow{0} U,$$

where $U \in \mathcal{U}(Sp(2n-2,\mathbb{C}))$.

Note that when the norm of the spinor is sufficiently small, by Hitchin equation, the underlying vector bundle is polystable. The theta-bundle Θ has a section vanishing on the generalized theta-divisor $D_{K^{1/2}}$ and at a point $V \in D_{K^{1/2}}$, the fibre of Θ is identified with

$$\Lambda^{top} H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})^* \otimes \Lambda^{top} H^1(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$$

(for more details see Appendix D.2.3). Since V is symplectic, Serre duality gives an identification between $H^1(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$ and $H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})^*$. It thus follows that restricting to the locus of $D_{K^{1/2}}$ consisting of semi-stable symplectic vector bundle V which have $h^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) = 1$, the conormal bundle gets identified with Θ^{-2} , as explained in [Hit17, Section 3]. The Gaiotto Lagrangian intersects the cotangent bundle $T^*\mathcal{U}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ in the conormal bundle of $D_{K^{1/2}}$. Part III

Further questions

Chapter 9

Further questions

In this final chapter we mention some interesting questions that emerge from the results and ideas in this thesis.

1. The hyperholomorphic bundle: Given a complex reductive group G, mirror symmetry should transform a BAA-brane on the moduli space $\mathcal{M}(G)$ of G-Higgs bundles to a BBB-brane on the moduli space of Higgs bundles for the Langlands dual group ^{L}G . Moreover, this duality should be realized by a Fourier-type transformation. For any real form G_0 of G there is a natural associated BAA-brane on $\mathcal{M}(G)$. In Chapter 6 we give a proposal for the support of the dual BBB-brane on $\mathcal{M}(^{L}G)$ associated to the real forms $G_0 = SU^*(2m)$, $SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m,m) of $G = SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$, $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$, respectively. For these real forms, the BAA-branes are supported on the singular locus (the associated spectral curves are non-reduced schemes) and a full Fourier-Mukai transform is not known to exist. Recently, Gaiotto [Gai16] considered several examples of BAA-branes in the moduli space of Higgs bundles and discussed the associated dual BBB-brane, which always arose from the Dirac-Higgs bundle. In particular, he considers examples of BAA-branes associated to symplectic representations of G (as in Chapter 7) and he also remarks that Hitchin's proposal in [Hit16] for the dual brane corresponding to the real form $U(m,m) \subset GL(2m,\mathbb{C})$ is in accordance with the ideas developed in his paper. Let us recall the construction of the Dirac-Higgs bundle and explain some difficulties that arise for our real forms. A good reference for

this material is [Bla15], which we follow closely together with Section 7 from [Hit16]. On a manifold with a spin structure we have natural spinor bundles S^{\pm} and the ordinary Dirac-operator can be seen as an operator taking smooth sections of S^+ to smooth section of S^- . Let $K^{\mathbb{C}}$ be a semisimple Lie group, where K is compact, and consider a $K^{\mathbb{C}}$ -Higgs bundle (P, Φ) . Also, let A be the K-connection on P solving the Higgs bundle equations. The **Dirac-Higgs operator** is then defined as the ordinary Dirac operator coupled with (A, Φ) . In particular, given a representation \mathbb{V} of K we can consider the operator $D_{\mathbb{V}}: \Omega^0(S^+ \otimes V) \to \Omega^0(S^- \otimes V)$, where V is the vector bundle associated to P via \mathbb{V} . More precisely,

$$D_{\mathbb{V}} = \begin{pmatrix} \partial_A & -\Phi \\ \Phi^* & -\bar{\partial}_A \end{pmatrix} : \Omega^0(V)^{\oplus 2} \to \Omega^{1,0}(V) \oplus \Omega^{0,1}(V)$$

and considering the L^2 -norm on $\Omega^1(V)$, the adjoint of $D_{\mathbb{V}}$ is the elliptic operator

$$D_{\mathbb{V}}^* = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\partial}_A & \Phi \\ \Phi^* & \partial_A \end{pmatrix} : \Omega^{1,0}(V) \oplus \Omega^{0,1}(V) \to \Omega^{1,1}(V).$$

As remarked by Hitchin in *loc. cit.*, the Higgs bundle equation yields a vanishing theorem for irreducible connections and the dimension of $\ker(D^*_{\mathbb{V}})$ is $2\operatorname{rk}(V)(g-1)$ (this can also be found in [Bla15, Proposition 2.1.10]). Hodge theory allows one to view the operator in complex structure I as the two-term complex of sheaves \mathbb{V} given by

$$\Phi: \mathcal{O}(V) \to \mathcal{O}(V \otimes K)$$

and the kernel of $D^*_{\mathbb{V}}$ is identified with the first hypercohomology $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \mathsf{V})$. Moreover, if det (Φ) has simple zeros z_1, \ldots, z_N , one has the identification

$$\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \mathsf{V}) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^N \operatorname{coker}(\Phi_{z_i}),$$

where $N = 2 \operatorname{rk}(V)(g-1)$ (see e.g. Lemmas 2.4.1 and 2.4.3 in [Bla15]). The moduli space of Higgs bundles $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}(K^{\mathbb{C}})$ is coarse and not fine, thus there is no universal Higgs bundle on $\mathcal{M} \times \Sigma$. However, one can always find an open covering $\{U_i\}$ of \mathcal{M}
and local universal Higgs bundles $(\mathcal{V}_i, \Theta_i)$, where \mathcal{V}_i is a vector bundle on $U_i \times \Sigma$ and $\mathcal{V}_i \to \mathcal{V} \otimes p_1^* K$, where $p_1 : \mathcal{M} \times \Sigma \to \Sigma$ is the projection onto the first factor. On each intersection $U_{ij} = U_i \cap U_j$ the bundles are related by $\mathcal{V}_i|_{U_{ij}} = L_{ij} \otimes \mathcal{V}_j|_{U_{ij}}$, for some flat unitary line bundles L_{ij} satisfying $L_{ij} = L_{ji}^{-1}$ on U_{ij} and $L_{ij}L_{jk}L_{ki} = \mathcal{O}$ on the triple intersection $U_{ijk} = U_i \cap U_j \cap U_k$. These line bundles define a so-called gerbe (for more on gerbes, see e.g. [Hit01]). Moreover, if $p_1: \mathcal{M}^s \times \Sigma \to \mathcal{M}^s$ is the projection onto the stable locus of \mathcal{M} , the sheaf $\mathcal{D}_i = R^1 p_{1,*} \mathcal{V}_i$ is a vector bundle whose fibre at a stable Higgs bundle (V, Φ) is isomorphic to $\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma, \mathsf{V})$. These vector bundles \mathcal{D}_i are related to each other on the intersections by the line bundles L_{ij} . One may embed \mathcal{D}_i in the trivial bundle $\Omega = \Omega^{1,0}(V) \oplus \Omega^{0,1}(V) \times \mathcal{M}^s$ on \mathcal{M}^s , where $(V, \Phi) \in \mathcal{M}^s$ (denote by A the metric solving the Higgs bundle equation). The Hermitian metric on V induces an L^2 -metric on Ω and $\ker(\mathcal{D}^*_{(A,\Phi)}) \subset \Omega^{1,0}(V) \oplus \Omega^{0,1}(V)$ has a natural unitary connection (coming from the orthogonal projection of the trivial connection on Ω). Using the different interpretations of the operator $\mathcal{D}^*_{(A,\Phi)}$ in different complex structures (e.g. in complex structure J it can be viewed as the de Rham complex for the flat connection $\nabla_A + \Phi + \Phi^*$), one can prove that the unitary connection constructed in each \mathcal{D}_i is of type (1,1) with respect to all complex structures of \mathcal{M} , thus a hyperholomorphic vector bundle (see e.g. [Bla15, Theorem 2.6.3]).

We want to find a hyperholomorphic bundle supported on the moduli space of Higgs bundles for the Nadler group ${}^{L}G_{0}$, where $G_{0} = SU^{*}(2m)$, $SO^{*}(4m)$ and Sp(m,m). First we look at the Dirac-Higgs operator associated to the representations of the Nadler group coming from the embedding ${}^{L}G_{0} \hookrightarrow {}^{L}G$. Consider the embedding

$$g \in SL(2m, \mathbb{C}) \mapsto \operatorname{diag}(g, g) \in SL(4m, \mathbb{C}).$$

Take a vector bundle V of rank 2m with trivial determinant and assume that (V, Φ) lies in a generic fibre of the $SL(2m, \mathbb{C})$ -Hitchin fibration. Let $S = \text{Zeros}(p(\lambda))$ be the (smooth) spectral curve of (V, Φ) , where $p(x) = x^{2m} + a_2 x^{2m-2} + \ldots + a_{2m}$, and denote by Z the distinct zeros of $\det(\Phi) = a_{2m}$. Thus, the first hypercohomology at (V, Φ) gives

$$\mathbb{H}^{1}(\Sigma, \mathsf{V}) \cong \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{coker}(\Phi \oplus \Phi)_{z}$$
$$\cong \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} (L\pi^{*}K \oplus L\pi^{*}K)_{z}$$

where $\pi : S \to \Sigma$ is the spectral cover and $L \in P(S, \Sigma)$ (with $\pi_*L \cong V$). There is a similar picture for the group $SU^*(2m)$, but now the dual brane should be supported on the strictly semi-stable locus of the moduli space of $PGL(4m, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundles and so, there is no natural candidate for the hyperholomorphic bundle (or sheaf). For the other two cases, one also encounters the difficulty of the dual brane being contained in the strictly semi-stable locus of the Higgs bundle moduli space. For $SO^*(4m)$, the Nadler group ${}^LSO^*(4m) = Sp(2m, \mathbb{C})$ sits inside ${}^LSO(4m, \mathbb{C}) = SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ as diag $(g, {}^tg^{-1})$. Let (V, Φ) be a symplectic Higgs bundle (of rank 2m) associated, via the *BNR* correspondence, to the line bundle $L \in P(S, \overline{S})$. If Z is the fixed point set of the involution σ on the spectral curve S of (V, Φ) , the hypercohomology at this point gives

$$\mathbb{H}^1(\Sigma,\mathsf{V}) \cong \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} (L\pi^* K^{(2m+1)/2} \oplus \sigma^* L\pi^* K^{(2m+1)/2})_z$$

and the obstruction to having an universal bundle lies in $H^2(\mathcal{M}(Sp(2m,\mathbb{C}),\mathbb{Z}_2))$. As in the U(m,m) case treated by Hitchin in loc. cit., the fibre of the integrable system for $SO^*(4m)$ has several connected components and it is not clear which hyperholomorphic bundle should be taken for each component. Finally, for $G_0 = Sp(m,m)$ we consider the embedding

$${}^{L}Sp(m,m) = Sp(m,m) \to {}^{L}Sp(4m,\mathbb{C}) = SO(4m+1,\mathbb{C})$$
$$g \mapsto \operatorname{diag}(g,{}^{t}\!(g)^{-1},1).$$

As remarked by Hitchin in [Hit07a], the zero eigenspace (associated to 1 in the embedding) links $\mathfrak{so}(4m+1,\mathbb{C})$ and $\mathfrak{sp}(4m,\mathbb{C})$ in the duality and brings further technical difficulties.

2. Vector bundles with many sections: In Chapter 8 we have studied the Lagrangian

inside $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2m,\mathbb{C}))$ obtained by Higgs bundles of the form $(V, \psi \otimes \psi)$, where V was a symplectic vector bundle such that $V \otimes K^{1/2}$ admitted sections (for a fixed square root $K^{1/2}$ of the canonical bundle of Σ). In particular, this Lagrangian intersected the cotangent bundle to the moduli space of stable symplectic bundles on the conormal bundle of the determinant divisor. A natural generalization is to look at the locus inside $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2m,\mathbb{C}))$ consisting of those V such that $h^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) = k > 1$. This is a natural generalization of Gaiotto Lagrangian and is closely related to lower-dimensional subvarieties contained in the determinant divisor of $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2m,\mathbb{C}))$ (and conormal bundles of those). Recall that for any symplectic representation of the semisimple complex group G, we obtained a quadratic moment map. In particular, μ corresponds to a bilinear form and if we have a k-dimensional space of sections $H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$, then we may look at the image of the map

$$\operatorname{Sym}^2 H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) \to H^0(\Sigma, \operatorname{Sym}^2(V) \otimes K^{1/2})$$

inside the space of Higgs fields. By the same reasons given in Chapter 7, we expect to obtain an isotropic subvariety and we may ask if it is a Lagrangian inside the Higgs bundle moduli space and how it intersects the Gaiotto Lagrangian. To get an idea about the dimension of this subvariety X_k inside $\mathcal{M}(Sp(2m, \mathbb{C}))$, note that the $\bar{\partial}$ -operator

$$\bar{\partial}: \Omega^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) \to \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$$

is formally symmetric (see [Hit17]). The finite-dimensional analog of this is the space of symmetric matrices. In that case, it is known that the locus of points where the kernel has dimension greater than or equal to k is of codimension k(k + 1)/2. Using Fredholm operators one should expect the same to hold in this infinite-dimensional setting, provided V is generic. Now, from a k-dimensional space of spinors we can construct a k(k+1)/2-dimensional space of Higgs fields, thus obtaining that X_k is also a Lagrangian. Another way to think of this is by shifting the problem to a problem of Brill-Noether locus for line bundles, where much more is known. To that end we consider the question of abelianisation for $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2m, \mathbb{C}))$, which has to do with finding an open set of an abelian variety with a dominant rational map to $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2m, \mathbb{C}))$ (see [BNR89, Hit87b, Don95]). Thus, we consider a Prym variety $P(S, \overline{S})$ given by a ramified 2-covering

$$\rho: S \to \bar{S},$$

where \bar{S} is the quotient of S by an involution $\sigma : S \to S$. Denote by $\pi : S \to \Sigma$ the corresponding 2*m*-ramified covering and note that $H^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) = H^0(S, U\pi^*K^m)$, where V is a symplectic vector bundle obtained by the direct image of the line bundle $L = U\pi^*K^{(2m-1)/2}$, with $U \in P(S, \bar{S})$. In [Kan96], Kanev studies Brill-Noether loci related to Prym varieties which arise in this way and obtains that if the locus

$$W^{r} = \{ U \in P(S, \bar{S}) \mid h^{0}(S, U\pi^{*}K^{m}) > r \}$$

is non-empty, every irreducible component of W^r has dimension at least dim $Sp(2m, \mathbb{C})(g-1) - (r+2)(r+1)/2$. Also, the Zariski open set of W^r containing line bundles U with $h^0(S, U\pi^*K^m) = r+1$ and whose kernel of the Petri map is $\Lambda^2 H^0(S, U\pi^*K^m)$ is smooth of dimension dim $Sp(2m, \mathbb{C})(g-1) - (r+2)(r+1)/2$, which is what we expect to get a Lagrangian. We finish by mentioning an example when the genus of Σ is 3 and the rank of the bundle is 2. In that case, the moduli space $\mathcal{U}_{\Sigma}(2, K)$ of semi-stable rank 2 bundles of fixed determinant K (this is isomorphic to $\mathcal{U}_{\Sigma}(Sp(2,\mathbb{C}))$) is known to be embedded in \mathbb{P}^7 as a so-called *Coble quartic*. Moreover, the Brill-Noether locus $W = W^0$ is such that W^1 is a Veronese cone with vertex W^2 , a unique point. So there is a unique vector bundle with 3-dimensional space of sections and it turns out that this is actually a smooth point in this moduli space (see [OPP98]). Thus, the subvariety X_3 inside the moduli space of $SL(2, \mathbb{C}) = Sp(2, \mathbb{C})$ -Higgs bundles in this case is indeed a Lagrangian, which is the closure of the fibre of the cotangent bundle inside the Higgs bundle moduli space at this stable bundle W^2 . Moreover, the usual Gaiotto Lagrangian is contained in X_3 as a quadric cone.

3. An orthogonal analogue: In the second part of the thesis we have considered a distinguished (Lagrangian) subvariety of the Higgs bundle moduli space obtained from a symplectic representation of the group. In particular, we describe in detail in Chapter 8 this subvariety for the standard representation of the symplectic group. Let us briefly describe a natural analogue of this construction for the orthogonal group. Fix a square

root $K^{1/2}$ of the canonical bundle of Σ . Recall that for any vector bundle W on Σ with $O(n, \mathbb{C})$ -structure we can assign an analytic mod 2 index

$$\varphi_{\Sigma}(W) = h^0(\Sigma, W \otimes K^{1/2}) \mod 2$$

which, by Theorem 1 in [Hit16], satisfies

$$w_2(W) = \varphi_{\Sigma}(W) + \varphi_{\Sigma}(\det(W)),$$

where w_2 is the second Stiefel-Whitney class. So, let V be an orthogonal vector bundle. If $\varphi_{\Sigma}(V)$ is one, there are always spinors (i.e., global holomorphic sections of $V \otimes K^{1/2}$). If it is zero, the generic stable orthogonal vector bundle does not admit any non-trivial spinor and the constraint $h^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) \neq 0$ gives a divisor $D_{K^{1/2}}$ on the moduli space of stable orthogonal bundles. Moreover, the associated $\bar{\partial}$ -operator

$$\bar{\partial}: \Omega^0(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2}) \to \Omega^{0,1}(\Sigma, V \otimes K^{1/2})$$

is formally skew-adjoint and the Quillen determinant line bundle for this family of $\bar{\partial}$ operators is the square of a Pfaffian. In particular, if V is on the divisor and ψ_1 and ψ_2 are two non-zero spinors, we obtain $\psi_1 \wedge \psi_2 \in H^0(\Sigma, \Lambda^2 V \otimes K)$. Since $\Lambda^2 V$ is isomorphic
to the adjoint bundle of V, this is a Higgs field for the orthogonal group. Although
this may no longer be maximally isotropic, it provides a distinguished subvariety of the
Higgs bundle moduli space for the orthogonal group which appears as an analogue of the
construction for the symplectic group. Apart from the interesting task of studying the
geometry of this subvariety, one could try and see what is the corresponding locus inside
the symplectic group under the duality between Higgs bundles for the odd orthogonal
group and Higgs bundles for the symplectic group (for more details on this duality see
[Hit07a]).

Notational conventions

We gather below a list of selected notation and notational conventions frequently used throughout the thesis.

- Σ is always a compact Riemann surface (or equivalently a projective non-singular irreducible curve over \mathbb{C}) of genus $g \ge 2$ with canonical bundle K.
- $C^{(k)}$ is the k-th symmetric product of a Riemann surface C.
- I, J and K are always complex structures.
- G is a (connected) reductive group over C (in the algebraic or in the analytic category) with Lie algebra 𝔅.
- G_0 is a real form of G (fixed by some anti-holomorphic involution on G) with Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_0 .
- ${}^{L}G_0 \subset {}^{L}G$ is the Nadler group associated to the real form G_0 of G, where ${}^{L}G$ denotes the Langlands dual group of G.
- V and E are (holomorphic or algebraic) vector bundles.
- We usually denote the tensor product $L_1 \otimes L_2$ of line bundles simply by L_1L_2 .
- \mathcal{E} is a coherent sheaf.
- *P* is a (holomorphic or algebraic) principal bundle.
- $\mathcal{U}_{\Sigma}(n,d)$ (or simply $\mathcal{U}(n,d)$) is the moduli space of semi-stable vector bundles of rank n and degree d on Σ . Moreover, we denote by $\mathcal{U}(n,L) \subset \mathcal{U}(n,d)$ the locus of vector bundles with fixed determinant L, where L is a line bundle on Σ of degree d.

- $\mathcal{N}^d(G)$ is the moduli space of semi-stable principal *G*-bundles on Σ of topological type $d \in \pi_1(G)$. When seen as a moduli space parametrizing semi-stable vector bundles (with extra structure) $\mathcal{N}^d(d)$ is denoted by $\mathcal{U}^d(G)$.
- B is a non-degenerate Ad-invariant bilinear form on g. In particular, we usually denote the Killing form of g by B_g.
- In general, when we want to refer to a Higgs bundle on Σ as a complex of locally-free sheaves concentrated in degrees 0 and 1 we write the underlying bundle in Sans Serif font, e.g. the Higgs bundle (E, Φ) is denoted as E = (E → E ⊗ K).
- $\mathcal{M}^d(G)$ is the moduli space of polystable *G*-Higgs bundles on Σ of type $d \in \pi_1(G)$. In particular, when $G = GL(n, \mathbb{C})$, we denote by $\mathcal{M}(n, d)$ the moduli space of polystable Higgs bundles of rank *n* and degree *d*.
- $\mathcal{M}_{dR}^d(G)$ (respectively, $\mathcal{M}_{gauge}^d(G)$) is the moduli space of flat *G*-connections (respectively, solutions to Hitchin equations) on Σ of type $d \in \pi_1(G)$.
- $h_G: \mathcal{M}^d(G) \to \mathcal{A}(G)$ (or simply h) is the *G*-Hitchin map, where $\mathcal{A}(G)$ is the Hitchin base.
- X_a (respectively, $\pi_a : X_a \to \Sigma$) is the spectral curve (respectively, spectral cover) associated to a point $a \in \mathcal{A}(G)$ in the Hitchin base.
- Pic⁰(X) is the Jacobian of a projective curve X (i.e., the connected component of the identity of the Picard scheme).
- $\operatorname{Nm}_{\pi} : \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X_{1}) \to \operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X_{2})$ is the Norm map associated to a finite map $\pi : X_{1} \to X_{2}$ between projective curves over \mathbb{C} . Moreover, $\operatorname{P}(X_{1}, X_{2})$ is the associated Prym variety.
- $\mathcal{M}(\mathcal{O}_X(1), P)$ is the Simpson moduli space parametrizing semi-stable sheaves on a polarized projective \mathbb{C} -scheme $(X, \mathcal{O}_X(1))$ with Hilbert polynomial P. In particular, we denote by $\mathcal{M}(a; k)$ the Simpson moduli space for semi-stable rank 1 sheaves on the spectral curve X_a of polarized degree k (with the polarization coming from a polarization on Σ).
- $S^d(\rho, K^{1/2})$ is the moduli space of semi-stable $(\rho, K^{1/2})$ -pairs of type $d \in \pi_1(G)$ on Σ .

- $\Theta(\mathbb{V})$ is the theta-bundle on $\mathcal{N}(G)$ associated to a linear representation \mathbb{V} .
- $D_{L_0} = \{P \in \mathcal{N}(G) \mid H^0(\Sigma, P(\mathbb{V}) \otimes L_0) \neq 0\}$ is the support of the generalized thetadivisor associated to the linear representation \mathbb{V} (and an appropriate choice of line bundle L_0).
- ∂_A and $\bar{\partial}_A$ are the (1,0) and (0,1)-parts of the covariant derivative d_A (or ∇_A) associated to a connection A.

Appendix A

Lie theory

In this subsection we recall some basic facts in Lie theory and establish notation used throughout the text.

Let \mathfrak{g} be a finite-dimensional Lie algebra over the field of real or complex numbers. Consider the algebraic group $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{g})$ of automorphisms of \mathfrak{g} . We denote by $\operatorname{Int}(\mathfrak{g})$ the (normal) subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{g})$ generated by elements of the form $\exp(\operatorname{ad} x)$, $x \in \mathfrak{g}$, and call it the **group** of inner automorphisms of \mathfrak{g} . Also, the quotient $\operatorname{Out}(\mathfrak{g}) = \operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{g})/\operatorname{Int}(\mathfrak{g})$ is called the group of outer outer isomorphisms of \mathfrak{g} . In particular, the Lie algebra of $\operatorname{Int}(\mathfrak{g})$ is the adjoint algebra $\operatorname{ad}(\mathfrak{g})$, an ideal of the Lie algebra of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{g})$, which is the algebra $\operatorname{der}(\mathfrak{g})$ of derivations of \mathfrak{g} . Moreover, the image $\operatorname{Ad}(G)$ of the adjoint representation of G is a normal subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{g})$ called the **adjoint group** of the Lie group G. When G is connected, $\operatorname{Ad}(G) = \operatorname{Int}(\mathfrak{g})$ and $\ker \operatorname{Ad} = Z(G)$ is the center of G.

Remark A.1: If \mathfrak{g} is semisimple, $\mathfrak{der}(\mathfrak{g}) = \mathrm{ad}(\mathfrak{g})$ and $\mathrm{Int}(\mathfrak{g})$ is the connected component $\mathrm{Aut}(\mathfrak{g})^{\circ}$ containing the identity of $\mathrm{Aut}(\mathfrak{g})$.

Let \mathfrak{g} be a Lie algebra over the complex numbers. A real subalgebra $\mathfrak{g}_0 \subseteq \mathfrak{g}$ is called a real form of \mathfrak{g} if the natural homomorphism of complex Lie algebras $\mathfrak{g}_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C} \to \mathfrak{g}$ is an isomorphism. Note that the real form \mathfrak{g}_0 defines an anti-linear involution on $\mathfrak{g} \cong \mathfrak{g}_0 \oplus i\mathfrak{g}_0$ by

$$\sigma: x + iy \to x + -iy$$

Conversely, given an anti-linear involution $\sigma : \mathfrak{g} \to \mathfrak{g}$, the subalgebra of fixed points \mathfrak{g}^{σ} defines a real form of \mathfrak{g} . This correspondence gives a bijection between isomorphism classes of real forms and isomorphism classes of anti-linear involutions, or **conjugations**, of \mathfrak{g} (where two conjugations σ_1 and σ_2 are equivalent if $\sigma_1 = \alpha \sigma_2 \alpha^{-1}$, for some $\alpha \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{g})$).

Complex semisimple Lie algebras always have special real forms. A real form \mathfrak{g}_0 of \mathfrak{g} is called **compact** if $\operatorname{Int}(\mathfrak{g}_0)$ is a compact group. For the semisimple case, this is equivalent to \mathfrak{g}_0 being a Lie algebra of a compact Lie group, or that its Killing form $B_{\mathfrak{g}_0}(x, y) = \operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{ad}(x) \operatorname{ad}(y))$ is negative definite. There exists a unique compact real form, say \mathfrak{k} , up to conjugacy by an inner automorphism, of a complex semisimple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and one can use this to get a correspondence¹ between real forms and isomorphism classes of \mathbb{C} -linear involutions of \mathfrak{g} . The correspondence goes as follows. Given an anti-linear involution σ , Cartan showed (see, e.g., [Oni04]) that one can always find another anti-linear involution τ corresponding to a compact real form of \mathfrak{g} which commutes with σ . One then assigns σ to $\theta := \sigma \circ \tau = \tau \circ \sigma$.

Definition A.2. Let \mathfrak{g}_0 be a real Lie algebra. An involution $\theta : \mathfrak{g}_0 \to \mathfrak{g}_0$ is called a **Cartan** involution if the symmetric bilinear form on \mathfrak{g}_0 given by $B_{\theta}(x, y) \coloneqq -B(x, \theta y)$ is positive definite.

The involution θ corresponding to a non-compact real form σ of a complex semisimple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} satisfies this property.

Claim 2. $\theta|_{\mathfrak{g}_0}$ is a Cartan involution.

Proof. First notice that both τ and σ commute with θ . In particular, this means that $\theta|_{\mathfrak{g}_0} : \mathfrak{g}_0 \to \mathfrak{g}_0$ and $\theta|_{\mathfrak{k}} : \mathfrak{k} \to \mathfrak{k}$. Moreover, the eigenspace decomposition defined by the involution θ induces eigenspace decompositions

$$\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{g}^+ \oplus \mathfrak{g}^ \mathfrak{k} = \mathfrak{k}^+ \oplus \mathfrak{k}^-$$

¹The correspondence between equivalence classes of anti-linear involutions and equivalence classes of linear involutions restricts to a bijection when the equivalence is considered by inner automorphisms.

where the superscripts \pm indicate the ± 1 -eigenspaces with respect to θ . Let $\mathfrak{h} \coloneqq \mathfrak{g}^+$ and $\mathfrak{m} \coloneqq \mathfrak{g}_0^-$. Since $\theta|_{\mathfrak{g}_0} = \sigma|_{\mathfrak{g}_0}$ and $\theta|_{\mathfrak{k}} = \tau|_{\mathfrak{k}}$,

$$\mathfrak{k}^+ = \mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{g} \cap \mathfrak{k}$$

 $\mathfrak{k}^- = i\mathfrak{m} = i\mathfrak{g} \cap \mathfrak{k}.$

It is now straightforward to show, from the fact that the Killing form of $\mathfrak{k} = \mathfrak{h} \oplus i\mathfrak{m}$ ($B_{\mathfrak{k}} = B_{\mathfrak{g}}|_{\mathfrak{k} \times \mathfrak{k}}$) is negative definite, that the restriction of θ to \mathfrak{g}_0 is a Cartan involution. \Box

Note that,

- The decomposition $\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{m}$ is orthogonal with respect to B and B_θ (this follows directly from the fact that the Killing form is invariant under automorphisms).
- This decomposition satisfies

$$[\mathfrak{h},\mathfrak{h}]\subseteq\mathfrak{h},\quad [\mathfrak{h},\mathfrak{m}]\subseteq\mathfrak{m},\quad [\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{m}]\subseteq\mathfrak{h}.$$

- The Killing form is negative definite on ħ and positive definite on m. In particular, ħ is a compact Lie algebra. If G₀ is a connected semisimple Lie group with Lie algebra g₀, then the Lie subgroup H ≔< exp ħ > of G₀ generated by the exponential map is a maximal compact subgroup of G₀.
- It can be shown that any two Cartan involutions of \mathfrak{g}_0 are conjugate via an inner automorphism ([Kna02]).

Definition A.3. A direct sum of the form

$$\mathfrak{g}_0=\mathfrak{h}\oplus\mathfrak{m}$$

is called a **Cartan decomposition** for the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_0 if

$$[\mathfrak{h},\mathfrak{h}]\subseteq\mathfrak{h}, \hspace{0.5cm} [\mathfrak{h},\mathfrak{m}]\subseteq\mathfrak{m}, \hspace{0.5cm} [\mathfrak{m},\mathfrak{m}]\subseteq\mathfrak{h}$$

and the Killing form is negative definite on \mathfrak{h} and positive definite on \mathfrak{m} .

Now, starting with a Cartan decomposition $\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{m}$, one can define the involution θ whose ± 1 -eigenspace is \mathfrak{h} and \mathfrak{m} , respectively. Extending this to an involution on the complexification of \mathfrak{g}_0 (denoted by the same symbol) and considering the anti-involution σ corresponding to \mathfrak{g} , we find that they commute. Thus, $\tau \coloneqq \sigma \circ \theta$ is an anti-involution which commutes with σ and is easily checked to be compact.

We conclude that any Cartan decomposition of a real semisimple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_0 can be obtained using a compact real form of the complexification of \mathfrak{g}_0 , as described previously.

A.1 The Nadler group

Let G_0 be a real form of a connected reductive complex algebraic group G. In [Nad05], Nadler constructs from G_0 a complex subgroup of the connected dual group LG , extending the idea that the geometry of a connected group over \mathbb{C} is reflected in the representation theory of its dual group. This complex subgroup will be denoted by LG_0 and hereinafter called the **Nadler group** of the real form $G_0 \subset G$. On page 3 loc. cit. one can find a table containing the Lie algebra ${}^L\mathfrak{g}_0$ of the Nadler group associated to a real form G_0 of a simple group Gand in Section 10.7 loc. cit. a more self-contained description of the Nadler group is given. In this section we will describe in some detail the Nadler group associated to the real form $SU^*(2n)$ of $SL(2n, \mathbb{C})$. We also mention how the Nadler group of $SO^*(4m)$ and Sp(m,m)can be realized inside $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $SO(4m + 1, \mathbb{C})$, respectively.

We begin with some structure theory. Let \mathfrak{g}_0 be a real Lie algebra with $\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{m}$ a Cartan decomposition. Then $\mathfrak{k} = \mathfrak{h} \oplus i\mathfrak{m}$ is a compact form of the complexification \mathfrak{g} of \mathfrak{g}_0 . Let σ and τ denote the conjugations of \mathfrak{g} with respect to \mathfrak{g}_0 and \mathfrak{k} , respectively. Let $\theta = \sigma \tau = \tau \sigma$ be the corresponding automorphism of \mathfrak{g} .

One can choose real subalgebras

$$\mathfrak{g}_0 \supseteq \mathfrak{p} \supseteq \mathfrak{l} \supseteq \mathfrak{t} \supseteq \mathfrak{a}$$

that dictates the structure of \mathfrak{g}_0 . Here, \mathfrak{p} is minimal parabolic, \mathfrak{l} is its Levi factor, \mathfrak{t} is a maximal toral subalgebra and \mathfrak{a} is a maximally split toral subalgebra. The recipe to find

them is as follows. First, from the Cartan decomposition, pick

 $\mathfrak{a} \subseteq \mathfrak{m}$ any maximal abelian subalgebra.

Another choice \mathfrak{a}' satisfies $\mathfrak{a}' = \operatorname{Ad}(h)\mathfrak{a}$ for a $h \in H(=$ analytic subgroup with Lie algebra \mathfrak{h}). Then, define

$$\mathfrak{l} := \mathfrak{a} \oplus Z_{\mathfrak{h}}(\mathfrak{a}).$$

Next, there is a root space decomposition $\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{l} \oplus \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Sigma} \mathfrak{g}_{\lambda}$. Here $\Sigma = \{\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}^* \mid \mathfrak{g}_{\lambda} \neq 0\}$, where $\mathfrak{g}_{\lambda} = \{X \in \mathfrak{g}_0 \mid [H, X] = \lambda(H) \text{ for all } H \in \mathfrak{a}\}$. The set $\Sigma = \Sigma(\mathfrak{g}_0, \mathfrak{a})$ forms a root system (not necessarily reduced) called the **restricted roots**. Put an order on \mathfrak{a}^* (e.g., the lexicographic order with respect to a fixed basis of \mathfrak{a}^*) and denote by Σ^+ the set of positive elements on Σ . Then, the algebra \mathfrak{p} is given by

$$\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{l} \oplus \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Sigma^+} \mathfrak{g}_{\lambda}.$$

So far we have $\mathfrak{g}_0 \supseteq \mathfrak{p} \supseteq \mathfrak{l} \supseteq \mathfrak{a}$.

Further, let $\Phi = \Phi(\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{c}^{\mathbb{C}})$ be the root system of the complexified algebra \mathfrak{g} with respect to any Cartan subalgebra $\mathfrak{c}^{\mathbb{C}}$. We let $(\mathfrak{c}^{\mathbb{C}})_{\mathbb{R}} = \{H \in \mathfrak{c}^{\mathbb{C}} \mid \alpha(H) \in \mathbb{R} \text{ for all } \alpha \in \Phi\}$. Now choose

 $\mathfrak{t}\subseteq\mathfrak{l}\quad\text{ any maximal abelian subalgebra containing }\mathfrak{a}.$

Then, $\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}}$ is a Cartan subalgebra of $\mathfrak{g}^{\mathbb{C}}$ [Hel01, VI, Lemma 3.2] with $(\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}})_{\mathbb{R}} = \mathfrak{a} + i(\mathfrak{t} \cap \mathfrak{h})$ (as $\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}}$ is a Cartan, we could pick any $\mathfrak{t}' \subseteq \mathfrak{g}$ containing \mathfrak{a} and conjugate to $\mathfrak{a} \subseteq \mathfrak{t} \subseteq \mathfrak{l}$). In this situation, the inclusion $\mathfrak{a} \hookrightarrow (\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}})_{\mathbb{R}}$ induces a map res : $(\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}})_{\mathbb{R}}^* \to \mathfrak{a}^*$ by restriction. Then, res induces a surjection (of sets) [Hel01, pp.260–264]

$$\operatorname{res}: \Phi(\mathfrak{g},\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}}) \twoheadrightarrow \Sigma(\mathfrak{g}_0,\mathfrak{a}) \cup \{0\}$$

and we can consider $\Sigma \subseteq (\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}})_{\mathbb{R}}^*$. If we denote by α^{θ} the functional $\alpha^{\theta}(H) = \alpha(\theta H)$ of $(\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}})_{\mathbb{R}}$, one has $\operatorname{res}(\alpha) = \frac{1}{2}(\alpha - \alpha^{\theta})$ [Hel01, p.530]. Putting compatible orderings on \mathfrak{a}^* and $(\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}})_{\mathbb{R}}$ (e.g., lexicographic with respect to a basis of $(\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}})_{\mathbb{R}}$ in which the first elements form a basis of \mathfrak{a}), the map res sends $\Phi^+ \to \Sigma^+ \cup \{0\}$. Moreover

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \mathfrak{g}_{\lambda} = \#\{\alpha \in \Phi \mid \operatorname{res}(\alpha) = \lambda\}.$$

Now, let us focus on the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{su}^*(2n)$. This algebra has an explicit realization as

$$\mathfrak{su}^*(2n) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ -\bar{\beta} & \bar{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} \right\} \cap \mathfrak{sl}(2n, \mathbb{C}).$$

With respect to the (real) involution $\tau: X \mapsto -X^*$ of $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}(2n, \mathbb{C})$ we have $\mathfrak{g}_0 = \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{m}$ with

$$\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{sp}(n) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathfrak{m} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ -\bar{\beta} & \bar{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} \mid \alpha = \alpha^*, \operatorname{tr}(\alpha) = 0, \beta \in \mathfrak{so}(n, \mathbb{C}) \right\}.$$

One checks that τ is the conjugation of \mathfrak{g} with respect to $\mathfrak{k} = \mathfrak{su}(2n)$. Also, the (real) involution $\sigma : X \mapsto J\bar{X}J^{-1}$, where $J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ is the conjugation of \mathfrak{g} with respect to \mathfrak{g}_0 . Then, $\theta = \sigma\tau = \tau\sigma$ is the involution of \mathfrak{g} given by $X \to -J \, {}^t X J^{-1}$.

Pick $\mathfrak{a} \subseteq \mathfrak{m}$ to be the diagonal matrices, so that

$$\mathfrak{a} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \delta & 0 \\ 0 & \delta \end{pmatrix} \mid \delta = \operatorname{diag}(d_1, \dots, d_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n, \operatorname{tr}(\delta) = 0 \right\}.$$

One checks that

$$Z_{\mathfrak{h}}(\mathfrak{a}) = \left\{ X = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ -\bar{\beta} & \bar{\alpha} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathfrak{sp}(n) \mid [X, H] = \begin{pmatrix} [\alpha, \delta] & [\beta, \delta] \\ [\delta, \bar{\beta}] & [\bar{\alpha}, \delta] \end{pmatrix} = 0 \text{ for all } H \in \mathfrak{a} \right\}$$
$$= \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} i\alpha & \beta \\ -\bar{\beta} & -i\alpha \end{pmatrix} \mid \alpha = \operatorname{diag}(a_1, \dots, a_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n, \beta = \operatorname{diag}(b_1, \dots, b_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n \right\}.$$

Hence,

$$\mathfrak{l} = \mathfrak{a} \oplus Z_{\mathfrak{h}}(\mathfrak{a}) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \delta + i\alpha & \beta \\ -\bar{\beta} & \delta - i\alpha \end{pmatrix} \mid \delta, \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^{n}, \operatorname{tr}(\delta) = 0, \beta \in \mathbb{C}^{n} \right\}.$$

Note that $\dim_{\mathbb{R}} \mathfrak{l} = 4n - 1$ and that $\mathfrak{l} \cong \mathfrak{su}(2)^n \oplus \mathbb{R}^{n-1}$. Now we look at the roots. Let ϵ_i be the coordinate functionals in $(\mathbb{R}^{2n})^*$ and let

$$\lambda_{i,j} := \frac{1}{2}(\epsilon_i - \epsilon_j + \epsilon_{i+n} - \epsilon_{j+n}),$$

with $1 \leq i \neq j \leq n$. It follows that $\mathfrak{a}^* = \mathbb{R}(\lambda_{1,2}) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathbb{R}(\lambda_{n-1,n}) \subseteq (\mathbb{R}^n)^*$. Let this induce the ordering of \mathfrak{a}^* . We then have

$$\Sigma = \Sigma(\mathfrak{g}_0, \mathfrak{a}) = \{\lambda_{i,j} \mid 1 \le i \ne j \le n\}, \quad \text{and} \quad \Sigma^+ = \{\lambda_{i,j} \mid 1 \le i < j \le n\}.$$

Indeed, note that the space

$$\mathfrak{g}_{\lambda_{i,j}} = \mathbb{R} \begin{pmatrix} E_{i,j} & 0\\ 0 & E_{i,j} \end{pmatrix} \oplus \mathbb{R} \begin{pmatrix} iE_{i,j} & 0\\ 0 & -iE_{i,j} \end{pmatrix} \oplus \mathbb{R} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & E_{i,j}\\ -E_{i,j} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \oplus \mathbb{R} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & iE_{i,j}\\ iE_{i,j} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

is contained in \mathfrak{g}_0 and satisfies $[H, X] = (d_i - d_j)X$ for all $H \in \mathfrak{a}$ and $X \in \mathfrak{g}_{\lambda_{i,j}}$. Hence, certainly,

$$\mathfrak{l} \oplus igoplus_{i
eq j} \mathfrak{g}_{\lambda_{i,j}} \subseteq \mathfrak{g}_0.$$

As the left hand side has dimension $4n - 1 + 4(n(n-1)) = 4n^2 - 1 = \dim_{\mathbb{R}} \mathfrak{g}$, this must be the root space decomposition of \mathfrak{g}_0 . With the present ordering, we have $\Sigma^+ = \{\lambda_{i,j} \mid i < j\}$. Hence,

$$\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{l} \oplus \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Sigma^+} \mathfrak{g}_{\lambda} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ -\bar{B} & \bar{A} \end{pmatrix} \mid A, B \in \mathfrak{gl}(n, \mathbb{C}) \text{ strictly upper triangular } \right\}.$$

Finally, take $\mathfrak{t}\subseteq\mathfrak{l}$ to be the diagonal matrices. Hence,

$$\mathfrak{t} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \delta + i\alpha & 0 \\ 0 & \delta - i\alpha \end{pmatrix} \mid \delta, \alpha \in \mathbb{R}^n, \operatorname{tr}(\delta) = 0 \right\},\$$

from which

$$\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}} = \{ \text{diagonal in } \mathfrak{gl}(2n, \mathbb{C}) \} \cap \mathfrak{sl}(2n, \mathbb{C}) \quad \text{and} \quad (\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}})_{\mathbb{R}} = \{ \text{diagonal in } \mathfrak{gl}(2n, \mathbb{R}) \} \cap \mathfrak{sl}(2n, \mathbb{R}).$$

Hence, $(\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}})^*_{\mathbb{R}}$ is naturally identified with the subspace of $(\mathbb{R}^{2n})^*$ that vanishes on $\mathbb{R}(1, 1, \ldots, 1)$. Recall that the restriction function res : $(\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}})^*_{\mathbb{R}} \to \mathfrak{a}^*$ is given by $\alpha \mapsto \frac{1}{2}(\alpha - \alpha^{\theta})$, where $\theta : X \mapsto -J {}^t X J^{-1}$. We note that since θ and σ coincide on $(\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{R}})^*_{\mathbb{R}}$, we have $\alpha^{\theta} = \alpha^{\sigma}$. We can thus define res with respect to σ . The root system

$$\Phi = \Phi(\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}}) = \{ \alpha_{i,j} = \epsilon_i - \epsilon_j \mid 1 \le i \ne j \le 2n \}.$$

If $1 \leq i \neq j \leq 2n$ note that

$$(\alpha_{i,j})^{\theta} = -\alpha_{\overline{i+n},\overline{j+n}},$$

where an index \overline{k} means $k \mod 2n$. Hence, as

$$\lambda_{i,j} = \frac{1}{2}(\alpha_{i,j} + \alpha_{i+n,j+n}) = \frac{1}{2}(\alpha_{i+n,j} + \alpha_{i,j+n}),$$

we have

$$\{\alpha \in \Phi \mid \operatorname{res}(\alpha) = \lambda_{i,j}\} = \{\alpha_{i,j}, \alpha_{n+i,n+j}, \alpha_{i+n,j}, \alpha_{i,j+n} \mid 1 \le i \ne j \le n\}$$

and the roots $\{\alpha_{i,n+i}, \alpha_{n+i,i} \mid 1 \leq i \leq n\}$ are sent to zero. We note that to have compatible orderings, we take Φ^+ to be induced by the simple roots

$$\{\alpha_{1,n+1}, \alpha_{n+1,2}, \alpha_{2,n+2}, \alpha_{n+2,3}, \dots, \alpha_{n-1,2n-1}, \alpha_{2n-1,n}, \alpha_{n,2n}\}.$$

Now that we know the structure of the real Lie algebra \mathfrak{g}_0 , we realize the Lie algebra Lg_0 of the associated Nadler group as in [Nad05]. We start by noting that we have

$$\mathfrak{g}\supseteq\mathfrak{p}^{\mathbb{C}}\supseteq\mathfrak{l}^{\mathbb{C}}\supseteq\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}}\supseteq\mathfrak{a}^{\mathbb{C}}$$

$$\mathfrak{a}^{\mathbb{C}} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix} \mid A = \operatorname{diag}(a_1, \dots, a_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n, \operatorname{tr}(A) = 0 \right\}$$
$$\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}} = \left\{ H = \operatorname{diag}(h_1, \dots, h_{2n}) \in \mathbb{C}^{2n} \mid \operatorname{tr}(H) = 0 \right\}$$
$$\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}} = \mathfrak{a}^{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} D & B \\ C & -D \end{pmatrix} \mid D, B, C \in \mathbb{C}^n \right\} \cong \mathfrak{a}^{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{C})^n$$
$$\mathfrak{p}^{\mathbb{C}} = \mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} N_1 & N_2 \\ N_3 & N_4 \end{pmatrix} \mid N_j \in \mathfrak{gl}(n, \mathbb{C}) \text{ strictly upper triangular} \right\}$$
$$\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}(2n, \mathbb{C}).$$

Note that $\mathfrak{a}^{\mathbb{C}}$ is the center of $\mathfrak{l}^{\mathbb{C}}$. Hence, $\Phi_{\mathfrak{l}} = \Phi(\mathfrak{l}^{\mathbb{C}}, \mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}}) = \{\text{roots of }\mathfrak{l}\}$ equals $\{\alpha_{i,n+i}, \alpha_{n+i,i} \mid 1 \leq i \leq n\}$. The positive are $\Phi_{\mathfrak{l}}^+ = \{\alpha_{i,n+1}\}$. The dual Lie algebra is ${}^{L}\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}(2n, \mathbb{C})$. Identify \mathfrak{g} and ${}^{L}\mathfrak{g}$, and, by a slight abuse of notation, we denote by ${}^{L}\mathfrak{t}$ the dual algebra associated to $\mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}}$. Also, let

$$\Psi = \Psi({}^{L}\mathfrak{g}, {}^{L}\mathfrak{t}) = \{\psi_{i,j} \mid 1 \le i \ne j \le 2n\}$$

be the root system dual to Φ . Everything next will depend on these identifications.

A root of \mathfrak{g} is viewed as a coroot of ${}^{L}\mathfrak{g}$. Hence, $\alpha = \alpha_{i,j} : \mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}} \to \mathbb{C}$ is viewed as a function $\check{\alpha}_{i,j} : \mathbb{C} \to {}^{L}\mathfrak{t}$. Explicitly, $\check{\alpha}_{i,j}(z) = z(E_{i,i} - E_{j,j}) \in {}^{L}\mathfrak{t} \subseteq {}^{L}\mathfrak{g}$. Hence, the coroot $2\check{\rho}_{M} = \sum_{\Phi_{\mathfrak{l}}^{+}}\check{\alpha}$ is the function

$$2\check{
ho}_{\mathfrak{l}}:z\mapsto egin{pmatrix} z1_{n}&0\\ 0&-z1_{n} \end{pmatrix},$$

where 1_n is the identity. The subalgebra ${}^L\mathfrak{l}_0$ is defined as ${}^L\mathfrak{l}_0 = Z_{L\mathfrak{g}}(2\check{\rho}_M)$. It is easy to check that

$${}^{L}\mathfrak{l}_{0} = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & B \end{pmatrix} \mid A, B \in \mathfrak{gl}(n, \mathbb{C}), \operatorname{tr}(A) + \operatorname{tr}(B) = 0 \right\}$$

The roots of ${}^{L}\mathfrak{l}_{0}$ are $\Psi_{0} = \{\psi \in \Psi \mid \langle \alpha, 2\check{\rho}_{M} \rangle = 0\}$ which are

$$\Psi_0 = \{\psi_{i,j} \mid 1 \le i \ne j \le n\} \cup \{\psi_{i,j} \mid n \le i \ne j \le 2n\}.$$

The conjugation σ induces an involution on $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{C}, \mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}})$ by sending a coweight $\lambda : \mathbb{C} \to \mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}}$ to the coweight defined by the composition

$$\sigma(\lambda): \mathbb{C} \xrightarrow{\mathbf{c}} \mathbb{C} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}} \xrightarrow{\sigma} \mathfrak{t}^{\mathbb{C}},$$

where **c** is the complex conjugation. This can be extended to the whole algebra, which we also denote by σ , and equals the dual involution ${}^{L}\sigma$ of ${}^{L}\mathfrak{g}$. More precisely,

$${}^{L}\sigma: x \mapsto JxJ^{-1}.$$

Note that the Dynkin diagram of ${}^{L}\mathfrak{l}_{0}$ has two connected components (of type A_{n-1}) and ${}^{L}\sigma$ acts on the diagram by permuting these components. Thus, $\psi_{i,j} + \sigma(\psi_{i,j})$ is not a root. This means that, for any choice of $\{X_{\alpha} \mid X_{\alpha} \in \mathfrak{g}\}$, we have $[X_{\alpha}, X_{\sigma(\alpha)}] = 0$. Hence, we have

$${}^{L}\mathfrak{l}_{0} = {}^{L}\mathfrak{l}_{1}$$

by [Nad05, Remark 10.7.1].

Remark A.4: Nadler says in Section 10.2 loc. cit. that the dual group comes equipped with a distinguished choice of Borel subgroup. For our particular example, however, this will not matter, as we have ${}^{L}\mathfrak{l}_{0} = {}^{L}\mathfrak{l}_{1}$.

Thus, the Lie algebra of the corresponding Nadler group is realized as the fixed points of ${}^{L}\mathfrak{l}_{0}$ with respect to ${}^{L}\sigma$. Therefore

$${}^{L}\mathfrak{su}^{*}(2n) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix} \mid \operatorname{tr}(A) = 0 \right\} \cong \mathfrak{sl}(n, \mathbb{C}) \subset \mathfrak{sl}(2n, \mathbb{C})$$
(A.1)

and the Nadler group of $SU^*(2n) \subset SL(2n, \mathbb{C})$ is $PGL(n, \mathbb{C})$, which sits inside $PGL(2n, \mathbb{C})$ as two equal blocks in the diagonal. Following this recipe we find that the Nadler group of $SO^*(4m) \subset SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $Sp(m, m) \subset Sp(4m, \mathbb{C})$ is $Sp(2m, \mathbb{C})$ (inside $SO(4m, \mathbb{C})$ and $SO(4m+1,\mathbb{C}),$ respectively). These can be realized as

$${}^{L}\mathfrak{so}^{*}(4m) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & -{}^{t}A \end{pmatrix} \mid A \in \mathfrak{sp}(2m, \mathbb{C}) \right\} \cong \mathfrak{sp}(2m, \mathbb{C}) \subset \mathfrak{so}(4m, \mathbb{C})$$
(A.2)

and

$${}^{L}\mathfrak{sp}(m,m) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & -{}^{t}\!A \\ & 0 \end{pmatrix} \mid A \in \mathfrak{sp}(2m,\mathbb{C}) \right\} \cong \mathfrak{sp}(2m,\mathbb{C}) \subset \mathfrak{so}(4m+1,\mathbb{C}).$$
(A.3)

Appendix B

Spectral sequences and hypercohomology

In order to set up notation and state some basic facts that are used throughout the text, we recall the notion of hypercohomology for a complex of sheaves. Also, we introduce spectral sequences obtained from filtrations and explain how one can use these to extract information about the cohomology of the complex. This material is standard and we refer to [Bry08, Har11, GH94] for more details.

B.1 Preliminary notions

Let \mathbf{Ab} be the category of abelian groups¹.

Definition B.1. A spectral sequence is a sequence $\{E_r, d_r\}, r \ge 0$, of bigraded objects in **Ab**, $E_r = \{E_r^{p,q}\}, p, q \ge 0$, together with morphisms $d_r = \{d_r^{p,q}\}, p, q \ge 0$,

$$d_r^{p,q}: E_r^{p,q} \to E_r^{p+r,q-r+1}, \qquad d_r^{p+r,q-r+1} \circ d_r^{p,q} = 0$$

such that the cohomology of E_r is E_{r+1} , i.e., $E_{r+1}^{p,q} \cong \frac{\ker d_r^{p,q}}{\operatorname{Im} d_r^{p-r,q+r-1}}$.

¹In this section, there is no harm in substituting **Ab** for any abelian category, such as the category of R-modules, where R is any ring, the category of sheaves of abelian groups, or \mathcal{O}_X -modules, on a topological space X, the category of (quasi-)coherent sheaves on an algebraic variety, etc.

Although this definition may seem rather arbitrary at first, we will see that it appears naturally. Before that, however, let us show how one can obtain spectral sequences from filtrations of a complex.

Let $(K^{\bullet}, d^{\bullet})$

$$K^0 \xrightarrow{d} K^1 \xrightarrow{d} K^2 \cdots$$

be a complex in **Ab** (very often we will simply write K^{\bullet}). A **subcomplex** L^{\bullet} of K^{\bullet} consists of a family $L^p \subseteq K^p$ of subobjects such that $d(L^p) \subseteq L^{p+1}$ for every p.

Remark B.2: Given a subcomplex L^{\bullet} of K^{\bullet} , one can define a new complex K^{\bullet}/L^{\bullet} , whose *n*-th object is the quotient $(K^{\bullet}/L^{\bullet})^n = K^n/L^n$, and the differential is the induced one.

Definition B.3. A filtration² of a complex K^{\bullet} consists of a nested family

$$F^{t}(K^{\bullet}) = \{0\} \subseteq F^{t-1}(K^{\bullet}) \subseteq \ldots \subseteq F^{p}(K^{\bullet}) \subseteq \ldots \subseteq F^{0}(K^{\bullet}) = K^{\bullet}$$

of subcomplexes $F^p(K^{\bullet})$ of K^{\bullet} . We denote the degree n of the complex $F^p(K^{\bullet})$ by F^pK^n .

Remark B.4: Let $\{F^p(K^{\bullet})\}$ be a filtration of a complex K^{\bullet} . Each inclusion of complexes $F^p(K^{\bullet}) \hookrightarrow K^{\bullet}$ induces a homomorphism in cohomology

$$H^n(F^p(K^{\bullet})) \to H^n(K^{\bullet})$$

and we denote the image of this homomorphism by $F^p(H^n(K^{\bullet}))$. This yields a filtration of the cohomology with

$$F^{0}(H^{n}(K^{\bullet})) = H^{n}(K^{\bullet})$$
$$F^{p}(H^{n}(K^{\bullet})) = 0, \text{ for } p > n.$$

²Note that we are only considering complexes bounded below and filtrations can be defined in a more general setting, i.e., without assuming $F^t(K^{\bullet}) = \{0\}$ and $F^0(K^{\bullet}) = K^{\bullet}$. These filtrations are examples of *simple* and *exhaustive* filtrations (see [Bry08]), and these are the ones which will be important to us.

Note that we start with objects in the first quadrant, i.e., $E_0^{p,q}$, $p,q \ge 0$, and take successive cohomologies from

$$E_r^{p-r,q+r-1} \to E_r^{p,q} \to E_r^{p+r,q-r+1}$$

This means that for a large r taking cohomology will have no effect on the object considered. More precisely, there exists r_0 such that $E_r = E_{r+1} = \dots$, for every $r \ge r_0$. One says that the spectral sequence **degenerates** at E_{r_0} and calls $E_{\infty} := E_{r_0}$ the **abutment** of the spectral sequence. It is also common said that the spectral sequence **converges** to E_{∞} . The following proposition can be found in [GH94, Chapter 3.5].

Proposition B.5. Let K^{\bullet} be a filtered complex of abelian groups. Then there exists a spectral sequence $\{E_r\}$ with

$$E_0^{p,q} = \frac{F^p K^{p+q}}{F^{p+1} K^{p+q}}$$
$$E_{\infty}^{p,q} = \frac{F^p (H^{p+q} (K^{\bullet}))}{F^{p+1} (H^{p+q} (K^{\bullet}))}$$

Let us now see the relationship between the cohomology of a filtered complex K^{\bullet} and a special type of spectral sequence which will play an important role for us. Let $\{E_r\}$ be the spectral sequence given by the proposition above and assume further that $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ unless q = 0 or q = 1. As mentioned, the cohomology acquires a filtration from the filtration of the complex

$$\{0\} = F^{n+1}(H^n(K^{\bullet})) \subseteq F^n(H^n(K^{\bullet})) \subseteq \ldots \subseteq F^0(H^n(K^{\bullet})) = H^n(K^{\bullet}).$$

From the proposition we have the following short exact sequence

$$0 \to F^{n-q+1}(H^n(K^{\bullet})) \to F^{n-q}(H^n(K^{\bullet})) \to E_{\infty}^{n-q,q} \to 0.$$

In particular, $F^n(H^n(K^{\bullet})) \cong E_{\infty}^{n,0}$. Since $E_2^{p,q} = 0$ unless q = 0 or q = 1, $F^{n-1}(H^n(K^{\bullet})) \cong \dots \cong F^0(H^n(K^{\bullet})) = H^n(K^{\bullet})$. We can then put together the short exact sequence

$$0 \to E_{\infty}^{n,0} \to H^n(K^{\bullet}) \to E_{\infty}^{n-1,1} \to 0.$$
(B.1)

Moreover, the only non-zero terms in the third page are

$$E_3^{p,0} = \operatorname{coker}(d_2 : E_2^{p-2,1} \to E_2^{p,0})$$
$$E_3^{p,1} = \operatorname{ker}(d_2 : E_2^{p,1} \to E_2^{p+2,0}).$$

Since $d_r : E_r^{p,q} \to E_r^{p+r,q-r+1}$, the spectral sequence degenerates at E_3 and we can put together (B.1) for different n. This yields a long exact sequence

$$\dots \to H^{n-1}(K^{\bullet}) \to E_2^{n-2,1} \to E_2^{n,0} \to H^n(K^{\bullet}) \to E_2^{n-1,1} \to E_2^{n+1,0} \to H^{n+1}(K^{\bullet}) \to \dots$$

B.2 Hypercohomology

Let \mathcal{F} be a sheaf of abelian groups over a topological space X. Recall that one can define sheaf cohomology in two steps. First consider an injective resolution for \mathcal{F}

$$0 \to \mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{I}^0 \to \mathcal{I}^1 \to \dots$$

which always exists since one can always embed \mathcal{F} into an injective sheaf. Then apply the functor of global sections to the complex of sheaves \mathcal{I}^{\bullet} . Sheaf cohomology of \mathcal{F} is the cohomology of the resulting complex

$$H^n(X,\mathcal{F}) \coloneqq H^n(\mathcal{I}^{\bullet}(X)).$$

Moreover, given two injective resolutions, there exists a morphism of resolutions, which induces a morphism between the complexes obtained by considering global sections. This morphism of complexes is unique up to homotopy and the sheaf cohomology groups do not depend on the injective resolution considered. It is a classical result that acyclic resolutions (i.e., given by a complex of sheaves \mathcal{G}^{\bullet} such that $H^n(X, \mathcal{G}^k) = 0$ for $n \ge 1, k \ge 0$) also calculate sheaf cohomology, i.e., $H^n(X, \mathcal{F}) = H^n(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet}(X))$ (for more details see, e.g. [Bry08]).

Now consider a complex \mathcal{G}^{\bullet} of sheaves of abelian groups over X

$$\mathcal{G}^0 \to \mathcal{G}^1 \to \ldots \to \mathcal{G}^n \to \ldots$$

We want to construct an injective resolution for this complex. First a remark.

• Let $0 \to \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C} \to 0$ be a short exact sequence of sheaves, $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{A}}^{\bullet}$ an injective resolution of \mathcal{A} and $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{I}_{\mathcal{C}}^{\bullet}$ an injective resolution of \mathcal{C} . Then we have the commutative diagram



Here the horizontal morphisms are the obvious ones and the injectivity of the sheaves allows the construction of an injective resolution of \mathcal{B} such that each square in the diagram commutes. In particular, such construction of an injective resolution of the middle sheaf enables one to prove easily that there is a natural long exact sequence of sheaf cohomology groups.

Let us return to our complex \mathcal{G}^{\bullet} and denote the sheaf given by the *n*-th cohomology of this complex by $H^n(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet}) = \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{G}^n)/\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}^n) = \ker(\mathcal{G}^n \to \mathcal{G}^{n+1})/\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{G}^{n-1} \to \mathcal{G}^n)$ (i.e., the sheafification of the presheaf $U \mapsto \ker(\mathcal{G}^n(U) \to \mathcal{G}^{n+1}(U))/\operatorname{Im}(\mathcal{G}^{n-1}(U) \to \mathcal{G}^n(U)))$. We construct an injective resolution of \mathcal{G}^{\bullet} using the following short exact sequences

$$0 \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}^n) \to \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{G}^n) \to H^n(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet}) \to 0$$

$$0 \to \mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{G}^n) \to \mathcal{G}^n \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}^{n+1}) \to 0.$$

For this we choose injective resolutions $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{G}^n) \to \mathcal{I}_B^{n,\bullet}$ and $H^n(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet}) \to \mathcal{I}_H^{n,\bullet}$. We can find an injective resolution of \mathcal{G}^0 , since $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{G}^0) = H^0(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet})$. Then we use the second short exact sequence to find an injective resolution of \mathcal{G}^1 using the one from $\mathcal{Z}(\mathcal{G}^1)$ (obtained by the first short exact sequence) and so on. As a result we get an injective resolution of the complex \mathcal{G}^{\bullet}



Remark B.6: From the construction above, $\mathcal{I}^{p,q} = \mathcal{I}^{p,q}_B \oplus \mathcal{I}^{p,q}_H \oplus \mathcal{I}^{p+1,q}_B$.

Apply the functor global sections and denote the differentials by

Since they commute, $(\mathcal{I}^{\bullet,\bullet}(X), d, d, d)$ is a double complex. From this double complex we get a complex of abelian groups $(\mathcal{I}^{\bullet}(X), d)$ defined by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}^n(X) &\coloneqq & \bigoplus_{p+q=n} \mathcal{I}^{p,q}(X) \\ d^n &\coloneqq & \sum_{p+q=n} \ 'd^{p,q} + (-1)^p \ ''d^{p,q}. \end{aligned}$$

Definition B.7. Let \mathcal{G}^{\bullet} be a bounded below complex of sheaves over a space X. The *n*-th hypercohomology group $\mathbb{H}^n(X, \mathcal{G}^{\bullet})$ (or simply $\mathbb{H}^n(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet})$) is the *n*-th cohomology of the complex of abelian groups $(\mathcal{I}^{\bullet}(X), d)$, where $\mathcal{I}^{\bullet, \bullet}$ is an injective resolution of \mathcal{G}^{\bullet} .

A similar argument to the sheaf cohomology case shows that this does not depend on the injective resolution of the complex and therefore is well defined (see e.g. [Bry08]). Furthermore, given a short exact sequence of bounded below complexes of sheaves, we can construct an injective resolution for the complex in the middle using given injective resolutions of the other two complexes (as we have done previously). Therefore we have the following.

Proposition B.8. Let $0 \to \mathcal{G}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{G}^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{G}^{\bullet} \to 0$ be a short exact sequence of bounded below complexes of sheaves. Then, there exists a long exact sequence

$$\ldots \to \mathbb{H}^n(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{H}^n(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{H}^n(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet}) \to \mathbb{H}^{n+1}(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet}) \to \ldots$$

Example B.1. Let \mathcal{G} be a sheaf over X and consider it as a complex of sheaves (i.e., $\mathcal{G} \to 0 \to \dots$). Then, hypercohomology recovers the sheaf cohomology of \mathcal{G} . Now, denote by $\mathcal{G}[-k]$ the complex which is \mathcal{G} in degree k and 0 otherwise. Then, an injective resolution of this complex will give a complex, which in degree n is $\mathcal{I}^n(X) = \mathcal{I}^{k,n}(X)$. Thus, $\mathbb{H}^n(\mathcal{G}[-k]) = H^{n-k}(X, \mathcal{G})$.

Consider again the complex of sheaves \mathcal{G}^{\bullet} and let $\mathcal{I}^{\bullet,\bullet}$ be the injective resolution of this complex constructed previously. There are two natural filtrations of the complex $(\mathcal{I}^{\bullet}(X), d)$

$${}^{\prime}F^{p}(\mathcal{I}^{\bullet}(X)) = \bigoplus_{\substack{r \ge p \\ s \ge 0}} \mathcal{I}^{r,s}(X),$$
$${}^{\prime\prime}F^{p}(\mathcal{I}^{\bullet}(X)) = \bigoplus_{\substack{s \ge p \\ r \ge 0}} \mathcal{I}^{r,s}(X).$$

From proposition 15, each of these filtrations gives rise to a spectral sequence whose initial term is $E_0^{p,q} = \frac{F^p \mathcal{I}^{p+q}(X)}{F^{p+1} \mathcal{I}^{p+q}(X)}$. Let us describe the first and second page of each spectral sequence.

1. $F^p(\mathcal{I}^{\bullet}(X)) = {}^{\prime}F^p(\mathcal{I}^{\bullet}(X)):$

We have $E_0^{p,q} = \frac{\mathcal{I}^{p,q}(X) \oplus \mathcal{I}^{p+1,q-1}(X) \oplus \dots}{\mathcal{I}^{p+1,q-1}(X) \oplus \dots} \cong \mathcal{I}^{p,q}(X)$. To find the $E_1^{p,q}$ term we have to calculate cohomology of the piece $\mathcal{I}^{p,q-1}(X) \to \mathcal{I}^{p,q}(X) \to \mathcal{I}^{p,q+1}(X)$. Since $\mathcal{I}^{p,\bullet}$ gives an injective resolution of \mathcal{G}^p we have $E_1^{p,q} = H^q(X, \mathcal{G}^p)$. Now, $d_1 : E_1^{p,q} \to E_1^{p+1,q}$, so we are looking at the *p*-th term of the complex $H^q(X, \mathcal{G}^{\bullet})$

$$H^q(X, \mathcal{G}^{p-1}) \to H^q(X, \mathcal{G}^p) \to H^q(X, \mathcal{G}^{p+1}).$$

In other words, $E_2^{p,q} = H^p(H^q(X, \mathcal{G}^{\bullet})).$

2.
$$F^p(\mathcal{I}^{\bullet}(X)) = {''F^p(\mathcal{I}^{\bullet}(X))}:$$

Here, $E_0^{p,q} = \frac{\mathcal{I}^{q,p}(X) \oplus \mathcal{I}^{q-1,p+1}(X) \oplus \dots}{\mathcal{I}^{q-1,p+1}(X) \oplus \dots} \cong \mathcal{I}^{q,p}(X)$ and $d_0: \mathcal{I}^{q,p}(X) \to \mathcal{I}^{q+1,p}(X)$ is the map

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}_B^{q,p}(X) \oplus \mathcal{I}_H^{q,p}(X) \oplus \mathcal{I}_B^{q+1,p}(X) \to \mathcal{I}_B^{q+1,p}(X) \oplus \mathcal{I}_H^{q+1,p}(X) \oplus \mathcal{I}_B^{q+2,p}(X) \\ (x,y,z) \mapsto (z,0,0). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, $E_1^{p,q} \cong \frac{\mathcal{I}_B^{q,p}(X) \oplus \mathcal{I}_H^{q,p}(X)}{\mathcal{I}_B^{q,p}(X)} \cong \mathcal{I}_H^{q,p}(X)$ and we obtain $E_2^{p,q}$ by considering the cohomology from the piece

$$E_1^{p-1,q} \to E_1^{p,q} \to E_1^{p+1,q},$$

which in this case is

$$\mathcal{I}_{H}^{q,p-1}(X) \to \mathcal{I}_{H}^{q,p}(X) \to \mathcal{I}_{H}^{q,p+1}(X).$$

Since $H^q(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet}) \to \mathcal{I}_H^{q, \bullet}$ is an injective resolution, we find $E_2^{p, q} = H^p(X, H^q(\mathcal{G}^{\bullet})).$

Throughout the text we will refer to these as the **first** and **second** spectral sequences associated to the corresponding double complex. One could also define hypercohomology of a bounded below complex of sheaves over X using the double complex obtained by considering the groups of Čech cochains. For reasonable spaces (e.g. X paracompact) this turns out to be isomorphic to our definition via resolutions. Since we will be working with sheaves over a Riemann surface Σ , there is no harm in exchanging the notions (see [Bry08] for more details).

Appendix C

Quaternionic vector spaces

Let \mathbb{H} be the (real non-commutative) algebra of quaternions, whose elements are of the form $q = a_0 + a_1i + a_2j + a_3k$, where $a_l \in \mathbb{R}$, l = 0, 1, 2, 3, and i, j, k satisfy the usual quaternion identities

$$i^2 = j^2 = k^2 = ijk = -1.$$

The prototypical quaternionic vector space is \mathbb{H}^n , which will be regarded as a left \mathbb{H} -module (by left multiplication). Using the decomposition $\mathbb{H} \cong \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{C}j$, consider the isomorphism of left \mathbb{C} -vector spaces $\mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{C}^{2n}$ given by

$$(q_1,\ldots,q_n)\mapsto (u_1,\ldots,u_n,u'_1,\ldots,u'_n),$$

where $q_l = u_l + u'_l j \in \mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{C} j = \mathbb{H}$. Note that under this isomorphism, multiplication on the left by j in \mathbb{H}^n is identified with an anti-linear map¹, which we also denote by j, satisfying $j^2 = -$ Id. Concretely,

$$j: \mathbb{C}^{2n} \to \mathbb{C}^{2n}$$
$$u \mapsto -J\bar{u}$$

¹This follows immediately from the relation $jz = \bar{z}j$ in \mathbb{H} , where $z \in \mathbb{C}$.

where u is seen as a column vector and $J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ is the standard skew-symmetric form on \mathbb{C}^{2n} .

We define the standard quaternionic Hermitian product on \mathbb{H}^n by

$$\tilde{h}(p,q) = \sum p_l \bar{q}_l,$$

where $p = (p_1, \ldots, p_n) \in \mathbb{H}^n$ and $q = (q_1, \ldots, q_n) \in \mathbb{H}^n$. Using the relation described in footnote¹, we have the following decomposition

$$h = g - i\omega_1 - j\omega_2 - k\omega_3 = (g - i\omega_1) - (w_2 + i\omega_3)j = h - \omega_j,$$
(C.1)

where g is the flat metric, $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3$ are the Kähler forms (associated to the complex structures i, j, k, respectively), h is the standard Hermitian form on \mathbb{C}^{2n} and ω the standard (complex) symplectic form on \mathbb{C}^{2n} . The quaternionic unitary group Sp(n) is defined as the subgroup of $GL(n, \mathbb{H})$ preserving the standard quaternionic Hermitian form², thus, by (C.1), we have the usual identification

$$Sp(n) \cong Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}) \cap U(2n).$$

More generally we can define a quaternionic Hermitian form on any left \mathbb{H} -module \mathbb{V} . That is, an \mathbb{R} -bilinear map $\tilde{h} : \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{V} \to \mathbb{H}$, which is \mathbb{H} -linear in the first coordinate, the conjugate of $\tilde{h}(p,q)$ equals $\tilde{h}(q,p)$, and is such that $\tilde{h}(p,p) \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}$ with equality if and only if p = 0.

Now, let \mathbb{V} be a complex vector space equipped with a (complex) symplectic form ω and a Hermitian form h. A **quaternionic structure** on (any complex vector space) \mathbb{V} is an anti-linear map $j : \mathbb{V} \to \mathbb{V}$ such that $j^2 = -$ Id. Given a quaternionic structure j on \mathbb{V} , we can regard it as a left \mathbb{H} -module in the obvious way. Note that, if ω and h satisfy the compatibility condition

$$\omega(u, j(v)) = h(u, v),$$

 $\tilde{h} \coloneqq h - \omega j$ is a quaternionic Hermitian form on \mathbb{V} .

²If we view $q \in \mathbb{H}^n$ as a row vector, $g \in GL(n, \mathbb{H})$ acts on q as qg^{-1} . Thus, Sp(n) consists of elements $g \in GL(n, \mathbb{H})$ satisfying $gg^{\ddagger} = \text{Id}$.

Appendix D

Principal bundles

In this appendix we define principal bundles and recall some necessary background related to these objects which will be needed in the text. A classic reference for principal bundles and their moduli space is [Ser95]. In the case of G-bundles on a curve, which will be our main focus, we refer to [Ram75, Ram96a, Sor00].

D.1 General notions and conventions

Let G be an affine algebraic group over \mathbb{C} and X a smooth variety (or more generally a \mathbb{C} -scheme).

Definition D.1. A principal *G*-bundle on *X* is a variety (or more generally a \mathbb{C} -scheme) *P* with a right *G*-action and a *G*-invariant morphism $P \to X$, which is locally trivial in the étale topology. A morphism between two principal *G*-bundles $\pi : P \to X$ and $\pi' : P' \to X$ is a morphism of varieties $\varphi : P \to P'$ (or more generally of \mathbb{C} -schemes) such that $\pi = \pi' \circ \varphi$.

Being locally trivial in the étale topology means that there is an open cover $\{h_i : U_i \to X\}$ by étale maps h_i and *G*-equivariant isomorphisms

$$\varphi_i : h_i^* U \to U_i \times G$$

to the trivial G-bundle on U_i . Then, on $U_{ij} = U_i \cap U_j$ the isomorphism $\varphi_i \circ \varphi_j^{-1}$ defines transition functions p_{ij} , whose class in the pointed set $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X,G)$ corresponds to the isomorphism class of the G-bundle P. The base point of the étale cohomology set $H^1_{\acute{e}t}(X,G)$, which we will denote simply by $H^1(X,G)$, is the principal trivial G-bundle $X \times G$.

Remarks D.1:

1. In general, being locally trivial in the Zariski sense turns out to be too restrictive (e.g., when G is a finite group). As observed by Serre, locally triviality in the Zariski sense is stronger than locally triviality in the étale sense. A group for which the notions are equivalent is called **special** (e.g., the general linear group is special [Mil80]). When G is semisimple, by the work of Grothendieck, special groups are exactly direct products of special linear groups and symplectic groups.

2. We will be mostly interested in the case X is a connected smooth projective curve and in that case locally triviality on the Zariski topology is the same as in the étale topology [Ste65, Theorem 1.9]. The study of principal G-bundles on X, however, usually involves considering G-bundles on families. Thus the étale topology is more appropriate.

3. If X is a smooth projective curve, there is an equivalence of categories of principal Gbundles on X and analytic principal G-bundles on X (seen as a compact Riemann surface). We will frequently pass from one point of view to the other without further mention.

Let P be a G-bundle on a variety X and suppose Y is a quasi-projective variety acted on the left by G. We form the **associated bundle** to P with fibre Y by taking the quotient of $P \times Y$ by the G-action defined by

$$g \cdot (p, y) = (p \cdot g, g^{-1} \cdot y).$$

This quotient is well-defined since Y is a quasi-projective variety and will be denoted by P(Y) (or $P \times_G Y$).

Examples D.1:

1. Let $\rho: G \to GL(\mathbb{V})$ be a linear (finite-dimensional) representation. Then $P(\mathbb{V}) = P \times_G \mathbb{V}$ is a vector bundle with fibre \mathbb{V} called the **vector bundle associated to** P via ρ . If we want to emphasize the particular representation the associated bundle is obtained from we write $P \times_{\rho} \mathbb{V}$. In terms of transition functions, $P(\mathbb{V})$ is given by $\{\rho \circ p_{ij}\}$, where $\{p_{ij}\}$ are transition functions of P, i.e., the isomorphism class of the vector bundle $P(\mathbb{V})$ correspond to the image of $\{p_{ij}\}$ via the natural map of pointed sets

$$H^1(X,G) \to H^1(X,GL(\mathbb{V}))$$

associated to ρ .

2. More generally, let $\rho : G \to G'$ be a homomorphism of groups. Then G acts on G' by $g \cdot g' = \rho(g)g'$ and P(G') is a principal G'-bundle called **extension of structure group** of P from G to G'.

Note that giving a section $s: X \to P(Y)$ of an associated bundle to P, we have a morphism $s': P \to Y$ such that $s'(p \cdot g) = g^{-1} \cdot s'(p)$. Conversely, given such a morphism s', we may define a section of P(Y) by setting s(x) = (p, s'(p)), where $p \in P$ is any point in the fibre of $x \in X$. Moreover, if Y and Y' are two quasi-projective varieties acted on the left by G and $f: Y \to Y'$ is a G-equivariant morphism, there is a natural morphism $P(f): P(Y) \to P(Y')$ between the two associated bundles.

Let $H \subset G$ be a subgroup and P a principal G-bundle on X. A reduction of structure group of P to H is a section

$$\sigma: X \to P/H \cong P(G/H).$$

In particular, if H is a maximal compact subgroup, a reduction of structure group to H is called a **metric** of P. Now, given any reduction of structure group $\sigma : X \to P/H$, we call the pullback bundle σ^*P a **restriction of structure group** of P to H and denote it by P_{σ} (or P_H). Note that $P_{\sigma} \subset P$ is a principal H-bundle and its extension of structure group $P_{\sigma}(G)$ (via the inclusion) is naturally isomorphic to the principal G-bundle P.

D.2 Principal bundles on a curve

We now focus on principal G-bundles on a compact Riemann surface Σ (see the third item in Remark D.1), where G is a connected complex reductive group. Recall that, topologically, principal G-bundle on Σ , are classified by a discrete invariant in $\pi_1(G)$ ([Ram75, Proposition 5.1]). This is usually called the **topological type** of the bundle and can be defined as follows. Let \tilde{G} be the universal covering group of G. The exact sequence

$$1 \to \pi_1(G) \to \tilde{G} \to G \to 1$$

determines a long exact sequence in cohomology. In particular we have a map

$$H^1(\Sigma, G) \to H^2(\Sigma, \pi_1(G)) \cong \pi_1(G).$$

The image under this map of the transition functions of a principal G-bundle gives its topological type.

Since an affine algebraic group G can always be realized as a (Zariski) closed subgroup of a general linear group, the theory of principal G-bundles is a natural generalization of the classical theory of vector bundles on a curve. Let us briefly recall the basic definitions for $GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ -principal bundles, i.e., holomorphic (or equivalently algebraic) vector bundles of rank n on Σ . Fix the topological type $d \in \pi_1(GL(n, \mathbb{C})) = \mathbb{Z}$, i.e. the degree of the vector bundle. Then, a vector bundle V is said to be **semi-stable** if for any non-zero subbundle $W \subset V$,

$$\mu(W) \le \mu(V),\tag{D.1}$$

where the **slope** μ of a vector bundle on Σ is defined as the quotient of the degree by the rank of the bundle. Also, V is said to be **stable** if the inequality (D.1) is strict for all proper and non-zero subbundles W of V. To obtain a good moduli space, one introduces an equivalence condition slightly weaker than isomorphism called S-equivalence. Let V be a strictly semistable vector bundle of slope $\mu(V) = \mu$ (in our case, $\mu = n/d$). Then, there exists a subbundle $W \subseteq V$ with $\mu(W) = \mu$. Among those, choose the one of least rank and denote it by W_1 . It follows that any proper subbundle of W_1 must have slope less than $\mu(W_1)$, i.e., W_1 is stable.
Now consider the vector bundle V/W_1 . One has $\mu(V/W_1) = \mu$ and V/W_1 is semi-stable. If V/W_1 is strictly semi-stable, one repeats the process to get a subbundle $W_2/W_1 \subseteq V/W_1$, which is stable and of same slope. By induction one obtains a filtration

$$0 = W_0 \subseteq W_1 \subseteq \ldots \subseteq W_k = V$$

by holomorphic subbundles such that:

- 1. $\mu(W_i/W_{i-1}) = \mu$, for $1 \le j \le k$.
- 2. The bundles W_j/W_{j-1} are stable.

This is called the **Jordan-Hölder decomposition** of V. Although it is clearly not unique, the graded object

$$Gr(V) \coloneqq \bigoplus_{j=1}^{k} W_j / W_{j-1}$$

is unique up to isomorphism. Two semi-stable vector bundles V and V' of rank n and degree d are said to be S-equivalent if $Gr(V) \cong Gr(V')$. Finally, a vector bundle V is **polystable** if $V \cong Gr(V)$. For the theorem below the reader is referred to [LP97, Ses82].

Theorem D.2. Fix $(n, d) \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \times \mathbb{Z}$. There exists a coarse moduli space $\mathcal{U}_{\Sigma}(n, d)$ for semistable vector bundles on Σ of rank n and topological type d. It is an irreducible projective variety whose points correspond to S-equivalence classes of semi-stable vector bundles of rank n and degree d on Σ .

If no confusion arises, we will drop the subscript Σ and simply denote the moduli space of semi-stable vector bundles of rank n and degree d by $\mathcal{U}(n, d)$.

D.2.1 The moduli space of principal *G*-bundles

Now, let G be a connected reductive group over \mathbb{C} . A natural way to generalize the semistability condition for principal G-bundles on Σ from the previous notion is to consider certain characters of parabolic subgroups and reductions of the structure group to these subgroups. Given a proper parabolic subgroup Q of G, then $G \to G/Q$ is naturally a principal Q-bundle on the projective variety G/Q. Let $\chi : Q \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a character of Q and consider the line bundle

$$L_{\chi} = G \times_{\chi} \mathbb{C} \to G/Q$$

on G/Q associated to $G \to G/Q$ via χ . The character χ is called **anti-dominant** if it is trivial on the center Z(Q) and the line bundle L_{χ} is ample¹. Now, if $P \to \Sigma$ is a principal G-bundle on the curve, $\chi : Q \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ is an anti-dominant character of a proper parabolic subgroup $Q \subset G$ and $\sigma : \Sigma \to P/Q$ is a reduction to Q, we define the line bundle

$$L_{\sigma,\chi} = P_{\sigma} \times_{\chi} \mathbb{C} \to \Sigma$$

to be the associated bundle to the reduction of structure group P_{σ} via χ . The degree of $L_{\sigma,\chi}$ is called the **degree of** P with respect to σ and χ and we denote it by deg $(P)(\sigma,\chi)$. We are now ready to state the (semi-)condition for P (see Ramanathan's paper [Ram96a] for a further discussion and alternative characterizations).

Definition D.3. A *G*-bundle *P* on Σ is **stable** (respectively, **semi-stable**) if for every parabolic subgroup $Q \subset G$, every non-trivial anti-dominant character $\chi : Q \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ of *Q* and every reduction $\sigma : \Sigma \to P/Q$ of structure group to *Q*, we have

$$\deg(P)(\sigma, \chi) \ge 0.$$

Let us indicate why this seemingly technical condition is a natural generalization of the vector bundle case.

Example D.1. Let P be a $GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ -principal bundle on Σ and denote its associated vector bundle by V. Consider the parabolic subgroup $Q \subset GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ consisting of matrices of the form $g = \begin{pmatrix} g_1 & g_3 \\ 0 & g_2 \end{pmatrix}$, where $g_1 \in GL(k, \mathbb{C})$ and $g_2 \in GL(n-k, \mathbb{C})$, for some 0 < k < n. The quotient $GL(n, \mathbb{C})/Q$ is then the Grassmannian variety of (n-k)-dimensional quotients of \mathbb{C}^n . Thus, a reduction $\sigma : \Sigma \to P/Q$ defines a subbundle $W \subset V$ of rank k. The parabolic

¹It is also possible to define the notion of anti-dominant character in terms of fundamental weights (see, e.g., [GPGMiR09, Ram75] for more details).

subgroup Q is maximal and it follows from the general theory that any anti-dominant character χ of Q is a positive multiple of

$$\chi_0: Q \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$$
$$g \mapsto (\det g_1)^{k-n} (\det g_2)^k.$$

The associated line bundle is then a positive power of $L_{\sigma,\chi_0} = (\det W)^{k-n} (\det V/W)^k$, whose degree is

$$\deg(P)(\sigma, \chi_0) = (k - n) \deg(W) + k \deg(V/W)$$

Thus, the condition $\deg(P)(\sigma,\chi)\geq 0$ is equivalent to

$$\mu(W) \le \mu(V).$$

Just as one can associate a graded object Gr(V) to a semi-stable vector bundle, Ramanathan showed [Ram96a] that there is a corresponding notion for semi-stable principal G-bundles. He proved that every semi-stable principal G-bundle P on Σ admits a special reduction of structure group P_Q to a parabolic $Q \subset G$ such that the associated bundle $P_Q(M)$ is a stable principal M-bundle, where $M \subset Q$ is the Levi factor of Q. Such special reductions, called **admissible**, are characterized by the property that the degree of L_{χ} is zero for every character χ of Q which is trivial on the center Z(Q). Then, the G-bundle $Gr(P) := (P_Q(M))(G)$ obtained by extension of structure group via the inclusion $M \subset G$ is called the **associated graded bundle of** P. Two semi-stable principal G-bundles P and P' are said to be Sequivalent if $Gr(P) \cong Gr(P')$.

Theorem D.4 ([Ram96a, Ram96b]). Let G be a complex connected reductive group and $d \in \pi_1(G)$.

- (i) There exists a coarse moduli scheme N^d_Σ(G), or simply N^d(G), for semi-stable principal G-bundles on Σ of topological type d.
- (ii) It is an irreducible normal variety of dimension

$$\dim \mathcal{N}^d(G) = \dim G(g-1) + \dim Z(G),$$

whose points correspond to S-equivalence classes of semi-stable principal G-bundles.

(iii) If $P \in \mathcal{N}^d(G)$ is stable, then, near P, the moduli space $\mathcal{N}^d(G)$ is isomorphic to a neighborhood of 0 in

$$\frac{H^1(\Sigma, \operatorname{Ad}(P))}{\operatorname{Aut}(P)/Z(G)}.$$

In particular, for a generic stable G-bundle P, we have

$$T_P(\mathcal{N}^d(G)) \cong H^1(\Sigma, \mathrm{Ad}(P)).$$

D.2.2 The symplectic group

Given a homomorphism $G_1 \to G_2$ between reductive groups, it is natural to consider the induced map between the moduli spaces. A particularly important case is when one considers the standard representation of a classical group, which turns the study of principal bundles into the study of vector bundles. It follows from the work of Ramanathan (loc. cit.) that the moduli space $\mathcal{N}^d(GL(n,\mathbb{C}))$ for principal $GL(n,\mathbb{C})$ -bundles of topological type d is naturally isomorphic to the moduli space $\mathcal{U}(n,d)$ for vector bundles of rank n and degree d. Moreover, under this identification, $\mathcal{N}(SL(n,\mathbb{C}))$ corresponds precisely to the locus $\mathcal{U}(n,\mathcal{O}_{\Sigma})$ of $\mathcal{U}(n,0)$ consisting of semi-stable vector bundles V with trivial determinant line bundle. Note in particular that $SL(n,\mathbb{C})$ is simply connected, so the only topological type (in this case the degree) is zero, which we have omitted.

Assume G is semisimple and $\rho: G \to GL(\mathbb{V})$ is a faithful representation. Then a principal G-bundle P on Σ is semi-stable if and only if the associate vector bundle $P(\mathbb{V})$ is semi-stable [Ram96a, Proposition 3.17]. Actually, as shown in [RR84], P is semi-stable if and only if $P(\mathbb{V})$ is a semi-stable vector bundle for any finite-dimensional representation \mathbb{V} . The same phenomenon is not true for stability though. Let us give as an example the moduli space of symplectic principal bundles on Σ , which plays an important role in this thesis.

Theorem D.5 ([Hit05, Section 2.1]). A principal $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -bundle $P \in \mathcal{N}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ is stable if and only if the symplectic vector bundle $(V = P(\mathbb{C}^{2n}), \omega)$ associated to the standard representation is an orthogonal direct sum

$$(V,\omega) = \bigoplus (W_r,\omega_r),$$

where W_r are stable vector bundles and (W_r, ω_r) are mutually non-isomorphic symplectic bundles on Σ . Moreover, P is a singular point of the stable locus of $\mathcal{N}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ if and only if r > 1 (i.e., $W = \bigoplus W_r$ is a strictly semi-stable vector bundle). This characterizes the smooth locus of $\mathcal{N}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ as the open set of stable symplectic $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C})$ -bundles Pwhose automorphism group $\operatorname{Aut}(P)$ equals the center $Z(Sp(2n\mathbb{C})) = \{\pm \operatorname{Id}\}$.

The moduli space $\mathcal{N}(SL(2n, \mathbb{C}))$ can be thought of as the moduli space of symplectic vector bundles, which we denote by $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$, where such an object (V, ω) is called **semi-stable** (respectively, **stable**) if for all isotropic subbundles $W \subset V$, its slope $\mu(W)$ is non-positive (respectively, negative). Moreover, (V, ω) is **polystable** if it is semi-stable and for all for any strict isotropic (respectively, coisotropic) subbundle $0 \neq W \subset V$ of degree 0, there is a coisotropic (respectively, isotropic) subbundle $W' \subset V$ such that $V = W \oplus W'$. It follows from the work of Serman [Ser08] that the forgetful map

associated to the extension of structure group $Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}) \subset SL(2n, \mathbb{C})$ is an embedding, a phenomenon which does not hold in general for arbitrary reductive groups. Note that we may identify the image of this map as the locus of $\mathcal{U}(2n, \mathcal{O}_{\Sigma})$ consisting of vector bundles which admit a symplectic form.

Remark D.6: For classical groups we will usually identify the moduli space $\mathcal{N}(G)$ with its vector bundle counterpart (with the correct notion of stability, as in $\mathcal{U}(Sp(2n, \mathbb{C}))$), which will be denoted by $\mathcal{U}(G)$.

D.2.3 Generalized theta-divisor

In order to generalize the canonically defined theta divisor on $\operatorname{Pic}^{g-1}(\Sigma) = \mathcal{U}(1, g-1)$ to the moduli space of vector bundles of higher rank, and ultimately to the moduli space of principal *G*-bundles on Σ , we recall the determinant of the cohomology of a family of vector bundles. The idea is that there exists a natural line bundle on $\mathcal{U}(n,d)$, whose fibre over a vector bundle *V* can be naturally identified with $\Lambda^{top}H^0(\Sigma, V)^* \otimes \Lambda^{top}H^1(\Sigma, V)$. Moreover, when d = n(g-1), one can construct a section of this line bundle and the corresponding divisor generalizes the classical theta divisor. We will closely follow [KNR94]. For more details, the reader is also referred to [Sor00, KM76, DN89] (or, from a more analytic point of view, to Quillen's determinant construction [Qui85]).

Let T be a variety and \mathcal{V} be a vector bundle on $\Sigma_T = \Sigma \times T$, which we think of as a family of vector bundles $\{\mathcal{V}_t\}_{t \in T}$ parametrized by T. There exists a two-term complex \mathcal{V}^{\bullet} of vector bundles on T

 $\mathcal{V}_0 \to \mathcal{V}_1$

such that for any base change $f: Z \to T$, we have

$$R^i p_{2,*}((\operatorname{Id} \times f)^* \mathcal{V}) = H^1(f^* \mathcal{V}^{\bullet}),$$

where $p_2 : \Sigma \times Z \to Z$ is the projection onto the second factor and $f^*\mathcal{V}^{\bullet}$ is the complex obtained by pulling-back \mathcal{V}^{\bullet} to Z. We define the **determinant of cohomology of** \mathcal{V} as the line bundle on T given by

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{V}) = \Lambda^{top}(\mathcal{V}_0^*) \otimes \Lambda^{top}(\mathcal{V}_1).$$

In particular, its fibre on $t \in T$ is canonically isomorphic to

$$\Lambda^{top} H^0(\Sigma, \mathcal{V}_t)^* \otimes \Lambda^{top} H^1(\Sigma, \mathcal{V}_t),$$

where $\mathcal{V}_t = \mathcal{V}|_{\Sigma \times \{t\}}$. From the base change property, it follows that

$$\mathcal{D}((\mathrm{Id} \times f)^* \mathcal{V}) \cong f^*(\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{V})),$$

for any morphism $f: Z \to T$. Moreover, if L is a line bundle on a connected variety T and $p: \Sigma \times T \to T$ is the projection onto the second factor, it follows from the projection formula that

$$\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{V} \otimes p^*L) \cong \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{V}) \otimes L^{-\chi(\mathcal{V}_t)},$$

where $\chi(\mathcal{V}_t) = h^0(\Sigma, \mathcal{V}_t) - h^1(\Sigma, \mathcal{V}_t)$ is the Euler characteristic for any \mathcal{V}_t with $t \in T$. Since T is connected, $\chi(\mathcal{V}_t)$ does not depend on the choice of $t \in T$.

Remarks D.6:

1. Take a universal line bundle \mathcal{L} on $\Sigma \times \operatorname{Pic}^{g-1}(\Sigma)$, for example. Then, fix a divisor D on Σ of degree large enough and consider the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{L}(-D) \to \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L}|_D \to 0.$$

If $p: \Sigma \times \operatorname{Pic}^{g-1}(\Sigma) \to \operatorname{Pic}^{g-1}(\Sigma)$ is the projection, by pushing forward the short exact sequence above to $\operatorname{Pic}^{g-1}(\Sigma)$ we obtain the complex

$$p_*(\mathcal{L}|_D) \to R^1 p_*(\mathcal{L}(-D)))$$

which can be shown to satisfy the properties required.

2. In general, there is no universal bundle on moduli spaces of higher dimensional vector bundles. It follows, however, from Grothendieck [Gro63], that the complex $Rp_{2,*}(\mathcal{V})$ is perfect and induces such a complex \mathcal{V}^{\bullet} . More concretely, there exists an exact sequence

$$0 \to p_* \mathcal{V} \to \mathcal{V}_0 \xrightarrow{\gamma} \mathcal{V}_1 \to R^1 p_* \mathcal{V} \to 0,$$

where $p: \Sigma \times T \to T$ is the natural projection onto the second factor and \mathcal{V}_0 and \mathcal{V}_1 are vector bundles whose ranks satisfy $\operatorname{rk}(\mathcal{V}_0) = \operatorname{rk}(\mathcal{V}_1) + \chi(\mathcal{V}_t)$ (see, e.g., [ACGH85]). Here $\chi(\mathcal{V}_t)$ is the Euler characteristic of \mathcal{V}_t for some closed point $t \in T$. The complex $\mathcal{V}_0 \xrightarrow{\gamma} \mathcal{V}_1$ satisfies the desired properties.

Once a point of the curve is fixed, we have canonical divisors on $\operatorname{Pic}^{d}(\Sigma)$ for every $d \in \mathbb{Z}$. Analogously to the case of the Picard variety, fix a point $p \in \Sigma$. Given a family of rank n and degree 0 vector bundles $\mathcal{V} \to \Sigma \times T$ parametrized by a variety T, we define the **theta-bundle** by

$$\Theta(\mathcal{V}) = \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{V}) \otimes \det(\mathcal{V}_p)^{\chi(\mathcal{V}_t)/n},$$

where $\det(\mathcal{V}_p)$ is the usual determinant line bundle of $\mathcal{V}_p = \mathcal{V}|_{\{p\}\times T}$. It follows from the properties of the determinant of cohomology that

$$\Theta((\mathrm{Id} \times f)^* \mathcal{V}) \cong f^*(\Theta(\mathcal{V})),$$

for any morphism $f: Z \to T$. Also,

$$\Theta(\mathcal{V}) = \Theta(\mathcal{V} \otimes p^*L)$$

for any line bundle L on T, where $p: \Sigma \times T \to T$ is the projection.

Theorem D.7 ([DN89]). There exists a line bundle Θ on $\mathcal{U}(n,0)$ such that for any family \mathcal{V} of rank n and degree 0 semi-stable vector bundles on Σ parametrized by T,

$$f^*(\Theta) \cong \Theta(\mathcal{V}),$$

where $f: T \to \mathcal{U}(n,0)$ is the morphism given by the coarse moduli property of $\mathcal{U}(n,0)$.

Now suppose G is a connected semisimple group and \mathbb{V} is a finite-dimensional representation of dimension n. As discussed in Appendix D.2.2, from a family of semi-stable principal Gbundles on Σ parametrized by T, we can associate a family of semi-stable vector bundles of rank n and degree 0 (since G is semisimple). This, in turn gives a canonical morphism $f : T \to \mathcal{U}(n, 0)$. Now, using the coarse moduli property of $\mathcal{N}(G)$ we have a canonical morphism $\phi_{\mathbb{V}} : \mathcal{N}(G) \to \mathcal{U}(n, 0)$. The **theta-bundle on** $\mathcal{N}(G)$ **associated to** \mathbb{V} is defined as the line bundle

$$\Theta(\mathbb{V}) = \phi^*_{\mathbb{V}}(\Theta)$$

on $\mathcal{N}(G)$. In particular, if \mathcal{P} is a family of semi-stable principal G-bundles parametrized by T and $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{V})$ is the induced family of semi-stable vector bundles, it follows that

$$f^*(\Theta(\mathbb{V})) \cong \Theta(\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{V})),$$

where we denote by $f: T \to \mathcal{N}(G)$ the morphism given by the coarse moduli property of $\mathcal{N}(G)$.

Given $L_0 \in \operatorname{Pic}^{g-1}(\Sigma)$, we can identify $\mathcal{U}(n,0)$ with $\mathcal{U}(n,n(g-1))$. Thus, given a family of semi-stable principal *G*-bundles parametrized by a variety *T*, we can consider the associated family \mathcal{V} of semi-stable vector bundles (defined by L_0 and \mathbb{V}) of rank $n = \dim \mathbb{V}$ and degree n(g-1) parametrized by *T*. Taking a complex \mathcal{V}^{\bullet} , as before, given by

$$\mathcal{V}_0 \xrightarrow{\gamma} \mathcal{V}_1,$$

note that $\operatorname{rk}(\mathcal{V}_0) = \operatorname{rk}(\mathcal{V}_1)$, since the Euler characteristic is $\chi(\mathcal{V}_t) = 0$ by Riemann-Roch, and so the determinant of the map γ defines a section of $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{V}) = \Theta(\mathcal{V})$ (the equality coming from the fact that the Euler characteristic is zero). These patch together to give a a canonical global section of the theta-bundle on $\mathcal{U}(n, n(g-1))$, and so of the theta-bundle $\Theta(\mathbb{V})$ on $\mathcal{N}(G)$. By [DN89], the zeros of this section define a Cartier divisor on $\mathcal{N}(G)$ whose support is

$$D_{L_0} = \{ P \in \mathcal{N}(G) \mid H^0(\Sigma, P(\mathbb{V}) \otimes L_0) \neq 0 \}.$$

Moreover, this is independent of the choice of L_0 and the divisor is called the **generalized theta-divisor**, or **determinant divisor**, in $\mathcal{N}(G)$ associated to the linear representation \mathbb{V} . Moreover, the line bundle associated to D_{L_0} corresponds to the theta-bundle $\Theta(\mathbb{V})$. The study of the Picard group of $\mathcal{N}(G)$ has been carried out by many authors. Generalizing the results of Drézet and Narasimhan for $SL(n, \mathbb{C})$, the case where G is a simply-connected complex affine algebraic group was considered in [LS97, KN97] and the semisimple case was treated in [BLS98]. When G is simply-connected, the Picard group is an infinite cyclic group. It turns out that for classical groups, or when G is of type G_2 , the moduli space $\mathcal{N}(G)$ is locally factorial precisely when the group is special (cf. Remark D.1). The groups Sp(2n, C)and $SL(2n, \mathbb{C})$ are particularly important for us and we state the results for these cases.

Theorem D.8 ([DN89, KN97, LS97]). Let G be $SL(2n, \mathbb{C})$ or Sp(2n, C). Then, the moduli space of principal G-bundles on Σ is locally factorial and its Picard group $\text{Pic}(\mathcal{N}(G))$ is an infinite cyclic group generated by the theta-bundle corresponding to the standard representation of G. In particular, the support of the generalized theta-divisor is irreducible.

Bibliography

- [AB83] M.F. Atiyah and R. Bott. The Yang-Mills equations over Riemann surfaces. Philos. Trans. Roy. Soc. London Ser. A, 308(1505):523-615, 1983.
- [ACGH85] E. Arbarello, M. Cornalba, P.A. Griffiths, and J. Harris. Geometry of algebraic curves. Vol. I, volume 267 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1985.
- [ACGPS06] L. Álvarez-Cónsul, O. García-Prada, and A. Schmitt. On the geometry of moduli spaces of holomorphic chains over compact Riemann surfaces. *IMRP Int. Math. Res. Pap.*, pages Art. ID 73597, 82, 2006.
 - [AG06] J.E. Andersen and J. Grove. Automorphism fixed points in the moduli space of semi-stable bundles. Q. J. Math., 57(1):1–35, 2006.
 - [AK80] A.B. Altman and S.L. Kleiman. Compactifying the Picard scheme. Adv. in Math., 35(1):50–112, 1980.
 - [Ati57] M.F. Atiyah. Complex analytic connections in fibre bundles. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 85:181–207, 1957.
 - [Ban00] D. Banfield. Stable pairs and principal bundles. Q. J. Math., 51(4):417–436, 2000.
 - [BD12] I. Biswas and A. Dey. SYZ duality for parabolic Higgs moduli spaces. Nuclear Phys. B, 862(1):327–340, 2012.
 - [BE95] D. Bayer and D. Eisenbud. Ribbons and their canonical embeddings. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 347(3):719–756, 1995.

- [Bea90] A. Beauville. Jacobiennes des courbes spectrales et systèmes hamiltoniens complètement intégrables. Acta Math., 164(3-4):211-235, 1990.
- [BGL15] I. Biswas, N.L. Gammelgaard, and M. Logares. Bohr-Sommerfeld Lagrangians of moduli spaces of Higgs bundles. J. Geom. Phys., 94:179–184, 2015.
- [BGP96] S.B. Bradlow and O. García-Prada. Stable triples, equivariant bundles and dimensional reduction. Math. Ann., 304(2):225–252, 1996.
- [BGP15] I. Biswas and O. García-Prada. Anti-holomorphic involutions of the moduli spaces of Higgs bundles. J. Éc. polytech. Math., 2:35–54, 2015.
- [BGPG04] S.B. Bradlow, O. García-Prada, and P.B. Gothen. Moduli spaces of holomorphic triples over compact Riemann surfaces. Math. Ann., 328(1-2):299–351, 2004.
- [BGPG15] S.B. Bradlow, O. García-Prada, and P.B. Gothen. Higgs bundles for the noncompact dual of the special orthogonal group. *Geom. Dedicata*, 175:1–48, 2015.
- [BGPGH17] S.B. Bradlow, O. García-Prada, P. Gothen, and J. Heinloth. Irreducibility of moduli of semistable chains and applications to U(p,q)-Higgs bundles. arXivpreprint arXiv:1703.06168, 2017.
- [BGPMiR03] S.B. Bradlow, O. García-Prada, and I. Mundet i Riera. Relative Hitchin-Kobayashi correspondences for principal pairs. Q. J. Math., 54(2):171–208, 2003.
- [BGPMnN03] S.B. Bradlow, O. García-Prada, V. Muñoz, and P.E. Newstead. Coherent systems and Brill-Noether theory. *Internat. J. Math.*, 14(7):683–733, 2003.
 - [Bla15] J. Blaavand. The Dirac-Higgs Bundle. PhD thesis, Thesis, 2015.
 - [BLR90] S. Bosch, W. Lütkebohmert, and M. Raynaud. Néron models, volume 21 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.

- [BLS98] A. Beauville, Y. Laszlo, and C. Sorger. The Picard group of the moduli of G-bundles on a curve. Compositio Math., 112(2):183–216, 1998.
- [BNR89] A. Beauville, M.S. Narasimhan, and S. Ramanan. Spectral curves and the generalised theta divisor. J. Reine Angew. Math., 398:169–179, 1989.
 - [BR94] I. Biswas and S. Ramanan. An infinitesimal study of the moduli of Hitchin pairs. J. London Math. Soc. (2), 49(2):219–231, 1994.
- [Bry08] J.-L. Brylinski. Loop spaces, characteristic classes and geometric quantization. Modern Birkhäuser Classics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2008. Reprint of the 1993 edition.
- [BS14] D. Baraglia and L.P. Schaposnik. Higgs bundles and (A, B, A)-branes. Comm. Math. Phys., 331(3):1271–1300, 2014.
- [BS16] D. Baraglia and L.P. Schaposnik. Real structures on moduli spaces of Higgs bundles. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 20(3):525–551, 2016.
- [Car14] E. Cartan. Les groupes réels simples, finis et continus. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (3), 31:263–355, 1914.
- [CK16] D. Chen and J.L. Kass. Moduli of generalized line bundles on a ribbon. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 220(2):822–844, 2016.
- [CL16] P.-H. Chaudouard and G. Laumon. Un théorème du support pour la fibration de Hitchin. Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 66(2):711–727, 2016.
- [Cor88] K. Corlette. Flat G-bundles with canonical metrics. J. Differential Geom., 28(3):361–382, 1988.
- [dC16] M. de Cataldo. A support theorem for the Hitchin fibration: the case of SL_n . arXiv preprint arXiv:1601.02589, 2016.
- [DEL95] R.Y. Donagi, L. Ein, and R. Lazarsfeld. A non-linear deformation of the Hitchin dynamical system. Technical Report alg-geom/9504017, Apr 1995.

- [DK90] S.K. Donaldson and P.B. Kronheimer. The geometry of four-manifolds. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1990. Oxford Science Publications.
- [DN89] J.-M. Drezet and M.S. Narasimhan. Groupe de Picard des variétés de modules de fibrés semi-stables sur les courbes algébriques. *Invent. Math.*, 97(1):53–94, 1989.
- [Don87] S.K. Donaldson. Twisted harmonic maps and the self-duality equations. Proc. London Math. Soc. (3), 55(1):127–131, 1987.
- [Don93] R. Donagi. Decomposition of spectral covers. Journées de géométrie algebrique d'Orsay, Astérisque 218:145–175, 1993.
- [Don95] R. Donagi. Spectral covers. In Current topics in complex algebraic geometry (Berkeley, CA, 1992/93), volume 28 of Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., pages 65–86. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1995.
- [DP05] A. Dey and R. Parthasarathi. On Harder-Narasimhan reductions for Higgs principal bundles. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci., 115(2):127–146, 2005.
- [DP12] R. Donagi and T. Pantev. Langlands duality for Hitchin systems. Invent. Math., 189(3):653-735, 2012.
- [Edi92] B. Edixhoven. Néron models and tame ramification. Compositio Math., 81(3):291–306, 1992.
- [EG95] D. Eisenbud and M. Green. Clifford indices of ribbons. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 347(3):757–765, 1995.
- [Est01] E. Esteves. Compactifying the relative Jacobian over families of reduced curves. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 353(8):3045–3095, 2001.
- [Fal93] G. Faltings. Stable G-bundles and projective connections. J. Algebraic Geom., 2(3):507–568, 1993.
- [FJ17] E. Franco and M. Jardim. Mirror symmetry for Nahm branes. arXiv preprint arXiv:1709.01314, 2017.

- [FPN17] E. Franco and Ana Peón-Nieto. The Borel subgroup and branes on the Higgs moduli space. arXiv preprint arXiv:1709.03549, 2017.
 - [Fra59] T. Frankel. Fixed points and torsion on Kähler manifolds. Ann. of Math. (2), 70:1–8, 1959.
- [Gai16] D. Gaiotto. S-duality of boundary conditions and the Geometric Langlands program. arXiv preprint arXiv:1609.09030, 2016.
- [GH94] P. Griffiths and J. Harris. Principles of algebraic geometry. Wiley Classics Library. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1994. Reprint of the 1978 original.
- [GLSS08] T.L. Gómez, A. Langer, A.H.W. Schmitt, and I. Sols. Moduli spaces for principal bundles in arbitrary characteristic. Adv. Math., 219(4):1177–1245, 2008.
 - [GO17] P.B. Gothen and A.G. Oliveira. Topological mirror symmetry for parabolic Higgs bundles. arXiv preprint arXiv:1707.08536, 2017.
- [GPGMiR09] O. García-Prada, P.B. Gothen, and I. Mundet i Riera. The Hitchin-Kobayashi correspondence, Higgs pairs and surface group representations. arXiv preprint arXiv:0909.4487, 2009.
- [GPGMn07] O. García-Prada, P.B. Gothen, and V. Muñoz. Betti numbers of the moduli space of rank 3 parabolic Higgs bundles. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., 187(879):viii+80, 2007.
 - [GPO14] Oscar García-Prada and André Oliveira. Connectedness of Higgs bundle moduli for complex reductive Lie groups. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1408.4778*, 2014.
 - [GPR16] O. García-Prada and S Ramanan. Involutions and higher order automorphisms of Higgs bundle moduli spaces. arXiv preprint arXiv:1605.05143, 2016.
 - [GR17] V. Ginzburg and N. Rozenblyum. Gaiotto's Lagrangian subvarieties via derived symplectic geometry. arXiv preprint arXiv:1703.08578, 2017.
 - [Gro61] A. Grothendieck. Éléments de géométrie algébrique. II. Étude globale élémentaire de quelques classes de morphismes. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (8):222, 1961.

- [Gro63] A. Grothendieck. éléments de géométrie algébrique. III. étude cohomologique des faisceaux cohérents. II. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (17):91, 1963.
- [GTiB09] I. Grzegorczyk and M. Teixidor i Bigas. Brill-Noether theory for stable vector bundles. In Moduli spaces and vector bundles, volume 359 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 29–50. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2009.
 - [Guk11] S. Gukov. Quantization via mirror symmetry. Jpn. J. Math., 6(2):65–119, 2011.
 - [GW09] D. Gaiotto and E. Witten. S-duality of boundary conditions in $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys., 13(3):721–896, 2009.
 - [Har77] R. Hartshorne. Algebraic geometry. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1977. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, No. 52.
 - [Har11] G. Harder. Lectures on algebraic geometry I. Aspects of Mathematics, E35. Vieweg + Teubner Verlag, Wiesbaden, revised edition, 2011. Sheaves, cohomology of sheaves, and applications to Riemann surfaces.
 - [Hau01] Tamás Hausel. Geometry of the moduli space of Higgs bundles. arXiv preprint math/0107040, 2001.
 - [Hau13] T. Hausel. Global topology of the Hitchin system. In Handbook of moduli. Vol. II, volume 25 of Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM), pages 29–69. Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2013.
 - [Hei16] J. Heinloth. The intersection form on moduli spaces of twisted PGL_n -Higgs bundles vanishes. *Math. Ann.*, 365(3-4):1499–1526, 2016.
 - [Hel01] S. Helgason. Differential geometry, Lie groups, and symmetric spaces, volume 34 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001. Corrected reprint of the 1978 original.
 - [Hit74] N. Hitchin. Harmonic spinors. Advances in Math., 14:1–55, 1974.

- [Hit87a] N. Hitchin. The self-duality equations on a Riemann surface. Proc. London Math. Soc, 55(3):59–126, 1987.
- [Hit87b] N. Hitchin. Stable bundles and integrable systems. Duke mathematical journal, 54(1):91–114, 1987.
 - [Hit97] N. Hitchin. The moduli space of special Lagrangian submanifolds. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), 25(3-4):503-515 (1998), 1997. Dedicated to Ennio De Giorgi.
- [Hit01] N. Hitchin. Lectures on special Lagrangian submanifolds. In Winter School on Mirror Symmetry, Vector Bundles and Lagrangian Submanifolds (Cambridge, MA, 1999), volume 23 of AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math., pages 151–182. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2001.
- [Hit05] G.H. Hitching. Moduli of symplectic bundles over curves. PhD thesis, Durham University, 2005.
- [Hit07a] N. Hitchin. Langlands duality and G_2 spectral curves. Q. J. Math., 58(3):319–344, 2007.
- [Hit07b] G.H. Hitching. Subbundles of symplectic and orthogonal vector bundles over curves. Math. Nachr., 280(13-14):1510–1517, 2007.
- [Hit09] N. Hitchin. Higgs bundles in the vector representation. In Moduli spaces and vector bundles, volume 359 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 473–483. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2009.
- [Hit16] N. Hitchin. Higgs bundles and characteristic classes. In Arbeitstagung Bonn 2013, volume 319 of Progr. Math., pages 247–264. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2016.
- [Hit17] N. Hitchin. Spinors, Lagrangians and rank 2 Higgs bundles. Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3), 115(1):33–54, 2017.
- [HL10] D. Huybrechts and M. Lehn. The geometry of moduli spaces of sheaves. Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 2010.

- [HP12] T. Hausel and C. Pauly. Prym varieties of spectral covers. Geom. Topol., 16(3):1609–1638, 2012.
- [HS14] N. Hitchin and L.P. Schaposnik. Nonabelianization of Higgs bundles. J. Differential Geom., 97(1):79–89, 2014.
- [HS16] S. Heller and L.P. Schaposnik. Branes through finite group actions. arXiv preprint arXiv:1611.00391, 2016.
- [HT03] T. Hausel and M. Thaddeus. Mirror symmetry, Langlands duality, and the Hitchin system. *Inventiones mathematicae*, 153(1):197–229, 2003.
- [Kan96] V. Kanev. Special line bundles on curves with involution. Math. Z., 222(2):213–229, 1996.
- [Kle05] S.L. Kleiman. The Picard scheme. In Fundamental algebraic geometry, volume 123 of Math. Surveys Monogr., pages 235–321. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005.
- [KM76] F. Knudsen and D. Mumford. The projectivity of the moduli space of stable curves. I. Preliminaries on "det" and "Div". Math. Scand., 39(1):19–55, 1976.
- [KN97] S. Kumar and M.S. Narasimhan. Picard group of the moduli spaces of Gbundles. Math. Ann., 308(1):155–173, 1997.
- [Kna02] A.W. Knapp. Lie groups beyond an introduction, volume 140 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, second edition, 2002.
- [Kno06] Fr. Knop. Classification of multiplicity free symplectic representations. J. Algebra, 301(2):531–553, 2006.
- [KNR94] S. Kumar, M.S. Narasimhan, and A. Ramanathan. Infinite Grassmannians and moduli spaces of G-bundles. Math. Ann., 300(1):41–75, 1994.
- [Kob14] S. Kobayashi. Differential geometry of complex vector bundles. Princeton Legacy Library. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, [2014]. Reprint of the 1987 edition [MR0909698].

- [Kon95] M. Kontsevich. Homological algebra of mirror symmetry. In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians, Vol. 1, 2 (Zürich, 1994), pages 120–139. Birkhäuser, Basel, 1995.
- [KW07] A. Kapustin and E. Witten. Electric-magnetic duality and the geometric Langlands program. Commun. Number Theory Phys., 1(1):1–236, 2007.
 - [Li93] J. Li. The space of surface group representations. Manuscripta Math., 78(3):223-243, 1993.
 - [Li17] Y. Li. Gaiotto's Lagrangian subvarieties via loop groups. arXiv preprint arXiv:1705.01639, 2017.
- [LM05] A.C. López-Martín. Simpson Jacobians of reducible curves. J. Reine Angew. Math., 582:1–39, 2005.
- [LP97] J. Le Potier. Lectures on vector bundles, volume 54 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1997. Translated by A. Maciocia.
- [LS97] Y. Laszlo and C. Sorger. The line bundles on the moduli of parabolic G-bundles over curves and their sections. Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4), 30(4):499–525, 1997.
- [Mar94] E. Markman. Spectral curves and integrable systems. Compositio Math., 93(3):255–290, 1994.
- [Mil80] J.S. Milne. Étale cohomology, volume 33 of Princeton Mathematical Series. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1980.
- [MiR00] I. Mundet i Riera. A Hitchin-Kobayashi correspondence for Kähler fibrations. J. Reine Angew. Math., 528:41–80, 2000.
- [MV07] I. Mirković and K. Vilonen. Geometric Langlands duality and representations of algebraic groups over commutative rings. Ann. of Math. (2), 166(1):95–143, 2007.

- [Nad05] D. Nadler. Perverse sheaves on real loop Grassmannians. Inventiones mathematicae, 159(1):1–73, 2005.
- [Oni04] A.L. Onishchik. Lectures on real semisimple Lie algebras and their representations. ESI Lectures in Mathematics and Physics. European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2004.
- [OPP98] W.M. Oxbury, C. Pauly, and E. Previato. Subvarieties of $SU_C(2)$ and 2θ divisors in the Jacobian. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 350(9):3587–3614, 1998.
 - [OS79] T. Oda and C.S. Seshadri. Compactifications of the generalized Jacobian variety. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 253:1–90, 1979.
 - [PN13] Ana Peón Nieto. Higgs bundles, real forms and the Hitchin fibration. PhD thesis, Universidad Autónoma de Madrid, 2013.
- [Qui85] D. Quillen. Determinants of Cauchy-Riemann operators over a Riemann surface. Functional Analysis and Its Applications, 19(1):31–34, Jan 1985.
- [Ram75] A. Ramanathan. Stable principal bundles on a compact Riemann surface. Math. Ann., 213:129–152, 1975.
- [Ram96a] A. Ramanathan. Moduli for principal bundles over algebraic curves. I. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci., 106(3):301–328, 1996.
- [Ram96b] A. Ramanathan. Moduli for principal bundles over algebraic curves. II. Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci., 106(4):421–449, 1996.
 - [RR84] S. Ramanan and A. Ramanathan. Some remarks on the instability flag. Tohoku Math. J. (2), 36(2):269–291, 1984.
 - [Sch98] D. Schaub. Courbes spectrales et compactifications de jacobiennes. Math. Z., 227(2):295–312, 1998.
 - [Sch04] A. Schmitt. A universal construction for moduli spaces of decorated vector bundles over curves. *Transform. Groups*, 9(2):167–209, 2004.

- [Sch08] A.H.W. Schmitt. Geometric invariant theory and decorated principal bundles. Zurich Lectures in Advanced Mathematics. European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2008.
- [Sch13] L.P. Schaposnik. Spectral data for G-Higgs bundles. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2013. Thesis (D.Phil.)–University of Oxford (United Kingdom).
- [Ser95] J.-P. Serre. Espaces fibrés algébriques (d'après André Weil). In Séminaire Bourbaki, Vol. 2, pages Exp. No. 82, 305–311. Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1995.
- [Ser08] O. Serman. Moduli spaces of orthogonal and symplectic bundles over an algebraic curve. *Compos. Math.*, 144(3):721–733, 2008.
- [Ses82] C.S. Seshadri. Fibrés vectoriels sur les courbes algébriques, volume 96 of Astérisque. Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 1982. Notes written by J.-M. Drezet from a course at the École Normale Supérieure, June 1980.
- [Sim92] C.T. Simpson. Higgs bundles and local systems. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (75):5–95, 1992.
- [Sim94a] Carlos T. Simpson. Moduli of representations of the fundamental group of a smooth projective variety. I. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (79):47– 129, 1994.
- [Sim94b] Carlos T. Simpson. Moduli of representations of the fundamental group of a smooth projective variety. II. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (80):5–79 (1995), 1994.
 - [Sor00] C. Sorger. Lectures on moduli of principal G-bundles over algebraic curves. In School on Algebraic Geometry (Trieste, 1999), volume 1 of ICTP Lect. Notes, pages 1–57. Abdus Salam Int. Cent. Theoret. Phys., Trieste, 2000.
 - [Ste65] R. Steinberg. Regular elements of semisimple algebraic groups. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (25):49–80, 1965.
- [SYZ96] A. Strominger, S.T. Yau, and E. Zaslow. Mirror symmetry is T-duality. Nuclear Phys. B, 479(1-2):243–259, 1996.

- [Tha90] M. Thaddeus. Topology of the moduli space of stable bundles over a compact riemann surface. Oxford dissertation. Unpublished, 1990.
- [Tha02] M. Thaddeus. Variation of moduli of parabolic Higgs bundles. J. Reine Angew. Math., 547:1–14, 2002.
- [Uhl82] K.K. Uhlenbeck. Connections with L^p bounds on curvature. Comm. Math. Phys., 83(1):31–42, 1982.
- [Wel08] Raymond O. Wells, Jr. Differential analysis on complex manifolds, volume 65 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, New York, third edition, 2008. With a new appendix by Oscar Garcia-Prada.
- [Zel16] H. Zelaci. Hitchin systems for invariant and anti-invariant vector bundles. arXiv preprint arXiv:1612.06910, 2016.